SPRINGER TRACTS IN MODERN PHYSICS

Volume 95

H. Grabert

Projection Operator Techniques in Nonequilibrium Statistical Mechanics





Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg New York

Hermann Grabert

Projection Operator Techniques in Nonequilibrium Statistical Mechanics

With 4 Figures



LENCE

Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg New York 1982

OCT 1 8 1982

Preface

Ever since the time of Boltzmann, the desire to understand how macroscopic irreversible behavior arises out of the complexity of the underlying microscopic processes has been driving the development of the statistical mechanical theory of many-body systems. While most of the "fundamental" questions associated with irreversible processes have yet to be answered to the satisfaction of all physicist, the theory has obtained valuable results for "down-to-earth" physics by giving molecular expression for those quantities encountered in macroscopic evolution laws. Most of those questions concerning the general form of macroscopic evolution equations, their features and symmetries, and their connection with the molecular process can be answered quite generally, independent of particular models, on different levels of approximation, each level being related to the others by a hipe-thical structure.

These questions can be approached in an elegant manner by utilizing the projectio operator technique, which will be presented in detail in this volume. This method is employed to derive transport equations for the relaxation of the mean, Langevin equa tions for the fluctuations about the mean, and, further, on a more detailed level, Fokker-Planck and master equations. The relations between the various evolution equations will be discussed and the equations themselves will be illustrated by applying them to specific models.

The emphasis of this article is on the unifying aspects of the different statistical mechanical theories of relaxation and fluctuation in many-body systems. However, the work does not treat those approaches which begin particularly close to the molecular level, such as the Boltzmann equation, because these approaches. of necessity, depend on details of particular models.

I am grateful to the many colleagues who have added to my insights and understanding. In particular, I am indebted to those with whom I have had the pleasure of close collaboration: W. Eidlich, P. Talkner, P. Manggi, R. Graham, and, especially, the late M.S. Green.

Special thanks are also due to H. Haken whose suggestions and efforts as a coeditor were most helpful. The support from the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft is greatly acknowledged. Finally, it is a pleasure to thank Ms. E. Effenberg for the skillful preparation of the manuscript.

Stuttgart, Autumn 1981

٠

Hermann Grabert

.

Contents

•

| 1. | Intro | sduction and Survey | 1 |
|------------------------|-------|--|----|
| Part A. General Theory | | | |
| 2. | The | Projection Operator Technique | 9 |
| | 2.1 | Microscopic Dynamics | 10 |
| | 2.2 | Macroscopic Variables and Relevant Probability Density | 12 |
| | 2.3 | Projection Operator | 14 |
| | 2.4 | Decomposition of the Time Evolution Operator | 16 |
| | 2.5 | Generalized Transport Equations | 18 |
| | 2.6 | Generalized Langevin Equations | 21 |
| | 2.7 | More on Projection Operator Methods | 23 |
| а. | Stat | stical Thermodynamics | 27 |
| | 3.1 | Generalized Canonical Probability Density | 29 |
| | 3.2 | Transport Equations | 32 |
| | 3.3 | Langevin Equations | 34 |
| | 3.4 | Mori Theory | 36 |
| | 3.5 | Approximate Transport Equations | 38 |
| | 3.6 | Approximate Langevin Equations | 40 |
| | 3.7 | Time-Reversal Symmetry | 42 |
| 4. | The | Fokker-Planck Equation Approach | 46 |
| | 4.1 | Relevant Probability Gensity | 48 |
| | 4.2 | Generalized Fokker-Planck Equation | 5D |
| | 4.3 | Properties of Drift and Diffusion Kernels | 54 |
| | 4.4 | Fokker-Planck Equation | 56 |
| | 4.5 | Renormalization of Thermodynamic Forces | 59 |
| | 4.6 | Renormalization of Transport Coefficients | 62 |
| | 4.7 | More on the Fokker-Planck Equation Approach | 65 |
| 5. | The | Master Equation Approach | 69 |
| | 5.1 | Relevant Probability Density | 70 |

х

| | 5,2 | Generalized Master Equation | 73 |
|----|-----------------|--|-----|
| | 5.3 | Properties of the Stochastic Operators | 77 |
| | 5.4 | Weak Coupling Limit | 79 |
| | 5.5 | Properties of the Master Equation | 84 |
| | 5.6 | Renormalized Transport Equations | 87 |
| 6, | Response Theory | | |
| | 6.1 | Microscopic Response Theory | 92 |
| • | 6.2 | Macroscopic Coupling of Applied Forces | 96 |
| | 6.3 | Linear Response of Equilibrium Systems | 99 |
| | 6,4 | Fokker-Planck Equation Approach | 102 |
| | 6.5 | Master Equation Approach | 106 |
| | | | |

Part B. Select Applications

| 7. | Damped Nonlinear Oscillator | | 109 |
|-----|-----------------------------|--|-----|
| | 7.1 | Microscopic Model and Generalized Fokker-Planck Equation | 110 |
| | 7,2 | Fokker-Planck Approximation | 112 |
| | 7.3 | Brownian Motion and Impurity in a Harmonic Lattice | 115 |
| | 7.4 | Renormalization of Transport Equations | 118 |
| | 7.5 | Expansion in Terms of k_8 | 122 |
| 8. | Simple Fluids | | 125 |
| | 8.1 | Systems with Local Conservation Laws | 126 |
| | 8,2 | Conservation Laws in Simple Fluids | 128 |
| | 8,3 | Generalized Canonical Probability Density | 13D |
| | 8.4 | Ideal Fluids | 132 |
| | 8.5 | Viscous Fluids | 135 |
| | 8.6 | Fluctuations in Nonequilibrium Fluids | 142 |
| 9. | Spin | Relaxation | 147 |
| | 9.1 | Macroscopic Variables and Relevant Probability Density | 147 |
| | 9.2 | Master Equation | 150 |
| | 9.3 | Bloch Equations | 154 |
| | 9.4 | Dynamic Susceptibility | 156 |
| Ret | ferenc | es | 158 |
| Sub | ject I | ndex | 163 |

1. Introduction and Survey

Nany-body systems composed of a great number of identical constituents exhibit on the macroscopic level a rather simple behavior described by equations of motion for a few macroscopic variables. Examples are the Mavier-Stokes equations for fluids, the Bloch equations for magnetic relaxation, the Fokker-Planck equation for a Srownian particle, and the master equation for atoms interacting with a radiation field. The statistical mechanical theory relates this macroscopic dynamics with the underlying microscopic process. In spite of its complexity in detail, the microscopic process has signed formal properties; it is a reversible dynamical process which is determined completely by the Hamiltonian H and the initial probability density $r(t_0)$ from which all properties of the system can be calculated, at

Because of the common structure of the microscopic dynamics, the macroscopic evolution laws of nonequilibrium systems possess common features as well. Among those is most notably the fact that the macroscopic evolution equations can be cast into the form of transport coefficients. The underlying molecular nature of the system is primarily manifest in this particular form. The irreversible part of the transport equations is related to correlations of molecular fluxes by GREEN-UBO-type formulae [1,2], while the reversible part has a Poisson bracket (or commutator) structure [3,4]. Kinetic equations seemingly as different as the Navier-Stokes equations and the Pauli master equation display their common features when they are cast into the form of transport laws. The analogy is not complete, but it is extremely helpful if one wants to borrow techniques developed to understand one system for the study of another one.

In this article we make an attempt to develop a general foundation of the statistical mechanics of irreversible processes and to provide a theoretical framework within which the correspondence between the macroscopic relaxation and fluctuation behavior of a rich variety of many-body systems can be assessed. The approach is based on macroscopic kinetic equations of the form of (possibly generalized) trans-

1 We shall use the term transport equation in a broader sense than usual.

port equations which are derived from the underlying molecular dynamics by means of the projection operator technique. At no stage shall we resort to an a priori introduction of purely stochastic elements.

Before beginning a systematic exposition, it may be worthwhile to elaborate on some aspects of the problem we wish to address. When dealing with macroscopic evolution equations for a many-body system, we have to bear in mind that there is not just owe macroscopic evolution law but rather a whole hierarchy of kinetic equations, each of which gives a valid description of the macroscopic behavior under certain physical conditions and is bound to fail if these conditions are not met.

Nonequilibrium systems, when they deviate only slightly from equilibrium, and when they are not close to phase transitions, are well described on the macroscopic level by a Gauss-Markov process. The statistical-mechanical theory of irreversible processes, which began with EINSTEIN [5] and developed through the work of a number of authors [6-16], realized the infinate connection between fluctuations and irreversible behavior. This brings about common features of the near equilibrium Gauss-Markov processes crystallizing in ONSAGER's reciprocal relations [11,12] and the fluctuation-dissipation theorem [10,14]. The whole theory is subsumed in the thermodynamice of irrevenetBle proceeses, which is now a well-settled matter of textbooks [17-19].

Clearly a macroscopic description by a Gauss-Harkov process can only be an approximation, since nonlinearities, which are met within all real systems, produce non-Gaussian stochastics, and the finite correlation times of nicroscopic variables lead to non-Harkovian corrections. Considering the time evolution of *aquilibrium* correlation functions, MORI [20] has shown that all these corrections can exactly be accounted for if the transport coefficients are replaced by time-retarded transport kernels. In frequency space this means that the transport coefficients are made frequency dependent. Essentially the same findings have been obtained by KAOMOFF and MWRIIM [21]. These generalized transport coefficients, which are actually functions of frequency or time, are now often referred to as renormalized transport coefficients. When they are replaced by constants, thus disregarding the memory effects, one recovers the standard theory of near equilibrium (reversible processes [17-19]. The differences are particularly pronounced near critical points where the latter theory fails. An excellent review of *Mari sharry* including many apolications has more recently been given by FORSTER [22].

A significant body of work published during the last three decades has searched for a nonlinear generalization of the theory of linear irreversible processes. Such a generalization is needed to treat normaperizibrium systems when they deviate sufficiently from equilibrium. ROBERISON [23] has shown that the exact time evolution of the macroscopic state is governed by generalized transport equations which differ from those of Mori theory in two respects. The thermodymanic potential is a nonlinear function of the state variables and cannot be truncated after the bilinear terms, and the transport Kernels pick up a functional dependence on the past history of the macroscopic state when the systems leaves the vicinity of the equilibrium state, thus rendering the transport laws nonlinear. Closely related results have been obtained by McLENNAN [24] and ZUBAREV [25].

More recently, this author [26,27] has shown that the fluctuations about the mean obey exact generalized Langevin equations whose systematic terms are determined by the transport laws and whose stochastic terms are related to the transport kernels by a generalized fluctuation-dissipation theorem. These Langevin equations are linear but nonstationary in general. By generalized statistical thermodynamics. we mean a theory describing the relaxation and fluctuation behavior of nonequilibrium systems by means of these generalized transport and Langevin equations. When the theory is linearized about equilibrium, one recovers Mori theory. On the other hand, when the memory effects are disregarded, one obtains an approximate description of nonequilibrium systems in terms of a nonstationary Gauss-Markov process. We shall refer to this approximate theory as statistical thermodynamics. Various authors [28-34] have proposed such a theory on the basis of phenomenological arguments. The statistical-mechanical foundation of statistical thermodynamics [3S] leads to common features of the nonstationary Gauss-Markov processes which correspond to those of Onsager's theory. Of course, the latter is obtained by linearizing statistical thermodynamics about equilibrium (Fig.1.1).

While statistical thermodynamics extends the range of validity of the theory of linear irreversible processes to the nonlinear regime far from equilibrium, it still breaks down near equilibrium phase transitions if the memory effects are disregarded. Away from equilibrium there are additional nonequilibrium instabilities, like the Bénard instability [36] and the Gunn instability [37], which also are described only roughly by a mean-field-type approximation. While these shortcomings can be corrected by including the memory effects, it is rather cumbersome to evaluate the molecular expressions for the retarded transport kernels even approximately, and a more straightforward method for the calculation of renormalized transport coefficients is needed.

It has been realized during recent years that the most important contributions to the memory effects in generalized statistical thermodynamics are not caused by the finite correlation time of the microscopic variables but rather come from nonlinear couplings between fluctuations of the macroscopic variables 138-421. These nonlinearities are disguised in the frequency dependence of the renormalized transport coefficients. As a consequence, it seems natural to seek for an extended theory of irreversible processes which retains the Markovian property but gives up the Gaussian property. Such a non-Gaussian Markov process is governed by a Fokker-Planck equation or a master equation, according to whether the process is continuous or not.

For most macroscopic systems the discrete nature of the microscopic states can safely be neglected, and they are well described on the macroscopic level by a continuous stochastic process. In a pioneering work GREEN [1] derived a *Pokkem-Planak equation* for such nonequilibrium systems which explicitly displays the nonlinearities since the diffyion matrix is not necessarily constant. He further established molecular expressions and common features for the bare transport coefficients entering the Fokker-Planck equation. Later ZMANIG [43] showed that the macroscopic dymanics can be exactly described by a generalized *Pokker-Planck equation* containing memory effects. In as much as non-Gaussian stochastics is accounted for by the nonlinearities, these memory effects reflect non-Markovian corrections alone. When the memory effects are disreaded one recovers Green's results.

The Fokker-Planck equation gives a more complete description of nonequilibrium systems than statistical thermodynamics, because it treats the state variables and the nonlinear functions of the state variables on an equal footing, while the latter are not considered relevant variables in the theory of statistical thermodynamics. As a consequence of this and the monlinearities, however, the Fokker-Planck approach does not yield directly closed equations of motion for the mean values and the correlation functions of the state variables. These have to be determined by what is now commonly referred to as a remomalization. By remortalizing the Fokker-Planck process one obtains *mucmaclicad transport zaw* with restarded transport kernels of the same type as those met within generalized statistical thermodynamics, but the transport kernels are in fact approximated since non-Markovian effects are not included in the Fokker-Planck equation.²

The renormalized transport laws derived from the Fokker-Planck equation or a set of stochastically equivalent nonlinear Langevin equations [44-46] lie between statistical thermodynamics and generalized statistical thermodynamics [Fio.1.1]; they do contain the major corrections to statistical thermodynamics though. Mostly, authors have looked for renormalized transport equations in the linearized form in order to determine equilibrium correlation functions [38-42,47,48]. This is the approach which has been so successful in explaining the dynamical behavior in the vicinity of equilibrium phase transitions [4,49-51]. In the study of nonequilibrium systems, however, the renormalized transport laws become nonlinear [53-55].

Particularly in systems where quantal effects are important, it may be necessary to take into account the fact that the macroscopic variables can take on values out of a discrete set only. The Fokker-Planck equation is then replaced by a quantum-

² To distinguish the two kinds of renormalized transport equations one could call those derived from the Tokker-Planck equation "fluctuation renormalized" and those net within the theory of generalized statistical thermodynamics "fully renormalized".





Connections:

p0 : projection operator technique L : linearization about equilibrium NM : neglectiog memory effects NF : neglecting flutuations SM : stochastic modeling

Discussion in this Article:

| A ₀ → B ₀ | : Sects.4.1-3 (5.1-3) | B ₁ → C ₁ |
|---------------------------------|-----------------------|---------------------------------|
| A_0 → C_0 | : Sects.3.1-3 | co→ po |
| B ₀ → B ₁ | : Sect.4.4 (5.4,5) | Co→ C2 |

 $B_1 \rightarrow C_1$: Sects.4.5.6 (5.6) $C_0 \rightarrow D_0$: Sect.3.4 $C_0 \rightarrow C_2$: Sects.3.5.6

Connections including a simple linearization about equilibrium are not always discussed explicitly.

Fig.1.1. Levels of description and their connections

mechanical macrear equation.³ This approach traces back to PAULI [59], was improved later by VAN HOVE [60], PRIGOGINE [61,62], NAKAJIMA [63], ZUANZIG [64-66], and others [67-72], and has been reviewed by MAAKE [73] and SPOHN [74]. Very recently, objections against the standard approach have been raised on the basis of fundamental considerations [75,76]. To cope with these, we have found it necessary to abandon the usual factorization assupptions [73,74] and to bring the master equation into the form of a transport equation. This form has not been used so far. The master equation approach may then be developed in Close amalogy with the Fokker-Planck equation approach.

The various macroscopic evolution laws and their mutual dependence are depicted schematically in Fig.1.1. The hierarchical character is apparent in the one-way connections which either lead downwards to a theory that has more microscopic details left out, or rightwards to a theory that has more approximations built in. Clearly, the scheme in Fig.1.1 is not complete since there are further levels of description lying between a fully microscopic treatment and the level of nonlinear Karkov processes, that is, between level A and S in Fig.1.1.

The usual Fokker-Planck description is not appropriate for a study of phenomena occuring on a length or time scale close to a microscopic scale. One must then either take non-Markovian effects into account [77,88] or utilize a more microscopic method (e.g., a Boltamure equation approach [76-81]). Although this approach may also be analyzed in a language very similar to one given here, a discussion of it would be beyond the scope of this article. This is because the closer one approaches the microscopic level. less universal the findings are, and because different physical systems require different treatment. We shall concentrate on the structural aspects of the macroscopic theory of many-body systems.and, in particular, on those aspects that are indegendent of a specific model.

Moreover, we shell not discuss the field of monaputitization instabilitian (46,70, 82-85) which has received so much attention recently. In general, these phenomena do not demand statistical-mechanical techniques different from those treated in this article; rather one starts from the equations of motion derived here. Often, a complete macroscopic description of a nonequilibrium system requires a large set of macroscopic variables. Justicularly in inhomogeneous systems, where the macroscopic variables are local variables. In the vicinity of a nonequilibrium instability, however, the set of relevant variables can greatly be reduced because a separation of the scales between the "stable" and the "unstable" modes occurs. Indeed, HAKEN (85,86) eliminates the stable modes and derives a close subdynamics for the unstable modes only. While this amond course graving can partly be performed by

³ Clearly, there are also classical systems which can approximately be described by master equations. In particular, well-stirred ideal mixtures undergoing chemical reactions have frequently been studied (56-58). Most of the fundamental questions raised by quantal master equations are not present in the classical case.

means of the techniques developed here for the *finit acare gravining*, it is important to notice that the effective evolution equations for the unstable modes do not necessarily shore the features thet our equations of motion possess.

In practice, macroscopic phenomena are frequently studied by means of phenomenological methods, Indeed, from phenomenological considerations one often obtains a set of deterministic equations of motion for the macroscopic variables (e.g., [87]). The question of how to account for fluctuations thus arises. In particular, in the interesting case of nonlinear systems, this problem of *stochastic modaling* has extensively been discussed in the literature. Recently, some proposals have been critically investigated by HAN66E [88]. Considerations on the basis of statisticalmechanical arguments show that, at least for continuous processes, the stochastic description by means of a Fokker-Planck equation can be reconstructed from the limiting deterministic laws [89,90]. Some macroscopic theories discussed in this article can, hence, also be approached from the phenomenological point of view (Fig.1.1). For a recent review of the phenomenological approach see [91].

The *outling* of this article is the following. The paper is divided into two parts, A and B, each of which has several chepters. Each chapter opens with a brief summary of its content. While the material is presented in a systematic way, all chapters after Chap.3 are to a large extent self-contained. This made it necessary to repeat occasionally an argument already given in a previous chapter, but it certainly facilitates the use of the article as a source of reference for the various approaches discussed in it. A general idea about the organization of the article can also be obtained by glancing at Fig.1.1 and its caption.

Part A is devoted to the derivation of macroscopic evolution equations starting from a microscopic theory. To this purpose we make use of the *projection operator teorhique* which has been introduced into statistical physics by NAKAIMA [63] and ZMAYZIG [64]. In particular ZMAYZIG [43,65,65,92] developed the technique into a *pomerful* tool for the derivation of formally exact equations of motion for classical or quantal probability densities. Later MORI [20] put forward a projection operator technique in the Heisenberg picture, which leads to generalized linear Langevin equations. Both approaches mave been reviewed by HNRS and DEUTSCH [93]. Using an extended time-dependent projection operator technique, ROBERTSCH [23] was able to derive closed nonlinear equations for mean values. This approach was supplemented later by the author [26], who derived exact evolution equations for the fluctuations about the mean. The latter technique can be shown to cover the previous ones.

Since most of the specialized applications of the projection operator technique are best appreciated when the central elements of this method have been understood, we reserve Chap.2 for a detailed presentation of the basic ideas and the general scheme. The presentation is more general than is needed for the following chapters, but the characteristics thus become particularly clear, and the approach also covers applications not explicitly discussed here [81,94,95]. In chaps.3, 4, and 5, we then apply the technique to derive the various types of macroscopic evolution equations mentioned above. Holecular expressions for the quantities entering the transport laws are derived, and general properties and symmetries of these quantities are proved. We further discuss the mutual connections between the different equations of motion. In Chap.6 we study the response of the system to an applied time-dependent perturbation, both from a microscopic and macroscopic point of view. We show how the macroscopic evolution equations are modified by the external perturbation and emphasize the connection with the preceding results

Part 8 contains some select applications of the general formalism which are intended to illustrate the methods discussed in Part A. Chapter 7 is concerned with the statistical-mechanical theory of a classical nonlinear oscillator in interaction with a heat bath. This investigation is based on the Fokker-Planck equation approach The special cases of a Brownian particle in a fluid and a mass impurity in a harmonic lattice are discussed in some detail, and the renormalization of transport equations is i llustrated by using the Outfring oscillator as an example.

In Chap.8, statistical thermodynamics is applied to simple classical fluids. We start out from general considerations of systems described by local densities and derive exact equations of motion for the hydromechanic modes. The enollinear Navier-Stokes equations are recovered in an approximation. Langevin equations for the spontaneous fluctuations are obtained and used to calculate the structure factor for light scattering in the presence of a steady temperature gradient. In Chap.9, we discuss spin relaxation using the master equation approach. The master equation for the coarse-grained spin probability density and the Bloch equations for the mean spin relaxation are derived. Finally, we determine the linear response to an alternating applied magnetic field.

While the present article is based on the projection operator technique, it is not intended to give a comprehensive review of all recent developments related to projector methods, nor is an extensive or even complete list of listrue provided. The exphasis is on a coherent presentation of those methods which have proved to be particularly powerful tools for the development of a statistical-mechanical foundation of irreversible processes in many-body systems.

Part A. General Theory

2. The Projection Operator Technique

In this chapter we present the basic ideas and the general scheme of the projection operator technique.¹ We show how the method extracts exact equations of motion for a few macroscopic variables from the microscopic process involving all variables of the system.

The foundations of the method are formed by the particular structure of the microscopic dynamics governed by a Hamiltonian and by the concept of the relevant probability density. The important properties of the microscopic dynamics, as far as we shall need them, are recapitulated in Sect.2.1. On the macroscopic level the system is described by a set of macroscopic variables. The ability to choose the appropriate set for a given problem is where physical insight is required. For a given set of macroscopic variables we introduce a relevant probability density which is macroscopically equivalent to the full microscopic probability density. Section 2.2 summarizes the basic properties of a relevant probability density, while its particular form is left open during the general considerations of this part of the article.

As soon as the set of macroscopic variables and the relevant probability density have been fixed on the basis of physical arguments, the continuation of the projection operator method is determined by a mathematical elimination procedure removing the microscopic variables from the equations of notion. First, in Sect.2.3 we introduce a projection operator acting in the space of all variables and projecting out the macroscopic variables. The form of this projection operator is specified in terms of the relevant probability density. In Sect.2.4 we come to the fundamental mathematical identity. The microscopic time evolution operator is decomposed with the help of the projection operator into a sum of three terms, where the first term is completely determined by the instantaneous values of the macroscopic variables, the second term by their past history, and the third term is of microscopic origin leading to the irregular ancient of macroscopic quantities.

The fundamental identity is used in Sect.2.5 to derive the generalized transport equations. They form an exact closed system of integro-differential equations for

1 We essentially follow [26].

the mean values of the macroscopic variables. In these equations the microscopic variables are eliminated completely in favor of after-effect functions describing a retarded interaction among the macroscopic variables.

In Sect.2.6 we derive the generalized Langevin equations describing the dynamics of fluctuations about the mean path. The Langevin equations are nonstationary if the mean values depend on time. The fluctuations of the macroscopic variables are driven by random forces, the stochastics of which depends on the mean path. Section 2.7 contains some concluding, as well as additional, remarks on the projection operator technique.

2.1 Microscopic Dynamics

Statistical-mechanical theory relates the macroscopic dynamics of a large system composed of great numbers of identical constituents with the underlying microscopic or molecular process. Clearly, the microscopic process is very complex in detail, and the laws governing this process might be known only approximately since we do not always know the molecular constituents of a system and their mutual interactions precisely. On the other hand, the microscopic process has simple formail properties: it is a special Markovian process which is completely determined by the Hamiltonian of the system and the initial probability density. These formal properties of the microscopic process lead to a definite structure of the macroscopic dynamics. In this section we summarize some of the general properties of microscopic processes.

The microscopic dynamics determines the time evolution of a microscopic state of the system in a unique, deterministic way. However, by macroscopic observation or mesurements we obtain only incomplete information about the microscopic state of a macroscopic system. We have to consider an ensemble of identical systems which have been under the influence of identical external conditions (identical preparation of the initial state) and ask for the ensemble probability of events. In practice, an ensemble of systems can also be formed by repeating the same process very often with the same system, or, in the case of stationary processes, by measuring for a sufficiently long time.

An ensemble of systems is described by a probability density ρ . In classicalstatistical mechanics ρ is a distribution function in the phase space \bullet , while for quantum-mechanical systems ρ is an operator² acting in the Hilbert space H. In the following we shall often suppress the ensemble point of view and call ρ the microscopic probability of the system. The probability density ρ is positive

² In quantum-statistical mechanics p is also referred to as the density matrix or statistical operator,

$$\rho_{ZO}$$
, i.e.,

$$\begin{cases}
\rho(\Gamma) \ge 0 & (classical) \\
\langle \psi|_{\rho}|_{\Psi} \ge 0 & (quantal)
\end{cases}$$
(2.1.1)

and normalized

$$tr[\rho] = 1, i.e., \begin{cases} \int dr_{\rho}(r) = 1 & (classical) \\ \int_{r}^{r} e_{p_{1}}[\rho]e_{1} > r = 1 & (quantal) \end{cases}$$
 (2.1.2)

In classical-statistical mechanics the value of the phase function $\rho(\tau)$ is positive in every point r of the phase space \bullet , and tr denotes the integration over all phase space. In quantum-statistical mechanics the matrix element $\langle \psi | \rho | \psi \rangle$ is positive for every state $| \psi \rangle$ in the Hilbert space H, and tr denotes the trace over a complete orthonormal basis (e_r) of H.

We consider isolated systems. If necessary, this can be achieved, at least approximately, by enlarging the system to include the interacting surroundings. The time evolution of the microscopic probability p of an isolated system is governed by the Liouville equation

$$\tilde{\rho}(t) = -iL\rho(t)$$
 (2.1.3)

In classical physics the Liouvillian L acts upon a phase function X as Poisson bracket with the Hamilton function H, while the quantum-mechanical Liouvillian acts upon a Hibert space operator X as commutator with the Hamilton operator H:

$$LX = f(H, X) \quad (classical)$$

$$LX = \frac{1}{H} [H, X] \quad (quantal) \quad . \quad (2.1.4)$$

The formal solution of the Liouville equation reads

$$p(t) = e^{-iLt}p(0)$$
 (2.1.5)

where p(0) is the initial microscopic probability.3

A variable (observable) F of the system is represented as a phase function in classical statistical mechanics and as a self-adjoint Hilbert space operator in quantum statistics. The microscopic probability $\rho(t)$ determines the mean value (expectation value) of a variable F at time t

$$\langle f(t) \rangle = tr\{F_{\rho}(t)\}$$
 (2.1.6)

While in the Schrödinger picture the probability density is a function of time, the Heisenberg picture treats the variables as time-dependent phase functions,

$$F(t) = e^{1Lt}F$$
, $F = F(0)$, (2.1.7)

³ In quantum-statistical mechanics (2.1.5) can also be written p(t) = exp[-(i/M)Ht]p(0) exp[(i/M)Ht].

and the mean values reads

$$\langle F(t) \rangle = tr\{F(t)_{\rho}(0)\}$$
. (2.1.8)

The representations (2.1.6) and (2.1.8) are equivalent since the Liovillian has the property

$$tr{FL_p} = -tr{pLF}$$
, i.e., $L^T = -L$, (2.1.9)

which can be used to transfer the time dependence from the probability density to the variables, and vice versa.

The Heisenberg picture is particularly useful if we want to consider correlations of variables $F_q(i - 1, \ldots, p)$ at different times t_q . In classical statistical mechanics the correlation function is given by

$$\langle F_1(t_1)...F_n(t_n) \rangle = tr\{F_1(t_1)...F_n(t_n)\rho(0)\}$$
 (2.1.10)

Phase functions under the classical phase space integral tr may be permuted in an arbitrary way, whereas the quantum-mechanical trace tr is only invariant under cycli permutations of the Hibset space operators. Consequently, there are different multifine expectations of Heisenberg operators $F_{i}(t_{j})$ which reduce to the same classical correlation function (2.1.10) in the classical limit. The differences between those multifine expectations are a consequence of the quantum-mechanical dispersion, which introduces an additional stochastic element beyond the scope of classical stochastic processes. It is merely a matter of convenience which of the various multifine expectations is called correlation function. In fact, several definitions of quantum-mechanical correlation functions have been introduced in different contexts (14,17,05-102). Some convenient choices will be discussed later.

2.2 Macroscopic Variables and Relevant Probability Density

Macroscopic systems exhibit on a macroscopic level a rather simple behavior described by equations of motion for a few macroscopic variables. The appropriate choice of these macroscopic variables is one of the most important tesps in a statistical-mechanical theory of many-body systems, Frequently, the existence of slow variables can be traced back to conservation laws or, in the case of ordered systems, to continuous broken symmetries; the associated macroscopic variables are then densities of conserved quantities and order parameters (22,49,102). There may be additional variables though: e.g., in systems undergoing slow chemical reactions, the consentrations of the reacting constituents are among the macroscopic variables although they are not conserved [104-105]. For concrete systems the macroscopic variables are generally known by experience. In a kinetic model the macroscopic variables.

The set of macroscopic variables A = (A_1, \dots, A_i, \dots) is supposed to be large enough to specify the macroscopic or thermodynamic state of the system. Naturally, given the mean values

$$a_i(t) = \langle A_i(t) \rangle = tr\{A_i(t)\}$$
 (2.2.1)

of the macroscopic variables at time t, we can not construct the true microscopic probability density $\rho(t)$ in detail. This would require the mean values of a complete set of variables. We introduce instead a relevant probability density $\rho(t)$ with the properties

- a) p(t) has the general properties (2.1.1,2) of a probability density, in particular tr(p(t)) = 1 , (2.2.2)
- b) $\tilde{\rho}(t)$ is completely specified by the mean values of the macroscopic variables $\tilde{\rho}(t) = \tilde{\rho}[a(t)]$, (2.2.3)
- c) $\tilde{\rho}(t)$ and the true probability density $\rho(t)$ are macroequivalent $tr(A_{s}\tilde{\rho}(t)) = tr(A_{s}\rho(t)) = a_{s}(t) , \qquad (2.2.4)$
- d) the initial probability density $\rho(0)$ is a relevant probability density $\rho(0) = \overline{\rho}(0)$. (2.2.5)

In this section we will not elaborate much on the appropriate choice of the relevant probability density since several concrete examples will be given in subsequent chapters. However, it may be worthmitle to stress the following: the projection operator technique outlined below leads to formally exact equations or motion for the macroscopic variables A regardless of the particular choice of the relevant probability density σ_i provided the conditions (2.2.2-4) are satisfied, but the resulting equations may have a rather complicated structure. To obtain tractable macroscopic laws it is essential that the true probability density a(t) be well approximated by the relevant probability density (t). Hence, the macroscopic variables A and the relevant probability distribution ρ associated with their mean values a have to be chosen carefully by taking into consideration the particular physical process one wants to describe.

For instance, a useful relevant probability density \bar{p} may be found by making plausible assumptions about the microscopic distribution ρ (like a factorization assumption in the case of weakly interacting subsystems) so that the distribution would be of the relevant form \bar{p} if those assumptions were true. On the other hand, the projection operator technique does not rely on the validity of assumptions that might have motivated the definition $\bar{p}_{\bar{p}}$ out be the contervy, the deviations of the true microscopic probability density ρ from the relevant form $\tilde{\rho}$ are determined systematically, and the final result is formally exact.

2.3 Projection Operator

The macroscopic variables A and the "Unity" 1 are supposed to form a set of linearly independent variables which span a macroscopically relevant subspace in the space of all variables. One of the characteristic features of the macroscopic level of description, the restriction to a comparatively small number of macroscopic variables, can be characterized mathematically as a projection of the space of all variables upon the macroscopically relevant subspace. Only the projected image For a variable F is dealt with in macroscopic physics.

We describe this projection by means of a projection operator of the form [26]

$$P[a]F = F[a] = tr(\bar{p}[a]F) + \sum_{i} (A_{1} - a_{i})tr\left\{\frac{3\bar{p}[a]}{3\bar{a}_{i}}F\right\} . \qquad (2.3.1)$$

Note that this projection operator is determined if we have fixed the set of macroscopic variables and the form of the relevant probability density. The particular form of P can be motivated by the particular properties of the so-defined projection. The projected image \tilde{F} of a variable F is a linear combination of the macroscopic variables A and the unity 1 with coefficients which may be functions of the macroscopic state a. The projection F $-\tilde{F}$ has the properties

a)
$$\overline{aF} + \overline{aG} = aF + \overline{aG}$$
, (2.3.2)
b) $\overline{F} = \overline{F}$, (2.3.2)
c) $F = c_0 + \sum_i c_i A_i \Rightarrow F = \overline{F}$,
d) $tr(aF) = tr(bF)$,

e) $\operatorname{tr}\left\{\rho \; \frac{\partial \overline{F}}{\partial a_{ij}}\right\} = 0$.

These properties are a consequence of (2.2.2.4) and the relations

$$tr\left\{\frac{\delta \hat{\rho}}{\partial a_{j}}\right\} \approx 0$$
, $tr\left\{A_{i}\frac{\delta \hat{\rho}}{\partial a_{j}}\right\} = \delta_{ij}$ (2.3.3)

which follow from (2.2.2,4) by differentiation.

The properties a) - c) are just the general properties of a projection upon the macroscopically relevant subspace.⁴ Because of d), the projection is chosen in such

⁴ The properties a) - c) alone do not characterize the projection uniquely since we have not defined an orthogonality relation in the space of variables. Only the properties d) and e) specify the "direction" of the projection.

a way that the reduction of the variables by projection corresponds to a change from the true probability density ρ to the macro-equivalent relevant probability density $\bar{\rho}$. In general, this latter property can only be obtained if the projection is allowed to depend on the macroscopic state a. However, this state dependence is a weak as possible since the averages of the derivatives af/a₄ vanish according to property e). It can be shown that the properties (2.3.2) specify the projection (2.3.1) uniquely.

Clearly, the properties (2.3.2) of the projection can also be expressed as properties of the projection operator P. In particular, one shows that P projects out the macroscopic variables

$$P[a]A_i = A_i$$
. (2.3.4)

Further, we have

which includes the projection operator property (idempotent operator) for a \sim a', and which also gives

$$P[a](1-P[a]) = (1-P[a])P[a] = 0 . \qquad (2.3.6)$$

By means of the projection operator every variable F can uniquely be decomposed into a sum of two parts

$$F = P[a]F + (1-P[a])F$$
 (2.3.7)

which may be viewed as the macroscopic and the microscopic parts of F, respectively.

In a nonstationary process the mean values a are time dependent so that the projection operator becomes a function of time P(t) = P[a(t)], and we have

$$P(t)F = tr[\bar{\rho}(t)F) + \sum_{i} [A_{i} - a_{i}(t)]tr\left(\frac{2\bar{\rho}(t)}{3a_{i}(t)}F\right) . \qquad (2.3.8)$$

Equation (2.3.5) may now be written

$$P(t)P(t') = P(t')$$
 (2.3.9)

From (2.3.8) we obtain for the time derivative of the projection operator

$$\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{t})\mathbf{F} = \sum_{i,j} [A_i - a_i(\mathbf{t})] \mathbf{a}_j(\mathbf{t}) tr \left\{ \frac{\partial^2 \bar{\rho}(\mathbf{t})}{\partial a_i(\mathbf{t}) \partial a_j(\mathbf{t})} \mathbf{F} \right\}$$
(2.3.10)

which has the property

$$P(t) = P(t)P(t)(1-P(t))$$
 (2.3.11)

This follows most easily from (2.3.9) by differentiation.

There is a transposed projection operator P^{T} {t} acting in the space of densities μ defined by

$$tr(\mu P(t)F) = tr(FP^{T}(t)\mu)$$
. (2.3.12)

From (2.3.8) we get explicitely [107]

$$P^{T}(t)\mu = \bar{\rho}(t)tr\{\mu\} + \sum_{i} \frac{a\bar{\rho}(t)}{aa_{i}(t)} [tr[A_{i}\mu] - a_{i}(t)tr[\mu]] . \qquad (2.3.13)$$

This operator projects out the relevant probability density

$$\vec{\rho}(t) = P^{\dagger}(t)\rho(t)$$
 (2.3.14)

Its time derivative has the form

$$\boldsymbol{\beta}^{\mathsf{T}}(t)_{\mu} = \sum_{i,j} \frac{\beta^{2} \rho(t)}{3 a_{i}(t) 3 a_{j}(t)} \hat{a}_{i}(t) [tr\{A_{j}\mu\} - a_{j}(t)tr\{\mu\}] \qquad (2.3.15)$$

from which we see that

$$P^{I}(t)_{\rho}(t) \approx P^{I}(t)_{\rho}(t) = 0$$
. (2.3.16)

This means that the projection operator $\mathbf{P}^{T}(t)$ and the time derivative commute when acting upon the probability density [108]

$$\left[\frac{\partial}{\partial t}, \mathbf{P}^{\mathsf{T}}(t)\right]_{\rho}(t) = 0 \quad . \tag{2.3.17}$$

2.4 Decomposition of the Time Evolution Operator

By means of the projection operator, the time evolution operator exp(iLt) for variables in the Heisenbarg representation can be decomposed into a sum of three terms

$$\begin{aligned} {}^{ilt} &= e^{iLt} P(t) & ... & (2.4.1) \\ &+ \int_{S}^{t} du \ e^{iLu} P(u) [iL - \hat{P}(u)] (1 - P(u)] G(u,t) \\ &+ e^{iLs} (1 - P(s)] O(s,t) \quad . \end{aligned}$$

where s is an arbitrary time in the interval [0, t], while G(t',t) is a time-ordered exponential

$$G(t',t) = T_exp\left\{ \begin{array}{l} t \\ t \\ t \end{array} \right\} du \ iL[1 - P(u)] \right\}$$
, (2.4.2)

where operators are ordered from left to right as time increases. $G(t^*,t)$ is an operator valued functional of the mean path $(a(u), t^* \leq u \leq t)$ since the projection operator is a function of the mean values.

The identity (2.4.1) is easily proven by differentiation. Here, we give an alternative derivation which points to the physical relevance of the decomposition. First we decompose the time evolution operator into a sum of two terms

$$e^{iLt} = e^{iLt}P(t) + e^{iLt}[1 - P(t)]$$
 (2.4.3)

If we apply the first term to an arbitrary variable F, we obtain with (2.1.7) and (2.3.8)

$$e^{i\mathbf{L}\mathbf{T}}\mathbf{P}(t)\mathbf{F} = tr(\bar{\rho}(t)\mathbf{F}) + \frac{1}{2} [A_{i}(t) - a_{i}(t)]tr(\frac{a_{\bar{\rho}}(t)}{2a_{i}(t)}\mathbf{F}),$$
 (2.4.4)

which is a linear combination of the macroscopic variables at time t. About the "microscopic" term

$$Z(t) = e^{1Lt}[1 - P(t)]$$
 (2.4.5)

of the decomposition (2.4.3) we want to obtain some macroscopically available information by taking into account the past history of the macroscopic variables. To this purpose we decompose the time rate of change

$$\dot{z}(t) = e^{iLt} \{iL[1 - P(t)] - \dot{P}(t)\}$$
 (2.4.6)

into two terms

$$\hat{z}(t) = z(t)iL[1 - P(t)]$$

$$+ e^{iLt}P(t)[iL - \hat{P}(t)][1 - P(t)] ,$$
(2.4.7)

where we have used (2.3.11). Because of (2.4.4), the second term is a linear combination of the macroscopic variables and can be considered as a known inhomogeneity in the differential equation (2.4.7). The solution of the homogeneous equation reads

$$Z_{hom}(t) = Z(s)G(s,t)$$
, (2.4.8)

where G(s,t) has been defined previously, and the solution of the inhomogeneous equation with initial condition $Z(s) = e^{iLs}[1 - P(s)]$ follows in the usual way

$$Z(t) = e^{i\mathbf{L}S}[1 - P(s)]G(s, t)$$

$$+ \int_{S}^{t} du \ e^{i\mathbf{L}M}P(u)[i\mathbf{L} - \dot{P}(u)][1 - P(u)]G(u, t) .$$
(2.4.9)

If this expression for the second term in equation (2.4.3) is inserted there, we obtain the identity (2.4.1).

There is a corresponding decomposition of the time evolution operator exp(iLt) in the Schrödinger picture. The transpose of (2.4.2) is the exponential

$$\mathbf{G}^{\mathsf{T}}(t,t^{*}) = \mathsf{T}_{+} \exp \left\{ - \int_{t^{*}}^{t} du(1 - \mathsf{P}^{\mathsf{T}}(u)) i \mathbf{L} \right\},$$
 (2.4.10)

where operators are ordered from right to left as time increases. We now take the transpose of (2.4.1) and obtain with (2.1.9), (2.3.12) and (2.4.10) a decomposition of the time evolution operator in the Schrödinger picture

$$e^{-iLt} = p^{T}(t) e^{-iLt}$$
 (2.4.11)

$$+ \int_{s}^{T} du \ G^{T}(t,u)[1 - P^{T}(u)][iL + \dot{P}^{T}(u)]P^{T}(u) e^{-iLu}$$

$$+ G^{T}(t,s)[1 - P^{T}(s)] e^{-iLs} .$$

The usefulness of the identities (2.4.1,11) lies in the fact that they express the microscopic time evolution partly in terms of the time evolution of macroscopic quantities. The macroscopically available information about the microscopic dynamics is cast into a mathematical relation. This relation constitutes the mathematical basis of the projection operator technique.

2.5 Generalized Transport Equations

By means of the identity (2.4.1), the time rate of change of a macroscopic variable at time t

$$\dot{A}_{i}(t) = e^{i\mathbf{L}t}\dot{A}_{i}$$
, $\dot{A}_{i} = i\mathbf{L}A_{i}$ (2.5.1)

may be decomposed into a sum of three terms

$$\begin{split} \dot{A}_{i}(t) &= e^{i\mathbf{L}\cdot\mathbf{\hat{p}}}(t)\dot{A}_{i} \end{split} \tag{2.5.2} \\ &+ \int_{5}^{t} du \ e^{i\mathbf{L}\cdot\mathbf{\hat{p}}}(u)[i\mathbf{L} - \hat{P}(u)]G(u,t)\dot{A}_{i} \\ &+ F_{i}(t,s) \quad , \end{split}$$

where the third term reads

$$F_{i}(t,s) = e^{1LS}[1 - P(s)]G(s,t)\dot{A}_{i}$$
 (2.5.3)

The first two terms in (2.5.2) are linear combinations of the macroscopic variables at time t and at previous times u in the interval [s,t], respectively. This becomes explicit if we make use of (2.3.10,11) and (2.4.4) to write (2.5.2) in the form

$$\begin{split} \hat{A}_{i}(t) &= v_{i}(t) + \sum_{j} \alpha_{ij}(t) \delta A_{j}(t) \quad (2.5.4) \\ &+ \int_{5}^{t} du \Big[K_{i}(t,u) + \sum_{j} \sigma_{ij}(t,u) \delta A_{j}(u) \Big] \\ &+ F_{ij}(t,s) \quad , \end{split}$$

where the

$$\delta A_i(t) = A_i(t) - a_i(t)$$
 (2.5.5)

are the fluctuations of the macroscopic variables about their mean values, and where we have introduced the organized drift

$$v_{i}(t) = tr[\bar{\rho}(t)\dot{A}_{i}]$$
, (2.5.6)

the collective frequencies

$$a_{ij}(t) = tr \left\{ \frac{\partial \rho(t)}{\partial a_j(t)} \dot{A}_i \right\} , \qquad (2.5.7)$$

the after-effect functions

$$K_{i}(t,s) = tr\{\bar{\rho}(s)\}L[1 - P(s)]G(s,t)\dot{A}_{i}\}$$
, (2.5.8)

and the memory functions

$$\begin{split} \theta_{ij}(t,s) &= \mathrm{tr} \left\{ \frac{2 \bar{\sigma}_{ij}(s)}{2 \bar{\sigma}_{ij}(s)} i L(1 - P(s)) B(s, t) \dot{\delta}_{ij} \right\} \\ &= \frac{1}{k} \dot{\delta}_{k}(s) \mathrm{tr} \left\{ \frac{2 \bar{\sigma}_{ij}(s)}{2 \bar{\sigma}_{ij}(s)} B(s, t) \dot{\delta}_{ij} \right\} . \end{split}$$
(2.5.9)

The meaning of these quantities will become clear below.

First, we average (2.5.4) over the initial probability density $\rho(0)$. Since $<\delta A_1(t)> = 0$, we have

$$\dot{a}_{i}(t) = v_{i}(t) + \int_{s}^{t} duK_{i}(t,u) + f_{i}(t,s)$$
, (2.5.10)

where

$$f_i(t,s) = \langle F_i(t,s) \rangle = tr\{\rho(0)F_i(t,s)\}$$
 (2.5.11)

This term may also be written

$$f_i(t,s) = tr\{\delta\rho(s) G(s,t) \hat{A}_i\},$$
 (2.5.12)

where

$$\delta_{\rho}(s) = \rho(s) - \bar{\rho}(s) = [1 - P'(s)]_{\rho}(s)$$
 (2.5.13)

is the deviation of the true microscopic probability density q(s) from the relevant form. In passing from (2.5.11) to (2.5.12), we have made use of (2.1.5), (2.3.14), and (2.5.3).

The decomposition (2.5.10) expresses the time rate of change of the mean value of a macroscopic variable as a sum of three terms. The first term, the organized drift $v_i(t)$, is the average of the microscopic flux \hat{A}_i over the relevant probabiity density $_0(t)$. Like $\hat{v}(t)$ this term depends on t only via the mean values

$$v_i(t) = v_i[a(t)]$$
 (2.5.14)

so that $v_i(t)$ is completely determined by the instantaneous macroscopic state. The remaining terms form the disorganized drift

$$r_i(t) = \int_{s}^{t} du K_i(t,u) + f_i(t,s)$$
 (2.5.15)

which is due to the deviation $\delta_p(t)$ of the microscopic probability density $\rho(t)$ from the relevant form. This contribution to $\dot{a}_s(t)$ is again split into two pieces: a functional of the mean path (a(u), $s\leq u\leq t)$ which the system has run through in the preceeding time interval [s,t], and a term due to the deviation $\delta_P(s)$ at the earlier time s.

So far we have made use of the properties (2.2.2.4) of the relevant probability density only. The remaining property (2.2.5) requires that the initial probability density r(0) be of the relevant form. This should be looked upon as a condition for an adequate definition of the relevant probability density rather than a restriction of initial states. Secause of (2.2.5) and (2.5.12), we bothin from (2.5.15) by taking into account the whole past history from the initial time $t_0 = 0$ to the present time t an expression for the disorganized drift $\gamma_{ij}(t)$ in terms of the after-effect function $k_i(t,u)$:

$$\begin{split} \gamma_{ij}(t) &= \gamma_{ij}(a(u), \ 0 \le u \le t) = \int_{0}^{t} du \ K_{ij}(t, u) \eqno(2.5.16) \\ &= \int_{0}^{t} du \ tr(\overline{\rho}(u))iL(1 - P(u))G(u, t)\tilde{A}_{ij}) \quad . \end{split}$$

This expression determines the disorganized drift completely as a functional of the mean path.

The time rate of change of the mean values may now be written

$$\dot{a}_{i}(t) = v_{i}[a(t)] + \gamma_{i}\{a(u), 0 \le u \le t\}$$
 (2.5.17)

These equations form a closed set of equations of motion for the mean values of the macroscopic variables and will be referred to as generalized transport equations. Twy describe the mean relaxation of an ensemble of systems initially characterized by a probability density $\rho(0)$ of the relevant form. The derivation of such closed exact equations of motion for a reduced set of variables is one of the main results of the projection operator technique.

To shed some additional light on the statistical-mechanical background of the generalized transport equations, we also give an alternative derivation within the Schrödinger representation. We use the identity (2.4.11) with s = 0 to get from (2.1.5) an expression for $\rho(t)$. This expression can be simplified by means of (2.2.6) and (2.3.14,16) to yield

$$p(t) = \bar{\rho}(t) - \int_{0}^{t} du \ \mathbf{G}^{T}(t, u) [1 - \mathbf{P}^{T}(u)] \mathbf{1} \mathbf{L} \bar{\rho}(u)$$
 (2.5.18)

This formula represents the true probability density $_0(t)$ as the sum of the relevant probability density $_0(t)$ and the deviation $\delta_0(t)$ from the relevant form expressed as an integral over the past history of the macroscopic variables.

With (2.5.18) the time rate of change of the mean value $a_i(t)$ may be written $\dot{a}_i(t) = tr(\dot{A}_{i0}(t))$ t (2.5.1)

= tr(
$$\hat{A}_{1}\bar{\rho}(t)$$
) - $\int_{0}^{t} du tr($\hat{A}_{1}G^{T}(t,u)(1 - P^{T}(u))iL_{\bar{\rho}}(u)$). (2.5.19)$

This equation coincides with (2.5.17) if we write $v_i(t)$ and $v_i(t)$ in terms of molecular expressions by means of (2.5.6,8,16). Note that the order of the transposed operators in the trace in the integrand of (2.5.19) has to be reverse to the order in (2.5.8).

2.6 Generalized Langevin Equations

So far we have considered only the average of the fundamental decomposition (2.5.4) of the time rate of change $\hat{A}_j(1)$. We now subtract the average relation (2.5.10) from (2.5.4 to get

$$\delta \dot{A}_{1}(t) = \sum_{j} \alpha_{ij}(t) \delta A_{j}(t) + \int_{s}^{t} du \sum_{j} \phi_{ij}(t, u) \delta A_{j}(u) + \delta F_{i}(t, s) , \qquad (2.6.1)$$

where

$$\delta F_i(t,s) = F_i(t,s) - f_i(t,s)$$
 (2.6.2)

Equation (2.6.1) gives the time rate of change of the fluctuations of the macroscopic variables as a sum of these terms. The first two terms are completely determined by macroscopic quantities. The collective frequencies $a_{ij}(t)$ are functions of the mean values, and they are related to the organized drift $v_i(t)$ of the generalized transport equations by

$$a_{ij}(a) = \frac{\partial v_i(a)}{\partial a_j}$$
, $a_{ij}(t) = a_{ij}(a(t))$. (2.6.3)

This follows immediately from the molecular expressions (2.5.6.7). The memory functions $\phi_{ij}(t,u)$ are defined in (2.5.9) as functionals of the mean path, and they can be expressed as functional derivatives of the disorganized drift $v_i(t)$ of the generalized transport equations (26.27)

$$\Phi_{ij}(t,s) = \frac{\delta \gamma_i(a(u), 0 \le u \le t)}{\delta a_i(s)} .$$
 (2.6.4)

To prove this relation we have to express $y_{ij}(t)$ as a statistical-mechanical average by means of (2.5.8.16). Then the functional derivative can be calculated explicitly, and the result coincides with the molecular expression (2.5.9) for the memory functions. Details are given at the end of this section.

Given a solution of the generalized transport equations (2.5.17), the collective frequencies $a_{ij}(t)$ and the memory functions of $\epsilon_{ij}(t,u)$ may be looked upon as given functions of times of that the first two terms of the decomposition (2.6.1) depend only on the instantaneous fluctuations and their past history in the time interval (s,t). The third term $\delta_i(t,s)$ gives the influence of microscopic processes and of macroscopic fluctuations prior to time s, and it has the properties

$$\begin{split} & \left. \operatorname{csF}_{i}\left(t,s\right) =0 & (2.6.5) \\ & \left. \operatorname{tsF}_{i}\left(s,s\right) =\operatorname{c-iLs}_{i} \operatorname{csF}_{i}\left(t,s\right) \right\} =0 \quad , \end{split}$$

following from (2.5.3) and (2.6.2).

Going back to the initial time of preparation $t_0 = 0$, we get from (2.6.1) the generalized Langevin equations [26]:

$$\delta \dot{A}_{i}(t) = \sum_{j} n_{ij}(t) \delta A_{j}(t) + \int_{0}^{t} du \sum_{j} *_{ij}(t, u) \delta A_{j}(u) + F_{i}(t) , \qquad (2.6.6)$$

where the random forces

$$F_i(t) = F_i(t,0) = \delta F_i(t,0)$$
 (2.6.7)

have the properties

$$\langle F_{i}(t) \rangle = 0$$
, $tr \left\{ \frac{3\bar{\rho}(0)}{\partial a_{j}(0)} F_{i}(t) \right\} = 0$. (2.6.8)

The generalized Langevin equations (2.6.6) determine the stochastic process of the fluctuations sA(t) of the macroscopic variables in terms of another process, the stochastic process of the random forces f(t). This means that we have to know the stochastic process of the random forces in order to determine the stochastic process of the fluctuations. The properties (2.6.8) of the random forces are not sufficient to obtain interesting quantities like time correlations of fluctuations from the generalized Langevin equations. One has to determine further properties depend on the particular form of the relevant density matrix, we will postpone further discussion to the following sections where we deal with particular form of p_{c} .

We now give a derivation of (2.6.4). From (2.3.8) it follows that

$$\frac{\partial P(t)}{\partial a_{i}(t)} F = \sum_{j} [A_{j} - a_{j}(t)] tr \left\{ \frac{a^{2}\rho(t)}{\partial a_{i}(t)a_{j}(t)} F \right\} . \qquad (2.6.9)$$

Further, the functional derivatives of the operator valued functional (2.4.2) read

$$\frac{aG(t', t)}{ca_{\dagger}(u)}F = -G(t', u)iL \frac{\mathscr{B}^{2}(u)}{aa_{\dagger}(u)}G(u, t)F \qquad (2, 6, 10)$$

$$= -\frac{r}{3}G(t', u)\dot{A}_{3} tr \left\{\frac{a^{2}r}{aa_{\dagger}(u)a_{\dagger}_{3}(u)}G(u, t)F\right\} .$$

We then obtain for the functional derivatives of the disorganized drift (2.5.16)

$$\begin{array}{l} \frac{\partial \gamma_1(a(u), 0 \leq u \leq t)}{\delta a_j(u)} = \operatorname{tr} \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \frac{\partial \rho_2(u)}{\partial a_j(u)} \operatorname{iL}[1-P](u) G(u,t) A_{ij} \right\} \\ & - \frac{1}{k} \operatorname{tr} (\rho(u) A_k) \operatorname{tr} \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \frac{\partial^2 \rho_2(u)}{\partial a_j(u) \partial a_k(u)} G(u,t) A_{ij} \right\} \end{array} \right. \end{array}$$

$$- \frac{u}{b} \frac{dt}{dt} \cdot \frac{t}{k} tr(\hat{\rho}(t')) i L(1 - P(t')) G(t', u) \dot{A}_k) tr \left\{ \frac{3^2 \hat{\rho}(u)}{3 \hat{a}_k(u) 3 \hat{a}_k(u)} G(u, t) \dot{A}_i \right\}$$

$$- tr \left\{ \frac{3 \hat{\rho}(u)}{3 \hat{a}_j(u)} i L(1 - P(u)) G(u, t) \dot{A}_i \right\}$$

$$- \frac{t}{k} \left\{ v_k(u) + \gamma_k(u) \right\} tr \left\{ \frac{3^2 \hat{\rho}(u)}{3 \hat{a}_k(u) 3 \hat{a}_k(u)} G(u, t) \dot{A}_i \right\} , \qquad (2.6.11)$$

where we have made use of the fact that $G(t^*,t)$ does not depend on mean values a(u) for times $u < t^*$, and the second transformation follows by virtue of (2.5.6.16)

Finally, with (2.5.17), the relations (2.5.9) and (2.6.11) combine to give (2.6.4). An alternative derivation, pointing to the physical meaning of (2.6.4), may be found in [27,109].

2.7 More on Projection Operator Methods

The generalized transport equations (2.5.17) for the mean values and the generalized langevin equations (2.6.6) for the fluctuations about the mean path are exact for every choice of the relevant probebility density $\bar{\rho}$ provided (2.2.2.5) hold. The equations of motion (2.5.17) and (2.6.6) display the universal structure of exact equations of motion in nonequilibrium statistical mechanics. For the investigation of particular inversersible processes the general frame has to be adapted by choosing a particular form of the relevant probebility density. The various projection operator methods which have been put forward in the last two decades are just such special cases of the general approach outlined in the preceding actions.

Sociar Products. Sometimes authors have preferred to specify the projection (2.3.1) of the space of all variables upon the macroscopically relevant subspace by means of a scalar product defined in the space of variables as compared to a specification by means of a relevant probability density. In such a case one requires that the direction of the projection be orthogonal to the macroscopically relevant subspace instead of the properties d) and e) in (2.3.2). Various definitions of such a scalar product have been found useful in different contexts [20,110,111]. It can be shown [112] that the definition of a scalar product in the space of variables is in fact equivalent to the introduction of a relevant probbility density, and it is basically a matter of taste as to which is regarded as primary. Often an adequate choice of p energes very maturally from physical considerations so that w spall remain with p_c .

Multified Projection Operators. By inspecting the molecular expressions $\{2, 4, 2\}$ and $\{2, 5, 5, -9\}$ which define the quantities that appear in the equations of motion $\{2, 5, 17\}$ and $\{2, 6, 6\}$, we see that in these formulas the projection operator P(t) appears only in the combination LP(t). Thus, we could introduce a somewhat modified projection operator $\tilde{P}(t)$ so that

$$LP(t) = LP(t)$$
 (2.7.1)

without changing the final result. If we work with the transposed operator we have $\bar{p}^{T}(t)_{L} = p^{T}(t)_{L}$ (2.7.2)

instead of (2.7.1). Consequently, the same equation of motion can be derived by means of two different projection operators related by (2.7.1) or (2.7.2) (compare e.g. [23] and [107]).

The Unity as a Magroscopic Variable. Sometimes there arises a situation where the chosen set of macroscopic variables A already includes the unity 1 as a certain linear combination

$$1 = \sum_{i} \epsilon_{i} A_{i}$$
. (2.7.3)

Naturally, we always could split off the unity explicitly and use the previous scheme but this is often unsuitable, and we will shortly discuss the modifications necessary if we want to allow for (2.7.3). In this case the normalization (2.2.2) of the relevant probability density is included in (2.2.4), from which we get

$$\operatorname{tr}\left\{A_{j} \frac{\partial \bar{p}}{\partial a_{j}}\right\} = \delta_{jj} \qquad (2.7.4)$$

Further, with (2.7.3)

$$\operatorname{tr}\left\{\frac{a_{\tilde{D}}}{a_{\tilde{J}}}\right\} = \xi_{\tilde{J}} , \qquad (2.7.5)$$

which is now valid instead of (2,3,3). With (2,7,4,5) it is readily shown that the properties (2,3,2) of the projection (2,3,1) are still valid if the macroscopic state a is compatible with the normalization

$$\sum_{i \in i} a_i = 1$$
. (2.7.6)

Hence, we can use the same projection operator (2.3.1) to deal with macroscopic variables A which include the unity as a linear combination, and the equations of motion (2.5.17) and (2.6.6) remain unchanged.

Time-Independent Projection Operators. The earlier work on projection operator methods was based on relevant probability densities $\tilde{p}(a)$ which are linear functions of the mean values a. In this case $\tilde{p}(a)$ is of the form

$$\bar{\rho}[a] = \hat{\rho} + \sum_{i} \rho_{i}(a_{i} - \hat{a}_{i})$$
, (2.7.7)

where the à are suitably chosen reference values. Because of (2.2.4) we have

$$tr(\hat{\rho}A_{j}) = \hat{a}_{j}$$
, $tr(A_{j}\rho_{j}) = \delta_{jj}$. (2.7.8)

Now, the projection operator (2.3.1) is particularly simple:

$$PF = tr{\hat{\rho}F} + \sum_{i} (A_{i} - \hat{a}_{i})tr{\rho_{i}F} . \qquad (2.7.9)$$

Note that P does not depend on the macroscopic state a and, consequently, it is time-independent in a dynamical process.

Since we can omit the time ordering prescription in (2.4.2), the molecular expressions (2.5.6-9) simplify considerably. The organized drift (2.5.6) reads

$$v_{i}[a] = \tilde{v}_{i} + \sum_{j} n_{ij}(a_{j} - \hat{a}_{j})$$
, (2.7.10)

where

$$\hat{v}_{i} = tr{\hat{\rho}A_{i}}$$
 (2.7.11)

while the

$$a_{ij} = tr\{a_j \dot{A}_i\}$$
 (2.7.12)

are the collective frequencies (2.5.7) which are now independent of the macroscopic state. The after-effect functions (2.5.8) read

$$K_{i}(t,s) = \hat{\phi}_{i}(t-s) + \sum_{j} \Phi_{ij}(t-s)(a_{j}(s) - \hat{a}_{j})$$
 (2.7.13)

where

$$\hat{\theta}_{i}(t) = tr \left[\hat{\rho} i L(1 - P) e^{i L(1-P)t} A_{i} \right]$$
, (2.7.14)

while the

$$\phi_{ij}(t) = tr \left\{ \rho_{j} i L(1 - P) e^{i L(1 - P) t} A_{i} \right\}$$
 (2.7.15)

are the memory functions (2.5.9) which are now independent of the mean path.

The generalized transport equations (2.5.17) are linear in the mean values

$$\begin{split} \hat{\mathfrak{s}}_{i}(t) &= \hat{\mathfrak{v}}_{i} + \sum_{j}^{r} \alpha_{ij} (\mathfrak{a}_{j}(t) - \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{j}) \\ &+ \int_{0}^{r} du \Big[\hat{\mathfrak{s}}_{i}(t-u) + \sum_{j}^{r} \mathfrak{s}_{ij} (t-u) (\mathfrak{a}_{j}(u) - \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{j}) \Big] \quad , \end{split}$$

and the generalized Langevin equations (2.6.6) assume the form

$$\delta A_{i}(t) = \sum_{j} \Omega_{ij} \delta A_{i}(t) + \int_{0}^{t} du \sum_{j} \phi_{ij}(t-u) \delta A_{j}(u) + F_{i}(t) ,$$
 (2.7.17)

where the random forces

$$F_i(t) = (1 - P) e^{iL(1-P)t} A_i$$
 (2.7.18)

have the properties

$$tr{\hat{\rho}F_{i}(t)} = 0$$
, $tr{_{\rho_{j}F_{i}(t)}} = 0$. (2.7.19)

By adding the evolution equations (2.7.16) and (2.7.17) we get

$$\begin{split} \hat{A}_{1}(t) &= \hat{v}_{1} + \sum_{j}^{2} \hat{u}_{1j}(A_{j}(t) - \hat{a}_{j}) \end{split} \tag{2.7.20} \\ &+ \int_{0}^{1} du \left[\hat{e}_{1}(t-u) + \sum_{j}^{2} \hat{e}_{1j}(t-u)(A_{j}(u) - \hat{a}_{j}) \right] + F_{ij}(t) \quad , \end{split}$$

which is the same equation as (2.7.16) except that the mean values are replaced by the fluctuating variables and a random source term $F_i(t)$ has been added. This means that in a system where the mean values obey a linear law, fluctuations of the state variables can be taken into account simply by adding random forces to the systematic fluxes. This is not true if the transport equations are nonlinear.

Clearly, the exact squations of motion which are obtained with the help of a relevant probability density linearly dependent on the mean values a have a much simpler structure than those more general equations derived previously, and one might ask why do we not restrict ourselves to the linear case. First, the initial states of a process under consideration can not always be written in the simple form (2.7.7), in particular if these states are far from equilibrium. Second, since the equations of motions are linear, physically important couplings among the macroscopic variables may be hidden under a complicated structure of the memory functions. In such a case a time-dependent projection operator approach which allows for nonlinear evolution laws may turn out to be simpler in the long run.

3. Statistical Thermodynamics

In this chapter we study the relaxation of a system which has been displaced from equilibrium by means of external forces. The initial state may be far from thermal equilibrium, and we shall not restrict ourselves to linearizations about equilibbrium. To a macroscopic nonequilibrium state described by the mean values a of the macroscopic variables A, we assign a relevant probability density is a natural generalized canonical form. Since this relevant probability density is a natural generalization of the equilibrium probability density, we can use it to extend relations familiar from equilibrium thermodynamics in a natural way to nonequilibrium systems. We shall employ the projection operator technique to determine the effects of the deviation of the true microscopic state from the generalized canonical form.

In Sect.3.1 we introduce the generalized canonical probability density [23,113-16] and use it to define a nonequilibrium free energy F as a function of the macroscopic state a. The derivatives v_{i} a f/ag of the free energy have the meaning of thermodynamic forces conjugate to the fluxes a_{i} . In Sect.3.2 the generalized transport equations [23] governing the time evolution of the mean values are cast into a special form where the fluxes a_{i} expressed in terms of the forces v_{i} and of transport coefficients which depend on the preceding mean path. In Sect.3.3 we give the associated Langevin equations [27] governing the time evolution of fluctuations about the mean, and we derive a generalized fluctuation dissipation theorem of the second kind. If the mean values assume their stationary equilibrium values, the Langevin equations reduce to MDRI's Langevin equations [20]. The main features of the Mori theory are summarized in Sect.3.4.

In order to use the equations of motion of generalized statistical thermodynamics to describe the motion of a given system, the rather involved formal expressions for the transport coefficients and the correlations of the random forces have to be evaluated explicitly first. In most cases this can only be done approximately. In Sect3.5, E and 3.6 we present such an approximation where the time rates of change of the macroscopic variables are used as small quantities [35]. In the lowest nontrivial order the approximate equations of motion have a particularly simple structure: the mean values obey the nonlinear transport equations

$$\dot{a}_{i}(t) = -\sum_{j} L_{ij}(t) \mu_{j}(t) = m_{i}(t) ; \quad \mu_{i} = \frac{\partial F}{\partial a_{i}} ,$$

where the L_{ij} are the transport coefficients; the fluctuations about the mean obey the linear nonstationary Langevin equations

$$\delta \dot{A}_{i}(t) = \sum_{j} \frac{\partial m_{i}(t)}{\partial a_{j}(t)} \delta A_{j}(t) + F_{i}(t)$$

where the random forces have the properties

$$= 0$$
 , $= 0$ for $t > s$

$$(F_{i}(t)F_{j}(s)) = k_{B}T(L_{ij}(t) + L_{ji}(t))\delta(t - s)$$

The last relation is a fluctuation-dissipation theorem of the second kind.¹ In Sect.3.7 we show that the time-reversal symmetry leads to

F[ã] = F[a]

and the reciprocal relations

 $L_{ij}[\tilde{a}] = \varepsilon_i \varepsilon_j L_{ij}[a]$

where c_i is the time-reversal signature of A_i so that $\tilde{a}_i = c_i a_i$.

The approximate equations of notion have the nice property of being specified completely in terms of the themodynamic potential Flal, which is an even function of the state variables a, and the matrix of transport coefficients $\lfloor_{ij}(a]$, which satisfies the reciprocal relations. The theory goes beyond usual thermodynamics by including fluctuations and beyond standard thermodynamics of irreversible processes by extending it to the nonlinear regime. It will be referred to as statistical thermodynamics. Although the theory is valid far from equilibrium, the nonlinearities show only in the large mean deviations from equilibrium, i.e., the transport equations are nonlinear, but the small Pluctuations about the mean behave quasi linear. Clearly, this can only be valid approximately and the approximation may be poor, aspecially if the system is mar critical points or boundaries of the state space. In order to improve the theory, the transport coefficients and the correlations of the random forces have to be determined more precisely, and we have to keep some or the retration effects included in the exact form of the equations of motion. We shall return to this problem in thear.4.

The theory in this chapter is presented within the framework of quantum statistical mechanics. Everything can be done in a completely analogous way within the frame work of classical statistical mechanics. The corresponding classical formulas are obtained by replacing the commutator (1/iK)[X,Y] by the Poisson bracket $\{X,Y\}$, and by noting that phase functions under the classical phase space integral trang be

I Equations of motion of a similar structure have been put forward by a number of authors on the basis of phenomenological arguments [28-34].

permuted in an arbitrary way, leading often to a considerable simplification of the classical formulas.

3.1 Generalized Canonical Probability Density

We consider a quantum-mechanical system described on the macroscopic level by the dynamical variables A which are represented as self-adjoint Hilbert space operators, i.e., $A^{\dagger} = A$, and whose dynamics is governed by the Hamiltonian H. By external forces h which couple to the macroscopic variables according to

$$H_{h} = H - \sum_{i} h_{i}A_{i}$$
 (3.1.1)

we may displace the system from thermal equilibrium. If the forces are constant in time, the system will settle down to a new stationary state described by a generalized canonical (g.c.) probability density of the form

$$\rho_{h} = \frac{e^{-\beta(H-\sum h_{i}A_{i})}}{\frac{1}{t_{r}}e^{-\beta(H-\sum h_{i}A_{i})}}, \qquad (3.1.2)$$

where $\beta = 1/k_BT$ is the inverse temperature.² We then release the system at t = 0 by switching off the external forces and study the subsequent relaxation process.

In every instant of time t ≥ 0 we may choose a relevant probability density $\tilde{\rho}(t)$ of the g.c. form [23,27,113-116]:

$$\bar{\rho}(t) = Z^{-1}(t) e^{-\rho(H-\tilde{\lambda}\nu_i(t)A_i)}$$
(3.1.3)

where the parameters $\mu_i(t)$ and the normalization factor Z(t) are determined by

$$tr(\bar{\rho}(t)) = 1$$

 $tr(A_{i}\bar{\rho}(t)) = a_{i}(t)$ (3.1.4)

as functions of the mean values a(t). The g.c. probability density (3.1.3) has the general properties (2.2.2-4) of a relevant probability density, and it also satisfies (2.2.5) since the initial state (3.1.2) is of the g.c. form.

² For a system which consists of a subsystem described by the A and a reservoir. T is the reservoir temperature. Wore generally we may define T as the temperature of the equilibrium state corresponding to the average values of the extensive constants of motion. If the A are local variables, the local temperature in the g.c. state can be quite different from T. The introduction of a temperature can be avoided by including the Hamiltonian H into the set A (see [271], For macroscopic systems this makes no difference in the resulting equations of motion.

It is natural to introduce a coarse-grained free energy by

$$F(t) = tr{\rho(t)H} + k_{p}T tr{\rho(t) ln\rho(t)}$$
. (3.1.5)

Like $\bar{\rho}(t),$ the free energy F(t) is a function of time only via the mean values a(t) or the parameters $\mu(t),$

$$F(t) = F[a(t)] = F[u(t)]$$
 (3.1.6)

The relation between the mean values a(t) and the parameters $\mu(t)$ may then be written

$$\mu_{i}(t) = \frac{\partial F(t)}{\partial a_{i}(t)}$$
, $a_{i}(t) = k_{B}T \frac{\partial \ln Z(t)}{\partial \mu_{i}(t)}$. (3.1.7)

The time rate of change of the free energy reads

$$\dot{F}(t) = \sum_{i} \mu_{i}(t) \dot{a}_{i}(t)$$
 (3.1.8)

This bilinear form shows that the parameters $\boldsymbol{\mu}$ are the forces conjugate to the fluxes \boldsymbol{a}_{\star}

Using the formula³

$$\frac{d}{dx}e^{A(x)} = \int_{0}^{1} d_{\varphi} e^{\varphi A(x)} \frac{dA(x)}{dx} e^{(1-\varphi)A(x)}$$
(3.1.9)

and (3.1.7), we get from (3.1.3)

$$\frac{a\bar{\rho}(t)}{a\nu_{j}(t)} = \int_{0}^{\beta} d\alpha \ e^{-\alpha H} t[A_{i} - a_{j}(t)] \ e^{\alpha H} t[\bar{\rho}(t)], \qquad (3.1.10)$$

where

$$H_t = H - \sum_{i} \mu_i(t) A_i$$
 (3.1.11)

Equation (3.1.10) combines with (3.1.4) to yield

$$\frac{\partial a_{i}(t)}{\partial u_{j}(t)} = \int_{0}^{\beta} d\alpha tr \left\{ \tilde{\rho}(t) [A_{i} - a_{i}(t)] e^{-\alpha H t} [A_{j} - a_{j}(t)] e^{\alpha H t} \right\} . \quad (3.1.12)$$

3 To prove this formula we first verify the identity

$$e^{\nu(A+\delta A)} = e^{\nu A} + \int_{D}^{\nu} d\varphi e^{\psi(A+\delta A)} \delta A e^{(\nu-\varphi)A}$$

by differentiating with respect to v and showing that both sides satisfy the same differential equation. Then, using this identity for v = I in connection with

$$\frac{d}{dx} e^{A(x)} = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{I}{\epsilon} (e^{A(x)+\delta A(x)} - e^{A(x)})$$

where $\delta A(x) = (dA(x)/dx)\varepsilon$, we obtain (3.1.9).
The right-hand side suggests the introduction of a g.c. correlation function of time-dependent variables X(t) and Y(s) with t \geq s by^4 [27]

$$(X(t), Y(s)) = (Y(s), X(t))$$

= $\frac{1}{8} \int_{0}^{6} du tr(\bar{\rho}(s)[e^{-iLs}X(t)] e^{-uHt}[e^{-iLs}Y(s)] e^{uHt}]$. (3.1.13)

This correlation function is particularly simple for the dynamical variables $X(t) = \exp(iLt)X$ and $Y(s) = \exp(iLs)Y$, where it takes the simple form

$$(X(t),Y(s)) = \frac{1}{\beta} \int_{0}^{\beta} d\alpha \operatorname{tr}\left\{ \tilde{\rho}(s)X(t-s) e^{-\alpha H}t Y e^{\alpha H}t \right\}$$
 (3.1.14)

This shows that the g.c. correlation is a natural generalization to nonequilibrium states of KUgO's canonical correlation function [101,102]. If the state at the earlier time s is of the g.c. form, (3.1.14) reduces in the classical limit to the correct classical too-time correlation (2.1.10).

Equation (3.1.12) may now be written

$$\frac{\partial a_{j}(t)}{\partial \mu_{j}(t)} \approx \beta(\delta A_{j}(t), \delta A_{j}(t))$$
, (3.1.15)

where $(\delta A_i(t), \delta A_j(t))$ is the variance matrix in the g.c. state $\hat{\rho}(t)$. Because of (3.1.7), the variance matrix is related to the second-order derivatives of the free energy by?

$$(\delta A_{j}(t), \delta A_{j}(t)) = k_{BT} \left\{ \frac{a^{2} \Gamma[a(t)]}{2a_{j}(t) 2a_{j}(t)} \right\}^{-1}$$
 (3.1.16)

From (3.1.10,13) we get for arbitrary time-dependent variables X(t)

$$tr\left\{\frac{\partial \rho(s)}{\partial \mu_{i}(t)}e^{-i\mathbf{L}s}X(t)\right\} = \rho(X(t),\delta A_{i}(s)) \quad . \tag{3.1.17}$$

Using the chain rule

$$\frac{3\tilde{\rho}(t)}{\partial a_{1}(t)} \approx \sum_{j} \frac{\partial u_{j}(t)}{\partial a_{i}(t)} \frac{\partial \tilde{\rho}(t)}{\partial u_{j}(t)}$$
(3.1.18)

as well as (3.1.15,17), we easily see that for the present choice of the relevant probability density, the projection operator (2.3.8) projecting out the macroscopic

⁴ Unless otherwise stated variables of the system are always assumed to be represented by self-adjoint operators. Then, the g.c. correlation function is a real quantity. Of course, the generalization to non-Hermitian operators is straightforward.

⁵ In our notation X⁻¹_{ij} is the inverse of the matrix X_{ij} and not the inverse of a particular matrix element.

variables may be written [27]

$$P(t)X = tr(\bar{\rho}(t)X) + \sum_{i,j} (A_i - a_i(t))(\delta A_i(t), \delta A_j(t))^{-1} (e^{iLt}X, \delta A_j(t))$$
. (3.1.19)

3.2 Transport Equations

The mean relaxation from the initial nonequilibrium state (3.1.2) to equilibrium is governed by the generalized transport equations (2.5.17), i.e.,

$$\dot{a}_{q}(t) - v_{q}[a(t)] + \gamma_{q}\{a(u), 0 \le u \le t\}$$
. (3.2.1)

The organized drift v_i and the disorganized drift γ_i are defined in Sect.2.5 for a general relevant probability density, and these expressions can now be evaluated further when we put in the particular form (3.1.3) of the relevant probability density.

We write the Hamiltonian in the form

$$H = \left[H - \sum_{i} u_{i}(t)A_{i}\right] + \sum_{i} u_{i}(t)A_{i} , \qquad (3.2.2)$$

where the first term commutes with the relevant probability density (3.1.3). By use of (3.2.2) the expression (2.5.6) for $v_z(t)$ may be transformed to read

$$v_i[a(t)] = -\sum_{i} V_{ij}[a(t)]u_j(t)$$
, (3.2.3)

where the Vi, are given by the commutator relations

$$V_{ij}[a] = tr \left\{ \bar{\rho}[a] \frac{i}{N} [A_{i}, A_{j}] \right\} . \qquad (3.2.4)$$

Secause of the antisymmetry

$$V_{i,i}[a] = -V_{i,i}[a]$$
, (3.2.5)

we have

$$\{v_i(t)u_i(t) = 0,$$
 (3.2.6)

so that the organized drift does not contribute to the time rate of change of the free energy (3.1.8).

Next we wish to transform the expression for the disorganized drift. The identity $^{6}\ [101]$

$$[A_{s}e^{B}] = \int_{0}^{1} d\varphi \ e^{\varphi B}[A_{s}B] \ e^{(1-\varphi)B}$$
(3.2.7)

32

⁶ To prove the identity we start by noting A exp(8) - exp(8) A = C(0) - C(1)= $-\int_{0}^{1} d\phi(dC(\phi)/d\phi)$, where $C(\phi) = exp(\phi8) A exp(1 - \phi)81$. By inserting $dC(\phi)/d\phi = -exp(\phi8)(A,B] exp(1 - \phi)B1$, we obtain (3.2.7).

yields with (3.1.3,11)

$$i \tilde{L}_{\rho}(t) = \sum_{i=0}^{n} \int_{0}^{0} dn \ e^{-\alpha H_{t}} \hat{A}_{i} \ e^{\alpha H_{t}} \hat{\rho}(t) \mu_{i}(t)$$
 (3.2.8)

With (2.1.9) and (3.2.8) the after-effect functions (2.5.8) may be transformed to read

$$K_{i}(t,s) = -\sum_{i} R_{ij}(t,s)\mu_{j}(s)$$
, (3.2.9)

where the ${\rm R}^{}_{i\,j}$ are given by Green-Kubo type formulae

$$F_{ij}(\mathbf{t}, \mathbf{s}) = \int_{0}^{\beta} d\mathbf{t} \mathbf{r} \left[\hat{\mathbf{r}}(\mathbf{s}) e^{i\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{s}}} [(\mathbf{1} - \mathbf{P}(\mathbf{s})\mathbf{G}(\mathbf{s}, \mathbf{t})\mathbf{k}_{j}] e^{-i\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{s}}} \hat{\mathbf{k}}_{j} \right] . \qquad (3.2.10)$$

When (3.2.9) is put into (2.5.16), we get [23,107]

$$\gamma_{i}(t) = -\int_{0}^{t} ds \sum_{j} R_{ij}(t,s) \mu_{j}(t)$$
 (3.2.11)

With (3.2.3.11) the transport equations (3.2.1) read

$$\hat{a}_{i}(t) = -\sum_{j} V_{ij}(t) \mu_{j}(t) - \int_{0}^{t} ds \sum_{j} R_{ij}(t,s) \mu_{j}(s)$$
. (3.2.12)

These equations express the mean fluxes å in terms of driving forces u and generalized transport coefficients. There is an instantaneous reaction of the fluxes upon the instantaneous values of the forces and a retarded reaction upon the forces at earlier times. Correspondingly the matrix of generalized transport coefficients consists of two parts. $V_{ij}(t)$ describes the instantaneous transport. These coefficients are functions or the instantaneous near values, i.e., $V_{ij}(t) = V_{ij}[a(t)]$. The second part $R_{ij}(t,s)$ describes the retarded transport caused by the forces at the earlier times. These coefficients $R_{ij}(t,s) = R_{ij}(a(u))$, $s \le u \le t$. Equations (3.2.4,10) give exact expressions for the generalized transport coefficients in terms of molecular quantities.

In the transport equation (3.2.12) the driving forces µ are derivatives of the free energy F. For closed systems it may seem more natural to use the entropy as the adequate thermodynamic potential. Defining a coarse-grained entropy S(t) be

$$S(t) = -k_{g} tr{\{\bar{p}(t) | n\bar{p}(t)\}},$$
 (3.2.13)

we obtain from (3.1,5) the usual connection between the entropy and the free energy:

$$F(t) = \langle H \rangle = TS(t)$$
 (3.2.14)

T is the temperature of the equilibrium state corresponding to the given mean value of the energy
 and possibly other extensive constants of motion. Then, we have

$$\mu_{i}(t) = \frac{\partial F(t)}{\partial a_{i}(t)} = -T \frac{\partial S(t)}{\partial a_{i}(t)}, \qquad (3.2.15)$$

and the transport equations (3.2.12) could also be written

$$\dot{a}_{i}(t) = \sum_{j} V_{ij}^{*}(t) \frac{\partial S(t)}{\partial a_{j}(t)} + \int_{0}^{t} ds \sum_{j} R_{ij}^{*}(t-s) \frac{\partial S(s)}{\partial a_{j}(s)} , \qquad (3.2.16)$$

where

$$V'_{ij} = TV_{ij}$$
, $R^*_{ij}(t) = TR^*_{ij}(t)$. (3.2.17)

References to applications of the generalized transport equations may be found in a recent review article by ROBERTSON [116].

3.3 Langevin Equations

The fluctuations about the mean path obey the generalized Langevin equations (2.6.6), i.e.,

$$\delta \dot{A}_{i}(t) = \sum_{j} a_{ij}(t) dA_{j}(t) + \sum_{0}^{t} ds \sum_{j} e_{ij}(t,s) \delta A_{j}(s) + F_{i}(t)$$
 (3.3.1)

The collective frequencies $a_{i,j}(t)$ and the memory functions $\phi_{i,j}(t,s)$ are related to derivatives of the organized drift $v_i(t)$ and the disorganized drift $v_i(t)$ by (2.6.3,4), respectively. Because of (3.1.17.18), the properties (2.6.8) of the random forces read

$$\langle F_{i}(t) \rangle = 0$$
, $(F_{i}(t), \delta A_{i}(0)) = 0$. (3.3.2)

The second relation shows that the random forces are statistically independent of the initial fluctuations.

Defining a matrix $M_{ii}(t,s)$ by

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} M_{ij}(t,s) = \sum_{k} \alpha_{ik}(t) M_{kj}(t,s) + \int_{s}^{t} du \sum_{k} \Phi_{ik}(t,u) M_{kj}(u,s) \qquad (3.3.3)$$

and

$$M_{i,i}(s,s) = \delta_{i,i}$$
, (3.3.4)

the formal solution of the Langevin equations (3.3.1) may be written

$$\delta A_{i}(t) = \int_{J} M_{ij}(t,0) \delta A_{j}(0) + \int_{0}^{t} du \int_{J} M_{ij}(t,u) F_{j}(u)$$
 (3.3.5)

This relation gives the fluctuations as a function of their initial values and as a functional of the random forces. The evolution matrix $M_{ij}(t,s)$ is related to the

g.c. correlations of the fluctuations by

$$(\delta A_{i}(t), \delta A_{j}(s)) = \sum_{k}^{m} M_{ik}(t, s) (\delta A_{k}(s), \delta A_{j}(s))$$
, (3.3.6)

because the g.c. correlations satisfy the same evolution law (3.3.3) with a different initial condition. This follows from (2.6.1.5) if we note that (2.6.5) may be transformed with (3.1.17.18) to read

$$\langle \delta F_{i}(t,s) \rangle = 0$$
, $(\delta F_{i}(t,s), \delta A_{j}(s)) = 0$. (3.3.7)

We now define a quantum-mechanical correlation function of time-dependent variables X(t), Y(s) by [35]

$$< X(t)Y(s) > = < Y(s)X(t) > = \int_{0}^{1} de tr \left[e^{\varphi \sigma(0)} X(t) e^{(1-e)\sigma(0)} Y(s) \right] ,$$
 (3.3.8)

where

$$\rho(0) = e^{\sigma(0)}$$
 (3.3.9)

is the initial probability density. In the classical limit the correlation function (3.3.8) reduces to (2.1,10). The correlation function (3.3.8) may also be written

<X(t)Y(s)>

$$= \int_{0}^{1} d\varphi \ tr \left\{ e^{\varphi \sigma(S)} (e^{-iLS} \chi(t)] e^{(1-\varphi)\sigma(S)} [e^{-iLS} \chi(s)] \right\} , \qquad (3.3.10)$$

where

$$e^{(S)} = e^{\sigma(S)}$$
 (3.3.11)

is the probability density at time $s \leq t$. From this form we see that <X(t)Y(s)coincides with the g.c. correlation function if the true probability density at the earlier time s is of the g.c. form (3.1.3), but the correlation functions (3.1.13) and (3.3.8) will be different otherwise.

Because of (2.2.5), we have with (3.3.2)

$$\langle F_{i}(t)\delta A_{i}(0) \rangle = 0$$
. (3.3.12)

Using (3.3.12) and the formal solution (3.3.5) of the Langevin equations, we obtain for the correlations of the fluctuations

$$\overset{\langle sA_{i}(t) \deltaA_{j}(s) \rangle = \sum_{k,1}^{r} N_{ik}(t, 0) M_{j1}(s, 0) \leq \delta_{k}(0) \delta A_{1}(0) \rangle$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{t} du \int_{0}^{s} du' \sum_{k,1}^{r} N_{ik}(t, u) M_{j1}(s, u') < k(u) F_{1}(u') \rangle .$$
(3.3.13)

This expresses the correlations in terms of the initial correlations and the correlations of the random forces. It should be noted that the evolution matrix $M_{ij}(t,s)$ can be determined if we know the transport equations (3.2.12) governing the mean relaxation, i.e., the time evolution of the one-time averages of the macroscopic veriables. The basic new quantities needed to determine two-time averages are the correlations of the random forces. In general, the $\mathcal{F}_{i}(t)F_{j}(s)$ cannot be related exactly to quantities already appearing on the mean value level; rather, the $\mathcal{F}_{i}(t)F_{i}(s)$ have to be determined by using the molecular expressions.

On the other hand, there is a relation between the correlations of the forces $F_i(t,s)$ defined in (2.5.3) and the retarded parts $R_{ij}(t,s)$ of the transport coefficients. With (2.5.3), (3.1.13), and (3.2.10) it is readily shown that [27]

$$R_{ij}(t,s) = \beta(F_i(t,s),F_j(s,s))$$
 (3.3.14)

This relation will be referred to as "generalized fluctuation-dissipation theorem" (of the second kind). A relation similar to (3.3.14) has also been obtained by FURUXAWA [34,111]. The evolution equations (3.2.12), (3.3.1), the theorems (2.6.3,4) (3.3.14), and the molecular expressions (2.5.3), (3.1.5,7), (3.2.4,10) are the basis of generalized statistical thermodynamics.

3.4 Mori Theory

In equilibrium the forces μ vanish, $\hat{\mu}=0$, and the mean values a assume their equilibrium values à which depend on the equilibrium temperature T. If the initial non-equilibrium state is near equilibrium, the $\mu(t)$ are small for all $t\geq 0$, and we may linearize the transport equations (3.2.12). Thus, we can evaluate the generalized transport coefficients (3.2.4,10) at equilibrium to yield

$$\hat{\mathbf{Y}}_{ij} = \operatorname{tr} \left\{ \hat{\mathbf{s}} \ \frac{i}{N} \left[\mathbf{A}_{i} \cdot \mathbf{A}_{j} \right] \right\}$$
(3.4.1)

anđ

$$\hat{R}_{ij}(t-s) = \int_{0}^{\beta} d\alpha \operatorname{tr} \left\{ \hat{\rho} e^{\alpha H} [(1-\hat{P})\hat{G}(t-s)\hat{A}_{j}] e^{-\alpha H} \hat{A}_{j} \right\} , \qquad (3.4.2)$$

where

$$\hat{p} = \hat{p}[u = 0] = Z^{-1} e^{-\beta H}$$
(3.4.3)

is the canonical probability density, and where \hat{P} and $\hat{G}(t - s)$ are P(t) and G(s,t) for equilibrium mean values $a(u) = \hat{a}$, respectively. Hence

$$iX = tr(\hat{\rho}X) + \sum_{i,j} \hat{cA}_i (\hat{cA}_i, \hat{cA}_j)_M^{-1} (\hat{cA}_j, X)_N$$
(3.4.4)

and

$$\hat{G}(t - s) = e^{iL(1-\hat{P})(t-s)}$$
(3.4.5)

where

$$\delta \hat{A}_{i} = A_{i} - \hat{a}_{i} \qquad (3.4.6)$$

are the fluctuations about equilibrium, while [20,10],102]

$$(X,Y)_{M} = \frac{1}{\beta} \int_{0}^{\beta} d\alpha \operatorname{tr} \left\{ \hat{\rho} X e^{\alpha H} Y e^{\alpha H} \right\}$$
 (3.4.7)

is MORI's scalar product or KUBO's canonical correlation to which (3.1.13) reduces in equilibrium. Because of (2.7.1), we could omit the first term on the right-hand side of (3.4.4). The second term is the Mori projection operator [20].

In the considered approximation the transport equations (3.2.12) read

$$\hat{a}_{j}(t) = -\sum_{j} \hat{v}_{ij} u_{j}(t) - \int_{0}^{t} ds \sum_{j} \hat{R}_{ij}(t-s) u_{j}(s)$$
 (3.4.8)

With (3.1.15) we have to linear order in the deviations from equilibrium

$$a_{i}(t) \sim \hat{a}_{i} = \int_{j} B \hat{\sigma}_{ij} \mu_{j}(t)$$
 (3.4.9)

where

$$\hat{\sigma}_{ij} = (\hat{a}\hat{A}_i \cdot \hat{a}\hat{A}_j)_M$$
 (3.4.10)

is the equilibrium variance matrix. Hence, the transport equations governing the mean relaxation in the linear regime near equilibrium may be written

$$\hat{a}_{i}(t) = \sum_{j} \hat{a}_{ij}(a_{j}(t) - \hat{a}_{j}) + \int_{0}^{t} ds \sum_{j} \hat{a}_{ij}(t - s)(a_{j}(s) - \hat{a}_{j})$$
, (3.4.11)

where

$$\hat{u}_{ij} = -\sum_{k} \frac{1}{9} \hat{v}_{ik} \hat{\sigma}_{kj}^{-1} , \qquad (3.4.12)$$

and

$$\hat{b}_{ij}(t) = -\frac{1}{k} \frac{1}{\beta} \hat{R}_{ik}(t) \hat{\sigma}_{kj}^{-1}$$
(3.4.13)

while the transport equations (3,4,11) are valid in the linear approximation only, they yield exact expressions for the derivatives of the organized drift and the disorganized drift at equilibrium, so that we can use (3,4,11) in connection with (2.6,3,4) to determine the equilibrium collective frequencies and the memory functions exactly. Consequently, the fluctuations about equilibrium obey the Langevin equations (20,22):

$$\hat{s}_{i}^{t}(t) = \int_{J} \hat{s}_{ij} \hat{s}_{j} \hat{s}_{j}(t) + \int_{D}^{t} ds \int_{J}^{s} \hat{\phi}_{ij}(t-s) \hat{s}_{j} \hat{s}_{j}(s) + \hat{F}_{i}(t) , \qquad (3.4.14)$$

where $\hat{F}_{i}(t)$ is $F_{i}(t)$ for equilibrium mean values:

$$\hat{F}_{i}(t) = (1 - \hat{P})\hat{G}(t)\hat{A}_{i} = (1 - \hat{P})e^{iL(1-\hat{P})t}\hat{A}_{i}$$
. (3.4.15)

The equilibrium random forces $\hat{F}_i(t)$ have the properties

$$tr\{\hat{\rho}\hat{F}_{i}(t)\} = 0$$
, $(\hat{F}_{i}(t),\hat{c}\hat{A}_{j}(0))_{M} = 0$, (3.4.16)

and theorem (3.3.14) gives at equilibrium

$$\hat{R}_{ij}(t - s) = B(\hat{F}_{i}(t - s), \hat{F}_{j}(0))_{M} = B(\hat{F}_{i}(t), \hat{F}_{j}(s))_{M}$$
 (3.4.17)

This is the fluctuation-dissipation theorem associated with MORI's Langevin equation (3.4.14). The last transformation follows from (3.4.15) by noting that the Liouville operator L is antisymmetric with respect to the Mori scalar product (3.4.7),

$$(X,LY)_{M} = -(LX,Y)_{M}$$
, (3.4.18)

while the projector operator (3.4.4) is symmetric,

$$(X,PY)_{M} = (PX,Y)_{M}$$
. (3.4.19)

In equilibrium the correlation function (3.3.8) coincides with the Mori scalar product of the correlated variables. Because of (3.4.16), we immediately get from (3.4.14) an evolution equation for the correlations

$$C_{ij}(t) = (\delta \hat{A}_{i}(t), \delta \hat{A}_{j}(0))_{M} = (\delta \hat{A}_{i}(t+s), \delta \hat{A}_{j}(s))_{M}$$
 (3.4.20)

of fluctuations about equilibrium of the form

$$\hat{c}_{ij}(t) = \sum_{k} \hat{n}_{ik} c_{kj}(t) + \int_{0}^{t} ds \sum_{k} \hat{\phi}_{ik}(t-s) c_{kj}(s)$$
 (3.4.21)

Comparing (3.4.11,21), we see that the mean relaxation from a nonequilibrium state in the vicinity of the equilibrium state and the time evolution of correlations of fluctuations about equilibrium are governed by the same law [201. This proves ONSAGRY's repression hypothesis [11] in the general case.

3.5 Approximate Transport Equations

The transport equations (3.2.12) and the Langevin equations (3.3.1) are formally exact but their evaluation is very complicated since the retarded parts of the transport coefficients $R_i(t,s)$ and the correlations of the random forces $d_{\tilde{t}}(t)F_i(s)$ are given in terms of rather involved molecular expressions. Clearly, equations of motion used in the phenomenological theory of many-body systems have a much simpler structure. Such simpler equations of motion can be valid only approximately. The approximation is based on a characteristic property of macroscopic variables, namely, that they are varient only slowly in time.

In the following we shall regard the time rates of change Å of the macroscopic variables as small quantities, and we shall disregard those tarms in the equations of motion that contain Å to the third or higher powers. At present such an approximation is based mainly on intuitive grounds; it can partly be justified by the a posteriori success of the resulting theory. We basically follow [35]. An approximation along similar lines has previously been used by ZWANZIG [43] in a different context.

The R_{ij}(t,s), defined in (3.2.10), are functionals of the mean path $(a(u), s \leq u \leq t)$, and they are explicitly of second order in Å. Since any variation of the mean values a(u) in the time interval [s,t] is at least of the first order in Å, we may replace the actual mean path by the quasi-stationary path $(a(u) = a(t), s \leq u \leq t)$ to yield

$$= \int_{0}^{\beta} d\alpha \ tr \left\{ \bar{\rho}(t) \ e^{\alpha H t} \left[e^{i \mathbf{L}(t-S)} (1-P(t)) \dot{A}_{i} \right] e^{-\alpha H} t \dot{A}_{j} \right\} + \mathcal{O}(\dot{A}^{3}) , \qquad (3.5.1)$$

where we have used (2.4.2) and the fact that iLP(t) is of the order A.

The approximation (3.5.1) effectively replaces a(s) by a(t), so that it can be a reasonable approximation only if the retardation time t - s is much smaller than the characteristic time τ_c within which the macroscopic variables change appreciably. The $R_{ij}(t,s)$ have to decay within a characteristic retardation time $\tau_c \ll \tau_c$ Hence, by neglecting terms of the third order in Å, we tacitly assume that there is a clear-cut separation of two time scales, one characterizing the slow macroscopic processes and the other characterizing the fast processes of the eliminated degrees of freedom.

In the second term on the right-hand side of the transport equations (3.2.12) we may replace $\mu_j(s)$ by $\mu_j(t)$ since the $R_{i,j}(t,s)$ are already of the second order in A. Further, for $t > \tau_{p,s}$ we may extend the time integral to $s = - \infty$ since the $R_{i,j}(t,s)$ wants for $t - s > \tau_{p,s}$ so that

$$\int_{0}^{T} ds \int_{3}^{r} R_{ij}(t,s) \mu_{j}(s) \neq \int_{3}^{r} 0_{ij}(t) \mu_{j}(t) , \qquad (3.5.2)$$

where $0_{ij}(t) = 0_{ij}[a(t)] = 0_{ij}[\mu(t)]$ is given by

$$0_{ij}[a] = \int_{0}^{\infty} ds \int_{0}^{\beta} d\alpha tr \left\{ \hat{\rho}[a] e^{\alpha (H - \sum u_k A_k)} [e^{iLs} (1 - P[a]) \hat{A}_i] e^{-\alpha (H - \sum u_k A_k)} \hat{A}_j \right\} .$$
(3.5.3)

Hence, by neglecting terms of the third order in \hat{A} , the transport equations (3.2.12) assume the form

$$\hat{a}_{i}(t) \neq -\sum_{j} L_{ij}(t) \mu_{j}(t)$$
, (3.5.4)

where the

$$L_{ij}(t) = V_{ij}(t) + D_{ij}(t)$$
 (3.5.5)

are the transport coefficients. Equations (3.5.4) specify the time rates of change of the mean values completely in terms of the instantaneous mean values without referring back to earlier times. We may write

$$a_{i}(t) = m_{i}[a(t)]$$
, (3.5.6)

where

$$m_{i}[a(t)] = m_{i}(t) = -\sum_{j} L_{ij}(t) \mu_{j}(t)$$
 (3.5.7)

The present approximation disregards retardation effects, but it is not an approximation restricted to the regime near thermal equilibrium. The transport equations (3.5.6) are generally nonlinear because the transport coefficients l_{ij} may depend on the state a and the forces w_{ij} are not necessarily linear in the deviations of the mean values from their equilibrium values.

For a given system the derivation of the approximate equations of motion (3.5.4) tan often be based on finner grounds, in particular if the time rates of tange Å are proportional to a small dimensionless parameter of the problem. Frequently, the time rates of change Å are not necessarily small because the reversible organized motion is not slow. In such a case the part of the time rates of change due to the interaction with the eliminated degrees of freedom may be small, though. Then we can look upon the projected fluxes $(1 - P(t))\dot{A}$ as small quantities. The above approximation can be extended to this case leading again to transport laws of the form (3.5.4). However, the molecular expression (3.5.3) for the coefficients $0_{i,i}$ is motified.

3.6 Approximate Langevin Equations

Because of the general relations (2.6.3,4), the Langevin equations (3.3.1) associated with the transport equations (3.5.6) read

$$\delta \dot{A}_{i}(t) \neq \int_{0}^{2m} \frac{\partial m_{i}(t)}{\partial a_{j}(t)} \delta A_{j}(t) + F_{i}(t)$$
 (3.6.1)

The present approximation neglects memory effects. The memory functions $\mathbf{e}_{ij}(t,s)$ decay within the same characteristic time τ_p as the $\mathbf{e}_{ij}(t,s)$, and τ_p is assumed to be small compared to the macroscopic time scale characterized by τ_c . In view of (2.6.1), the present approximation implies that the forces $F_i(t,s)$ rapidly forget theirs dependence, so that

$$F_{i}(t,s) \neq \delta F_{i}(t,s) \neq F_{i}(t)$$
 (3.6.2)

for t - s > $\tau_{\rm p}.$ Consequently, on account of (3.3.7), the random forces $F_{\rm j}(t)$ have the properties

$$\langle F_i(t) \rangle = 0$$
 (3.6.3)

and

$$(F_{i}(t), \delta A_{i}(s)) \neq 0$$
 (3.6.4

for t - s > $\tau_p.$ Hence, the random forces $F_i(t)$ are uncorrelated with the fluctuation $\delta A_i(s)$ for all times s < t - $\tau_p.$

Our next aim is a special version of the generalized fluctuation-dissipation formula (3.3.14) which is valid in the present approximation. With (2.5.3) and (3.1.13) we have a molecular expression for $(F_i(t,s - \tau), F_j(s,s - \tau))$. Making the same kind of approximations that have led us from (3.2.10) to (3.5.1), and using

$$(X(t),LY(s)) = -(LX(t),Y(s)) + O(Å)$$
, (3.6.5)

we find

$$(F_{i}(t,s-\tau),F_{j}(s,s-\tau)) = (F_{i}(t,s),F_{j}(s,s)) + O(\tilde{A}^{3})$$
 (3.6.6)

We now choose $\tau > \tau_{p}$ and make use of (3.6.2). Then, (3.3.14) and (3.6.6) may be combined to yield

$$R_{ij}(t,s) \neq \beta(F_{i}(t),F_{j}(s))$$
 (3.6.7)

Since the right-hand side is the integrand in (3.5.3), we have

$$D_{ij}(t) \neq \beta \int_{-\infty}^{t} ds(F_i(t),F_j(s))$$
 (3.6.8)

The mean values a(t) are quasi stationary on the time scale characterized by the decay time τ_{u} of the integrand in (3.6.B) so that

$$(F_{i}(t),F_{j}(t-\tau)) \neq (F_{i}(t+\tau),F_{j}(t)) \approx (F_{j}(t),F_{i}(t+\tau))$$
 (3.6.9)

Consequently, (3.6.8) may be transformed to read

$$0_{ij}(t) \neq \beta \int_{t}^{\infty} ds(F_{j}(t),F_{i}(s))$$
 (3.6.10)

Because of (2.5.18), deviations ε_{0} of the microscopic probability density ρ from the g.c. form $\tilde{\rho}$ are at least of the first order in Å. Since the random forces $F_{i}(t)$ are themselves of the first order in Å, we may, in the present approximation, identify the g.c. correlations of the remote forces with the quantum-mechanical correlations (3.3.8). Then, in the limit $\tau_{\mu} \rightarrow 0$ (3.6.8.10) combine to give [35]

$$\begin{aligned} & < F_{i}(t)F_{j}(s) > + k_{B}T(0_{ij}(t) + 0_{ji}(t))\delta(t - s) \\ & = k_{B}T(L_{ij}(t) + L_{ji}(t))\delta(t - s) , \end{aligned} \tag{3.6.11}$$

where the last transformation follows from (3.2.5) and (3.5.5). This is the fluctuation-dissipation theorem associated with the Langevin equations (3.6.1).

When we put (3.6.11) into (3.3.13), we get

where the evolution matrix M_{ii}(t,s) is the solution of

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \mathbb{M}_{i,j}(t,s) = \frac{\partial}{k} \frac{\partial m_i(t)}{\partial a_k(t)} \mathbb{M}_{k,j}(t,s) \quad \mathbb{M}_{i,j}(s,s) = \delta_{i,j} \quad (3.6.13)$$

This follows from (3.3.3,4) in the present approximation.

The evolution law for the correlations of the fluctuations is obtained from (3.6.12, 13) as

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} < \delta A_j(t) \delta A_j(s) > = \sum_k \frac{\partial m_j(t)}{\partial a_k(t)} < \delta A_k(t) \delta A_j(s) > , \qquad (3.6.14)$$

which has to be solved with the initial condition

$$<\delta A_i(s) \delta A_i(s) > = o_{i,i}(s)$$
, (3.6.15)

where $\sigma_{ij}(s)$ is the variance. Equation (3.6.14) follows directly from the Langevin equation (3.6.1) and

$$\langle F_{i}(t) \delta A_{i}(s) \rangle = 0$$
 for $t > s$. (3.6.16)

The last equation is a consequence of (3.6.4) in the limit $\tau_p = 0$ since $\delta_p(s)$ has no influence upon the random forces $F_q(t)$ for $t - s > \tau_p$. From (3.6.12.13) we also obtain an equation of motive variance

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\sigma_{ij}(t) = \sum_{k} \frac{\partial m_{i}(t)}{\partial a_{k}(t)}\sigma_{kj}(t) + \sum_{k} \sigma_{ik}(t) \frac{\partial m_{j}(t)}{\partial a_{k}(t)} + k_{B}T[L_{ij}(t) + L_{ji}(t)] \quad (3.6.17)$$

Equations (3.6.14,17) determine the time evolution of the two-time correlations of the fluctuations completely. With (3.5.6,7) they are the basis of statistical thermodynamics meaning an approximate description of monequilibrium systems in terms of a nonstationary Gauss-Markov process.

3.7 Time-Reversal Symmetry

The time-reversal transformation reverses the sign of the molecular momenta and spins while it leaves the coordinates unchanged. Let us assume that the Hamiltonian A is invariant under this transformation, ⁷ while the macroscopic variables are

⁷ The generalization to more general situations, like systems in an external magnetic field, is straightforward. For a detailed discussion of the time reversal transformation see [117].

either even or odd with respect to time reversal: Ĥ = H , Â; = ε,A; , (3.7.1)where ε_i is +1 or -1 for even or odd A_i, accordingly. Then, we have with (3.1.3,4) à, = ε, a, , (3.7.2)μ̃; = ε,μ. . (3.7.3)and . [a] = دَ[a]] (3.7.4)which yields with (3.1.6) Fíàl∓Fíal . (3, 7, 5)Hence, the free energy is time-reversal invariant. Further, using (3.2.4), we get $V_{ij}[\tilde{a}] = \varepsilon_i \varepsilon_j V_{ij}[a]$, (3.7.6)which combines with (3.2.3) and (3.7.3) to yield $v_{i}[\tilde{a}] = -\varepsilon_{i}v_{i}[a]$. (3.7.7)This shows that the organized drift is reversible. The retarded parts R_{ij}(t,s) of the transport coefficients do not have simple time-reversal symmetries except in two special cases. The equilibrium coefficients defined in (3.4.2) have the symmetry $\hat{R}_{ij}(t) = \epsilon_i \epsilon_j \hat{R}_{ij}(t)$. (3.7.B) This follows from (3.4.2) with (3.4.18,19) and <u>∃</u> ¥ = −31 ¥ (3.7.9)as well as $(\tilde{X}, \tilde{Y})_{M} = (X, Y)_{M}$ (3.7.10)which holds for all variables X. Y represented by self-adjoint operators. The last relation implies ÊX ≈ ÊX (3.7.11)Because of (3.7.10), variables with different time-reversal signature are orthogonal in the Mori scalar product. Hence, the equilibrium variance (3.4.10) has the symmetry $\hat{\sigma}_{ii} = \hat{\sigma}_{ii} = \epsilon_i \epsilon_i \hat{\sigma}_{ii}$. (3, 7, 12)

This is also a consequence of (3,7.5) and (3.1.16) evaluated at equilibrium.

Away from equilibrium, simple time-reversal symmetries for the transport coefficients only hold if we disregard terms of the third order in Å. Using (3.7.9) and

43

$$\overline{P[a]X} = P[a]X$$
, (3.7.13)

which follows from (3.1.19) with (3.1.13) and (3.7.2-4), the right-hand side of (3.5.3) may be transformed to yield

$$\begin{split} & \sigma_{ij}(a) = e_i e_j \int \limits_{-\infty}^{-\infty} ds \int \limits_{-\infty}^{\beta} da, \\ & \quad + tr \Big[\bar{\rho}(\bar{a}) e^{\alpha(H - \tilde{\lambda}) \bar{\mu}_i A_k}] e^{-iLs} (1 - P(\bar{a})) \tilde{A}_i] e^{-\alpha(H - \tilde{\lambda}) \mu_i A_k} \tilde{A}_j \Big] \quad . \end{split}$$

Neglecting terms of the third order in Å, this may be transformed further to read

$$\begin{split} & \sigma_{ij}(a) = c_i c_j \int_0^\infty ds \int_0^\beta ds & (3.7.15) \\ & \quad + t \left\{ j (\bar{a}) a^{2(H-\sum j_k A_k)} \dot{\lambda}_i e^{-\alpha (H-\sum j_k A_k)} [e^{iLS}(1 - P(\bar{a})) \dot{\lambda}_j] \right\} , \end{split}$$

which combines with (3.5.3) to

$$0_{ij}[a] = \epsilon_i \epsilon_j 0_{ij}[a]$$
. (3.7.16)

Finally. (3.5.5) and (3.7.6,16) give the ONSAGER-CASIMIR symmetry of the transport coefficients (reciprocal relations)

$$L_{ij}[\tilde{a}] = \epsilon_i \epsilon_j L_{ji}[a]$$
 (3.7.17)

It should be noted that this is not an exact symmetry in a nonequilibrium state but holds only if retardation effects in the equations of motion can be neglected.

From (3.4.1) and (3.7.6) it follows that

$$\hat{\mathbf{v}}_{ij} = \epsilon_i \epsilon_j \hat{\mathbf{v}}_{ji}$$
. (3.7.18)

The symmetries (3.7.8,12,18) are necessary and sufficient conditions for the detailed balance symmetry

$$C_{ij}(t) = \varepsilon_i \varepsilon_j C_{ji}(t) \qquad (3.7.19)$$

of the equilibrium correlations. To see this explicitly we consider the Laplace transformed correlations

$$C_{ij}(z) = \int_{0}^{\infty} dt e^{-Zt}C_{ij}(t)$$
 (3.7.20)

Then, using (3.4.12,13) we obtain from (3.4.21)

$$zC_{ij}(z) - \hat{\sigma}_{ij} = -\frac{1}{\beta} \sum_{k,1} [\hat{V}_{ik} + \hat{R}_{ik}(z)] \hat{\sigma}_{k1}^{-1} C_{1j}(z) , \qquad (3.7.21)$$

where we have also made use of $C_{ij}(t = 0) = \hat{\sigma}_{ij}$. Equation (3.7.21) leads to

$$C_{1j}^{-1}(z) = z\hat{\sigma}_{1j}^{-1} + \frac{1}{\beta} \sum_{k,1} \hat{\sigma}_{1k}^{-1} [\hat{V}_{k1} + \hat{R}_{k1}(z)]\hat{\sigma}_{1j}^{-1}$$
(3.7.22)

from which it follows that

$$C_{ij}^{-1}(z) = e_i e_j C_{ji}^{-1}(z)$$
, (3.7.23)

because the right-hand side of (3.7.22) has this symmetry by virtue of (3.7.8,12, 18). From (3.7.23) we obtain (3.7.19).

In this derivation of (3.7.19) we did not make use of the precise form of the retarded transport coefficients $R_{12}(t)$ but only of their time-reversal symmetry. Hence, the detailed balance symmetry of the equilibrium correlations is not lost if the memory effects are neglected as in Sects.3.5 and 3.6.

4. The Fokker-Planck Equation Approach

The approximate equations of motion for the mean values of the macroscopic variables and for the fluctuations about the mean which we have obtained in Chap.3 describe "normal" features of irreversible processes in many-body systems in a satisfactory way, but there are important phenomena where the approximations involved are too crude. For instance, the linear Langevin equations (3.6.1) will not be adequate to describe the dynamics near critical points where nonlinear couplings between fluctuations become important. The exact Langevin equations (3.3.1) describe these nonlinear interactions in terms of the memory functions, and we can improve the approximate equations of motion by taking into account these retardation effects.

Clearly, we have to worry about retandation effects if there are slowly varying quantities among the eliminated degrees of freedom which may cause a slow decay of the transport kernels. The eliminated degrees of freedom include the nonlinear functions of the macroscopic variables which are themselves comparatively slowly varying quantities. Hence, the transport kernels (3.5.1) may have a slowly decaying part if the fluxes Å couple to nonlinear functions of the A [38-41]. We could try to determine this part by an improved evaluation of the molecular expressions for the transport kernels. It is often advantageous, however, not to go back directly to the molecular level but to tackle the problem by starting out from a more detailed macroscopic level lying between the molecular level and statistical thermodynamics.

Such an intermediate level is obtained by enlarging the set of macroscopic variables to include the monlinear functions of the A. In quantum mechanics there is an ordering problem associated with the derinition of monlinear functions of noncommuting variables. We postpone this problem to Chap.5 and restrict ourselves to classical statistical mechanics for the present. Then, the linear and monlinear functions of the A span a well-defined subspace of state functions in the space of all phase functions. In Sect.4.1 we construct a projection operator projecting out these state functions, and we use the projection operator technique in Sect.4.2 to extract an exact subdymamics for the state functions. Some properties of quantities to be found in the exact equations of motion are summarized in Sect.4.3. The enlarged set of variables included into the present macroscopic description is more likely to exhaust the reservair of slowly varying quantities of the system, so that we may often disregard retardation effects in the new equations of motion even in cases where we have to allow for retardation effects on the level of statistical theremodynamics. In Sect.4.4 we work out a corresponding approximation where again the time rates of change of the macroscopic variables are used as small quantities. It is shown that in the lowest nontrivial order, the dynamics of the state functions are governed by a Fokker-Planck equation of the form [1]

$$p(a,t) = - \sum_{i}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial a_{i}} K_{i}(\alpha) p(a,t) + \sum_{i,j} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial a_{i} \partial a_{j}} K_{ij}(\alpha) p(a,t) \quad .$$

where the drift vector $K_{j}(a)$ and the diffusion matrix $K_{i,j}(a)$ are given in terms of a "bare" free energy F(a), and a matrix of "bare" transport coefficients $L_{i,j}^{*}(a)$ by [69]

$$K_{i}(\alpha) = -\sum_{j} L_{ij}^{*}(\alpha) \frac{\partial F^{*}(\alpha)}{\partial \alpha_{j}} + k_{B}T \sum_{j} \frac{\partial L_{ij}^{*}(\alpha)}{\partial \alpha_{j}}$$

and

$$K_{ij}(\alpha) = \frac{1}{2} k_B T[L_{ij}^*(\alpha) + L_{ji}^*(\alpha)]$$

The bare free energy is related to the stationary probability density $\boldsymbol{p}_{p}(\boldsymbol{x})$ in the conventional way:

$$p_{\beta}(\alpha) \propto e^{-\beta F^{*}(\alpha)}$$
, $\beta = \frac{1}{k_{R}T}$.

We further show that the time-reversal symmetry leads to

and

$$L_{ij}^{*}(\tilde{a}) = \varepsilon_i \varepsilon_j L_{ji}^{*}(\alpha)$$
.

Naturally, the bare quantities F and L_{ij} have to be distinguished from the "renormalized" quantities F and L_{ij} introduced in Chap.3. In Sects 4.5 and 4.6 we start out from the Fakker-Planck dynamics to determine the renormalized thermodynamic potential F and the renormalized transport coefficients L_{ij} in terms of the corresponding bare quantities. This renormalization procedure is again carried out with the help of the projection operator technique. We find that the renormalized transport coefficients contain a retarded part due to the coupling of the fluxes A to nonlinear state functions, so that the Fokker-Planck equation approach leads in a natural way to an improvement of these equations of motion derived in Chap.3 by disregarding retardation effects on the level of statistical thermodynamics. Final- V_{ij} Sect.4.7 contains some additional remarks on the Fokker-Planck equation approach

The main results of this chapter have been obtained by GBEEN [1]. For the most part, our presentation follows ZWANZG [43], while Sects.4.5 and 4.6 contain results obtained by WELDCH and the author [54]. The statistical mechanical derivation of the Fokker-Planck equation has also been studied in several more recent publications [118-122], which we take partly into account, and various aspects of the ronmalization of transport laws are discussed in [47-55]. We shall not discuss here the sophisticated techniques [123-126] that must often be used to obtain concrete results from Fokker-Planck equations if the molinearities cannot be treated in a perturbative way. Various methods have been developed for the numerous applications of the Fokker-Planck equation or equivalent Langevin equations to many-body systems. This includes applications to critical systems [49-52], metastable and unstable systems [127-134], and systems in nonequilibrium steady states [46,55,83,135-138], to mention only a tiny portion of recent work based on Fokker-Planck or closely related methods.

4.1 Relevant Probability Censity

We confine ourselves to classical statistical mechanics. The macroscopic state of the system will be described by a set of macroscopic variables A = (A_1,...,A_1,...) which represent coordinates in the state space Σ on the molecular level the macroscopic variables are represented by phase functions $A(\Gamma)$. A microscopic state Γ in the phase space ϕ is macroscopically described by the state $a = A(\Gamma)$ in the state space Σ on the value of the mechanism of the space Σ clearly. Here is a huge number of microscopic state τ which are molecular realizations of the same macroscopic state a. In the phase space ϕ these realizations constitute the hypersurface $\equiv (a)$ on which the phase functions $A(\Gamma)$ assume the values a (Fig.4.1).



In a macroscopic description of the system we want to determine the macroscopic state a(t) at time t. Even if we know the initial macroscopic state a(0), we cannot determine the future state a(t) with certainty since we will have only probabilis-



tic information about the molecular realization of the initial state. This means that the macroscopic variables describing the state have to be considered as stochastic variables (Fig.4.2).

In thep.3 we singled out the mean values a(t) of the macroscopic variables and obtained an exact closed subdramics for these mean values, namely, the transport equations (3.2.12). Now, we are going to keep the mean values of all nonlinear functions of the macroscopic variables, and we shall aim at a closed subdynamics for this enlarged set of variables.

A function of the macroscopic variables, i.e., a state function $g(\alpha)$, is represented on the molecular level by the phase function

$$G(\Gamma) = g(A(\Gamma)) = \int da g(\alpha) \Psi_{\alpha}(\Gamma)$$
, (4.1.1)

where

$$\Psi_{\alpha}(\Gamma) = \prod_{i} \delta(A_{i}(\Gamma) - \alpha_{i}) = \delta(A(\Gamma) - \alpha) . \qquad (4.1.2)$$

Hence, a state function is a linear combination of the Ψ_{α} . The Ψ_{α} form a set of variables with continuous index α . They have the property

$$\bar{r}_{\alpha}\bar{r}_{\alpha'} = \delta(\alpha - \alpha')\bar{r}_{\alpha'}$$
, (4.1.3)

and their mean values

$$p(\alpha,t) = tr(\tau_{\alpha}\circ(t))$$

$$= \int dr S(A(r) - \alpha)\rho(r,t)$$
(4.1.4)

give the macroscopic probability density p(a,t) in the state space $\sum_{i} p(a,t)da$ is the probability that the macroscopic variables assume values in the state space volume element da around a at time t, and the mean value of a state function reads

$$\langle q(a) \rangle = tr{G_{\rho}(t)} = \int da g(a)p(a,t)$$
, (4.1.5)

Because of (4,1,1) nonlinear functions of the macroscopic variables are linear functions of the τ_a . We shall now look upon the τ_a as the "set of macroscopic variables" in the sense of the previous chapters. Then, by projecting out the macroscopically relevant subspace formed by the linear combinations of the Ψ_{α} , we project out the linear and nonlinear functions of the A, i.e., the state functions.

Replacing ${\rm A_{j}}$ by the enlarged set ${\rm v_{a}},$ we obtain from (3.1.3) a relevant probability density of the form

$$\begin{split} \bar{\rho}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{t}) &\simeq Z^{-1}(\mathbf{t}) \ e^{-p[H(\mathbf{r}) - \int d\omega_{F}(\mathbf{a},\mathbf{t})\gamma_{\alpha}(\mathbf{r})]} & (4.1.6) \\ &= Z^{-1}(\mathbf{t}) \ e^{-p[H(\mathbf{r})} \int d\alpha \ e^{\beta\mu(\alpha,\mathbf{t})}\gamma_{\alpha}(\mathbf{r}) \ , \end{split}$$

where β = $1/k_BT$, and where the last transformation follows from (4.1.3). Since p(a,t) is the mean value of Ψ_a , conditions (2.2.2.3) give

$$\begin{split} &Z(t) = \int d\omega \, e^{\beta \, \mu \left(\alpha \, , \, t\right)} t_{\Gamma} (e^{-\beta H_{\overline{\mu}_{\alpha}}}) \ , \eqno(4.1.7) \\ &p(\alpha, t) = Z^{-1}(t) \, e^{\beta \, \mu \left(\alpha \, , \, t\right)} t_{\Gamma} (e^{-\beta H_{\overline{\mu}_{\alpha}}}) \ . \end{split}$$

We introduce the canonical distribution

$$\rho_{\beta}(r) = Z_{\beta}^{-1} e^{-\beta H(r)}$$
, $Z_{\beta} = tr(e^{-\beta H})$ (4.1.8)

and the associated macroscopic probability density

$$p_{\beta}(\alpha) = tr\{\rho_{\beta}\Psi_{\alpha}\} = \int d\Gamma \epsilon(A(\Gamma) - \alpha)\rho_{\beta}(\Gamma)$$
 (4.1.9)

Then the relevant probability density (4.1.6) may be transformed to read

$$\bar{\rho}(\Gamma, t) = \rho_{\beta}(\Gamma) \int d\alpha \frac{p(\alpha, t)}{\rho_{\beta}(\alpha)} \gamma_{\alpha}(\Gamma) \qquad (4.1.10)$$

By construction, the relevant probability density p(t) yields the correct macroscopic probability density

$$p(a,t) = tr{y_p(t)} = tr{y_p(t)}$$
. (4.1.11)

In an ensemble described by $\rho(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{t})$ the occupation probability of a hypersurface $\varepsilon(a)$ in the phase space ε is determined by the macroscopic probability density p(a,t), while the relative weight of molecular realizations r within a given hypersurface is determined by the Boltzama weighting factor exp(z=k(r)).

4.2 Generalized Fokker-Planck Equation

Since the relevant probability density (4.1.10) is a special case of the g.c. probability density (3.1.3) for the set γ_{α} of macroscopic variables, we could proceed by specializing the results or Chap.1 to this particular case. Or, by noting that $\tilde{\rho}(t)$ depends linearly on the mean values of the γ_{α} namely, the macroscopic probability distribution $\rho(z,t)$, we could specialize (2.7.20) to obtain the evolution law for the γ_{α} . Nowever, in order to make this chapter more self-contained, we shall give a brief derivation of the evolution law for the γ_{α} starting from the Liouville equation directly.

51

To this purpose we introduce the projection operator1

$$PX(\Gamma) = \int d\alpha \frac{\operatorname{tr}(\rho_{\beta} \Psi_{\alpha} X)}{\rho_{\alpha}(\alpha)} \Psi_{\alpha}(\Gamma) \qquad (4.2.1)$$

which has the projection operator property

because of (4.1.3,9). P projects out the y_:

$$P_{Y_{\alpha}}(\Gamma) = Y_{\alpha}(\Gamma)$$
 . (4.2.3)

Hence, it reduces the set of all phase functions to the subset of those which are state functions.

The transposed projection operator
$$\mathbf{P}^{i}$$
 defined by

$$tr\{\mu PX\} = tr\{XP^{T}\mu\}$$
(4.2.4)

reads

$$\mathbf{P}^{\mathsf{T}}_{\mu}(\Gamma) = \rho_{\beta}(\Gamma) \int d\alpha \frac{\mathbf{t}_{\Gamma}(\mathbf{y}_{\alpha}\mu)}{\rho_{\beta}(\alpha)} \mathbf{y}_{\alpha}(\Gamma) , \qquad (4.2.5)$$

and its projects out the relevant probability density

$$\bar{\rho}(r,t) = P_{\rho}(r,t)$$
 (4.2.6)

Clearly, the two projection operators are also related by

$$P^{T}(\rho_{B}X) = \rho_{B}PX$$
. (4.2.7)

The time evolution operator for variables in the Heisenberg representation may be split into

$$e^{iLt} = e^{iLt}p$$

$$+ i \int_{0}^{t} du e^{iLu}PL(1-P)e^{iL(1-P)(t-u)} + (1-P)e^{iL(1-P)t}$$
(4.2.8)

This is a special version of $\{2,4,1\}$ for a time-independent projection operator. Equation (4.2.8) can be proved directly by showing that both sides satisfy the same differential equation and coincide initially.

If we put (4.2.B) into

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \bar{Y}_{\alpha}(t) = e^{iLt} \mathbf{1}_{\alpha} = e^{iLt} \bar{\bar{Y}}_{\alpha}, \qquad (4.2.9)$$

we obtain with (4.2.1) an equation of motion for the v_:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \mathbf{y}_{\alpha}(t) = \int d\alpha' \frac{tr(\rho_{\beta}\mathbf{y}_{\alpha'}^{\dagger} \mathbf{y}_{\alpha}^{\dagger})}{p_{\beta}(\alpha')} \mathbf{y}_{\alpha'}(t) \qquad (4.2.10)$$

1 This projection operator follows from the general form (2.3.1) by (4.1.10)

+
$$\int_{0}^{t} ds \int da' \frac{tr\{\rho_{\beta}\Psi_{\alpha}, iLF_{\alpha}(t-s)\}}{P_{\beta}(\alpha')} \Psi_{\alpha'}(s) + F_{\alpha}(t)$$
,

where the random forces are

$$F_{a}(t) = (1 - P)e^{iL(1-P)t} \dot{T}_{a}$$
 (4.2.11)

We now want to evaluate some expressions appearing in (4.2.10) more explicitly. The classical Liouville operator (2.1.4) acts upon a phase function as a sum of first-order differential operators. Hence, the fluxes $\dot{\mathbf{v}}_{a}$ of the variables (4.1.2) read

$$\dot{\tilde{\mathbf{Y}}}_{\alpha} \approx i \mathbf{L} \mathbf{Y}_{\alpha} = -\sum_{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial a_{i}} \mathbf{Y}_{\alpha} i \mathbf{L} \mathbf{A}_{i} = -\sum_{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial a_{i}} \mathbf{Y}_{\alpha} \dot{\mathbf{A}}_{i}$$
 (4.2.12)

Then, (4.2.11) may be written

$$F_{a}(t) = -\sum_{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial a_{i}} R_{i}(a,t) , \qquad (4.2.13)$$

where

$$R_i(a,t) = (1 - P)e^{iL(1-P)t} q_a \dot{A}_i$$
 (4.2.14)

Further, we find with (4.1.3) .

$$\frac{\operatorname{tr}(\rho_{\beta}\mathbf{v}_{\alpha},\mathbf{v}_{\alpha})}{\rho_{\beta}(\alpha')} = -\sum_{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha_{i}} \mathbf{v}_{i}(\alpha)\delta(\alpha - \alpha') , \qquad (4.2.15)$$

where we have introduced the drift vector

$$v_{i}(\alpha) = \frac{tr(\rho_{\beta} v_{\alpha} \tilde{A}_{\gamma})}{\rho_{\beta}(\alpha)} . \qquad (4.2.16)$$

Finally, using (2.1.9), (4.1.3), (4.2.12,13), and

$$L\rho_g X = \rho_g L X$$
, (4.2.17)
we get

$$= -\sum_{i,j} \frac{\partial}{\partial a_j} \frac{\partial}{\partial a_j} tr\{\rho_{\beta} \gamma_{\alpha}, \dot{A}_j R_j (\alpha, t - s)\}, \qquad (4.2.18)$$

which may be transformed further with the help of (4.2.4,7,14) to read

$$\begin{aligned} & \text{tr}(\rho_{\beta}\mathbf{v}_{a},\text{i}\mathbf{F}_{a}(\mathbf{t}-\mathbf{s})) \\ & = -\sum_{i,j}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial q_{i}} \frac{\partial}{\partial q_{j}} \mathbf{0}_{ij}(a,a^{i},\mathbf{t}-\mathbf{s}) \rho_{g}(a^{i}) \quad , \end{aligned} \tag{4.2.19}$$

where we have introduced the diffusion kernels

52

$$0_{ij}(\alpha, \alpha^{*}, t-s) = \frac{t_{F}(\rho_{\beta}R_{i}(\alpha, t)R_{j}(\alpha^{*}, s))}{\rho_{\beta}(\alpha^{*})} . \qquad (4.2.20)$$

When we put (4.2.15) and (4.2.19) into (4.2.10) and integrate partially with respect to a', the equation of motion takes the form

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{a}}(t) = -\sum_{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial a_{i}} \mathbf{v}_{i}(a) \mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{a}}(t) \qquad (4.2.21)$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{1} \int_{0}^{1} ds \sum_{i,j} \frac{\partial}{\partial a_{i}} \int_{0}^{1} da^{i} \theta_{ij}(a, a^{*}, t-s) \rho_{0}(a^{*}) \frac{\nabla}{\partial a_{j}} \frac{\nabla}{\rho_{0}(a^{*})} + F_{\alpha}(t) \qquad (4.2.21)$$

Because of (4.2.3,7,11) the random forces F_(t) have the property

$$t_r\{p_{\mu_{r}},F_{\mu}(t)\}=0$$
 (4.2.22)

for all $\alpha'.$ Hence, $F_{\alpha}(t)$ is not correlated with the initial values of all state functions.

By displacing the system from thermal equilibrium by means of external forces which couple to the macroscopic degrees of freedom, we can prepare an initial non-equilibrium probability density $\rho(0)$ which is of the relevant form: i.e., $\rho(0) = \rho(0)$. We now average (4.2.21) over this initial microscopic probability density $\rho(a, k)$, while the average of $r_{\alpha}(t)$ yields the macroscopic probability density $\rho(a, k)$, while the average of $r_{\alpha}(t)$ vanishes because of (4.2.22). Consequently, the average of (4.2.21) reads [43]

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} p(a,t) = -\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}} \frac{\partial}{\partial a_i} v_i(a) p(a,t) \qquad (4.2.23)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} ds \sum_{i,j} \frac{3}{\partial a_i} \int da' 0_{ij}(a,a',t-s) p_\beta(a',j,\frac{\partial}{\partial a_j'} \frac{p(a',s)}{p_\beta(a')} .$$

This is the generalized Fokker-Planck equation. The time rate of change of the macroscopic probability density is expressed as a sum of two terms. The first term is local in time and local in state space and is characterized by the drift \mathbf{v}_i . The second term is nonlocal in time (retarded) and nonlocal in state space. This torm is characterized by the diffusion kernels \mathbf{Q}_{ij} and the stationary probability \mathbf{p}_a .

The equilibrium correlation function of two state functions $g_1(\alpha)$, $g_2(\alpha)$ with associated phase functions $G_1(\Gamma)$, $G_2(\Gamma)$ of the form (4.1.1) reads

$$\langle G_1(t)G_2(0) \rangle = \int dada' g_1(a)g_2(a')p_{\beta}^{(2)}(a,a',t) ,$$
 (4.2.24)

$$p_8^{(2)}(\alpha, \alpha^*, t) = tr\{\rho_8 \Psi_{\alpha}(t) \Psi_{\alpha^*}(0)\}$$
 (4.2.25)

is the stationary macroscopic joint probability density. Because of (4.1.3) we have $\binom{2}{2} \binom{2}{2} \binom{2}{2}$

$$p_{\beta}^{(2)}(a,a',0) = \delta(a-a')p_{\beta}(a')$$
 (4.2.26)

53

Using (4.2.21,22), it is easily shown that (4.2.25) satisfies the generalized Fokker-Planck equation (4.2.23) with the initial condition (4.2.26). Hence, the generalized Fokker-Planck equation does not only determine the time evolution of state functions during a relaxation process from a nonequilibrium state towards equilibrium, but it also determines the time evolution of correlations of state functions at equilibrium.

4.3 Properties of Orift and Oiffusion Kernels

Because of the chain rule, the Poisson bracket of a macroscopic variable A_{i} with the canonical distribution (4.1.8) reads

$$\{A_{i}, \rho_{\beta}\} = -\beta \rho_{\beta} \{A_{i}, H\} = -\beta \rho_{\beta} \dot{A}_{i}$$
, (4.3.1)

and the Poisson bracket with ¥ may be written

$$\{A_{j}, \Psi_{\alpha}\} = -\sum_{j} \frac{\partial}{\partial a_{j}} \Psi_{\alpha}\{A_{j}, A_{j}\}$$
 (4.3.2)

Using these relations, we may transform the right-hand side of (4.2.16) to read

$$v_{\hat{i}}(\alpha) = \frac{1}{p_{\beta}(\alpha)} \sum_{j} \frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha_{j}} \pi_{1j}(\alpha) p_{\beta}(\alpha) , \qquad (4.3.3)$$

where we have introduced the antisymmetric matrix

$$\pi_{ij}(\alpha) = -\pi_{ji}(\alpha) = \frac{1}{\beta} \frac{\text{tr}[\rho_{\beta} v_{\alpha}(A_{j,a}A_{i})]}{\rho_{\beta}(\alpha)} . \qquad (4.3.4)$$

This connection between the drift v_j and the Poisson brackets of the macroscopic variables A is often very useful. In particular, (4.3.3) shows that

$$\sum_{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha_{i}} v_{i}(\alpha) p_{\beta}(\alpha) = 0 , \qquad (4.3.5)$$

so that $\boldsymbol{p}_g(\boldsymbol{a})$ is in fact the stationary solution of the generalized Fokker-Planck equation.

We now assume that the Hamiltonian function H is invariant under the time-reversal transformation and that the macroscopic variables have a definite time-reversal signature:

$$\hat{H} = H$$
, $\hat{A}_i = e_i A_i$, (4.3.6)

where ε_c is +1 or -1. Then, we easily find that

$$\tilde{\Psi}_{\alpha} = \Psi_{\alpha}$$
, (4.3.7)
where

$$\tilde{a}_{j} = \epsilon_{j} a_{j}$$
 . (4.3.8)

Further, using $\overline{(X,Y)} = -\{\tilde{X},\tilde{Y}\}$ (4.3.9)and tr X = tr X . (4.3.1D) it is straightforward to show that $iL\bar{X} = -iL\bar{X}$, (4.3.11) and, using $\tilde{p}_{g} = \rho_{g}$, (4.3.12) that $p_{\rho}(\tilde{\alpha}) = p_{\sigma}(\alpha)$. (4.3.13) We may also show that quantities projected out by the operators (4.2.1.5) transform according to $\tilde{P}X = P\tilde{X}$ (4.3.14)and $\mathbf{\tilde{P}}_{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathsf{T}} = \mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{\tilde{u}}}^{\mathsf{T}}$. (4.3.15) With the above relations we obtain from (4.3.4) $\mathfrak{n}_{ij}(\tilde{\alpha}) = \varepsilon_i \varepsilon_j \pi_{ij}(\alpha)$, (4.3.16)and from (4.2.14) $\tilde{R}_{i}(\alpha,t) = -\epsilon_{i}R_{i}(\tilde{\alpha},-t)$. (4.3.17)Now, because of (4.3.13.16), the drift vector (4.3.3) has the symmetry $V_i(\tilde{\alpha}) = -\epsilon_i V_i(\alpha)$. (4.3.18)Hence, $v_i(a)$ is a reversible drift vector. Because of (4.3.17), we obtain from (4.2.2D) $D_{i,i}(a,a',t)p_{\alpha}(a') = \varepsilon_i \varepsilon_i D_{i,i}(\tilde{a},\tilde{a}',-t)p_{\alpha}(\tilde{a}')$. (4.3.19) Dn the other hand. (4.2.2D) implies $D_{ij}(\alpha, \alpha', t)p_{\alpha}(\alpha') = D_{ij}(\alpha', \alpha, -t)p_{\alpha}(\alpha)$ (4.3.20) which combines with (4.3.19) to give $D_{ii}(\tilde{a}, \tilde{a}', t)p_{a}(\tilde{a}') = c_{i}c_{i}D_{ii}(a', a, t)p_{a}(a)$. (4.3.21) Equations (4.3.13,18,21) give the time-reversal symmetries of those quantities that determine the form of the generalized Fokker-Planck equation (4.2.23). Because of these symmetries the solution of the generalized Fokker-Planck equation with initial condition (4.2.26), namely, the stationary joint probability density, has the symmetry

55

$$p_{\hat{B}}^{(2)}(\alpha, \alpha^{*}, t) = p_{\hat{B}}^{(2)}(\tilde{\alpha}^{*}, \tilde{\alpha}, t)$$
 (4.3.22)

This is the well-known detailed balance symmetry. Naturally, the symmetry (4.3.22) follows directly from the molecular expression (4.2.25). However, by connecting (4.3.22) with (4.3.13,18,21) we avoid going back to the molecular level. The latter relations can be looked upon as "generalized potential conditions" for the generalized Fokker-Planck process (4.2.23).

4.4 Fokker-Planck Equation

We shall now approximate the generalized Fokker-Planck equation using a characteristic property of macroscopic variables, namely, that they are warying only slowly in time. To this purpose we shall regard the time rates of change Å as small quantities, and we shall disregard terms of the third order in Å in the equation of motion (4.2.23).

First we note that the diffusion kernels (4.2.20) are explicitly of the second order in Å since the R_{ij} are explicitly of the first order. Therefore, we may approximate (4.2.14) by

$$R_{i}(\alpha, t) = (1 - P) \Psi_{\alpha} \dot{A}_{i}(t) + O(\dot{A}^{2})$$
, (4.4.1)

where we have used the fact the LP is at least of the first order in Å and that

$$e^{i\mathbf{L}t} \mathbf{y}_{\mathbf{X}} = \mathbf{y}_{\mathbf{e}} e^{i\mathbf{L}t} \mathbf{X} + O(\mathbf{\hat{A}}) \quad . \tag{4.4.2}$$

With (4.1.3) and (4.2.1,15) we obtain from (4.4.1)

$$R_{i}(\alpha,t) = \overline{\tau}_{\alpha}[\hat{A}_{i}(t) - v_{i}(\alpha)] + \theta(\hat{A}^{2}) \quad . \tag{4.4.3}$$

When we put this into (4.2.2D) we get

$$D_{ij}(a,a',t^{-}5) = \delta(a^{-}a^{+}) \frac{tr(\rho_{B}v_{a}[\tilde{A}_{i}(t)-v_{i}(a)][\tilde{A}_{j}(5)-v_{j}(a)])}{\rho_{B}(a)} + O(\tilde{A}^{3}) . \quad (4.4.4)$$

Hence, in the present approximation, the diffusion kernels are local in state space. Introducing a shorthand notation for the average over a hypersurface $\Xi(\alpha)$ in the state space by

$$(4.4.5)$$

we have

$$\begin{split} & D_{ij}(a,a',t-s) \\ &= \delta(a-a') < [\hat{h}_{i}(t) - c\hat{h}_{i}(t); \infty) [\hat{h}_{j}(s) - c\hat{h}_{j}(s); \infty]; \infty + O(\hat{h}^{3}) \quad , \end{split} \tag{4.4.6}$$

which gives the diffusion kernels in terms of a hypersurface correlation function of so-called subtracted fluxes $\hat{A}_i = < \hat{A}_i$ (so.) The subtracted fluxes are internal degrees of freedom on the hypersurface (a). Under the assumption that those internal hypersurface correlations decay on a short microscopic time scale, we can disregard the retardation in the generalized Fokker-Planck equation (4.2.23) to derive from (4.4.6) an approximate equation of motion of the form

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} p(\alpha, t) = -\frac{\partial}{t} \frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha_{\alpha}} v_{ij}(\alpha) p_{\beta}(\alpha, t) \qquad (4.4.7)$$

$$+ \sum_{\alpha} \frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha_{\alpha}} \epsilon_{ij}(\alpha) p_{\beta}(\alpha) \frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha_{\alpha}} \frac{p(\alpha, t)}{p_{\alpha}(\alpha)} ,$$

where the ξ_{13} are given by a formula due to GREEN [1]:

$$\xi_{ij}(\alpha) = \int_{0}^{\infty} ds < [\dot{A}_{i}(s) - \langle \dot{A}_{i}(s); \omega \rangle][\dot{A}_{j} - \langle \dot{A}_{j}; \omega \rangle]; \alpha > .$$
 (4.4.B)

By (4.3.13,21), we observe that the \$_i; have the symmetry

$$\xi_{ij}(\tilde{a}) = \epsilon_i \epsilon_j \xi_{jj}(\alpha) \quad . \tag{4.4.9}$$

Equation (4.4.7) is a Fokker-Planck equation which may also be written in the more familiar form

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} p(\alpha, t) = -\frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha_i} K_i(\alpha) p(\alpha, t) + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \alpha_i \partial \alpha_j} K_{ij}(\alpha) p(\alpha, t) , \qquad (4.4.10)$$

with the Fokker-Planck drift

$$K_{i}(\alpha) = v_{i}(\alpha) + \frac{1}{p_{\beta}(\alpha)} \int_{\beta}^{\alpha} \frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha_{j}} \varepsilon_{ij}(\alpha) p_{\beta}(\alpha) \qquad (4.4.11)$$

and the diffusion matrix

$$K_{ij}(\alpha) = \frac{1}{2} \left[\xi_{ij}(\alpha) + \xi_{ji}(\alpha) \right] . \qquad (4.4.12)$$

while this form of the Fokker-Planck equation is frequently used in the phenomenological theory, the statistical-mechanical origin of the Fokker-Planck equation is primarily manifest in another form given below.

Let us introduce a "bare" free energy $F^{*}(\alpha)$ in a conventional way by $p_{\alpha}(\alpha) = e^{-\beta F^{*}(\alpha)} \tag{4.4.13}$

which defines $F^{*}(\alpha)$ up to an irrelevant additive constant. Using (4.1.9) we may give a statistical-mechanical definition of $F^{*}(\alpha)$ by

$$F^{*}(\alpha) = -k_{R}T \ln \int d\Gamma \, \delta(A(\Gamma) - \alpha) \, e^{-(1/k_{R}T)H(\Gamma)}$$
. (4.4.14)

The bare free energy F has to be distinguished from the free energy F introduced in (3.1.5). To avoid confusion the latter will be referred to as the remomalized free energy henceforth. Because of (3.1.16), the renormalized free energy F(a) is a convex function of the mean values a, while the bare free energy F(a) is a function of the fluctuating variables a which is not necessarily convex.

Furthermore, we introduce a matrix of "bare" transport coefficients L^{*} (a) by

$$k_{B}TL_{ij}^{*}(\alpha) = *_{ij}(\alpha) + \varepsilon_{ij}(\alpha)$$
 (4.4.15)

The two matrices $\pi_{ij}(\alpha)$ and $\xi_{ij}(\alpha)$ are defined in statistical mechanics as certain averages over the phase space hypersurface $\pi(\alpha)$. The matrix $\pi_{ij}(\alpha)$ is given by the Poisson bracket relations

$$\pi_{ij}(\alpha) = k_{B}T \{A_{j}, A_{j}\}; \alpha >$$
 (4.4.16)

while $\epsilon_{ij}(\alpha)$ is defined by the Green-Kubo formula (4.4.B). Clearly, the L^*_{ij} have to be distinguished from the renormalized coefficients L_{ij} introduced in Chap.3

Now, using (4.3.3) and the definitions (4.4.13,15), the Fokker-Planck equation (4.4.7) can be recast into the form [B9,9D]

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} p(\alpha, t) = \sum_{i,j} \frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha_i} L_{ij}^{\bullet}(\alpha) \left[\frac{\partial t^{\bullet}(\alpha)}{\partial \alpha_j} + k_{B} T \frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha_j} \right] p(\alpha, t) \qquad (4.4.17)$$

which gives the Fokker-Planck dynamics in terms of a bare thermodynamic potential $F^{*}(a)$ and a matrix of bare transport coefficients $L^{*}_{1,2}(a)$. In terms of these quantities the Fokker-Planck drift (4.4.11) reads

$$K_{i}(\alpha) = -\sum_{j} L_{ij}^{*}(\alpha) \frac{\partial F^{*}(\alpha)}{\partial \alpha_{j}} + k_{B}T \sum_{j} \frac{\partial L_{ij}^{*}(\alpha)}{\partial \alpha_{j}} \qquad (4.4.1B)$$

while the diffusion matrix (4.4.12) has the form

$$K_{ij}(\alpha) = \frac{1}{2} k_{B} T[L_{ij}^{*}(\alpha) + L_{ji}^{*}(\alpha)] . \qquad (4.4.19)$$

From (4.3.13,16) and (4.4.9) we get the time-reversal symmetry

$$F^{*}(\tilde{a}) = F^{*}(a)$$
 (4.4.20)

and the reciprocal relations

$$L_{ij}^{*}(\tilde{\alpha}) = c_{i}c_{j}L_{ji}^{*}(\alpha) . \qquad (4.4.21)$$

Because of these symmetries the Fokker-Planck equation (4.4.17) can be shown to satisfy the potential conditions for detailed balance [139].

The Fokker-Planck equation describes an irreversible, generally non-Gaussian, Markov process. Using (4.4.B) we obtain from (4.4.12)

$$K_{ij}(\alpha) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} ds < [\dot{A}_{i}(s) - \langle \dot{A}_{i}(s) \rangle_{i\alpha} >][\dot{A}_{j}(0) - \langle \dot{A}_{j}(0) \rangle_{i\alpha} >]_{i\alpha} > , \qquad (4.4.22)$$

where we have made use of the fact that the integrand in (4.4.8) is a stationary correlation function in the approximation under consideration. With (4.4.22) we have

$$\sum_{i,j}^{r} K_{ij}(a) X_{i} X_{j} = \frac{1}{2} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} ds < X(s) X(0); a > \ge 0 \quad , \quad (4.4.23)$$

where

$$X(s) = \sum_{i}^{r} x_{i} [\hat{A}_{i}(s) - \langle \hat{A}_{i}(s)]$$
 (4.4.24)

The right-hand side of (4.4.23) is positive since the Fourier transform of a stationary autocorrelation function is positive. Consequently, the diffusion matrix $K_{ij}(a)$ is positive.

We now define a functional $F(p(\alpha,t))$ of the macroscopic probability density $p(\alpha,t)$ by

$$F(p(\alpha,t)) = F_{\beta} + k_{\beta}T \int d\alpha p(\alpha,t) \ln \frac{p(\alpha,t)}{p_{\beta}(\alpha)} . \qquad (4.4.25)$$

Dn writing the Fokker-Planck equation (4.4.17) in the form

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} p(\alpha, t) = \sum_{i,j} \frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha_j} k_{B} T L_{ij}^{*}(\alpha) p_{\beta}(\alpha) \frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha_j} \frac{p(\alpha, t)}{p_{\beta}(\alpha)}, \qquad (4.4.26)$$

we easily find for the time rate of change of F(p)

$$\dot{F}(\mathbf{p}) = -\mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{B}}T \int d\mathbf{\alpha} \, \mathbf{p}(\mathbf{\alpha}, \mathbf{t}) \sum_{i,j} \kappa_{ij}(\mathbf{\alpha}) \sigma_{i}(\mathbf{\alpha}, \mathbf{t}) \sigma_{j}(\mathbf{\alpha}, \mathbf{t}) \leq 0 \quad , \quad (4.4.27)$$

where we have made use of (4.4.19), and where

$$\sigma_{i}(\alpha,t) = \frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha_{i}} \ln \frac{p(\alpha,t)}{p_{g}(\alpha)} . \qquad (4.4.28)$$

Hence F(p) decreases in time and it reaches its minimum for the stationary probability density $p_{\alpha}(\alpha)$, which is approached as $t \to \infty$.

4.5 Renormalization of Thermodynamic Forces

In terms of the macroscopic probability density $p(\alpha, t)$ the mean values a of the macroscopic variables are given by

$$a_i(t) = \int da \alpha_i p(\alpha, t)$$
 (4.5.1)

In Chap.3 we have derived a closed set of equations of motion for these mean values, namely, the generalized transport equations (3.2.12), by starting directly from the Liouville equation. In the remainder of this chapter we shall derive the evolution law for the mean values from the Fokker-Planck equation (4.4.17) (the treatment following [54]). Using (4.4.1D), we find for the time rates of change of the mean values $\dot{a}_{i}(t) = \int d\alpha \, K_{i}(\alpha) p(\alpha,t) \quad . \tag{4.5.2}$

If the Fokker-Planck drift $K_{i}(\alpha)$ is a monlinear function of the α , the mean values are coupled to the fluctuations of the α . From (4.4.18) we see that nonlinearities may have buo origins: first, thermodynamic nonlinearities which arise if the thermodynamic potential $f^{*}(\alpha)$ is not a bilinear function of the α leading to a non-Gaussian stationary probability density $p_{\alpha}(\alpha)$; second, dynamical nonlinearities which arise if the transport coefficients $L^{*}_{i}(\alpha)$ depend on the state α .

The effects of fluctuations are disregarded in the deterministic theory which may be obtained from the stochastic theory in a certain limit where the Boltzmann constant k_B formally approaches zero with the transport coefficients $L_{i,j}^{*}$ and the thermodynamic potential F^{*} kept constant (89,90). In this limit the Fokker-Planck equation (4.4.1) reduces to the pure drift equation

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} p(a,t) = -\sum_{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial a_{i}} f_{i}(a)p(a,t) , \qquad (4.5.3)$$

where

$$f_{i}(\alpha) = -\sum_{j} L^{*}_{ij}(\alpha) \frac{\partial F^{*}(\alpha)}{\partial \alpha_{j}} \qquad (4.5.4)$$

is the deterministic drift vector. The evolution equation (4.5.3) does not lead to a broadening of an initially sharp probability density, and the center of such a probability density moves according to the deterministic equations of motion

$$\dot{a}_{i}(t) = f_{i}(a(t)) = -\sum_{j} L_{ij}^{*}(a(t)) \mu_{j}^{*}(t) ,$$
 (4.5.5)

where we have introduced the bare thermodynamic forces

$$\mu_{i}^{*}(\alpha) = \frac{\partial \Gamma^{*}(\alpha)}{\partial \alpha_{i}} \quad . \tag{4.5.6}$$

Equation (4.5.5) will also be referred to as bare transport equations. Note that they are given in terms of the same quantities L_{ij}^* and F^* as the Fokker-Planck equation (4.4.12), so that the Fokker-Planck dynamics can be reconstructed from the limiting deterministic law (4.5.5) (stochastic modeling). The bare transport equations (4.5.5) have the same structure as the generalized transport equation (3.2.12) but in a nonlinear system they provide only a lowest-order approximation to the latter. To obtain closed equations of motion for the mean values alore, we have to reduce the set of all state functions contained in the Fokker-Planck dynamics to the subset of the linear functions of the a.

The nonlinear state functions can be eliminated with the help of the projection operator technique. To this purpose we first have to define a relevant macroscopic probability density $\bar{p}(a,t)$ which is a function of time only via the mean values a(t). It is natural to choose as $\bar{p}(a,t)$ the macroscopic probability density as

sociated with a microscopic probability density of the generalized canonical form (3.1.3) by (4.1.4); i.e.,

$$\tilde{\rho}(a,t) = Z^{-1}(t)tr(\psi_{a}e^{-\rho(H-\Sigma \mu_{1}(t)A_{1})})$$
 (4.5.7)

Using (4.1.2,9) we have2

$$\tilde{p}(\alpha,t) = Z^{-1}(t)Z_{\beta}p_{\beta}(\alpha)e^{\beta\Sigma\mu i(t)\alpha i}$$
(4.5.8)

The parameters Z(t) and $\mu(t)$ are determined by

$$\int da \bar{p}(a,t) = 1$$
, $\int da \alpha_{ij} \bar{p}(a,t) = a_{ij}(t)$. (4.5.9)

In particular, we get

$$Z(t) = Z_{\beta} \int da p_{\beta}(a) e^{\beta \Sigma \mu_{1}(t) a_{1}}$$
 (4.5.10)

In terms of the relevant macroscopic probability density $\tilde{p}(\alpha, t)$ the renormalized free energy (3.1.5) may be written as

$$F(t) = F_{\beta} + k_{B}T \int d\alpha \tilde{p}(\alpha, t) \ln \frac{\bar{p}(\alpha, t)}{p_{B}(\alpha)}$$
, (4.5.11)

where

$$F_{e} = -k_{B}T \ln Z_{e}$$
 (4.5.12)

is the equilibrium free energy. By (4.5.8,9) we get

$$F(t) = -k_{B}T \ln Z(t) + \sum_{i} \mu_{i}(t)a_{i}(t) , \qquad (4.5.13)$$

and, using (4.5.1D), the renormalized thermodynamic forces read

$$\mu_{i}(t) = \frac{\partial F(t)}{\partial a_{i}(t)}.$$
(4.5.14)

while the mean values may be written as

$$a_{i}(t) = k_{B}T \frac{3 \ln Z(t)}{\partial u_{i}(t)}$$
, (4.5.15)

which coincides with our earlier result (3,1.7).

The above relations are more transparent if we express the equilibrium probability density in terms of the bare free energy $F^{\bullet}(\alpha)$ by

$$p_{\beta}(\alpha) = Z_{\beta}^{-1} e^{-\beta F^{\bullet}(\alpha)}$$
, (4.5.16)

where

² p(a,t) is also the probability density minimizing the functional (4.4.25) under the constraints (4.5.9).

$$Z_{\beta} = \int d\alpha \, e^{-\beta F^{*}(\alpha)}$$
. (4.5.17)

Now, (4.5.8,1D) read

$$\tilde{p}(\alpha,t) = Z^{-1}(t) e^{-\beta(F^{\bullet}(\alpha)-\Sigma u_{1}(t)\alpha_{1})}$$
(4.5.18)

$$Z(t) = \int da \, e^{-\beta (F^{*}(\alpha) - \Sigma \mu_{i}(t) \alpha_{i})} \qquad (4.5.19)$$

We may use (4.5.19) in connection with (4.5.15) to determine the u as functions of the mean values a. Then (4.5.13) gives the remommalized free energy F[a] in terms of the bare free energy F(a).

If the stationary probability density is Gaussian, which means that $\Gamma^{*}(\alpha)$ is a bilinear function of the s, the integral (4.5.19) can be done exactly, and the renormalized free energy coincides with the bare free energy apart from an irrelevant additive constant. Non-Gaussian behavior of the fluctuations in the stationary state leads to a renormalization of the thermodynamic potential; i.e., the bare therero-dynamic rotex s, and the thermodynamic potential; i.e., the bare therero-dynamic actions the communities of the fluctuations to yield the renormalized thermodynamic forces s al. Near critical points (4.5.19) can not be evaluated by just expanding the exponential about a Gaussian, rether, renormalized thermodynamic potential Fial is usually referred to as the generating functional for vertex functions.

4.6 Renormalization of Transport Coefficients

We may write the Fokker-Planck equation (4.4.1D) in a form which resembles the Liouville equation (2.1.3):

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} p(a,t) = -i L p(a,t)$$
, (4.6.1)

where i is given by

$$-1LX(\alpha) = -\sum_{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial a_{i}} K_{i}(\alpha)X(\alpha) + \sum_{i,j} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial a_{i}\partial a_{j}} K_{ij}(\alpha)X(\alpha)$$

$$= \sum_{i,j} \frac{\partial}{\partial a_{i}} L_{ij}^{*}(\alpha) \left[\frac{\partial F^{*}(\alpha)}{\partial a_{j}} + k_{B}T \frac{\partial}{\partial a_{j}} \right] X(\alpha) . \quad (4.6.2)$$

Further, in analogy to (2.3.13), we may introduce a projection operator P(t) by [54]

$$P(t)X(\alpha) = \tilde{p}(\alpha, t) \int d\alpha X(\alpha) + \sum_{i} \frac{\partial \tilde{p}(\alpha, t)}{\partial a_{i}(t)} \int d\alpha [\alpha_{i} - a_{i}(t)]X(\alpha) , \qquad (4.6.3)$$

which projects out the relevant macroscopic probability density

$$\bar{p}(a,t) = P(t)p(a,t)$$
 (4.6.4)

Moreover, we may easily convince ourselves that the validity of the decomposition (2.4.11) does not depend on the particular forms of the Liouville and projection operators to be found therein, so that we may write

$$\begin{aligned} & e^{-iLt} = P(t) e^{-iLt} \\ & t \\ & -\int_{0}^{t} du \ G(t,u)[1 - P(u)][1L + \dot{P}(u)]P(u) \ e^{-iLu} + G(t,0)[1 - P(0)] \ , \end{aligned}$$

where G(t,t') is defined analogously to (2.4.1D) by

$$G(t,t') = T_{+} \exp \left\{ - \int_{t'}^{t} du [1 - P(u)] i l \right\}$$
 (4.6.6)

An initial nonequilibrium state of the generalized canonical form (3.1.2) is described on the macroscopic level by a probability density of the form (4.5.8), i.e.,

$$p(a,D) = \tilde{p}(a,D)$$
 (4.6.7)

When we apply (4.6.5) to an initial macroscopic probability density of the relevant form, we obtain

$$p(\alpha,t) = \tilde{p}(\alpha,t) - \int_{0}^{t} ds G(t,s)[1 - P(s)]iL\tilde{p}(\alpha,s) , \qquad (4.6.8)$$

where we have used (4.6.4) and

$$\hat{P}(t)p(a,t) = \hat{P}(t)\bar{p}(a,t) = D$$
 (4.6.9)

which corresponds to (2.3.16). Equation (4.6.8) gives the true macroscopic probability density p(a,t) in terms of $\tilde{p}(a,t)$ and its past history.

When we insert (4.6.8) into (4.5.2), we find for the time rates of change of the mean values

$$\hat{a}_{j}(t) = \int da K_{i}(a) \bar{p}(a, t)$$

- $\int_{0}^{t} ds \int da K_{i}(a) G(t, s) [1 - P(s)] i L \bar{p}(a, s)$. (4.5.10)

Since the time dependence of $\tilde{p}(a,t)$ and of the projection operator P(t) arises only through a(t), so does the time dependence of G(t,s), and the right-hand side of (4.6.1D) is completely determined by the mean values a(t) and their past history. Consequently, the (4.6.1D) provide a closed set of equations of motion for the mean values.

Equations (4.6.10) are not yet of the standard form where the fluxes are expressed in terms of transport coefficients and driving thermodynamic forces. In order to obtain this form, we make some transformations. With (4.4.18) and (4.5.18) we find after a partial integration

63

$$\int d\alpha K_i(\alpha) \tilde{p}(\alpha, t) = -\sum_j \tilde{L}_{ij}(t) u_j(t) , \qquad (4.6.11)$$

where

$$i_{ij}(t) = \int da \, \tilde{p}(a,t) L^*_{ij}(a)$$
 (4.6.12)

Further, we get from (4.5.18) and (4.6.2) by use of (4.4.18,19)

$$-i \ell \bar{p}(\alpha, t) = \sum_{i,j} \frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha_i} L^*_{ij}(\alpha) \bar{p}(\alpha, t) \mu_j(t) , \qquad (4.6.13)$$

so that

$$\int d\alpha K_{i}(\alpha) \mathcal{G}(t,s) [1 - P(s)] i \tilde{Lp}(\alpha, s) = \int_{j}^{s} \Lambda_{ij}(t,s) \nu_{j}(s) , \qquad (4.6.14)$$

where

$$A_{ij}(t,s) = -\sum_{k} \int d\alpha K_{i}(\alpha) G(t,s) [1 - P(s)] \frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha_{k}} L_{kj}(\alpha) \tilde{p}(\alpha,t) . \qquad (4.6.15)$$

Using (4.6.11,14), the equations of motion (4.6.1D) may be written

$$\dot{a}_{i}(t) = -\sum_{j} \int_{ij} (t) \nu_{j}(t) - \int_{D}^{t} ds A_{ij}(t,s) \nu_{j}(s)$$
 (4.6.16)

Here the mean fluxes \hat{a} are given in terms of the renormalized thermodynamic forces μ . There is an instantaneous reaction of the fluxes upon the instantaneous forces and a retarded reaction upon the forces at earlier times. Correspondingly, the renormalized transport coefficients consist of an instantaneous part $L_{ij}(t)$ which is a function of the instantaneous mean values, $L_{ij}(t) = L_{ij}[a(t)]$, and a retarded part $A_{ij}(t,s)$ which is functional of the mean path in the time interval [s.t], i.e., $A_{ij}(t,s) = A_{ij}(a(u), s \le u \le t)$. By means of (4.6.12,15) the renormalized transport coefficients are given in terms of the bare transport coefficients $L_{ij}(a(u)) = L_{ij}(a(u))$.

The remormalized transport equations (4.6.16) have the same form as the transport equations (3.2.12) when comparing the two sets of equations, we first note that (3.2.12) is formally exact while (4.6.16) is valid in the Tokker-Planck approximation only³. In this approximation a part of the retarded coefficient $R_{ij}(t,s)$ in (3.2.12) is approximated by an instantaneous coefficient which is added to $V_{ij}(t)$ to yield the instantaneous transport coefficient $\tilde{L}_{ij}(t)$ in (4.6.16). This approximated by an instantaneous coefficient $\tilde{L}_{ij}(t)$ in (4.6.16). This may be seen explicitly if we insert (4.4.15) into (4.6.12) to yield with (4.1.10) and (4.3.4) $\tilde{L}_{ij}(t) = tr \tilde{L}_{ij}(t) L_{ij} A_{ij}^{-1} + \beta d a \tilde{\mu}_{0,i}, \xi_{ij}(s)$, where the first term coincides with $V_{ij}(t)$ for classical systems.

Dn the other hand, the Fokker-Planck approximation leading to (4, 6, 16) is more accurate than the approximation used in Chap.3 in order to obtain (3, 5, 4) where all retardation effect are disregarded. To obtain (4, 6, 5, 16) we had to assume that

64

^{3 (3.2.12), (4.6.16),} and (3.5.4) correspond to C_D, C₁, and C₂ in Fig.I.1.

the state functions g(a) are slowly varying compared to the remaining degrees of freedom, whereas in order to obtain (3.5.4) we had to assume that the linear functions of a already form a sate of slowly varying variables with a characteristic time scale well separated from the time scale of the other degrees of freedom. As a consequence, (4.6.16) over a wider range than (3.5.4). In particular, they are still useful at and 1 the vicinity of critical points.

4.7 More on the Fokker-Planck Equation Approach

NonLinear Langevin Equations. Instead of a Fokker-planck equation, one may use a set of Langevin equations to describe the dynamics of the macroscopic variables. The equivalence of the two approaches is well known (44,66,91), but there are some ambiguities associated with nonlinear Langevin equations. That is why we have preferred to base this part of the article upon the Fokker-Planck equation where such ambiguities do not arise. However, for completeness, we shall give the form of the Langevin equation associated with the Fokker-Planck theorem (4.7).

When the stochastic integral is defined in the ITD sense [142], the process may be described by the Langevin equations (stochastic differential equations)

$$\dot{a}_{i}(t) = K_{i}(a(t)) + \frac{1}{3} g_{ij}(a(t))c_{j}(t)$$
, (4.7.1)

where $K_{i}(\alpha)$ is the Fokker-Planck drift (4.4.18), while the $g_{ij}(\alpha)$ obey the relations

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} g_{ik}(\alpha) g_{jk}(\alpha) = 2K_{ij}(\alpha) , \qquad (4.7.2)$$

where $K_{ij}(\alpha)$ is the Fokker-Planck diffusion matrix (4.4.19). The $c_i(t)$ are Gaussian, s-correlated fluctuating quantities with the averages

$$\langle \zeta_{i}(t) \rangle = D$$
, $\langle \zeta_{i}(t) \zeta_{j}(t') \rangle = \delta_{ij} \delta(t - t')$. (4.7.3)

Note that the drift vector $K_{i}(\alpha)$ in the Langevin equations (4.7.1) does not coincide with the deterministic drift vector (4.5.4) in general.

When the stochastic integral is defined in the STRATDNDVICH sense [44], the Langevin equations have the form

$$\dot{a}_{i}(t) = K_{i}^{S}(a(t)) + \sum_{j} g_{ij}(a(t)) c_{j}(t) , \qquad (4.7.4)$$

where the Stratonovich drift $K_{i}^{S}(\alpha)$ reads

$$K_{j}^{S}(\alpha) = K_{j}(\alpha) - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{jk} \frac{\partial g_{ij}(\alpha)}{\partial \alpha_{k}} g_{kj}(\alpha)$$
 (4.7.5)

It is customary to make the g_{if} symmetric,

$$g_{ij}(\alpha) = g_{ij}(\alpha)$$
, (4.7.6)

since without this condition the form of the Langevin equations is rather arbitrary [143]. Again, the Stratonovich drift (4.7.5) differs from the deterministic drift (4.5.4) in general.⁹ In linear systems there is no ambiguity associated with the Langevin equations and the Langevin drift vector is indeed the deterministic drift vector.

Fokker-Flanck Equation Without Temperature. So far, the theory in this chapter has made use of a temperature T defined as the equilibrium temperature corresponding to the given mean value of the energy. The temperature dependence of the equations of motion automatically disappears if the Hamiltonian H is included in the set of macroscopic variables A. Then, we have H(r) = H(A(r)) and we find with (4.1.2, 3, 9)

$$\frac{\operatorname{tr}(\rho_{\beta} \stackrel{q}{\sim} X)}{\rho_{\beta}(a)} = \frac{\operatorname{tr}(\stackrel{q}{\sim} X)}{\operatorname{tr}(\stackrel{q}{\sim} x)} = , \qquad (4.7.7)$$

since the Boltzmann factor exp[=4H(r)] can be brought as exp[=8H(r)] in front of the trace where it cancels. Consequently, the temperature dependence disappears from all quantities to be found in the exact equations of motion (4.2.10).

The further evaluation of (4.2.1D) is somewhat simplified by (4.7.7) leading, instead of to (4.2.23), to the generalized Fokker-Planck equation

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} p(\alpha, t) = -\frac{\partial}{t} \frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha_{i}} v_{i}(\alpha) p(\alpha, t) \\ + \frac{f}{b} ds \sum_{i,j} \frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha_{i}} \int d\alpha^{i} D_{i,j}^{i}(\alpha, \alpha^{i}, t-s) w(\alpha^{i}) \frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha_{j}} \frac{p(\alpha^{i}, s)}{w(\alpha^{i})}$$
(4.7.8)

where

$$w(\alpha) = tr\{Y_{\alpha}\} = \int dT \delta(A(F) - \alpha)$$
, (4.7.9)

$$v_{i}(\alpha) - \langle A_{i}; \alpha \rangle = \frac{\int d\Gamma \delta(A(\Gamma) - \alpha)A_{i}(\Gamma)}{w(\alpha)} , \qquad (4.7.10)$$

$$D_{ij}(\alpha, \alpha^{\prime}, t-s) = \frac{tr(R_{i}(\alpha, t)R_{j}(\alpha^{\prime}, s))}{W(\alpha^{\prime})} . \qquad (4.7.11)$$

It is convenient to redefine the A in such a way that $A_D = H$ while A_1, A_2, \ldots are the macroscopic variables used earlier. Since $A_D = D$, we then have $v_D = D_{D1}^* = D_{1D}^* = 0$ Consequently, in the generalized Fokker-Planck equation (4.7.8) all terms with i = 0 or j = D vanish. Henceforth it is implied that the indices i,j run through 1,2,... only.

⁴ This means that the widely used procedure to introduce fluctuations by simply adding fluctuating forces to the deterministic equations is subject to pitfalls in nonlinear systems [89,144].
The drift vector (4.7.1D) may be written

$$v_{\hat{i}}(\alpha) = \frac{1}{W(\alpha)} \sum_{j} \frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha_{j}} \pi_{\hat{i}\hat{j}}(\alpha)W(\alpha) , \qquad (4.7.12)$$

wl

here
$$\mathbf{tr} \begin{bmatrix} o(\alpha_{D} - H) \prod_{k=1}^{D} \delta(\mathbf{A}_{k} - \alpha_{k}) (\mathbf{A}_{j}, \mathbf{A}_{j}) \} \\ \mathbf{w}(\mathbf{x}) \end{bmatrix}$$
 (4.7.13)

O(x) is the unit step function

$$o(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{for } x > D \\ D & \text{for } x < D \end{cases}$$
 (4.7.14)

When we make the same kind of approximations as in Sect.4.4, the generalized Fokker-Planck equation (4.7.8) simplifies to

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} p(\alpha, t) = -\frac{\partial}{\xi} \frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha_{\xi}} v_{\xi}(\alpha) p(\alpha, t) \\ + \frac{\partial}{\xi} \frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha_{\xi}} \frac{c_{\xi}}{\epsilon_{\xi}} c_{\xi}(\alpha) w(\alpha) \frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha_{\xi}} \frac{p(\alpha, t)}{p(\alpha)} , \qquad (4.7.15)$$

where the $\xi_{j,j}^{i}(a)$ are given by (4.4.8) except that the hypersurface average <X;a > is now defined as in (4.7.7) so that the $\epsilon_{i,j}^*$ do not depend on the temperature T but on the total energy on instead.

The Fokker-Planck equation (4.7.15) may be written

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} P(\alpha, t) = \sum_{i,j} \frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha_i} L'_{ij}(\alpha) \left[-\frac{\partial S'(\alpha)}{\partial \alpha_j} + k_g \frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha_j} \right] p(\alpha, t) , \qquad (4.7.16)$$

where

$$5'(\alpha) = k_p \ln w(\alpha)$$
 (4.7.17)

is the bare entropy, while the

$$L_{ij}^{i}(\alpha) = \frac{1}{k_{B}} \left\{ \pi_{ij}^{i}(\alpha) + \varepsilon_{ij}^{i}(\alpha) \right\}$$

$$(4.7.18)$$

are the corresponding bare transport coefficients.

The Fokker-Planck equation (4,7.16) has the same form as (4.4.17) except that the quantities to be found in (4.4.17) depend on the temperature T, while the quantities to be found in (4.7.16) depend on the total energy and. It may be shown that they are related by

$$\exp\left[-\frac{1}{k_{B}^{T}}F^{*}(T_{,\alpha_{\frac{1}{2}}})\right] = \int d\alpha_{D} \exp\left[\frac{1}{k_{B}}S^{*}(\alpha_{D},\alpha_{\frac{1}{2}}) - \frac{1}{k_{B}^{T}}\alpha_{D}\right] \qquad (4.7.19)$$

and

$$L_{ij}^{*}(T, \mathbf{a}_{k}) = \frac{\int d\mathbf{a}_{D} \exp\left[\frac{1}{k_{D}} S^{*}(\mathbf{a}_{D}, \mathbf{a}_{k}) - \frac{1}{k_{D}} T \mathbf{a}_{D}\right] L_{ij}^{*}(\mathbf{a}_{D}, \mathbf{a}_{k})}{\int d\mathbf{a}_{D} \exp\left[\frac{1}{k_{D}} S^{*}(\mathbf{a}_{D}, \mathbf{a}_{k}) - \frac{1}{k_{D}} T \mathbf{a}_{D}\right]} .$$
(4.7.20)

If the A_i describe local properties of the system or properties of small subsystems, it does not matter whether the total energy is microcamonically sharp or distributed camonically if the system is only sufficiently large. For large systems

$$\exp\left\{\frac{1}{k_{B}} S' - \frac{1}{k_{B}T} a_{D}\right\}$$

is a very sharply peaked function of $\alpha_{\text{D}}^{},$ and (4.7.19,2D) yield as approximate relations

$$F^{*}(T,a_{i}) = a_{0} - TS'(a_{0},a_{i})$$
 (4.7.21)

and

$$TL_{ij}^{*}(T,a_{k}) = L_{ij}^{*}(a_{D},a_{k})$$
, (4.7.22)

where on is related to T by

$$\frac{aS'}{a\sigma_D} = \frac{1}{T} \quad . \tag{4.7.23}$$

In this case the Fokker-Planck equations (4.4.17) and (4.7.16) are equivalent.

5. The Master Equation Approach

The macroscopic variables A of a quantum system are generally moncommuting; that is, the product of two macroscopic variables has a different meaning depending on the order of the two variables. Hence, if we follow the line of reasoning of Chap4 and enlarge the set of macroscopic variables to include the monlinear functions of the A, we will encounter new problems not present on the level of classical statistical mechanics. As a consequence, the Fokker-Planck equation approach described previously cannot be easily applied to quantum systems. The difficulty lies in the fact that, because of the quantum-mechanical dispersion, there is no quantum manlogue of the classical hypersurface z(a) on which all macroscopic variables A assume given values a.

Dften the macroscopic variables A describe properties of a subsystem 5 with Hilbert space H_{S} . The kilbert space H of the entire system may then be written as a tensor product of H_{S} and a Hilbert space H_{S} , where R stands for "reservoir" or "remaining degrees of meedom". In this chapter we shall consider quantum systems with this property. This concept is not general enough to account for all situations of interest. For instance, in a crystal the long-wavelength phonons may constitute the system S, while the short-wavelength phonons belong to the reservoir. The corresponding Hilbert spaces are not just factors of the Hilbert space H of the entire system. The approach given in this chapter can, however, be extended to systems where the macroscopic variables are projected out by a more general coarse-graining operator. To keep things simple, the general case is not discussed here, but an example is given in fong. 9.

Instead of just projecting out the macroscopic variables A as in Chap.3, we shall now proceed in a way similar to Chap.4 and enlarge the set of relevant variables to include all operators acting in $K_{\rm s}$ while leaving $H_{\rm g}$ invariant. This enlarged set contains the nonlinear functions of the A since the A act in $H_{\rm g}$ only. To put it differently, we keep all variables of the system S and eliminate those of the reservoir R.

In Sect.5.1 we define a relevant probability density $\bar{p}(t)$ which yields the same reduced probability density $e_{S}(t) = tr_{\tilde{p}}(a(t))$ of the subsystem S as the true probability density a(t), and we use the associated projection operator in Sect.5.2 to study the dynamics of the open system S moving under the influence of the reservoir

The reduced probability density $o_{\rm S}(t)$ is shown to obey a generalized master equation. In contrast to previous work on the same problem (68-74, 145-147), we do not assure that the system S and the reservoir R are uncorrelated initially. The advantage of the present approach lies in the fact that the generalized master equation describes, in addition to the mean relaxation towards equilibrium, the time evolution of stationary canonical correlations. Some properties of the stochastic operators to be found in the generalized master equation for stationary canonical correlations.

In Sect.5.4 we study the limit of a weak coupling between S and R and show that under certain assumptions about the decay of reservoir correlations the dynamics of the open system S is described by a master equation of the form

$$\rho_{S}(t) = -\frac{1}{M} [H_{S}, \rho_{S}(t)] + \Lambda_{S}\rho_{S}(t)$$

The first term describes the free motion of S, and the dissipative Llouville operator A_S describes the influence of the reservoir. While the free motion is described by a commutator, the dissipative Llouville operator is shown to have a double commutator structure. Some properties of the master equation and in particular the consequences of the time-reversal symmetry are discussed in Sect.5.5.

Finally, Sect.5.6 is concerned with the problem of deriving fluctuation renormalized transport equations for the set A of macroscopic variables of the open system S by starting from the master equation describing the time evolution of all variables of S. The resulting transport equations contain a retarded part due to the internal interaction in S and are compared with those derived in Chap.3.

5.1 Relevant Probability Density

We consider a closed quantum system composed of two interacting parts S and R. The subsystem S is of experimental relevance while R is a reservoir. We want to describe the dynamics of S moving under the influence of R. Each of the two subsystems has its own Hilbert space H_S and H_R , respectively, and the Hilbert space H of the entire system is the tensor product $H = H_S \in H_R^{-1}$. The Hamiltonian H consists of three parts¹

$$H = H_S + H_R + gH_{SR}$$
,

(5.1.1)

where H_S and H_R are the Hamiltonians of S and R, respectively, while H_{SR} is the interaction where we have split off a coupling constant g for later convenience.

7D

l Dur notation does not distinguish between the operator χ_S acting in θ_S and the operator χ_S and the stall always use the symbol χ_S since no ambiguity will arise. Correspondingly, we shall use γ_B instead of 16 e η_S .

Correspondingly, the Liouville operator $L = \frac{1}{R}$ [H, $^{\prime}/.$] divides into three pieces

$$L = L_S + L_R + gL_{SR}$$
. (5.1.2)

The state of the subsystem S is described by the reduced probability density $\label{eq:reduced} \mu_{C}(t) = tr_{0}(\mu(t)) \ , \qquad (5.1.3)$

where c(t) is the probability density of the entire system while tr_{R} denotes the partial trace over a complete set of orthonormal functions in H_{R} . Since the trace operator tr can be carried out in two steps

$$tr = tr_{S} tr_{R}$$
, (5.1.4)

we find for the mean value of any variable X_c of the subsystem S

$$\langle X_{S}(t) \rangle = tr(X_{S}^{\rho}(t)) = tr_{S}\{X_{S} tr_{R}\{\rho(t)\}\} = tr_{S}\{X_{S}^{\rho}S(t)\}$$
. (5.1.5)

Hence, the reduced probability density $\rho_S(t)$ just determines the mean values of those variables which we want to project out, and it contains no additional information.

In thermal equilibrium the state of the system is described by a canonical probability density

$$\rho_{\beta} = Z_{\beta}^{-1} e^{-\beta H}$$
, $Z_{\beta} = tr\{e^{-\beta H}\}$, (5.1.6)

where α = $1/k_{B}T$ is the inverse reservoir temperature. The corresponding reduced probability density reads

$$\rho_{S\beta} = Z_{\beta}^{-1} tr_{R}(e^{-\beta H})$$
 (5.1.7)

If the equilibrium state is perturbed by external forces which are constant in time and couple to the subsystem S only, the system will settle down to a new stationary state of the form

$$\rho_{st} = \frac{e^{-\beta(H+H_{s})}}{tr(e^{-\beta(H+H_{s})})}, \quad (5.1.B)$$

where $H^{\,}_S$ describes the coupling to the applied forces. For weak perturbations we have up to terms of higher order in $H^{\,}_S$

$$\rho_{st} = \frac{1}{\beta} \int_{0}^{\beta} d\alpha Z_{\beta}^{-1} e^{-\alpha H} [1 - \beta H_{s}^{*} + \beta H_{s}^{*} \gamma_{\beta}] e^{-(\beta - \alpha)H} , \qquad (5.1.9)$$

where

$$H_{S^{2}_{B}} = tr\{\rho_{B}H_{S}^{*}\}$$
 (5.1.10)

We want to study the relaxation of initial nonequilibrium states of the form (5.1.9).² (Footnote see next page.) To this purpose we introduce a relevant

probability density

$$\tilde{\rho}(t) = \frac{1}{\beta} \int_{0}^{\beta} d\alpha Z_{\beta}^{-1} e^{-\alpha H} \Psi_{S}(t) e^{-(\beta - \alpha)H}$$
, (5.1.11)

where the operator $\Psi_{S}(t),$ which acts in the subspace H_{S} only, is determined by the requirement

$$tr_{p}(\bar{\rho}(t)) = tr_{p}(\rho(t)) = \rho_{c}(t)$$
 (5.1.12)

Hence, as far as the state of the subsystem S is concerned, the relevant probability density $\rho(t)$ and the true probability density $\rho(t)$ are equivalent. Further, the relevant probability density has been defined in such a way that the equilibrium state ρ_{β} and those states obtained by weak perturbations of the subsystem S are of the relevant form.³

On defining a transformation **\Sigma** by

$$\Sigma \chi = \frac{1}{\beta} \int_{\beta}^{\beta} d\alpha Z_{\beta}^{-1} e^{-\alpha H} \chi e^{-(\beta - \alpha)H} , \qquad (5.1.13)$$

where X is any operator acting in H, the relevant probability density may be written

$$\bar{\rho}(t) = \Sigma \Psi_{c}(t)$$
 (5.1.14)

We further introduce a transformation Σ_S which transforms the variables of the subsystem S, that is, operators X_c acting in H_c only:

$$\Sigma_{S}X_{S} = tr_{R}\{\Sigma X_{S}\}$$
 (5.1.15)

Then, (5.1.12) may be written

$$\Sigma_{S} \Psi_{S}(t) = \rho_{S}(t) = tr_{R} \{\rho(t)\} . \qquad (5.1.16)$$

Combining (5.1.14,16), the relevant probability density $\bar{\rho}(t)$ may formally be expressed in terms of the true probability density

$$\bar{\rho}(t) = P_{\rho}^{T}(t)$$
, (5.1.17)

where

² It is important to note that we do not assume that the system S and the reservoir R are uncorrelated initially.

³ We may also study the relaxation of initial states of the form (5.1.8) where the perturbation H_5 is not necessarily weak. In this case, we define a relevant probability density of the form o(t) = exp(-EH = vg(t)) where vg(t) is determined by the requirement traj(d) = eg(t). Following the general scheme given in Chap.3, we may derive an equation of motion for $r_2(t)$ which then describes the transformation of the scheme state of the scheme scheme

$$P^{T}x = \Sigma \Sigma_{S}^{-1} tr_{R}(X)$$
 (5.1.18)

is a projection operator satisfying $(\mathbf{P}^T)^2 = \mathbf{P}^T$. The transposed projection operator defined by

$$tr(XP^{T}Y) = tr(YPX)$$
 (5.1.19)

reads

$$PX = \Sigma_{S}^{-1} tr_{R}(\Sigma X)$$
, (5.1.20)

which is easily shown by using (5.1.4) and

$$tr(X\Sigma Y) = tr(Y\Sigma X)$$
 (5.1.21)

Note that Σ_g has been defined as a transformation of operators χ_g atting in H_S only, whereas $t_g \Sigma$ may be applied to any operator χ atting in $H = H_S \times H_R$. The transformation $t_g \Sigma$ reduces operators atting in H only, and it has no inverse. However, the two transformations $t_g \Sigma$ and Σ_S coincide when they are applied to variables χ_g of the subsystem 5. The projection operator (5.1.20) projects out these variables $P_{K_g} = \chi_g$. (5.1.22)

Clearly, the projection operators (5.1.18,20) are also related by
$$P^T\!\Sigma=\Sigma P~~, \eqno(5.1.23)$$

5.2 Generalized Master Equation

To determine the dynamics of the open system S, we make use of the operator identity $\begin{array}{ll} e^{-iLt} & = p^T \ e^{-iLt} & (5.2.1) \\ & -i \ \frac{t}{0} \ ds \ e^{-i (1-p^T)} L (t-s) (1-p^T) L p^T \ e^{-iLs} \\ & + e^{-i (1-p^T) L t} (1-p^T) \ , \end{array}$

which is a version of [2.4.11] for a time-independent projection operator. Equation (5.2.1) may be verified directly by showing that both sides satisfy the same differential equation and coincide initially. Putting (5.2.1) into

$$\dot{\rho}_{S}(t) = tr_{R}(\dot{\rho}(t)) = -itr_{R}(Le^{-1Lt}\rho(0))$$
, (5.2.2)

we find for the time rate of change of the reduced probability density

$$\begin{split} \dot{\rho}_{S}(t) &= -i \ tr_{R}(LP^{T}\rho(t)) \eqno(5.2.3) \\ &= -\frac{i}{b} \ ds \ tr_{R} \Big\{ L \ e^{-i(1-P^{T})L(t-s)}(1-P^{T})LP^{T}\rho(s) \Big\} \end{split}$$

- i
$$tr_{R} \left\{ L e^{-i(1-P^{T})Lt}(1 - P^{T})_{0}(0) \right\}$$
.

We study the relaxation of initial states p(0) of the form (5.1.9). Then, we have $p(0) = \overline{\rho}(0)$ and thus

$$(1 - P^{1})\rho(0) = 0$$
. (5.2.4)

Further, by noting

$$P_{\rho}^{T}(t) = \bar{\rho}(t) = \Sigma \Sigma_{S}^{-1} \rho_{S}(t)$$
, (5.2.5)

(5.2.3) gives

$$\dot{\rho}_{S}(t) = \Omega_{S}\rho_{S}(t) + \int_{0}^{t} ds \, \Phi_{S}(t - s)\rho_{S}(s)$$
, (5.2.6)

where we have introduced the stochastic operators

$$\Omega_{S} X_{S}^{*} = -i tr_{R} \left\{ L \Sigma S^{-1} X_{S} \right\}$$
(5.2.7)

and

$$\Phi_{S}(t)X_{S} = -tr_{R}\left\{L e^{-i(1-P^{T})Lt}(1-P^{T})L\Sigma\Sigma_{S}^{-1}X_{S}\right\}.$$
(5.2.8)

These stochastic operators act within the space of probability densities of the subsystem S. Equation (5.2.6) is a generalized master equation which provides an exact evolution law for the reduced probability density $\rho_{\rm S}(t)$ in the linear regime near equilibrium.⁴ Hence, the projection operator technique has eliminated the revivor variables completely in favor of memory terms described by $\Phi_{\rm C}(t-{\rm s})$.

Let us define an operator $\mu_{c}(t)$ acting in H_c by

$$\mu_{S}(t) = \frac{1}{6} (\Psi_{S}(t) - 1)$$
(5.2.9)

where yc(t) has been introduced in (5.1.14). With (5.1.16), we have

$$\mu_{S}(t) = \frac{1}{\beta} \left[\Sigma_{S}^{-1} \rho_{S}(t) - 1 \right] . \qquad (5.2.10)$$

Further, from (5.1.13,15) we get

$$\Sigma_1 = \rho_8$$
, $\Sigma_S^1 = \rho_{SB}$, (5.2.11)

so that (5.2.10) may be written

$$\mu_{S}(t) = \frac{1}{\beta} \Sigma_{S}^{-1} [\rho_{S}(t) - \rho_{S\beta}] . \qquad (5.2.12)$$

Clearly, µc(t) characterizes the deviation from equilibrium.

⁴ The restriction to the linear regime near equilibrium is due to the fact that the initial state $\rho(0)$ has been assumed to be of the form (5.1.9), which is obtained from the more general expression (5.1.8) with linear order in the perturbation H^{4}_{c} only.

The operator $\mu_{S}(t)$ can also be viewed as a thermodynamic force operator conjugate to the reduced probability density $_{S}(t)$ in the following sense. Introducing a coarse-grained nonequilibrium free energy $F^{\bullet}(t)$ as a function of the reduced probability density $_{o_{c}}(t)$ by 5

$$F^{*}(t) = F_{\beta} + \frac{1}{2\beta} tr_{S} \{ [\rho_{S}(t) - \rho_{S\beta}] \Sigma_{S}^{-1} [\rho_{S}(t) - \rho_{S\beta}] \}$$
(5.2.13)

where F_e is the equilibrium free energy, we have

$$\frac{\delta F^{+}(t)}{\delta \rho_{S}(t)} = \mu_{S}(t)$$
 (5.2.14)

With (5.2.12) the free energy F^{*}(t) may also be written as

$$F^{*}(t) = F_{\beta} + \frac{\beta}{2} tr_{S}(\mu_{S}(t)\Sigma_{S}\mu_{S}(t))$$
(5.2.15)

$$= F_{\beta} + \frac{8}{2} (\mu_{S}(t), \mu_{S}(t)) , \qquad (5.2.16)$$

where

 $(X,Y) = tr{X\SigmaY} = tr{Y\SigmaX}$

$$=\frac{1}{8}\int_{0}^{8} datr[\rho_{\beta}X e^{-aH}Y e^{aH}]$$

is the canonical correlation already introduced in (3.4.7).

the generalized master equation (5.2.6) may be transformed to read

$$\dot{\mathbf{v}}_{S}(t) = -\mathbf{V}_{S}\mathbf{v}_{S}(t) - \int_{0}^{t} ds \mathbf{R}_{S}(t-s)\mathbf{u}_{S}(s) ,$$
 (5.2.18)

where we have introduced the transport operators

$$V_{S}X_{S} = i\beta tr_{g}(L\Sigma X_{S})$$
(5.2.19)

and

$$R_{S}(t)X_{S} = str_{R}\left\{Le^{-i(1-P^{T})Lt}(1-P^{T})L\Sigma X_{S}\right\}$$
 (5.2.20)

which are related to the stochastic operators (5.2.7,8) by

$$\Omega_{S} = -\frac{1}{\beta} V_{S} \Sigma_{S}^{-1}$$
(5.2.21)

$$\Phi_{S}(t) = -\frac{1}{\beta} R_{S}(t) \Sigma_{S}^{-1} . \qquad (5.2.22)$$

Equation (5.2.18) shows that the generalized master equation actually has the same structure as the transport equations discussed earlier.

 $^{^5}$ This expression for the free energy is obtained if we seek the minimum of the functional F[c(t)] tric(t)H)+HgT Tr[c(t)] under the constraint trg(c(t))-gc(t) and reglect terms or the third order in $p_{c}(t) \to g_{c}$

In equilibrium the canonical correlation of two variables \boldsymbol{X}_S and \boldsymbol{Y}_S of the subsystem S reads

$$\begin{aligned} (X_{S}(t+s), Y_{S}(s)) &= (X_{S}(t), Y_{S}(0)) \\ &= tr(X_{S} e^{-iLt} \Sigma Y_{S}) \end{aligned} .$$

Using (5.1.4), we see that this correlation function may be written

$$(X_{S}(t), Y_{S}) = tr_{S}(X_{S}G_{S}(t)Y_{S})$$
, (5.2.24)

where we have introduced

$$G_{S}(t)X_{S} = tr_{R}\{e^{-iLt}\Sigma X_{S}\}$$
, (5.2.25)

which may be viewed as the quantum analogue of the stationary joint-probability density of classical statistical mechanics.

If we insert the identity (5.2.1) into

$$\dot{\mathbf{g}}_{S}(t)\mathbf{X}_{S} = -i \operatorname{tr}_{R} \{ \mathbf{L} e^{-i\mathbf{L}t} \Sigma \mathbf{X}_{S} \}$$
 (5.2.26)

and make use of

$$(1 - P^{T})\Sigma X_{S} = \Sigma (1 - P)X_{S} = 0$$
 (5.2.27)

and the relations (5.1.18) and (5.2.7.8), we find that ${\bf G}_{\underline{S}}(t)$ satisfies the generalized master equation (5.2.6), i.e.,

$$\dot{\mathbf{a}}_{S}(t) = \Omega_{S} \mathbf{a}_{S}(t) + \int_{0}^{t} ds \, \Phi_{S}(t-s) \mathbf{a}_{S}(s)$$
 (5.2.28)

with the initial condition

$$G_{S}(0) = \Sigma_{S}$$
 (5.2.29)

Consequently, the generalized master equation (5.2.6) does not only determine the relaxation of the reduced probability density $e_{\zeta}(t)$ from a nonequilibrium state towards equilibrium but it also governs the time evolution of correlations of variables of the open system S in equilibrium.

Finally, we note that the time evolution of ${\rm p}_S(t)$ can be expressed in terms of $G_c(t).$ Since (5.1.14) leads to

$$p(0) = \tilde{p}(0) = \Sigma \Psi_{S}(0)$$
, (5.2.30)

we get with (5.2.25)

$${}_{\rho_{S}}(t) = tr_{R}(e^{-tLT_{\rho}}(0)) = G_{S}(t)\overline{v}_{S}(0)$$
 (5.2.31)
 $- G_{S}(t) \Sigma_{S}^{-1}{}_{\rho_{S}}(0)$.

For the last transformation we have made use of (5.1.16).

5.3 Properties of the Stochastic Operators

From the identity (3.2.7) and the definition (5.1.13) we get

$$[X_{\mu}\rho_{g}] = -\int_{0}^{\beta} d\sigma Z_{\beta}^{-1} e^{-\sigma H} [X,H] e^{-(\beta - \sigma)H}$$

$$= H\beta \Sigma LX \quad . \qquad (5.3.1)$$

Further, we have

Using these relations, the expression (5.2.19) for V_c may be transformed to read

$$V_{S}X_{S} = \frac{i}{M} tr_{R} \{ [X_{S}, \rho_{\beta}] \} = -\frac{i}{M} [\rho_{S\beta}, X_{S}]$$
 (5.3.3)

It is now readily shown that the instantaneous part of the time rate of change of $\rho_S(t)$, that is, $-V_{S^LS}(t)$, does not contribute to the time rate of change of the free energy

$$\tilde{F}^{*}(t) = tr_{S}(\mu_{S}(t)\rho_{S}(t))$$
 (5.3.4)

since

$$tr_{S}(\mu_{S}(t)V_{S}\mu_{S}(t)) = 0$$
. (5.3.5)

Further, from (5.3.5) it is easily seen that the transposed operator v_S^T defined by

$$tr_{S}{Y_{S}V_{S}X_{S}} = tr_{S}{X_{S}V_{S}Y_{S}}$$
 (5.3.6)

is given by

$$v_{S}^{T} = -v_{S}$$
. (5.3.7)

Using (5.1.19,21) and (5.2.20), we obtain for the operator $\boldsymbol{R}_{S}^{T}(t),$ transpose to $\boldsymbol{R}_{S}(t)$.

$$R_{S}^{T}(t)X_{S} = \beta tr_{R} \{ \Sigma L(1 - P) e^{iL(1-P)t} LX_{S} \}$$
, (5.3.8)

which may be transformed further by use of (5.1.23) and (5.3.2) to give

$$R_{S}^{T}(t) = R_{S}(-t)$$
 (5.3.9)

We now assume that the Hamiltonian H is invariant under the time-reversal transformation, i.e.,

Then, we get from (5.1.13,15)

$$\widetilde{\Sigma X} = \Sigma \widetilde{X}$$
; $\widetilde{\Sigma_S X_S} = \Sigma_S \widetilde{X}_S$, (5.3.11)

which implies

$$\overline{\Sigma_{s}X_{s}} = \Sigma_{s}^{T}\overline{X}_{s}$$
(5.3.12)

since $\Sigma_{5}^{T} = \Sigma_{5}$. As a consequence of (5.3.12), the free energy F^{*}(t) is time-reversal invariant. Further, with (5.1.18,20) we find

$$\mathbf{\overline{PX}} = \mathbf{PX}$$
; $\mathbf{\overline{P}X} = \mathbf{P}^{\mathsf{T}X}$. (5.3.13)

The Liouville operator transforms as

$$i L \vec{x} = -i L \vec{x}$$
, (5.3.14)

and V_S transforms accordingly since it is a commutator with a time-reversal invariant operator, too:

$$\overline{v_{S}^{X}} = -v_{S}^{\overline{X}}$$
. (5.3.15)

This combines with (5.3.7) to give

$$v_{SX} = v_{SX}^{TX}$$
. (5.3.16)

Using (5.3.11,13,14), we obtain

$$\overline{\mathbf{R}_{S}(t)X_{S}} = \mathbf{R}_{S}(-t)\overline{X}_{S}$$
, (5.3.17)

which combines with (5.3.9) to give

$$\overline{\mathbf{R}_{S}(t)\mathbf{X}_{S}} = \mathbf{R}_{S}^{T}(t)\mathbf{X}_{S} \quad . \tag{5.3.18}$$

The relations (5.3, 12, 16, 18) are the detailed balance conditions associated with the generalized master equation. These conditions guarantee that $G_{S}(t)$ transforms as

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{a}}_{\overline{S}}(t)\widetilde{X}_{\overline{S}} = \mathbf{a}_{\overline{S}}^{T}(t)\widetilde{X}_{\overline{S}}$$
, (5.3.19)

which leads in connection with (5.2.24) to the symmetry of detailed balance

$$(X_{5}(t), Y_{5}) = (\tilde{Y}_{5}(t), \tilde{X}_{5})$$
 (5.3.20)

This symmetry is a consequence of the microscopic reversibility.

To see the connection between (5.3.19) and the detailed balance conditions explicitly, it is convenient to Laplace transform (5.2.28). With (5.2.29) we find

$$z \Theta_{S}(z) - \Sigma_{S} = \Omega_{S} \Theta_{S}(z) + \Phi_{S}(z) \Theta_{S}(z)$$
, (5.3.21)

where

$$G_{5}(z) = \int_{0}^{\infty} dt \, e^{-zt} G_{5}(t)$$
 (5.3.22)

Other Laplace-transformed quantities are defined accordingly. Using (5.2.21,22), we get

$$\mathbf{G}_{S}^{-1}(z) = \Sigma_{S}^{-1} \left[z + \frac{1}{\beta} V_{S} \Sigma_{S}^{-1} + \frac{1}{\beta} \mathbf{H}_{S}(z) \Sigma_{S}^{-1} \right] . \qquad (5.3.23)$$

Now, we may easily determine $G_5^{-1}(z)X$ and $(G_5^{-1}(z))^{\frac{1}{X}}$. On comparing the two expressions, which we do not write down explicitly, we find that they are identical provided (5.3.12,16,18) hold. Thus, the detailed balance conditions imply (5.3.19).

Instead of (5.3.16,19), we may give conditions for the stochastic operators Ω_g and $\Phi_g(t).$ With (5.2.21,22) we get

$$\widehat{\mathbf{n}_{S}\mathbf{\Sigma}_{S}\mathbf{X}} = \widehat{\mathbf{x}_{S}\mathbf{n}_{S}^{T}}\widehat{\mathbf{X}}_{S}$$
(5.3.24)

and

$$\overline{P_{S}(t)\Sigma_{S}X} = \Sigma_{S}\Phi_{S}^{T}(t)\overline{X}_{S}$$
. (5,3.25)

However, the symmetries of the process become particularly clear when expressed as before in terms of Σ_{S} (or F^*) and the transport operators V_{S} and $R_{S}(t)$. The reason is that Σ_{S} characterizes the statics of the system while the transport operators do not affect the statics; they determine the relaxational behavior. Such a separation of static and dynamic quantities is very useful in the study of formal properties of a macroscopic process.

5.4 Weak Coupling Limit

We shall now approximate the generalized master equation (5.2.6) under the assumption that the coupling of the system S to the reservoir R is weak. To this purpose we first provide some useful relations. We split the Hamiltonian and the Liouville operator according to (5.1.1) and (5.1.2), respectively. It is easy to see that

$$tr_{R}\{L_{S}X\} = L_{S} tr_{R}\{X\}$$
 (5.4.1)

and

 $tr_{R}(L_{R}^{X}) = 0$. (5.4.2)

Thus, (5.2.7) gives

$$\Omega_{S} X_{S} = -i L_{S} X_{S} - ig tr_{R} (L_{SR} \Sigma \Sigma_{S}^{-1} X_{S})$$
 (5.4.3)

From (5.1.18) and (5.2.7) we get

$$-i \operatorname{tr}_{R}(\mathbf{LP}^{\mathsf{T}}X) = -i \operatorname{tr}_{R}(\mathbf{L}\Sigma\Sigma_{\mathsf{S}}^{-1} \operatorname{tr}_{\mathsf{R}}[X])$$
(5.4.4)

=
$$\Omega_{S} tr_{R} \{X\} = tr_{R} \{\Omega_{S}X\}$$

Further, with (5.1.20) we find

$$\Omega_{S}^{T} x_{S} = i \Sigma_{S}^{-1} tr_{R} \{\Sigma L X_{S}\} = i P L X_{S}$$
, (5.4.5)

which gives with (5.1.23) and (5.3.2)

$$i(1 - P^{T})L\Sigma X_{S} = i\Sigma(1 - P)LX_{S} = \Sigma(iL - \Omega_{S}^{T})X_{S}$$
. (5.4.6)

Using (5.4.4,6), the expression (5.2.20) for $R_{S}(t)$ may be transformed to read

$$\mathbf{R}_{S}(t)X_{S} = \beta tr_{R}\left[(-iL - \Omega_{S})e^{-i(1-P^{T})Lt} \Sigma(iL - \Omega_{S}^{T})X_{S}\right] . \qquad (5.4.7)$$

So far, all relations are exact. We now expand in terms of the coupling constant g. From (5.1,13) we get

$$\Sigma X = \hat{\Sigma} X + O(g)$$
, (5.4.8)

where

$$\hat{\Sigma} \chi = \frac{1}{\beta} \int_{0}^{\beta} d\alpha \frac{1}{t_{T}(e^{-\beta H_{0}})} e^{-\alpha H_{0}} \chi e^{-(\beta-\alpha)H_{0}}$$
(5.4.9)

with

$$H_0 = H_S + H_R$$
. (5.4.10)

Using (5,1.15) and (5.4.8), we find

$$\Sigma_{S}X_{S} = \hat{\Sigma}_{S}X_{S} + O(g)$$
, (5.4.11)

where

$$\hat{\Sigma}_{S} X_{S} = \frac{1}{\beta} \int_{0}^{\beta} d\alpha \frac{1}{tr_{c}(e^{-\beta H_{S}})} e^{-\alpha H_{S}} X_{S} e^{-(\beta - \alpha)H_{S}} , \qquad (5.4.12)$$

which combines with (5.4.9) to yield

$$\hat{\Sigma}X_{S} = \hat{\rho}_{RB}\hat{\Sigma}_{S}X_{S} \qquad (5.4.13)$$

with

$$\hat{\rho}_{R\beta} = \frac{e^{-\beta H_R}}{tr_0 (e^{-\beta H_R})} . \quad (5.4.14)$$

Now, from (5.1.18) we have

$$\mathbf{p}^{T} = \hat{\mathbf{p}}^{T} + O(\mathbf{g})$$
, (5.4.15)

where [69]⁶

⁶ Although our projection operator \mathbf{P}^T reduces to the Argyres-Kelley projection operator \mathbf{P}^I for $g \rightarrow 0$, the resulting master equation for is somewhat different from the Argyres-Kelley master equation (63,73). Recent criticism (75,76) concerning the compatibility of the master equation with the fluctuation-dissipation theorem does not apply to the present approach. See also Sect.6.5.

$$\hat{\mathbf{p}}^{\mathsf{T}} \mathbf{X} = \hat{\rho}_{\mathsf{R}\beta} \operatorname{tr}_{\mathsf{R}}^{\mathsf{T}} \mathbf{X}$$
 (5.4.16)

is the Argyres-Kelley projection operator. Next, we introduce the Liouville operator L_n of the uncoupled systems

$$L_0 = L_S + L_R$$
. (5.4.17)

Using (5.4.1,2) and $L_{R^{p}R^{n}} \approx 0$, we find that L_{D} commutes with \hat{P}^{T} :

$$L_0^{\hat{p}^T} = \hat{p}^T L_0$$
. (5.4.18)

We wish to examine the dynamics of the open system S in the limit of a vanishing coupling to the reservoir R. From (5.1.7), in the limit $g \rightarrow 0$, it is seen that the stationary solution ρ_{Sg} of the exact master equation (5.2.6) approaches a canonical probability density of the free system S

$$\hat{\rho}_{S\beta} = \frac{e^{-\beta H_S}}{tr_{S}(e^{-\beta H_S})} , \qquad (5.4.19)$$

where β is determined by the reservoir temperature. Clearly, the interaction with the reservoir leads to deviations from the canonical form, but we shall disregard these corrections to (5.4.19) in the following. The operator Σ_{S} characterizing the stationary equal-time correlations is then approximated by $\hat{\Sigma}_{c}$.

The operator V_S governs the reversible dynamics of the open system S. From (5.3.3) we obtain in the approximation under consideration, that is, by substituting $\hat{\rho}_{c_{s}}$ for $\rho_{c_{s}}$.

$$\hat{V}_{S}X_{S} = -\frac{i}{M}[\hat{\rho}_{S\beta}, X_{S}] = i_{B}\hat{\Sigma}_{S}L_{S}X_{S}$$
, (5.4.20)

where the last transformation follows by use of a relation analogous to (5.3.1). Since

$$\hat{\Sigma}_{S}L_{S} = L_{S}\hat{\Sigma}_{S}$$
, (5.4.21)

we find

$$\hat{u}_{S} = -\frac{1}{\beta} \hat{V}_{S} \hat{\Sigma}_{S}^{-1} = -iL_{S} \qquad (5.4.22)$$

Hence, the instantaneous and reversible part of the generalized master equation (5.2.6) reduces in the limit $g \rightarrow 0$ to the free motion of the system S.

The approximation of the retarded part of the dynamics characterized by $R_S(t)$ is a somewhat more subtle problem. From (5.4.3) we obtain with (5.4.8,11,13)

$$\Omega_{S}^{\chi}_{S} = -iL_{S}^{\chi}_{S} - ig tr_{R}^{\chi}[L_{SR}^{2}\hat{r}_{RB}^{\chi}_{S}] + O(g^{2})$$
, (5.4.23)

which may be transformed to read

$$\Omega_{S}^{X}_{S} = -i L_{S}^{X}_{S} - \frac{ig}{H} [tr_{R}(\hat{\rho}_{RB}^{H}H_{SR}), X_{S}] + O(g^{2})$$
. (5.4.24)

$$R_{S}(t)X_{S} = g^{2}\beta tr_{R} \left(\delta L_{SR} e^{-iL_{0}t} \hat{\Sigma} \delta L_{SR}X_{S}\right) + O(g^{3}) , \qquad (5.4.25)$$

where

$$\delta L_{SR} X = \frac{1}{N} [\delta H_{SR} X] \qquad (5.4.26)$$

with

$$\delta H_{SR} = H_{SR} - tr_{R} [\rho_{RB} H_{SR}]$$
 (5.4.27)

Although $R_{g}(t)$ is of the second order in g, we cannot disregard it altogether in the limit $g \to 0$. The reason is that the spectrum of the Liouville operator L_{g} is highly degenerate. Let

$$H_{S} = \sum_{n} e_{n} |n > n| \qquad (5.4.28)$$

be the spectral decomposition of the Hamiltonian ${\rm H}_S.$ Then the spectral decomposition of ${\rm L}_{\rm S}$ is given by

$$L_{S} = \sum_{m} \omega \Pi_{m} , \qquad (5.4.29)$$

where the sum runs over all energy differences, and where

$$\Pi_{\omega} X_{S} = \sum_{e_{n} - e_{m} = H_{\omega}} |n \rangle \langle n| X_{S} |m \rangle \langle m| . \qquad (5.4.30)$$

Therefore we have

$$e^{-i\mathbf{L}_{S}t} \chi_{S} = \sum_{\omega} e^{-i\omega t} \Pi_{\omega} \chi_{S} \quad . \tag{5.4.31}$$

Thus, all matrix elements $c_n|X_S|n>$ that contribute to $\prod_{v}X_S$ oscillate with a cohorent phase exp(-iut). In the lowest order in g the memory terms in the generalized master equation will just destroy this phase coherence.

To find the stochastic operator which destroys the coherent phase oscillations in the weak coupling limit, we replace the stochastic operator $\Phi_c(t)$ by [148]

$$\Phi_{S}^{s}(t) = \sum_{\omega} \prod_{\omega} \Phi_{S}(t) \prod_{\omega} , \qquad (5.4.32)$$

where each term of the sum acts within a subspace of degenerate eigenoperators of $L_{\rm c}.$ Since

$$\Pi_{\omega} \hat{\Sigma}_{S} = \hat{\Sigma}_{S} \Pi_{\omega}$$
, (5.4.33)

we get from (5.2.22)

$$\Phi'_{S}(t) = -\frac{1}{\beta} R'_{S}(t) \hat{E}_{S}^{-1} , \qquad (5.4.34)$$

where

$$\mathbf{R}_{S}^{*}(t) = \sum_{\omega} \prod_{\omega} \mathbf{R}_{S}(t) \prod_{\omega} . \qquad (5.4.35)$$

It is useful to write the interaction in the form

$$H_{SR} = \sum_{v} R_v S_v , \qquad (5.4.36)$$

where the $R_{\rm j}$ are operators acting in ${\rm H}_{\rm R},$ while the S_ are operators acting in ${\rm H}_{\rm S}$ with the property

$$L_{S_{0}} = \omega_{S_{0}}$$
. (5.4.37)

Such a representation of the interaction is always possible.⁷ Then, we get from (5.4.26,27)

$$dL_{SR}^{X} = \frac{1}{N} \int_{V} [6R_{v}S_{v}X]$$
, (5.4.38)

where

$$\delta R_{v} = R_{v} - tr_{R}(\hat{\rho}_{RB}R_{v}) \qquad (5.4.39)$$

Further, it is easy to show that because of (5.4.37)

$$S_{U}(\Pi_{\omega}X_{S}) = \Pi_{\omega+\omega}(S_{U}X_{S})$$
 (5.4.40)

and

$$(\Pi_{\omega} X_{\mathsf{S}}) S_{\mathsf{v}} = \Pi_{\omega + \omega_{\mathsf{v}}} (X_{\mathsf{S}} S_{\mathsf{v}})$$
(5.4.41)

$$R_{S}(t) e^{iLSt} X_{S} = \sum_{\nu,\mu} [S_{\nu}, \beta K_{\nu\mu}(t) [S_{\mu}, X_{S}]] + O(g^{3})$$
, (5.4.42)

where

$$\mathbf{K}_{\nu\mu}(t)\mathbf{X}_{S} = \frac{q^{2}}{\pi^{2}} \frac{1}{\beta} \int_{0}^{\beta} d\alpha e^{-i\omega_{\mu}t}$$
(5.4.43)

$$\times \text{tr}_R(\hat{\rho}_{R\beta} \text{d}_v(t) e^{\neg aH_R} \text{d}_v e^{aH_R} \text{d}_e^{\neg aH_R} X e^{aH_S} \hat{\rho}_{S\beta} \ .$$

On inserting (5.4.42) into (5.4.35) we find

$$R_{S}^{t}(t) e^{iL_{S}t} X_{S} = \int_{u_{0}}^{u_{0}+u_{0}} [S_{v_{1}} eK_{v_{\mu}}(t)[S_{\mu}, X_{S}]] + O(g^{3})$$
, (5.4.44)

where we have made use of (5.4.33,40,41) and

$$K_{\nu_{\mu}}(t)\Pi_{\mu} = \Pi_{\mu}K_{\nu_{\mu}}(t)$$
 (5.4.45)

Now, we are in a position to approximate the memory term in the generalized master equation (5.2.6) in the weak coupling limit. Noting that

⁷ A general, but clumsy, representation of the form (5.4.36) is $H_{SR} = \sum_{nm} R_{nm} S_{nm}$, where $R_{nm} = \langle n | H_{SR} | m \rangle$, $S_{nm} = | n > m |$, and $\omega_{nm} = (c_n - c_m) / N$.

$$\rho_{S}(s) = e^{iL_{S}(t-s)}\rho_{S}(t) + \theta(g)$$
, (5.4.46)

we obtain from (5.4.34,44)

$$\begin{split} & \int_{0}^{T} ds \, \Phi_{S}^{*}(t-s) \rho_{S}(s) \\ & = - \int_{0}^{T} ds \, \sum_{\underline{u}_{n},\underline{u}_{n}=0}^{T} \left[S_{u}^{*}, \mathbf{K}_{v\mu} \left(t-s \right) \left[S_{\mu}^{*}, \hat{\mathbf{E}}_{S}^{-1} \rho_{S}(t) \right] \right] + O(g^{3}) \quad . \end{split}$$

Under the assumption that the correlations of the reservoir operators δR_{y} decay on a short microscopic time scale, we can extend the integration over s from s = 0 to s = ∞ . With (5.4.22) we then get the Markovian matter equation

$$\dot{\rho}_{S}(t) = -i \mathbf{L}_{S} \rho_{S}(t) + \Lambda_{S} \rho_{S}(t)$$
, (5.4.48)

where we have introduced the dissipative Liouville operator

$$K_{\nu\mu} = \int_{0}^{\infty} dt K_{\nu\mu}(t)$$
 . (5..4.50)

5.5 Properties of the Master Equation

The master equation (5.4.48) which describes the dynamics of the open system 5 moving under the influence of a weakly coupled reservoir has several important properties. These properties follow partly from properties of the generalized master equation discussed in Sect.5.3, but they may also be verified directly. First we note that the dissipative Liouville operator Λ_{ζ} conserves probability since

$$tr_{S}(\Lambda_{S}X_{S}) = 0$$
. (5.5.1)

Further, A commutes with II .:

$$\Lambda_{S}\Pi_{\omega} = \Pi_{\omega}\Lambda_{S}$$
. (5.5.2)

This follows from (5.4.49) by means of (5.4.33,40,41,45). Consequently, we also have

$$\Lambda_{S}L_{S} = L_{S}\Lambda_{S}$$
 (5.5.3)

The interaction H_{SR} is self-adjoint and time-reversal invariant. Thus, in a representation of H_{SR} of the form (5.4.36) the adjoint operators S_{i}^{+} , R_{i}^{+} and the time-reverse operators S_{i}^{-} , R_{i}^{-} will occur as elements of the set of the S_{i} and R_{i}

operators. With the notation

$$S_{v}^{+} = S_{v}^{-}$$
, $R_{v}^{+} = R_{v}^{-}$. (5.5.4)

and

$$\tilde{S}_{_{U}} = S_{_{U}}^{_{-}}$$
, $\tilde{R}_{_{U}} = R_{_{U}}^{_{-}}$ (5.5.5)

the interaction may then be written

$$H_{SR} = \int_{V} S_{V}R_{V} + \int_{V'} S_{V'}R_{V'} = \int_{V} S_{V}R_{V} . \qquad (5.5.6)$$

Using (5.4.43) and $\omega_{u^{+}} = -\omega_{u}$, it is easily shown that

$$(\mathbf{K}_{\nu\mu}(t)X_{S})^{T} = \mathbf{K}_{\nu'\mu'}(t)X^{T}$$
, (5.5.7)

which gives by virtue of (5.4.49,50)

$$(\Lambda_{S}X_{S})^{+} = \Lambda_{S}X_{S}^{+}$$
. (5.5.8)

Thus Λ_{S} maps self-adjoint operators to self-adjoint operators.

From (5.4.49) we see that we need $K_{\nu\mu}$ for indices ν,μ with $\omega_{\nu}+\omega_{\mu}$ = 0 only. Then it is readily shown from (5.4.43) that

$$\mathbf{K}_{\nu\mu}^{T}(t) = \mathbf{K}_{\mu\nu}(-t)$$
 (5.5.9)

Further, by noting $\omega_{\widetilde{u}} = \omega_{u}$ we find

$$\overline{\mathbf{K}_{\nu\mu}(t)\mathbf{X}_{S}} = \mathbf{K}_{\tilde{\nu}\tilde{\mu}}(-t)\tilde{\mathbf{X}}_{S}, \qquad (5.5.10)$$

which combines with (5.5.9) to give

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{K}_{v\mu}(t)\mathbf{X}_{S}} = \mathbf{K}_{\mu\nu}^{T}(t)\mathbf{X}_{S} \quad . \tag{5.5.11}$$

Now, it follows from (5.4.49,50) that

$$\overline{\Lambda_{S} \hat{\Sigma}_{S} X_{S}} = \hat{\Sigma}_{S} \Lambda_{S}^{T} \overline{X}_{S} \quad . \tag{5.5.12}$$

Together with

$$\overline{\hat{\boldsymbol{\Sigma}}_{S}\boldsymbol{X}_{S}} = \hat{\boldsymbol{\Sigma}}_{S}^{T} \boldsymbol{\tilde{\boldsymbol{X}}}_{S} = \hat{\boldsymbol{\Sigma}}_{S} \boldsymbol{\tilde{\boldsymbol{X}}}_{S}$$
(5.5.13)

and

$$\overline{-iL_{S}\hat{\Sigma}_{S}X_{S}} = i \hat{\Sigma}_{S}L_{S}\tilde{X}_{S} , \qquad (5.5.14)$$

the property (5.5.12) guarantees that the stationary process described by the master equation (5.4.48) has the symmetry of detailed balance.

Suppose now, the spectrum of H_{c} is nondegenerate. Then we have from (5.4.30)

$$\Pi_0 \rho_S(t) = \sum_n p_n(t) |n < n| , \qquad (5.5.15)$$

where

$$p_n(t) = \langle n | \rho_c(t) | n \rangle$$
 (5.5.16)

is the occupation probability of the n^{th} energy level. With (5.4.29) and (5.5.2) we obtain from (5.4.48) an equation of motion for the diagonal part of $e_{\rm g}(t)$ in energy representation:

$$\Pi_{0}\rho_{S}(t) = \Lambda_{S}\Pi_{0}\rho_{S}(t) . \qquad (5.5.17)$$

To evaluate this further, we first provide some useful relations. From (5.4.12) we get

$$\hat{\Sigma}_{S}|n > n| = \hat{p}_{n}|n > n|$$
, (5.5.18)

where

$$\hat{P}_{n} = \langle n | \hat{\rho}_{SB} | n \rangle = \frac{e^{-\beta c_{R}}}{\sum_{n} e^{-\beta c_{R}}}$$
(5.5.19)

is the canonical occupation probability of the n^{th} energy level. From (5.4.37) we have

$$e^{-\alpha H_s} S_\mu e^{\alpha H_s} = e^{-\alpha M_s} S_\mu = e^{-\alpha M_\omega \mu} S_\mu$$
 (5.5.20)

Further, by use of (5.4.43,50) and (5.5.20) we obtain

$$K_{\nu\mu}[S_{\mu}, |n > n|] = \gamma_{\nu\mu}[S_{\mu}, |n > n|]\hat{\rho}_{S\beta}$$
, (5.5.21)

where

$$Y_{\nu\mu} = \frac{9}{\pi^2} \int_{0}^{2} dt \frac{1}{\beta} \int_{0}^{\pi} da_{\alpha} e^{-i\omega_{\mu}(t-i\alpha)}$$
(5.5.22)

$$\times tr_{R} \{ \hat{\rho}_{R\beta} \delta R_{v}(t) e^{-\alpha HR} \delta R_{\mu} e^{\alpha HR} \}$$

Recalling $\omega_0 + \omega_\mu = 0$, it may be shown that the coefficients $\gamma_{0\mu}$ have the properties $\gamma_{\mu} = e^{-\beta/\omega_\mu} \gamma_{\mu}^*$. (5.5.23)

$$\gamma_{\nu\mu} = e^{-p/m\mu} \gamma_{\nu'\mu}^*$$
(5.5.23)

and

$$\gamma_{\nu\mu} = e^{-\beta/\hbar\omega_{\mu}} \gamma_{\mu\nu}^{*}$$
. (5.5.24)

Let us turn now to the investigation of the right-hand side of (5.5.17). Using (5.4.49) and (5.5.15, 18, 21), we find after some simple transformations

$$\Lambda_{S}\Pi_{0}\rho_{S}(t) - \sum_{n,m} [W_{nm}P_{m}(t) - W_{mn}P_{n}(t)]|_{n \ge n}$$
, (5.5.25)

where

$$W_{mn} = \sum_{\nu,\mu} \left(\gamma_{\nu\mu} + \gamma_{\mu\nu} \frac{\hat{\beta}_m}{\hat{\beta}_n} \right) c_n |S_{\nu}| m \le m |S_{\mu}| n > (5.5.26)$$

is the transition probability from the nth to the mth energy level. Note that the terms of the sum are vanishing unless $w_c = -w_\mu = (c_n - c_m)/\hbar$. It may be shown that the W_m have the properties

$$W_{mn} \ge 0$$
 (5.5.27)

and

Using (5.5.25), the evolution equation (5.5.17) for the diagonal part of the probability density can be cast into the form of a Pauli master equation [59]:

$$\dot{p}_{n}(t) = \sum_{m} [W_{nm}p_{m}(t) - W_{mn}p_{n}(t)]$$
 (5.5.29)

which has the canonical occupation probabilities p as a stationary solution.

5.6 Renormalized Transport Equations

Let A be the set of macroscopic variables of the open system S with mean values

$$a_{i}(t) = tr_{S}\{A_{i}\rho_{S}(t)\}$$
 (5.6.1)

The reduced probability density $\rho_S(t)$ is assumed to obey the master equation (5.4.48), which we write in the form

$$\dot{\rho}_{S}(t) = -iL_{S}\rho_{S}(t)$$
 (5.6.2)

with

$$L_{S} = L_{S} + i\Lambda_{S}$$
. (5.6.3)

The probability density $\rho_{\rm g}(t)$ contains information about any variable of S including the nonlinear functions of the A. We now want to keep only the macroscopic variables A and eliminate all the other variables of the system S. To this purpose we introduce a relevant reduced probability density

$$\bar{\rho}_{S}(t) = \hat{\Sigma}_{S} \left[1 + \sum_{i} \rho_{W_{i}}(t) (A_{i} - \hat{a}_{i}) \right] , \qquad (5.6.4)$$

where the â are the equilibrium values of the macroscopic variables

$$\hat{a}_{i} = tr_{S} \{A_{i} \hat{\rho}_{SB}\}$$
 (5.6.5)

and where the parameters $\mu(t)$ are determined by the requirements

$$tr_{S}\{A_{j}\rho_{S}(t)\} = a_{j}(t)$$
 (5.6.6)

Note, that an initial state of the form (5.1.8) gives a reduced probability density of the relevant form (5.6.4) in the limit of a weak coupling to the reservoir (g + 0) and to first order in a weak perturbation of the form $H_{S}^{c} = -\sum_{i} \mu_{i} A_{i}$.

Introducing the canonical equilibrium correlation

$$\begin{aligned} (X_{5}, Y_{5})_{5} &= \frac{1}{8} \int_{0}^{8} du \ tr_{5} (\hat{v}_{5} g^{Y}_{5} e^{2iH_{5}} Y_{5} e^{2iH_{5}}) \\ &= tr_{5} (X_{5} \hat{\Sigma}_{5} Y_{5}) , \end{aligned}$$
(5.6.7)

we obtain from (5.6.4,6)

$$a_{i}(t) = \hat{a}_{i} + \int_{J} (\hat{\delta}A_{j}, \hat{\delta}A_{j}) S^{\beta\mu}J^{(t)}$$
, (5.6.8)

where there

$$A_i = A_i - \hat{a}_j$$
 (5.6.9)

are the fluctuations about equilibrium. Equation (5.6.8) determines the y(t) in terms of the mean values a(t), and vice versa. With (5.6.8) it is easily shown that the projection operator

$$PX_{S} = \hat{\Sigma}_{S} \left[tr_{S} \{X_{S}\} + \sum_{i,j} \hat{\delta}A_{i} (\hat{\delta}A_{i}, \hat{\delta}A_{j}) S^{1} tr_{S} (\hat{\delta}A_{j}X_{S}) \right]$$
(5.6.10)

projects out the relevant probability density

$$\bar{p}_{c}(t) = P_{P_{c}}(t)$$
 (5.6.11)

We now take advantage of the fact that the identity (5.2.1) holds independent from the particular form of the operators L and \textbf{P}^T to be found therein, so that we also have

$$e^{-iLt} = p e^{-iLt} - i \int_{0}^{t} ds e^{-i(1-P)L(t-s)}(1-P)LP e^{-iLs}$$
 (5.6.12)
+ $e^{-i(1-P)Lt}(1-P)$.

When we insert this identity into

$$\rho_{5}(t) = e^{-iLt}\rho_{5}(0)$$
, (5.6.13)

where the initial state $\rho_{c}(0)$ is the relevant form

$$\rho_{S}(0) = P \rho_{S}(0) = \tilde{\rho}_{S}(0)$$
, (5.6.14)

we obtain

$$\rho_{S}(t) = \bar{\rho}_{S}(t) - i \int_{0}^{t} ds \ e^{-i(1-P)L(t-s)}(1-P)L\bar{\rho}_{S}(s) \quad , \quad (5.6.15)$$

which gives when put into

$$\dot{a}_{i}(t) = -i tr_{S} \{A_{i} L_{PS}(t)\}$$
 (5.6.16)

an evolution law for the mean values of the macroscopic variables

$$\hat{a}_{i}(t) = -i \operatorname{tr}_{S}(A_{i}\hat{L}_{S}(t))$$

$$- \int_{0}^{t} ds \operatorname{tr}_{S}(A_{i}L e^{-i(1-P)L(t-s)}(1-P)L\tilde{\rho}_{S}(s)) .$$

$$(5.6.17)$$

Since the time dependence of $\overline{\rho_S}(t)$ arises only through a(t) the right-hand side is completely determined by the instantaneous mean values and their past history.

While (5.6.17) is the closed set of evolution equations for the mean values we were looking for, these equations are not yet of the standard form of transport laws. To obtain this form we first note that (5.4.49) and (5.6.4) give

$$-iL_{P_{S}}(t) = -i \sum_{i} (\beta L \hat{\Sigma}_{S} A_{i}) \nu_{i}(t)$$
 (5.6.18)

With this result (5.6.17) may be transformed to read

$$\hat{a}_{i}(t) = -\sum_{j} \hat{L}_{ij} u_{j}(t) - \int_{0}^{t} ds \sum_{j} \hat{A}_{ij}(t-s) u_{j}(s) ,$$
 (5.6.19)

where

$$\hat{L}_{ij} = i\beta \ tr_{S} \{A_{iL} \hat{\Sigma}_{S} A_{j}\}$$
(5.6.20)

and

$$\lambda_{ij}(t) = \beta \operatorname{tr}_{S}(A_{jL} e^{-i(1-P)Lt}(1-P)L\hat{\Sigma}_{S}A_{j})$$
 (5.6.21)

In (5.6.19) the time rates of change of the mean values are given in terms of (renormalized) thermodynamic forces $\nu_j(t)$ and in terms of (renormalized) transport coefficients consisting of an instantaneous part \hat{L}_{ij} and a retarded part $\hat{L}_{ij}(t)$. The renormalized transport equations (5.6.19) govern the relaxation of the mean values in the linear regime near equilibrium. This restriction to the linear regime is due to the fact that we have treated initial states of the form (5.6.4) only.

Besides the relaxation towards equilibrium, the master equation (5.4.48) also governs the time evolution of canonical equilibrium correlations of the open system S, and it follows that the renormalized transport equations (5.6.19) also determine the time evolution of canonical equilibrium correlations of the macroscopic variables A. Using (5.6.8), the transport equation (5.6.19) may be written

$$\hat{a}_{i}(t) = \sum_{j} w_{ij}(a_{j}(t) - \hat{a}_{j}) + \int_{0}^{t} ds \sum_{j} \psi_{ij}(t - s)(a_{j}(s) - \hat{a}_{j}) , \qquad (5.6.22)$$

where

$$w_{ij} = -\sum_{k} \frac{1}{\beta} \hat{L}_{1k} \hat{\sigma}_{kj}^{-1}$$
 (5.6.23)

and

$$p_{ij}(t) = -\sum_{k=0}^{n} \frac{1}{k} \hat{\kappa}_{ik}(t) \hat{c}_{kj}^{-1}$$
(5.6.24)

with the canonical equilibrium variance

$$\hat{\sigma}_{ij} = (\hat{\delta}A_i, \hat{\delta}A_j)_S$$
. (5.6.25)

Then, the evolution laws for the canonical equilibrium correlations of the macroscopic variables read

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left(\hat{c}A_{i}(t),\hat{c}A_{j}\right)_{S} = \sum_{k}^{\omega} \omega_{ik}\left(\hat{c}A_{k}(t),\hat{c}A_{j}\right)_{S} + \int_{0}^{t} ds \sum_{k}^{c} \varphi_{ik}(t-s)\left(\hat{c}A_{k}(s),\hat{c}A_{j}\right)_{S} \cdot (5.6.26)$$

The renormalized transport equations obtained in this section are closely related to those of Mori theory treated in Chap.3. If we replace the Liouville operator L of the open system S by the Liouville operator L of the closed system S in (5.6.20,21), (5.6.19) reduces to (3.4.8) for the closed system S (that is, the molecular expressions in Chap.3 are read with $H_{\rm S}$ as Hamiltonian and tr_s instead of tr). Hence, the internal dynamics of the open system S are treated exactly in (5.6.19).

On the other hand, the influence of the reservoir is treated only approximately in (5.6.19). On using (3.4.8) for the closed system S \otimes R (that is, the molecular expressions in (hap.3 are now read with $H_g + H_g + gli_{R_g}$ as Mamittonian and tr = trgtrg) we obtain exact renormalized transport equations. These exact equations describe memory effects due to the internal dynamics of S as well as memory effects coming from the reservoir is assumed. However, since effects of nonlinear couplings within S are treated correctly, the approximate transport laws (5.6.19) are useful in many situations where a complete disregard of memory effects as in (3.5.4) is not possible. For a discussion of various applications of the master equation approach we refer to RARC's review [73].

Finally we mention that the master equation approach given in this chapter is novel and differs from earlier approaches [68-74] in two respects. First, we have utilized a relevant probability density defined in such a way that the equilibrium probability density is of the relevant form, while usually a factorizing relevant probability density is used. Even in the weak coupling limit the present approach leads to an expression for the dissipative Liouvillian different from expressions given previously. Since in our approach the irrelevant part $\rho(t) = \rho(t)$ of the probability density is dying out for $t \rightarrow \infty$, we obtain the correct long time behavior (which is chiefly of interest). Second, in the Markov approximation correlatio functions are usually determined with the help of a "quantum regression hypothesis" or equivalent assumptions. These assumptions are not compatible with the symmetries of the process [75]. In our approach the master equation is intimately connected with the dynamics of canonical correlation functions. As will be shown in Chap. 6 symmetrized and antisymmetrized correlation functions (the latter being response functions) can also be determined from the master equation, but the rules how to compute these quantities differ from schemes put forward previously. For further details we refer to [149].

6. Response Theory

The response to an applied time-dependent perturbation gives valuable information about the nonequilibrium properties of a system. To investigate this reponse we first have to extend the scope of the methods studied so far, since up to now we have considered closed systems only. On the microscopic level an applied perturbation is described by a time-dependent thraditionian H'(t) which is added to the Hamiltonian H governing the internal motion. For the most part we will assume that the perturbation is caused by external forces h coupling to the macroscopic variables A of the system. Then

 $H'(t) = -\sum_{i} h_{i}(t)A_{i}$

In Sect.6.1 we review standard microscopic response theory [2,102] and derive molecular expressions for the response functions x_{ij} relating the response of the mean values a to the applied forces h causing it:

$$\Delta a_i(t) = \int_0^t ds \sum_j \chi_{ij}(t,s)h_j(s)$$

The response tensor $x_{ij}(t)$ of an equilibrium system with temperature T is shown to be related to the canonical equilibrium correlations $C_{ij}(t)$ by the fluctuation-dissipation theorem of the first kind [14, 102,150]

$$x_{ij}(t) = -\frac{1}{k_B T} \Theta(t) \dot{c}_{ij}(t)$$

In order to study the response from a macroscopic point of view, we have to know how the coupling of the applied forces comes out in the macroscopic evolution laws. This crucial question is investigated in Sect.6.2 for the method of statistical thermodynamics, where the macroscopic evolution laws are furnished by the generalized transport equations studied in Chap.3. We find that the coupling of the applied forces arises in the ways. First, the applied forces hare sourcated from the thermodynamic forces μ so that the fluxes are now caused by the differences between the thermodynamic and the applied forces. This change can be taken into account by adding the mean value of the perturbation 4% (10 to the free energy

$$F(t) \rightarrow F(t) = \sum_{i} h_i(t)a_i(t)$$
.

Second, the retarded parts of the transport coefficients pick up a functional dependence on the applied forces in general.

In Sect.6.3 we use the modified transport equations to reexamine the linear response of an equilibrium system from a macroscopic point of view. We show that the modification of the retarded parts of the transport coefficients does not contribute to the linear response, and we obtain macroscopic expressions for the response functions χ_{ij} in terms of the free energy and the transport coefficients. The fluctuation-dissipation theorem of the first kind is recovered. The response theory given in Sect.6.3 does not make use of the particular forms of the transport coefficients of the free energy, so that the method is insensitive to approximations of these quantities that preserve their basic symmetries. The method can immediately be applied to macroscopic evolution laws in which the memory effects have been meglected.

In Sects.6.4 and 6.5 an applied perturbation is incorporated into the Fokker-Planck equation approach and the master equation approach, respectively. The evolution equations are again modified in how ways. The average energy of the perturbation is added to the free energy, and the transport quantities describing the memory effects become functionals of the applied forces. We also study the response of an equilibrium system and derive expressions for the response functions.

6.1 Microscopic Response Theory

We consider a system with Hamiltonian H, the microscopic state of which is described by the probability density p(t). When an external perturbation is applied to it, the dynamics of the system is governed by a time-dependent Hamiltonian

$$H(t) = H + H'(t)$$
, (6.1.1)

and an initial probability density p(0) evolves in time according to

$$\rho(t) = U(t_i 0)\rho(0)$$
 (6.1.2)

The time-ordered exponential $(t \ge t')$

$$U(t,t') = T_{+} \exp \left\{ -i \begin{cases} t \\ t \\ s \end{cases} dsL(s) \right\}$$
, (6.1.3)

in which operators are ordered from right to left as time increases, is the time evolution operator in the Schrödinger picture with

The effect of the perturbation H'(t) upon the state of the system is described by

$$\Delta \rho(t) = \rho(t) - \rho_0(t) , \qquad (6.1.5)$$

where

$$\rho_0(t) = e^{-\Gamma L t} \rho(0)$$
 (6.1.6)

is the state evolving from $\wp(0)$ by the natural motion of the system. Using the identity

$$U(t,0) = e^{-iLt} - i \int_{0}^{t} ds U(t,s)L'(s) e^{-iLs}$$
, (6.1.7)

which is clearly true for t = 0 and may therefore be verified by showing that both sides satisfy the same differential equation, we get

$$\Delta \rho(t) = - i \int_{0}^{t} ds \, \mathbf{u}(t,s) \mathbf{L}'(s) \rho_0(s) \quad . \tag{6.1.8}$$

We now assume that the applied perturbation is caused by external forces h coupling to the macroscopic variables A of the system. Then

$$H(t) = \frac{H}{2} - \sum_{i} h_{i}(t)A_{i} \qquad (6.1.9)$$

and (6.1.8) becomes ¹

$$\Delta \rho(t) = \int_{0}^{t} ds \, \sum_{i} \frac{i}{\hbar} \, \mathbf{U}(t,s) [A_{i}, \rho_{0}(s)] h_{i}(s) \quad . \tag{6.1.10}$$

The response of the system to the applied forces h as observed in the average change of the macroscopic variables is given by

$$aa_{i}(t) = tr(A_{i}a_{0}(t))$$

$$= \int_{0}^{t} ds \int_{0}^{t} \frac{1}{B} tr(A_{i}U(t,s)[A_{j},o_{0}(s)])h_{j}(s) \quad . \quad (6.1.11)$$

To the first order in the applied forces (6.1.11) gives [102]

$$\Delta a_{i}(t) = \int_{0}^{t} ds \int_{j} x_{ij}(t,s)h_{j}(s) , \qquad (6.1.12)$$

where for t ≥ s

$$\begin{aligned} \chi_{ij}(t,s) &= \frac{i}{\hbar} tr[[A_i(t-s),A_j]\rho_0(s)] \end{aligned} \tag{6.1.13} \\ &= \frac{i}{\hbar} tr[[A_i(t),A_j(s)]\rho(0)] \end{aligned}$$

is the response tensor. Here A(t) represents the unperturbed motion in the Heisenberg picture:

¹ To be definite we work in the framework of quantum statistical mechanics. The corresponding classical formulas are obtained by replacing (-i/K)[X,Y] by (X,Y).

$$A_{i}(t) = e^{iLt}A_{i}$$
, (6.1.14)

so that the response tensor depends on the internal dynamics of the system only. Higher-order corrections to the linear response can be obtained by making repeated use of (6.1.7) to get an approximate expression for U(t,s) in the desired order and then inserting it into (6.1.11).

If the system is initially in thermal equilibrium, that is, if

$$\rho(0) = \hat{\rho} = \frac{e^{-\beta H}}{tr(e^{-\beta H})}$$
, (6.1.15)

the response tensor (6.1.13) becomes

$$\begin{split} \chi_{1j}(t-s) &= \frac{i}{H} \operatorname{tr}([A_i(t),A_j(s))\hat{\rho}) \\ &= \frac{i}{H} \operatorname{tr}([A_i(t-s),A_j]\hat{\rho}) \quad . \end{split}$$
 (6.1.16)

The response tensor of an equilibrium system is related in a simple way to the equilibrium correlations defined by [cf. (3.4.10)]

$$C_{ij}(t) = \frac{1}{\beta} \int_{0}^{\beta} da tr[\hat{c}A_{i}(t) e^{-aH} \hat{c}A_{j} e^{aH} \hat{\rho}] , \qquad (6.1.17)$$

where the δA are the fluctuations about equilibrium. Using the identity (3.2.7) we find

$$[A_{j},\hat{\rho}] = -\int_{0}^{\mu} d\alpha e^{-\alpha H} [A_{j},H] e^{\alpha H} \hat{\rho}$$
 (6.1.18)

Thus for $t \ge 0$ the response tensor may be written

$$\chi_{ij}(t) = \int_{0}^{t} d_{\alpha} tr(\hat{A}_{i}(t) e^{-\alpha H} \hat{A}_{j} e^{\alpha H} \hat{\rho})$$

$$= -\int_{0}^{t} d_{\alpha} tr(\hat{A}_{i}(t) e^{-\alpha H} A_{j} e^{\alpha H} \hat{\rho}) ,$$
(6.1.19)

which combines with (6.1.17) to yield [102]

$$x_{ij}(t) = -\Theta(t)\beta \hat{c}_{ij}(t)$$
 (6.1.20)

This relation between the response tensor and the time rates of change of the equilibrium correlation functions is the fluctuation-dissipation theorem of the first kind. The unit step function

$$v(t) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{for } t > 0 \\ 0 & \text{for } t < 0 \end{cases}$$
 (6.1.21)

takes care of the fact that the response tensor is nonvanishing for $t > 0 \mbox{ only.} For later use, we note that since$

$$C_{ij}(t) = C_{ij}(-t)$$
, (6.1.22)

the fluctuation-dissipation theorem (6.1.20) is equivalent to

$$\chi_{ij}(t) - \chi_{ij}(-t) = -BC_{ij}(t)$$
 (6.1.23)

It should be noted that the fluctuation-dissipation theorem (6.1.20) takes the same form in the classical and the quantal case. This is due to the fact that we have used the canonical correlation defined by (6.1.17). In the quantal case the canonical correlation must be distinguished from other sorts of correlation functions such as the symmetrized correlation

$$S_{ij}(t) = \frac{1}{2} tr([\hat{c}A_i(t)\hat{c}A_j + \hat{c}A_j\hat{c}A_i(t)]\hat{\rho})$$
 (6.1.24)

The relation between (6.1.17) and (6.1.24) is most easily expressed in terms of the associated spectral functions

$$C_{ij}(\omega) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} dt \, e^{-i\omega t} C_{ij}(t)$$
(6.1.25)

and

$$S_{ij}(\omega) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} dt \, e^{-i\omega t} S_{ij}(t) \quad . \tag{6.1.26}$$

The symmetrized spectral function $S_{ij}(\omega)$ is sometimes called the scattering function since the differential cross sections observed in inelastic scattering of light, electrons, etc. are related to quantities of this kind.² The canonical and symmetrized spectral functions are connected by

$$S_{ij}(\omega) = \beta E_{\beta}(\omega) C_{ij}(\omega)$$
, (6.1.27)

where

$$E_{\beta}(\omega) = \frac{1}{2} \hbar \omega \operatorname{coth}(\frac{1}{2} \beta \hbar \omega) \qquad (6.1.28)$$

is the average energy of a harmonic oscillator with frequency ω at temperature $T=1/k_{gB}$. To verify (6.1.27) it is best to write down each expression in terms of the matrix elements of δA_i and δA_j in the representation diagonalizing the Hamiltonian H. Clearly in the classical limit ($\hbar\omega\ll k_gT$) the difference between $S_{i,i}(\omega)$ and $C_{i,i}(\omega)$ disappears.

Introducing the dynamic susceptibility

$$\chi_{ij}(\omega) = \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} dt \ e^{-i\omega t} \chi_{ij}(t) = \int_{0}^{\infty} dt \ e^{-i\omega t} \chi_{ij}(t) , \qquad (6.1.29)$$

we obtain from (6.1.23) the form of the fluctuation-dissipation theorem in frequency space:

² A nice and brief discussion of scattering is given, for example, in [22], Appendix A.

$$\chi_{ij}^{"}(\omega) = \pi \beta \omega C_{ij}(\omega) = \frac{\pi \omega}{E_{\beta}(\omega)} S_{ij}(\omega) , \qquad (6.1.30)$$

where

$$\chi_{ij}^{u}(\omega) = \frac{1}{2} [\chi_{ij}(\omega) - \chi_{ji}(-\omega)]$$
(6.1.31)

is the dissipative part of the dynamic susceptibility.

Finally we note that for macroscopic variables A_j having time-reversal signature³ e_i , there follows from (6.1.16) the symmetry

$$\chi_{jj}(t) = \varepsilon_j \varepsilon_j \chi_{jj}(t) . \qquad (6.1.32)$$

6.2 Macroscopic Coupling of Applied Forces

In this section we study the effect of an external perturbation upon the macroscopic evolution laws. As in Chap.2 we consider a system described on the macroscopic level by a relevant probability density $\bar{\rho}(t)$ which is projected out by a projection operator $P^{T}(t)$

$$\bar{\rho}(t) = P^{T}(t)\rho(t)$$
 (6.2.1)

P^T has the properties (see Sect.2.3 for details)

$$\dot{\mathbf{p}}^{T}(t) = [\mathbf{1} - \mathbf{P}^{T}(t)]\dot{\mathbf{p}}^{T}(t)\mathbf{P}^{T}(t)$$
 (6.2.2)

and

$$T(t)_{\rho}(t) = \dot{P}^{\dagger}(t)_{\rho}(t) = 0$$
 (6.2.3)

Unlike in Chap.2, we now allow for an external perturbation applied to the system. Then the microscopic time evolution is governed by (6.1.2-4).

With the help of the projection operator $P^{T}(t)$, the time evolution operator (6.1.3) may be decomposed into three pieces:

$$\begin{split} U(t,0) &= P^{T}(t)U(t,0) & (6.2.4) \\ &\quad - \int_{0}^{t} ds \; Q^{T}(t,s) [1 - P^{T}(s)] [iL(s) + \tilde{P}^{T}(s)] P^{T}(s) U(s,0) \\ &\quad + Q^{T}(t,0) (1 - P^{T}(0)] \end{split}$$

where for $t \ge t'$

$$\mathbf{G}^{\mathsf{T}}(\mathbf{t},\mathbf{t}') = \mathsf{T}_{+} \exp \left\{ -i \begin{cases} \mathbf{t} \\ \mathbf{t}' \end{cases} du [\mathbf{1} - \mathbf{P}^{\mathsf{T}}(u)] \mathbf{L}(u) \right\}$$
 (6.2.5)

3 See Sect.3.7 for a definition of the time-reversal transformation.

The identity (6.2.4) can be verified by differentiating with respect to t and showing that because of (6.2.2) both sides satisfy the same differential equation. If we apply (6.2.4) to an initial sata e(0) of the relevant form,

$$\rho(0) = \overline{\rho}(0), \text{ i.e.}, [1 - \mathbf{P}^{\top}(0)]_{\rho}(0) = 0 , \qquad (6.2.6)$$

we obtain by virtue of (6.2.1,3)

$$\rho(t) = \bar{\rho}(t) - i \int_{0}^{t} ds \ G^{T}(t,s)[1 - P^{T}(s)]L(s)\bar{\rho}(s) . \qquad (6.2.7)$$

This generalizes (2.5.18) for systems with a time-dependent Hamiltonian.

We now assume that the Hamiltonian H(t) is of the form (6.1.9) so that its time-dependence arises through applied forces h(t). The time rates of change of the mean values a(t) of the macroscopic variables A read

$$\hat{a}_{i}(t) = -i tr\{A_{i}L(t)\rho(t)\}$$
 (6.2.8)

On inserting (6.2.7) we obtain

$$\dot{a}_{i}(t) = v_{i}[a(t),h(t)] + v_{i}(a(s),h(s), 0 \le s \le t)$$
, (6.2.9)

where

$$v_i(t) = v_i[a(t),h(t)] = -i tr(A_iL(t)p(t))$$

(6.2.10)

is the organized drift, while

$$\begin{split} \gamma_{j}(t) &= \gamma_{j}(a(s), h(s), 0 \leq s \leq t) \\ &= - \int_{0}^{t} ds \ tr(A_{j}L(t)G^{T}(t, s)[1 - P^{T}(s)]L(s)\bar{\rho}(s)) \\ & \quad . \end{split}$$

is the disorganized drift. Equation (6.2.9) extends the previously derived transport laws (2.5.17) to include the effects of applied forces. The organized drift $v_i(t)$ is now a function of the instantaneous men values a(t) and the applied forces h(t), while the disorganized drift $v_i(t)$ is a functional of their past history. While the microscopic coupling of the applied forces is determined by (6.1.9), the macroscopic coupling arises through the dependence of v_i and v_i on the applied forces.

For the remainder of this section the relevant probability density $\overline{p}(t)$ is taken to be of the generalized canonical (g.c.) form [cf. (3.1.3)]:

$$\tilde{\rho}(t) = Z^{-1}(t) e^{-\beta (H - \Sigma \mu_i(t) A_i)}$$
(6.2.12)

Then, (6.2.9) may be evaluated further. We first provide some useful relations. The time-dependent Hamiltonian (6.1.9) may be written

$$H(t) = \left\{ H - \sum_{i} \mu_{i}(t)A_{i} \right\} + \left\{ \sum_{i} [\mu_{i}(t) - h_{i}(t)]A_{i} \right\} , \qquad (6.2.13)$$

where the first term commutes with $\bar{\rho}(t)$. With (6.2.13) we get from (6.1.4) and (6.2.12) in the quantal case

$$iL(t)\bar{\rho}(t) = \frac{i}{\hbar} \sum_{i} [A_{i}, \bar{\rho}(t)][\mu_{i}(t) - h_{i}(t)]$$
 (6.2.14)

Here and in the following the corresponding classical formulas are again obtained by replacing the commutator $(-i/\hbar)[X,Y]$ by the Poisson brackat (X,Y). We find another expression for $i(k(1)\xi)$ by taking advantage of the identity (3.2.7)

$$iL(t)\overline{\rho}(t) = \frac{1}{\beta} \int_{0}^{\beta} du \, e^{-uHt} t \frac{i}{H} \left[H - \frac{1}{\zeta} h_{i}(t)A_{i}, -\beta H_{t} \right] e^{uHt} \overline{\rho}(t) , \qquad (6.2.15)$$

where

$$H_t = H - \sum_{i} \nu_i(t) A_i$$
. (6.2.16)

On noting that

$$\frac{i}{\hbar} \left[H - \frac{1}{2} h_{i}(t) A_{i}, H_{t} \right] = -i \sum_{i} L(t) A_{i}[\mu_{i}(t) - h_{i}(t)], \quad (6.2.17)$$

(6.2.15) becomes

$$iL(t)\bar{\rho}(t) = \sum_{i=0}^{n} \int_{0}^{n} d\alpha e^{-\alpha H}t (iL(t)A_{i}) e^{\alpha H}t \bar{\rho}(t)[u_{i}(t) - h_{i}(t)]$$
 (6.2.18)

$$v_{i}(t) = -\sum_{j} V_{ij}(t)[u_{j}(t) - h_{j}(t)]$$
, (6.2.19)

where the

$$V_{ij}(t) = V_{ij}[a(t)] = tr(\bar{\rho}(t) \frac{i}{H}[A_i, A_j])$$
 (6.2.20)

are the instantaneous parts of the generalized transport coefficients. Further, using (6.2.18), we obtain from (6.2.11)

$$\gamma_{i}(t) = -\int_{0}^{t} ds \int_{j}^{s} R_{ij}(t,s) [\mu_{j}(s) - h_{j}(s)] , \qquad (6.2.21)$$

where the

$$R_{ij}(t,s) = \int_{0}^{\beta} d_{\alpha} tr((iL(t)A_{ij})G^{T}(t,s)[1 - P^{T}(s)]e^{-\alpha H_{S}}(iL(s)A_{ij})e^{\alpha H_{S}}(s))$$
(6.2.22)

are the retarded parts of the generalized transport coefficients. With (6.2.19,21) the generalized transport equations (6.2.9) read

$$\dot{a}_{i}(t) = -\int_{J} \frac{\gamma_{ij}(t) [\mu_{j}(t) - h_{j}(t)]}{\int_{0}^{t} ds} \int_{J}^{c} R_{ij}(t,s) [\mu_{j}(s) - h_{j}(s)] . \quad (6.2.23)$$

On comparing (6.2.23) with (3.2.12) we see that the effects of the applied forces are of two kinds. First, the fluxes \hat{a} are now caused by the differences μ - h between the thermodynamic forces μ and the applied forces h. This is natural, since the

g.c. probability density $\tilde{\rho}[_{u} = h]$ is the stationary probability density in the presence of constant applied forces h. Second, the transport coefficients are modified. There is no change in the instantaneous parts $V_{1,j}(t)$ but the retarded parts $R_{1,j}(t,s)$ become functionals of the applied forces h(u) in the time interval $s \leq u < t$.

The first modification can be taken into account by simply changing the free energy function [cf. (3.1.5-7)]:

$$F(t) \rightarrow F_{h}(t) = F(t) - \sum_{i} h_{i}(t)a_{i}(t)$$
 (6.2.24)

Then, the derivatives of F_{in}(t) with respect to the mean values a(t),

$$\frac{\partial F_{h}(t)}{\partial a_{i}(t)} = \mu_{i}(t) - h_{i}(t) , \qquad (6.2.25)$$

are just the appropriate driving forces. This change in the free energy makes allowance for the effects of applied forces on the statics of the system. The second modification, the dependence of the retarded transport coefficients $R_{ij}(t,s)$ on the applied forces, may arise in a complicated way. However, this purely dynamical effect of applied forces must generally be taken into account in the study of the response of nonequilibrium systems and the nonlinear response of equilibrium systems.

6.3 Linear Response of Equilibrium Systems

In this section we consider a system that is initially in themal equilibrium and then disturbed by applied forces h(t). Using the macroscopic evolution laws, we calculate the response of the system to the first order in the applied perturbation. In equilibrium the thermodynamic forces μ vanish, that is, $\hat{\mu} = 0$. Consequently, if we start out from equilibrium at time $t_0 = 0$, the thermodynamic forces $\mu(t)$ at later times t > 0 are at least of the first order in the applied forces h(t) and the transport laws (6.2.23) give

$$\dot{a}_{i}(t) = -\int_{J} \hat{v}_{ij}[u_{j}(t) - h_{j}(t)] - \int_{J} ds \int_{J} \hat{R}_{ij}(t - s)[u_{j}(s) - h_{j}(s)] + O(h^{2}) ,$$
(6.3.1)

where \bar{V}_{ij} and $\bar{R}_{ij}(t)$ are the transport coefficients for vanishing thermodynamic and applied forces. These coefficients have been introduced previously in (3.4.1,2). In disregarding terms of the second order in h in the equations of motion, we entirely disregard the dependence of the retarded transport coefficients on the applied forces. Clearly, this particularly simple situation generally occurs only if the thermodynamic forces μ are at least of the first order in the applied forces h, that is, for systems which are initially in equilibrium.

Near equilibrium the thermodynamic forces μ are related to the mean values a by [cf. (3.4.9)]

$$\Delta a_{i}(t) = \sum_{j} B \hat{\sigma}_{ij} \mu_{j}(t) , \qquad (6.3.2)$$

where the

$$\Delta a_i(t) = a_i(t) - \hat{a}_i$$
 (6.3.3)

are the deviations of the mean values a(t) from their initial equilibrium values \hat{a}_i , while \hat{a}_{ij} is the equilibrium variance matrix introduced in (3.4.10). When we express the thermodynamic forces μ in terms of the a_i , we obtain from (6.3.1) the transport equations of Nori theory in the presence of applied forces

$$\begin{split} \Delta \hat{a}_{i}(t) &= \int_{2}^{1} \hat{h}_{i,j} \Delta a_{j}(t) + \int_{1}^{1} ds \ \hat{a}_{i,j}(t - s) \Delta a_{j}(s) \end{split} \tag{6.3.4} \\ &+ \int_{2}^{1} \hat{v}_{i,j} h_{j}(t) + \int_{1}^{1} ds \ \int_{2}^{1} \hat{R}_{i,j}(t - s) h_{j}(s) + \mathcal{O}(h^{2}) \quad , \end{split}$$

where [cf. also (3.4.12,13)]

$$\hat{u}_{ij} = -\sum_{k} \frac{1}{\beta} \hat{v}_{ik} \hat{\sigma}_{kj}^{-1}$$
, $\hat{\theta}_{ij}(t) = -\sum_{k} \frac{1}{\beta} \hat{R}_{ik}(t) \hat{\sigma}_{kj}^{-1}$. (6.3.5)

In terms of the evolution matrix $M_{ii}(t)$ satisfying

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\mathsf{M}_{ij}(t) = \sum_{k} \hat{a}_{ik}\mathsf{M}_{kj}(t) + \int_{0}^{t} ds \,\hat{e}_{ik}(t-s)\mathsf{M}_{kj}(s) \qquad (6.3.6)$$

and

$$M_{ij}(0) = \delta_{ij}$$
, (6.3.7)

the formal solution of (6.3.4) with initial condition $da_i(0) = 0$ reads

$$\Delta a_{i}(t) = \int_{0}^{t} ds \sum_{j,k} M_{ij}(t-s) \left[\hat{Y}_{jk}h_{k}(s) + \int_{0}^{s} du \hat{R}_{jk}(s-u)h_{k}(u) \right] . \quad (6.3.8)$$

This result may be written

$$\Delta a_{i}(t) \approx \int_{0}^{t} ds \sum_{j} x_{ij}(t-s)h_{j}(s) , \qquad (6.3.9)$$

where for $t \ge 0$

$$x_{ij}(t) = \sum_{k}^{\infty} M_{ik}(t) \hat{V}_{kj} + \int_{0}^{\tau} ds \sum_{k}^{\infty} M_{ik}(t - s) \hat{R}_{kj}(s)$$
 (6.3.10)

is the response tensor. Equation (6.3.9) gives the linear response of an equilibrium system to an applied perturbation as a superposition of the delayed effects.

The Laplace transform of (6.3.6) reads

$$M_{ij}(z) = \delta_{ij} = \int_{k} [\hat{u}_{ik} + \hat{\theta}_{ik}(z)]M_{kj}(z)$$
 (6.3.11)

If we multiply this relation by $M_{mi}(z)$ from the left and by $M_{jn}^{-1}(z)$ from the right and then sum over the indices i and j, we get

$$M_{mn}(z) - \delta_{mn} = \sum_{i} M_{mi}(z) [\hat{n}_{in} + \hat{\phi}_{in}(z)],$$
 (6.3.12)

which is the Laplace transform of

$$\dot{M}_{ij}(t) = \sum_{k}^{r} M_{ik}(t) \hat{n}_{kj} + \int_{0}^{t} ds \sum_{k}^{r} M_{ik}(t-s) \hat{e}_{kj}(s)$$
 (6.3.13)

We now take advantage of (6.3.5) to express \hat{v}_{kj} and $\hat{\hat{x}}_{kj}(s)$ in (6.3.10) in terms of $\hat{\alpha}_{kj}$ and $\hat{\phi}_{kj}(s)$. Then by virtue of (6.3.13) the response tensor emerges as $x_{ij}(t) = -\Theta(t)\theta \int_{t}^{t} \hat{A}_{ik}(t)\hat{\sigma}_{kj}$. (6.3.14)

Since the evolution law (3.4.21) for the canonical equilibrium correlations $C_{ij}(t)$ coincides with the evolution law (6.3.6) for the $M_{ij}(t)$, the two quantities differ only by their initial conditions, and we have for $t\geq 0$

$$C_{ij}(t) = \sum_{k} M_{ik}(t) \sigma_{kj}$$
 (6.3.15)

Thus the response tensor (6.3.14) is related to the correlation functions by the fluctuation-dissipation theorem of the first kind (6.1.20). Further, the time-reversal symmetry (6.1.32) of the response tensor can easily be obtained from the transformation properties of the transport equations. As shown in Sect.3.7, the latter imply the detailed balance symmetry

$$C_{ij}(t) = c_i c_j C_{ji}(t) \qquad (6.3.16)$$

of the equilibrium correlations. Then, we obtain (6.1.32) by virtue of the fluctuation-dissipation theorem.

It should be noted that in this section the response tensor has been determined by starting out from the macroscopic evolution laws, and (6.3.10) gives the response tensor virtually in terms of the free energy and the transport coefficients. If these solely macroscopic quantities are now approximated, as in Sect.3.5 for example, the line of reasoning in this section remains practically unchanged. Again we recognize the advantage of writing the transport laws in terms of transport coefficients and forces derived from a thermodynamic potential. Then it is easy to make approximations in such a way that basic symmetries and properties of the process, such as the fluctuation-dissipation theorem, are not destroyed.

6.4 Fokker-Planck Equation Approach

We now address the problem of accounting for the effects of applied forces in the Fokker-Planck equation approach. As mentioned in Sect.4.2, the Fokker-Planck equatios is formally obtained from the transport equations of statistical thermodynamics by replacing the set A of macroscopic variables by the enlarged set $\mathbf{v}_{a} = \epsilon(A - a)$. Hence, the arguments in Sects.6.2 and 6.3 can be transfered to the Fokker-Planck formalism in a rather streightforward memore.

We start by noting that the relevant probability density is of the form (see Sects.4.1 and 4.2 for further details)

$$\bar{\rho}(t) = \rho_{\beta} \int d\alpha \frac{p(\alpha, t)}{\rho_{\beta}(\alpha)} \bar{\Psi}_{\alpha} , \qquad (6.4.1)$$

where $\rho(a,t)$ is the macroscopic probability density. The associated projection operator P^T is time-independent and given explicitly in (4.2.5). Now, by inserting the general formula (5.2.7) into

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} p(\alpha, t) = -i tr\{ \frac{u}{\alpha} L(t)_{\rho}(t) \}$$
, (6.4.2)

we obtain for the time rate of change of the macroscopic probability density

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} p(u,t) = -i tr(\tilde{\tau}_{u}L(t)\tilde{\rho}(t)) \qquad (6.4.3)$$

$$- \int_{0}^{t} ds tr(\tilde{\tau}_{u}L(t)g^{T}(t,s)(1 - P^{T})L(s)\tilde{\rho}(s)) \quad .$$

The time-dependent Hamiltonian H(t), describing the internal motion and the applied perturbation, is taken to be

$$H(t) = H + H'(t) = H + \int du H'(u,t) \Psi_{ac}$$
 (5.4.4)

This includes (6.1.9) as the special case:

$$H'(a,t) = -\sum_{i} h_{i}(t)a_{i}$$
 (6.4.5)

Using (6.4.1,4), we find

$$-iL(t)\bar{\rho}(t) = \{H(t),\bar{\rho}(t)\}$$

(6.4.6)

$$= \int da \left[\{ \Psi_{\alpha}, \rho_{\beta} \} \frac{1}{\beta} \frac{p(\alpha, t)}{\rho_{\beta}(\alpha)} + \{ \Psi_{\alpha}, \rho(t) \} H^{1}(\alpha, t) \right] ,$$

where we have made use of

$$\{H_{\mu\rho}_{\beta}\Psi_{\alpha}\} = \rho_{\beta}\{H,\Psi_{\alpha}\} = -\frac{1}{\beta} \{\rho_{\beta},\Psi_{\alpha}\}$$
. (6.4.7)
From (6.4.6) we get
$$= \int da^{*}(tr[\{v_{\alpha}, v_{\alpha}, v_{\alpha}]) \rho_{\beta}] \frac{1}{\beta} \frac{p(\alpha^{*}, t)}{\rho_{\beta}(\alpha^{*})} + tr[\{v_{\alpha}, v_{\alpha}, v_{\beta}, v_{\beta}(t)\}]H^{*}(\alpha^{*}, t))$$
(6.4.8)

From (6.4.1) and

$$\{ \Psi_{\alpha}, \Psi_{\alpha}, \} = -\sum_{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha_{i}} \Psi_{\alpha}\{A_{i}, \Psi_{\alpha}, \} = \sum_{i,j} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial \alpha_{i} \partial \alpha_{j}} \delta(\alpha - \alpha^{i}) \Psi_{\alpha}\{A_{i}, A_{j}\}$$
(6.4.9)

(6.4.8) can be written

$$-i \operatorname{tr}(\overline{\tau}_{\alpha}L(t)_{\beta}(t)) = \sum_{i,j} \frac{\partial}{\partial a_{i}} \tau_{ij}(a) \left[p_{\beta}(a) \frac{\partial}{\partial a_{j}} \frac{p(a_{i}t)}{p_{\beta}(a)} + p(a_{i}t) \frac{\partial H^{*}(a_{j}t)}{\partial a_{j}} \right] , \qquad (6.4.10)$$

where the $\pi_{i,i}$ are given by the Poisson bracket relations

$$\pi_{ij}(a) = \pi_{ji}(a) = \frac{\operatorname{tr}[\pi_{a}\rho_{\beta}[A_{j},A_{i}]]}{g\rho_{\beta}(a)} \quad . \tag{6.4.11}$$

On the other hand, we have

$$-iL(t)\bar{\rho}(t) = \{H(t),\bar{\rho}(t)\} = \int d_{\alpha} \{H(t),\rho_{\beta}\bar{\tau}_{\alpha} \mid \frac{p(\alpha,t)}{\rho_{\beta}(\alpha)} . \qquad (6.4.12)$$

Using

$$(H(\mathbf{t})_{*}\rho_{\beta}\mathbf{v}_{\alpha}) = \rho_{\beta}(H(\mathbf{t})_{*}\mathbf{v}_{\alpha}) + \mathbf{v}_{\alpha}(H(\mathbf{t})_{*}\rho_{\beta})$$

$$= -\frac{1}{3} \frac{2}{2\mathbf{v}_{\alpha}} - \rho_{\beta}\mathbf{v}_{\alpha}(H(\mathbf{t})_{*}\mathbf{A}_{\frac{1}{2}}) - \beta\rho_{\beta}\mathbf{v}_{\alpha}(H(\mathbf{t})_{*}H) \quad ... \quad (6.4.13)$$

and

(H(t),H) = (H'(t),H(t))

$$= \int d\alpha H'(\alpha,t) [\Psi_{\alpha},H(t)] = \int d\alpha \frac{\partial H'(\alpha,t)}{\partial \alpha_{i}} \Psi_{\alpha}(A_{i},H(t)) , \qquad (6.4.14)$$

(6.4.12) gives

$$-iL(t)\overline{\rho}(t) = -\int du \rho_{\beta} \Psi_{\alpha}(iL(t)A_{i}) \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha_{i}} \frac{p(\alpha, t)}{\rho_{\beta}(\alpha)} + \beta \frac{p(\alpha, t)}{\rho_{\beta}(\alpha)} \frac{\partial H'(\alpha, t)}{\partial \alpha_{i}} \right] . \quad (6.4.15)$$

Now, by virtue of (6.4.15) and

-i
$$tr[v_{\alpha}L(t)X] = tr[(v_{\alpha}, H(t))X]$$

- $-\frac{1}{V_{\alpha}}\frac{3}{2v_{\alpha}}tr[v_{\alpha}(jL(t)A_{\gamma})X]$, (6.4.16)
integrand in (6.4.3) becomes

the integrand in (6.4.3)

$$\operatorname{tr}(\mathbf{\tau}_{\mathbf{a}}\mathsf{L}(\mathbf{t})\mathbf{d}^{T}(\mathbf{t},\mathbf{s})[\mathbf{1} - \mathbf{P}^{T}]_{\mathbf{b}}(\mathbf{s})_{\mathbf{p}}(\mathbf{s})) \qquad (6.4.17)$$

$$= \sum_{i,j} \frac{\partial}{\partial a_{i}} \int d\mathbf{u} \cdot \mathbf{0}_{i,j}(\mathbf{u},\mathbf{t};\mathbf{u}^{*},\mathbf{s}) \left[\mathbf{p}_{g}(\mathbf{u}^{*}) \frac{\partial}{\partial a_{j}^{*}} \frac{\mathbf{p}(\mathbf{u}^{*},\mathbf{s})}{\mathbf{p}_{g}(\mathbf{u}^{*})} + \mathbf{sp}(\mathbf{u}^{*},\mathbf{s}) \frac{\partial H^{*}(\mathbf{u}^{*},\mathbf{s})}{\partial a_{j}^{*}} \right] ,$$

where the

$$0_{ij}(\alpha,t;\alpha',s) = \frac{\operatorname{tr}(\mathbf{v}_{\alpha}[iL(t)A_{ij}]\mathbf{0}^{T}(t,s)(1-\mathbf{P}^{T})\rho_{\beta}\mathbf{v}_{\alpha},iL(s)A_{j})}{\rho_{\beta}(\alpha')}$$
(6.4.18)

are the diffusion kernels in the presence of an applied perturbation.

Finally, because of (6.4.10,17) we obtain from (6.4.3) the generalized Fokker-

$$\frac{2}{3\sqrt{2}}p(\alpha,t) = \int_{-\frac{1}{2}}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \frac{2}{2\alpha_1} \beta \pi_1 j(\alpha) \left[\frac{2F'(\alpha)}{2\alpha_j} + \frac{2H'(\alpha,t)}{2\alpha_j} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{2}{\beta_{\alpha_j}} \right] p(\alpha,t)$$

$$+ \int_{-\frac{1}{2}}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \frac{2}{\alpha_2} \int_{0}^{\frac{1}{2}} ds \int d\alpha' \beta D_{1j}(\alpha,t;\alpha',s) \left[\frac{2F'(\alpha')}{2\alpha_j} + \frac{2H'(\alpha',s)}{2\alpha_j} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{2}{\beta_{\alpha_j}} \right] p(\alpha',s)$$
(5.4.19)

where

$$F^{*}(\alpha) = -\frac{1}{\beta} \ln p_{\beta}(\alpha)$$
 (6.4.20)

is the bare free energy. Again the applied perturbation appears in two ways. The first change, which accounts for the effects of the perturbation upon the statics of the system, is taken into account by changing the free energy

$$F'(a) \rightarrow F'(a) + H'(a,t)$$
 (6.4.21)

Secondly, the diffusion kernels $0_{ij}(u,t;u',s)$ have picked up a functional dependence on the perturbation.

In the remainder of this section we study the linear response of an equilibrium system. Since

$$\left[\frac{\partial F^{*}(\alpha)}{\partial \alpha_{j}} + \frac{1}{\beta} \frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha_{i}}\right] p_{\beta}(\alpha) = 0 , \qquad (6.4.22)$$

we then can disregard the modification of the diffusion kernels. Further, we shall restrict ourselves to situations where the memory effects in (6.4.19) can be disregarded.⁴ In that case the generalized Fokker-Planck equation (6.4.19) reduces to the Fokker-Planck equation

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} p(a,t) = \sum_{i,j} \frac{\partial}{\partial a_i} L^*_{ij}(a) \left[\frac{\partial F^*(a)}{\partial a_j} + \frac{\partial H^i(a,t)}{\partial a_j} + \frac{1}{\beta} \frac{\partial}{\partial a_j} \right] p(a,t) , \qquad (6.4.23)$$

⁴ The following discussion can easily be generalized to systems with memory by using the same Laplace-transform techniques as in Sect.6.3. Compare also [151].

where the bare transport coefficients $L^{\bullet}_{ij}(\mathfrak{a})$ have been defined previously in Sect.4.4.

Introducing the conditional probability $p(a,t|a^*)$ of the unperturbed system, that is, the solution of the unperturbed Fokker-Planck equation with initial condition $p(a,0|a^*) = 6(a - a^*)$,⁵ we obtain from (6.4.23) by first-order perturbation theory

$$\begin{split} & \Delta\rho(\alpha,t) = \rho(\alpha,t) - \rho_g(\alpha) \\ & = \int_0^t ds \int d\alpha^* \rho(\alpha,t-s|\alpha^*) \sum_{i,j} \frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha_i} \left[i_{i,j}^*(\alpha^*) \frac{\partial H^*(\alpha^*,s)}{\partial \alpha_j} \rho_g(\alpha^*) \right], \quad (6.4.24) \end{split}$$

where we have assumed that the system is initially at time $t_0 = 0$ in equilibrium. Because of (6.4.22) we have

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{i,j} \frac{2}{\partial a_i} L_{ij}^*(a) \frac{2H^*(a,s)}{\partial a_j} \rho_g(a) = \sum_{i,j} \frac{2}{\partial a_i} L_{ij}^*(a) \left[\frac{2F^*(a)}{\partial a_j} + \frac{1}{\beta} \frac{2}{\partial a_j} \right] B^{H^*}(a,s) \rho_g(a) \\ &= -i L_\beta H^*(a,s) \rho_g(a) \quad . \end{split}$$

Since the operator acting upon $\mathbb{B}H^*(a,s)p_{\beta}(a)$ in the last expression is the unperturbed Fokker-Planck operator (4.6.2) governing the time evolution of the conditional probability, we obtain by putting (6.4.25) into (6.4.24)

$$\Delta p(\alpha, t) = - \int_{0}^{t} ds \int d\alpha' \chi(\alpha, \alpha', t - s) H'(\alpha', s) , \qquad (6.4.26)$$

where

$$\chi(\alpha, \alpha', t) = -\beta \Theta(t) \frac{\partial}{\partial t} p_{\beta}^{(2)}(\alpha, \alpha', t) \qquad (6.4.27)$$

is the response kernel, while

$$p_{\beta}^{(2)}(a,a^{*},t) = p(a,t|a^{*})p_{\beta}(a^{*})$$
 (6.4.28)

is the equilibrium joint probability density. Equation (6.4.27) implies the fluctuation-dissipation theorem of the first kind.

For an external perturbation of the form (6.4.5) the response of the mean values a(t) reads

$$\Delta a_{i}(t) = \int d\alpha \alpha_{i} \Delta p(\alpha, t) = \int_{0}^{t} ds \int_{j}^{s} x_{ij}(t - s)h_{j}(s) , \qquad (6.4.29)$$

where

$$x_{ij}(t) = \int da da'a_i a_j^* \chi(a,a',t)$$
 (6.4.30)

⁵ The conditional probability density can also be viewed as the kernel of the evolution operator exp(-itt), where -it is the unperturbed Fokker-Planck operator (4.6.2).

is the response tensor. Because of (6.4.27) we have

$$x_{ij}(t) = -80(t)\tilde{C}_{ij}(t)$$
 (6.4.31)

with the equilibrium correlation functions

$$C_{ij}(t) = \int dada \delta a_{i} \delta a_{j}^{2} \rho_{\beta}^{(2)}(a,a^{*},t) , \qquad (6.4.32)$$

where the $\delta \alpha$ are the deviations from the equilibrium values. Hence we recover our previous results.

6.5 Master Equation Approach

In this section we study how the master equation changes when an external perturbation is applied to the system. The line of reasoning is very similar to the one pursued in the preceeding sections so that we can be briefer this time. The relevant probability density is of the form (see Sects.5.1 and 5.2 for details)

$$\bar{\rho}(t) = \Sigma \Sigma_{S}^{-1} \rho_{S}(t)$$
, (6.5.1)

where

$$\rho_{S}(t) = tr_{R}[\rho(t)] = tr_{R}[\bar{\rho}(t)]^{\dagger}$$
(6.5.2)

is the reduced probability density describing the state of the subsystem S. The projection operator \mathbf{P}^T projecting out the relevant probability density is time independent. The Hamiltonian H(t) is taken to be

where H^s₂(t) describes an applied perturbation acting upon the subsystem S only. On inserting (6.2.7) into

$$\dot{\rho}_{S}(t) = -i tr_{R}\{L(t)\rho(t)\}$$
, (6.5.4)

we obtain

$$\dot{P}_{S}(t) = -i \ tr_{R}\{L(t)\bar{\rho}(t)\} - \int_{0}^{t} ds \ tr_{R}[L(t)G^{T}(t,s)[1 - P^{T}]L(s)\bar{\rho}(s)\}$$
 (6.5.5)

For further evaluation we restrict ourselves to the accuracy necessary to describe the linear response of the equilibrium system correctly. We then have

$$L(t)\bar{\rho}(t) = L\bar{\rho}(t) + L_{S}^{*}(t)\rho_{\beta} + O(H_{S}^{*2})$$
 (6.5.6)

Next we note that

$$L_{\rho}(t) = L\Sigma\Sigma_{S}^{-1}\rho_{S}(t) = \beta L\Sigma_{\mu_{S}}(t)$$
, (6.5.7)

where the operator $\mu_S(t)$. conjugate to $\rho_S(t),$ has been introduced in Sect.5.2. Further, because of (5.3.1,2), we have

106

$$L_{S}^{s}(t)\rho_{\beta} = \frac{1}{N} [H_{S}^{s}(t), \rho_{\beta}] = \beta L\Sigma H_{S}^{s}(t) ,$$
 (6.5.8)

which combines with (6.5.7) to yield

$$L(t)\bar{\rho}(t) = \beta L \Sigma[\mu_{S}(t) + H_{S}^{*}(t)] + O(H_{S}^{*2}) . \qquad (6.5.9)$$

We now insert (6.5.9) into both terms on the right-hand side of (6.5.5) and observe that in the considered approximation we may disregard any further dependence of the memory term on the applied perturbation. Then we obtain

$$\dot{\rho}_{S}(t) = -V_{S}[\mu_{S}(t) + H_{S}^{*}(t)] - \int_{0}^{t} ds R_{S}(t-s)[\mu_{S}(s) + H_{S}^{*}(s)]$$
, (6.5.10)

where the transport operators V_{ξ} and $R_{\xi}(t)$ have been defined in (5.2.19,20). Clearly the external perturbation $H_{\xi}^{*}(t)$ is just added to the thermodynamic force operator $u_{\xi}(t)$. In view of (5.2.14) this change can be accounted for by changing the free energy

$$F^{(t)} \rightarrow F^{(t)} + tr_{S} \{ \rho_{S}(t) H^{(t)}_{S} \}$$
 (6.5.11)

Generally the retarded transport operator $R_S(t)$ will also be modified by the external perturbation, but this change does not contribute to the linear response.

Provided
$$\rho_S(0) = \rho_{S\beta}$$
, we get from (6.5.10) by first-order perturbation theory

$$p_{S}(t) = \rho_{S}(t) - \rho_{S} \qquad (6.5.12)$$

$$= -\frac{t}{h} ds \ G_{S}(t - s) \ \Sigma_{S}^{-1} \left[V_{S} H_{S}^{*}(s) + \int_{0}^{S} du \ R_{S}(s - u) H_{S}^{*}(u) \right] ,$$

where we have used the fact that a solution of the unperturbed master equation is of the form (5.2.31). This result may be written

$$\Delta \rho_{S}(t) = -\int_{0}^{t} ds X_{S}(t - s)H_{S}^{*}(s) , \qquad (6.5.13)$$

where for $t \ge 0$

$$x_{S}(t) = a_{S}(t) \Sigma_{S}^{-1} v_{S} + \int_{0}^{t} ds \ a_{S}(t-s) \Sigma_{S}^{-1} R_{S}(s)$$
 (6.5.14)

is the response operator. From (5.3.21) we get

$$\begin{split} z \mathbf{G}_{5}^{c}(z) &\sim \Sigma_{5} = \mathbf{G}_{5}^{c}(z) \Sigma_{5}^{-1} [\Omega_{5} + \Phi_{5}^{c}(z)] \Sigma_{5} \\ &= -\frac{1}{\beta} \mathbf{G}_{5}^{c}(z) \Sigma_{5}^{-1} [V_{5} + \mathbf{R}_{5}^{c}(z)] , \end{split} \tag{6.5.15}$$

where the last transformation follows by virtue of (5.2.,21,22). Since (6.5.15) is the Laplace transform of

$$\dot{\mathbf{a}}_{S}(t) = -\frac{1}{\beta} \mathbf{a}_{S}(t) \Sigma_{S}^{-1} \mathbf{v}_{S} - \frac{1}{\beta} \int_{0}^{t} ds \mathbf{a}_{S}(t-s) \Sigma_{S}^{-1} \mathbf{a}_{S}(s)$$
 (6.5.16)

the response operator (6.5.14) may be written

$$X_{c}(t) = -80(t)\dot{G}_{c}(t)$$
 (6.5.17)

This relation implies the fluctuation-dissipation theorem of the first kind in as $\mathfrak{s}_{\mathsf{C}}(t)$ determines the dynamics of canonical equilibrium correlations.

If the perturbation is of the form

$$H_{S}^{*}(t) = \sum_{i}^{j} A_{i}h_{i}(t)$$
, (6.5.18)

the response of the mean values a(t) reads

$$\Delta a_{i}(t) = tr_{S}\{A_{i} \Delta \rho_{S}(t)\} = \int_{0}^{t} ds x_{ij}(t-s)h_{j}(s) . \qquad (6.5.19)$$

where

$$x_{ij}(t) = tr_{S} \{A_{i} X_{S}(t) A_{j}\}$$
 (6.5.20)

is the response tensor. Because of (6.5.17), the $x_{ij}(t)$ are related to the canonical correlations [see (5.2.24)]

$$C_{ij}(t) = tr_{S}[\hat{c}A_{j}G_{S}(t)\hat{c}A_{j}] \qquad (6.5.11)$$

of the fluctuations 8A, about equilibrium by (6.1.20).

Since the results following (6.5.10) have been obtained without making use of the precise form of the stochastic operators, we expect that they still hold if the stochastic operators are approximated as in Sect.5.4. We shall not go through the arguments in detail but only mention that (6.5.10) reduces in the weak coupling limit to

$$\dot{\rho}_{S}(t) = -iL_{S}[\rho_{S}(t) + \beta\Sigma_{S}H_{S}^{*}(t)]$$
, (6.5.22)

where L_{S} has been defined in (5.6.3), while $\hat{\Sigma}_{S}$ has been introduced in (5.4.12). Clearly, the approximate equation (6.5.22) can only be used if the applied perturbation $H_{S}^{i}(t)$ is slowly varying in time. From (6.5.22) we easily obtain for the response opera tor

$$x_{S}(t) = i_{BO}(t) e^{-iL_{S}t} L_{S} \hat{\Sigma}_{S} = -BO(t) \hat{d}_{S}(t)$$
 (5.5.23)

where

$$G_{S}(t) = e^{-iLSt}\hat{\Sigma}_{S}$$
 (6.5.24)

determines the canonical equilibrium correlations by virtue of (5.2.24).

108

Part B. Select Applications

7. Damped Nonlinear Oscillator

In this chapter we shall deal with the theory of a damped nonlinear oscillator from a statistical-mechanical point of view. Our treatment is presented as a simple application of the Fokker-Planck equation approach given in Chap.4. We first introduce in Sect.7.1 a class of microscopic models where an oscillator moving in a field of force (not necessarily linear) interacts with a reservoir of bath particles. This class comprises physically important systems like the damped harmonic oscillator, the Brownian particle in a fluid, the mass impurity in a lattice, and the diffusing particle in a periodic potential. Starting out from the exact wolution law for the oscillator distribution function, we reexamine the Markovian approximation in Sect.7.2 and obtain a Fokker-Planck equation in the limit where the mass of the oscillator is large compared with the mass of the bath particle:

The special cases of a Brownian particle in a fluid and a mass impurity in a harmonic lattice are studied in Sect.7.3. Important early contributions to the theory of Brownian movement have been compiled by MAX (152). We follow essentially the statistical-mechanical approach by LEBOMITZ and RESIGUIS (153) and by MAZUR and OPPONHEWH (154). The subject has also been presented in various books and review articles (22,03,155). The mass impurity in a harmonic lattice has frequently been studied (155-151) since this model can be solved exactly for simple couplings and thus makes a detailed study of the Kariovian limit possible.

The focus of the last two sections is on damped nonlinear oscillators, where the non-Gaussian fluctuations lead to a renormalization of the transport equations. Expressions for the renormalized thermodynamic forces and transport coefficients are derived in Sect.7.4, and explicit perturbation theoretical results for the Duffing oscillator are given in Sect.7.5. The Duffing oscillator has been studied in greater detail by BIXON and ZMAKZIG [162] using numerical methods, and some aspects of this and related problems have recently been reviewed by ZMAXIG [163]

7.1 Microscopic Model and Generalized Fokker-Planck Equation

The damping of an oscillator is due to the interaction between the oscillator and its surroundings. As a simple model we study a mechanical oscillator in interaction with a reservoir consisting of N particles. The Hamiltonian of the closed system formed by the oscillator and the reservoir is taken to be

$$H = H_0 + H_0 + V$$
. (7.1.1)

Here

$$H_{0}(\vec{P},\vec{Q}) = \frac{\vec{p}^{2}}{2M} + U(\vec{Q}) \qquad (7.1.2)$$

is the Hamiltonian of an oscillator with mass M and momentum \tilde{P} at position \tilde{Q} moving in a pinning potential U(\tilde{Q}). Denoting by \tilde{p}_1 and \tilde{q}_1 the position and momentum of the $i\tilde{M}$ reservoir particle of mass m, we can write the reservoir Hamiltonian in the form

$$H_{R}(\vec{a}_{i},\vec{a}_{i}) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{\vec{p}_{i}^{2}}{2m} + U_{R}(\vec{a}_{i}) . \qquad (7.1.3)$$

Finally, $V(\tilde{Q},\tilde{q}_1)$ describes the interaction between the oscillator and the reservoir. We treat the system on the basis of classical statistical mechanics using the Fokker-Planck method given in Chap.4.

Since we are interested in the motion of the oscillator moving under the influence of the reservoir, we choose its momentum \vec{P} and position \vec{Q} as the macroscopic variables. The time rates of change of these variables read

$$\dot{\vec{Q}} = (\vec{L},\vec{Q}) = (\vec{Q},\vec{H}) = \frac{\vec{P}}{M}$$
 (7.1.4)

and

$$\vec{p} = \{\vec{L}, \vec{P} = \{\vec{P}, H\} = -\frac{2U}{2\vec{Q}} + \vec{K}_{R},$$
 (7.1.5)

where

$$\tilde{K}_{\mathsf{R}}(\tilde{Q}, \tilde{q}_{i}) = -\frac{\partial V(\tilde{Q}, \tilde{q}_{i})}{\partial \tilde{Q}}$$
(7.1.6)

is the force which the reservoir exerts on the oscillator.

In equilibrium the state of the entire system is described by the canonical probability density

$$\rho_{\beta} = Z_{\beta}^{-1} e^{-\beta H}$$
, (7.1.7)

where β = $1/k_BT$ is the inverse reservoir temperature, while the state of the oscillator is described by the macroscopic probability density^1

In this chapter the macroscopic probability density is denoted by f to avoid confusion with the momentum p.

$$f_{\beta}(\vec{p},\vec{q}) = tr[\frac{y_{+}}{pq}p_{\beta}]$$
, (7.1.8)

where

$$v_{\vec{D}\vec{d}} = \delta(\vec{p} - \vec{p})\delta(\vec{q} - \vec{q})$$
. (7.1.9)

Using (7.1.1-3), we find [cf. (4.4.13)]
$$f_{a}(\vec{\rho},\vec{q}) = e^{-\beta \vec{F}}(\vec{\rho},\vec{q})$$

with the bare free energy

$$F^{*}(\vec{\rho},\vec{q}) = \frac{\vec{\rho}^{2}}{2q} + U(\vec{q}) + \Delta U(\vec{q})$$
 (7.1.11)

Here

$$\Delta U(\vec{q}) = -\frac{1}{B} \ln \int dq_i e^{-\beta [U_R(\vec{q}_i) + V(\vec{q}_i, \vec{q}_i)]}$$
(7.1.12)

is a potential for the average force exerted by the reservoir on the oscillator when it is fixed at the oscition $\vec{q} = \vec{q}$. This average force vanishes in the important case where the potentials $U_{q}(\vec{q}_{+})$ and $\forall (\vec{q}, \vec{q}_{j})$ depend on the distance vectors $\vec{q}_{+} = \vec{q}_{+}$ and $\vec{q} = \vec{q}_{+}$ only. In the general case we can always add the potential $u(\vec{q})$ so the pinning potential $U(\vec{q})$ so that we may assume

$$\Delta U(\vec{q}) = 0$$
 (7.1.13)

henceforth.

The reversible dynamics of the oscillator is determined by the antisymmetric matrix (4.3.4). Since the Poisson brackets read

$$\{Q^{\nu}, P^{\mu}\} = \delta^{\nu\mu}$$
, (7.1.14)

where v and w label the space components, we find

$$\pi_{p \nu q \nu} = -\pi_{q \nu p \nu} = \frac{1}{\beta}$$
 (7.1.15)

and the remaining coefficients vanish. To evaluate the diffusion kernels (4.2.20) which determine the irreversible dynamics, we start by noting that

$$\mathbf{P}_{\overrightarrow{pq}} \mathbf{\hat{k}}_{R} = \frac{\mathbf{v}_{pq}}{\mathbf{pq}} \frac{\mathbf{tr}(\mathbf{e}^{-\beta H} \mathbf{v}_{pq} \mathbf{\hat{k}}_{R})}{\mathbf{tr}(\mathbf{e}^{-\beta H} \mathbf{v}_{pq} \mathbf{\hat{k}}_{R})} = -\frac{\mathbf{v}_{pq}}{\mathbf{pq}} \frac{\partial \mathcal{U}(\vec{q})}{\partial \mathbf{q}}, \qquad (7.1.16)$$

where we have made use of (4.2.1) and (7.1.6,12). Equation (7.1.16) in connection with (7.1.13) gives

Further, from (4.2.2) and (7.1.4) we get

111

(7.1.10)

$$(1 - P) \underset{p \neq 0}{*} \overset{5}{=} 0$$
, (7.1.18)

and from (7.1.5) we obtain in view of (7.1.17)

$$(1 - p) \bigvee_{pq} = \bigvee_{pq} \stackrel{k}{k}_{R}$$
. (7.1.19)

Thus, using (4.2.14,20), we find that the only nonvanishing diffusion kernels are

$$\begin{split} 0_{p \forall p \mu}(\hat{p}, \hat{q}, \hat{p}^*, \hat{q}^*, t) &= \frac{1}{\hat{p}} \forall^{\mu\nu}(\hat{p}, \hat{q}, \hat{q}^*, \hat{q}^*, t) \\ &= \frac{\text{tr}_{[D_{\hat{p}} \vec{V}_{\hat{p}} \hat{q}_{\hat{q}}^*, K_{\hat{p}}^{\mu} \in \hat{t}^{\hat{L}}(1^{-p}) \text{t}_{\vec{V} \stackrel{\hat{p}}{\neq \hat{p}} \hat{q}^*, \widetilde{K}_{\hat{p}}^{\hat{p}}}}{\text{tr}_{[D_{\hat{p}} \vec{V}_{\hat{p}} \hat{q}^*, \hat{q}^*)}} . \end{split}$$
(7.1.20)

This expression is a modified correlation function of the force exerted on the oscillator by the reservoir.

Having investigated the free energy and the transport kernels, we turn to the generalized Fokker-Planck equation, which is of the form

$$\begin{split} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} f(\hat{\vec{p}},\hat{\vec{q}},t) &= \int_{V} \frac{\partial}{\partial \rho^{V}} \int_{P^{V} Q^{V}} \left[s \frac{\partial \vec{r}^{*}(\hat{\vec{p}},\hat{\vec{q}},t)}{\partial q^{V}} + \frac{\partial}{\partial q^{V}} \right] f(\hat{\vec{p}},\hat{\vec{q}},t) \\ &+ \int_{V} \frac{\partial}{\partial q^{V}} \int_{Q^{V}} q_{V} \rho_{V} \left[s \frac{\partial \vec{r}^{*}(\hat{\vec{p}},\hat{\vec{q}})}{\partial \rho^{V}} + \frac{\partial}{\partial \rho^{V}} \right] f(\hat{\vec{p}},\hat{\vec{q}},t) \tag{7.1.21} \\ &+ \int_{0}^{t} ds \int_{V_{U}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \rho^{V}} \int d\rho^{*} dq^{*} \theta_{\rho^{V} \rho^{U}}(\hat{\vec{p}},\hat{\vec{q}}^{*},\hat{\vec{n}}^{*},\hat{\vec{s}}) \left[s \frac{\partial \vec{r}^{*}(\hat{\vec{p}}^{*},\hat{\vec{q}}^{*})}{\partial \rho^{*} \mu} + \frac{\partial}{\partial \rho^{*} \mu} \right] \end{split}$$

Thus. by virtue of (7.1.11,13,15,20), we obtain

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} f(\vec{p},\vec{q},t) = \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \vec{p}} + \frac{\partial Q(\vec{Q})}{\partial \vec{q}} - \frac{\partial}{\partial \vec{q}} + \frac{\partial}{\vec{p}}\right) f(\vec{p},\vec{q},\vec{t})$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{t} ds \frac{\partial}{\partial \vec{p}} + \int dp' dq' \hat{\gamma}(\vec{p},\vec{q},\vec{p}',\vec{q}',s) \cdot \left(\frac{\vec{p}'}{M} + k_{B}T \frac{\partial}{\partial \vec{p}'}\right) f(\vec{p}',\vec{q}',t-s) .$$

$$(7.1.22)$$

This is an exact evolution law for the macroscopic probability density.

7.2 Fokker-Planck Approximation

In order to make use of the generalized Fokker-planck equation (7.1.22) we have to determine the diffusion kernels (7.1.20) more explicitly. This can be done exactly only for simple models while we have to resort to approximations in general.

It is useful to decompose the Liouville operator into four pieces:

$$L = L_0 + L_R + L_{0 \to R} + L_{R \to 0}$$
, (7.2.1)

where

and

$$L_p X = \{X, H_p\}$$
 (7.2.3)

describe the internal dynamics of the oscillator and the reservoir, respectively,

$$iL_{0\rightarrow R}X = -\sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{\partial X}{\partial \hat{\rho}_{i}} + \frac{\partial Y}{\partial \hat{q}_{i}}$$
(7.2.4)

describes the action of the oscillator on the reservoir, and

$$i \mathbf{L}_{\mathbf{R} \to \mathbf{0}} \mathbf{X} = - \frac{a \mathbf{X}}{a \mathbf{p}} \cdot \frac{a \mathbf{Y}}{a \mathbf{p}} = \frac{a \mathbf{X}}{a \mathbf{p}} \cdot \mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{R}}$$
 (7.2.5)

describes the reverse, the action of the reservoir on the oscillator.

We now assume that the mass M of the oscillator is much larger than the mass m of the reservoir particles. Then, the mean thermal velocity $(k_{\rm T}\,\text{M})^{1/2}$ of the oscillator is by a factor (m/M)^{1/2} smaller than the mean thermal velocity $(k_{\rm T}\,\text{M})^{1/2}$ for the of the lighter reservoir particles. Hence the position $\bar{0}$ of the oscillator is a slowly varying quantity on the time scale set by the reservoir motion. Further, the momentum transfer in a collision between a reservoir particle and the oscillator is, $(k_{\rm G}\,\text{m}\,\text{m})^{1/2}$. This momentum transfer is small compared to the mean thermal momentum of a reservoir particle, that is, $(k_{\rm G}\,\text{m}\,\text{m})^{1/2}$. This momentum transfer is small compared to the mean thermal momentum $(k_{\rm B}\,\text{M}\,\text{m})^{1/2}$ of the oscillator so that \vec{P} is a slowly varying quantity too. Thus, we can approximate the generalized fokker-blanck equation (7.1.21) according to the method given in Sect.4.4.² The above arguments can be sharpered by introducing scaled dimensionless momenta $\vec{P}^0 = \vec{P}(k_{\rm B}\,\text{M}\,\text{m})^{1/2}$ and $\vec{P}_1^0 = \vec{P}_1(k_{\rm B}\,\text{m}\,\text{m})^{1/2}$.

$$L = L_{R} + L_{0 \to R} + \mathcal{O}\left[\binom{m}{M}^{1/2}\right], \qquad (7.2,6)$$

from where we see that the time rates of change of the macroscopic variables \vec{P} and \vec{Q} are of the order (m/M)^{1/2}.

Since L_R and $L_{\Omega \rightarrow R}$ act upon the reservoir variables only, we have

$$L_{R}^{P} = L_{0 \to R}^{P} = 0$$
 (7.2.7)

which in connection with (7.2.6) yields

² If we use the Fokker-Planck equation to calculate the relaxation from an initial nonequilibrium state we also have to assume that the initial velocity of the oscillator is small compared to the mean thermal velocity of the reservoir particles

$$e^{iL(1-P)t} = e^{i(L_R+L_0 \to R)t} + o\left[(\frac{m}{M})^{1/2}\right]$$
 (7.2.8)

Now, the matrix $\hat{\gamma}$ is explicitly of the second order in \vec{P} , that is, of the order m/M. Thus, on inserting (7.2.8) into (7.1.20), we obtain by use of (4.1.3)

$$\gamma^{\vee\mu}(\vec{p},\vec{q},\vec{p}^{\prime},\vec{q}^{\prime},t) = \delta(\vec{p}-\vec{p}^{\prime})\delta(\vec{q}-\vec{q}^{\prime})\gamma_{\infty}^{\vee\mu}(\vec{q},t) + O\left[(\frac{m}{R})^{3/2}\right], \quad (7.2.9)$$

where

$$k_{B}T_{Y_{\infty}}^{\nu\mu}(\hat{q},t) = \langle K_{\infty}^{\nu}(t)K_{\infty}^{\mu}(0);\hat{q} \rangle$$
 (7.2.10)

Here

$$\vec{k}_{\omega}(t) = e^{i(L_R+L_0+R)t} \vec{k}_R \qquad (7.2.11)$$

is the force exerted by the reservoir on an ascillator held fixed at the position $\vec{Q} = \vec{q} \cdot \vec{k}_{\mu}(t)$ can also be looked upon as the force exerted on an infinitely heavy oscillator. The average in (7.2.10) is defined by

$$< \mathbf{k}_{m}^{U}(t)\mathbf{k}_{m}^{U}(0); \mathbf{\hat{q}} > \frac{tr(c_{0}v_{pq}^{U}\mathbf{\hat{x}}_{m}^{U}(t)\mathbf{k}_{m}^{U}(0))}{rr(c_{0}r_{pq}^{U}\mathbf{\hat{z}}_{q}^{U})}$$
(7.2.12)
$$= \frac{\int dP_{1}dq_{1}}{\int dP_{2}dq_{1}} \frac{e^{-2(|\mathbf{\hat{q}}|\mathbf{x}|^{U}(\mathbf{\hat{q}},\mathbf{\hat{q}}_{1}))}\mathbf{k}_{m}^{U}(t)\mathbf{k}_{m}^{U}(0)}{\int dP_{2}q_{1}q_{1}} ,$$

that is, an average over the equilibrium state of the reservoir in the presence of the oscillator acting as a force center at the position q.

Now, since

$$f(\vec{p},\vec{q},t-s) = f(\vec{p},\vec{q},t) + O[(\frac{\pi}{W})^{1/2}]$$
, (7.2.13)

we obtain by inserting (7.2.9) into (7.1.22) the Fokker-Planck equation

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} f(\vec{p},\vec{q},t) = \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial p},\frac{\partial l(\vec{q})}{\partial \vec{q}} - \frac{\partial}{\partial \vec{q}},\frac{\vec{p}}{p}\right) f(\vec{p},\vec{q},t)$$

$$+ \frac{\partial}{\partial p}, \vec{\zeta}(\vec{q}), \left(\frac{\vec{p}}{M} + k_{\rm B}T\frac{\partial}{\partial \vec{p}}\right) f(\vec{p},\vec{q},t) + O\left[\left(\frac{\vec{p}}{M}\right)^{3/2}\right] ,$$

$$(7.2.14)$$

where the $z^{v\mu}$ are given by the Green-Kubo formula

$$k_{g}T \zeta^{\nu\mu}(\bar{q}) = \int_{0}^{\infty} ds \langle K_{\omega}^{\mu}(s), K_{\omega}^{\mu}(0), \bar{q} \rangle$$
. (7.2.15)

In deriving (7.2.14) we have assumed that the time t is large compared with the decay time of the force correlation function (7.2.12). However, this correlation function will rapidly decay to zero because it contains only the rapid dynamical process of the light reservoir particles. Thus, (7.2.14) holds on the macroscopic time scale.

Clearly, the Fokker-Planck equation (7.2.14) follows straightforwardly from (4.4.7), and the formula (7.2.15) for the matrix $\vec{\zeta}$ is just a special case of

(4.4,8). We have reexamined here the formal approximation of Sect.4.4 in some detail for a concrete model where the Fokker-Planck approximation emerges naturally in a certain limit, namely, the limit M ∞ m, thereby showing that the approach of Sect.4.4 can indeed be based on finmer grounds.

7.3 Brownian Motion and Impurity in a Harmonic Lattice

The only quantity to be found in the Fokker-Planck equation (7.2.14) not yet explicitly known is the matrix \vec{x} . However, in order to obtain further results from (7.2.15) we first have to specify the model in greater detail. Let us consider two special cases.

Brownian Motion. A heavy Brownian particle is immersed into a fluid of light particles. If we treat both the Brownian particle and the fluid particles as mass points, we are led to a microscopic model of Brownian motion belonging to the class of models introduced in Sect.7.1. There is no pinning potential $U(\tilde{Q})$, and the internal interaction of the host fluid can be written

$$U_{R}(\vec{q}_{i}) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i+j} u(|\vec{q}_{i} - \vec{q}_{j}|)$$
, (7.3.1)

while the interaction between the Brownian particle and the fluid reads

$$V(\bar{q},\bar{q}_{i}) = \sum_{i} v(|\bar{q} - \bar{q}_{i}|)$$
 (7.3.2)

Here u(r) and v(r) are spherically symmetrical interaction potentials.

The Hamiltonian H of the system is invariant under translations and rotations. Consequently, (7.1.13) is automatically satisfied, and the force \vec{k}_{p} depends on the distances $|\vec{q}| - \vec{q}_{+}|$ only. Thus, the correlation (7.2.12) is now independent of \vec{q} and orpoortional to δ^{uv} so that the matrix (7.2.15) is of the form

$$\zeta^{\nu\mu}(\vec{q}) = \zeta \delta^{\nu\mu}$$
, (7.3.3)

where g is a constant given by

$$\zeta = \frac{1}{3k_0^{-1}} \int_{0}^{\infty} ds < \vec{k}_{\infty}(s) \cdot \vec{k}_{\infty}(0) > . \qquad (7.3.4)$$

This formula has first been derived by KIRKWODD [13] on quite different lines. The Fokker-Planck equation (7.2.14) now takes the form

$$\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \frac{\vec{p}}{M}, \frac{\partial}{a_{\vec{k}}}\right) f(\vec{p}, \vec{q}, t) = \zeta \frac{\partial}{a_{\vec{p}}} \cdot \left(\frac{\vec{p}}{M} + k_{\vec{B}} T \frac{\partial}{a_{\vec{k}}}\right) f(\vec{p}, \vec{q}, t) .$$
(7.3.5)

Generally one puts in ζ as a phenomenological parameter since the evaluation of (7.3.4) is rather complicated.

A detailed discussion of the Fokker-Planck equation (7.3.5) is given in the review article of CHANDRASEKHAR [164]. If we integrate over \vec{q} , we obtain from (7.3.5) an equation for the momentum probability density $f(\vec{p}, t)$ of the form

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} f(\vec{p}, t) = c \frac{\partial}{\partial \vec{p}} \cdot \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + k_B T \frac{\partial}{\partial \vec{p}} \right) f(\vec{p}, t) . \qquad (7.3.6)$$

The conditional momentum probability, that is, the Green's function of (7.3.6), is found to be

$$f(\vec{p},t|\vec{p}') = [2r\sigma(t)]^{-d/2} \exp\left\{-\frac{[\vec{p}-\vec{p}'(t)]^2}{2\sigma(t)}\right\}$$
, (7.3.7)

where

$$\vec{p}'(t) = \vec{p}' e^{-(c/M)t}$$
, $\sigma(t) = k_{gT} M(1 - e^{-(2c/M)t})$. (7.3.8)

Since the stationary momentum probability density reads

$$f_{\beta}(\vec{p}) = (2\pi k_{B}TM)^{-d/2} \exp\left\{-\frac{\vec{p}^{2}}{2k_{B}TM}\right\}$$
, (7.3.9)

we obtain for the momentum autocorrelation function

$$cp^{\nu}(t)p^{\mu}(0) > = \int dpdp^{*} p^{\nu}p^{\mu}f(\vec{p}t|\vec{b}^{*})f_{g}(\vec{p}^{*})$$

= $\delta^{\nu\mu}k_{g}T M e^{-(z/M)t}$. (7.3.10)

Other quantities of interest can also be calculated easily.

Impurity in a Harmonic Lattice. As a second example we consider a heavy impurity in a harmonic lattice consisting of N lighter particles. The Hamiltonian is taken to be

$$H = \frac{\vec{p}^2}{2M} + \sum_{i=1}^{M} \frac{\vec{p}_i^2}{2m} + U^*(\vec{Q}) + U_R(\vec{q}_i) + V^*(\vec{Q}, \vec{q}_i) . \qquad (7.3.11)$$

 \vec{q} and \vec{q}_i are the deviations of the particles from their equilibrium positions. $v_{\vec{p}}(\vec{q}_i) \text{ is the interaction of the harmonic lattice with the impurity held fixed at the position <math display="inline">\vec{Q}=0$, and it is of the form

$$U_{R}(\vec{q}_{1}) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i,j,\nu,\mu} u_{ij}^{\nu\mu} q_{i}^{\nu\mu} q_{j}^{\mu} , \qquad (7.3.12)$$

where up is a positive and symmetric matrix

$$u_{jj}^{\nu\mu} = u_{jj}^{\mu\nu}$$
 (7.3.13)

which has an inverse $n_{ij}^{\nu\mu}$ defined by

$$\sum_{j,\mu} n_{ij}^{\nu\mu} u_{jk}^{\mu\lambda} = \delta_{ik} \delta^{\nu\lambda} \quad . \tag{7.3.14}$$

 $V'(\vec{Q},\vec{q}_{2})$ is a bilinear interaction between the lattice and the impurity

$$V^{*}(\dot{q}, \dot{q}_{i}) \approx \sum_{i,v,\mu} v_{i}^{v\mu} q_{i}^{v\mu} q^{\nu}$$
, (7.3.15)

The potential $U^{\prime}(\bar{0})$ is not necessarily harmonic. The Hamiltonian can always be written in the form (7.3.11) if the internal interaction of the N lattice particles and their couplings to the impurity are harmonic.

The requirement (7.1.13) is not automatically satisfied. We add

$$\Delta U(\bar{Q}) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\nu,\mu} c^{\nu\mu} Q^{\nu} Q^{\mu} \qquad (7.3.16)$$

with

$$c^{\nu\mu} = \sum_{\substack{i,j,\lambda,\sigma}} n_{ij}^{\lambda\sigma} v_i^{\lambda\nu} v_j^{\sigma\mu}$$
(7.3.17)

to the potential U'($\ddot{0}$) and subtract it from the bilinear interaction V'($\ddot{0},\dot{q}_{i}$) to give

$$U(\vec{Q}) = U'(\vec{Q}) + \Delta U(\vec{Q})$$
 (7.3.18)

and

$$\Psi(\vec{q},\vec{q}_{1}) = \sum_{i_{1},\nu_{1},\mu} v_{i_{1}}^{\nu \mu} \left(q_{i_{1}}^{\nu} + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{\lambda} d_{i_{1}}^{\nu \lambda} q^{\lambda}\right) q^{\mu} , \qquad (7.3.19)$$

where³

$$d_{i}^{\nu\lambda} = \sum_{j,\mu} n_{ij}^{\nu\mu} v_{j}^{\mu\lambda}$$
 (7.3.20)

On adding (7.3.12,19) we obtain

$$U_{R}(\vec{q}_{i}) + \Psi(\vec{Q},\vec{q}_{i}) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i,j,\nu,\mu} u_{ij}^{\nu\mu} \hat{q}_{i}^{\nu} \hat{q}_{i}^{\nu} \hat{q}_{j}^{\mu} , \qquad (7.3.21)$$

where

$$\hat{q}_{i}^{\nu} = q_{i}^{\nu} + \sum_{\mu} d_{i}^{\nu\mu}Q^{\mu}$$
 (7.3.22)

Now, (7.1.12) gives only an irrelevant constant, and we are in the position to make use of our previous results.

From (7.3.19) we obtain by virtue of (7.3.20,22)

$$K_{R}^{\nu} = -\frac{\partial V}{\partial q^{\nu}} = -\sum_{j,\mu} v_{j}^{\mu\nu} q_{j}^{\mu} . \qquad (7.3.23)$$

The time evolution of the force $\vec{k}_{\rm m}(t)$ introduced in (7.2.11) has to be calculated with the impurity held fixed at the position $\vec{0} = \vec{q}$. Then, (7.3.22) is a time-independent transformation. In view of (7.3.21,23) this transformation removes the dependence on $\vec{0}$ from the evolution law for $\vec{k}_{\rm c}(t)$ and from the average (7.2.12).

³ We note in passing that if the Hamiltonian (7.3.11) is invariant under translations of all coordinates $0,q_1,e,g_2$, if the interaction depends on the distances only, we simply have $d_2^{sp}=-a^{sp}$.

As a consequence the matrix \vec{c} is independent of \vec{q} , and (7.2.15) gives

$$k_{g}Tc^{\nu\mu} = \int_{0}^{\infty} ds \sum_{i,j,\lambda,\sigma} v_{i}^{\lambda\nu}v_{j}^{\sigma\mu}cq_{i}^{\lambda}(s)q_{j}^{\sigma}(0) > , \qquad (7.3.24)$$

where the $< q_i^2(s)q_j^2(0) >$ are the stationary correlations of the harmonic lattice with the inpurity held fixed at $\hat{q} = 0$. For some special cases, where the interaction (7.3.12) is particularly simple, the integrand of (7.3.24) has been calculated explicitly [156-160].

If we restrict ourselves to a one-dimensional lattice, we obtain a Fokker-Planck equation of the form

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} f(p,q,t) = \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial p} \frac{\partial U(q)}{\partial q} - \frac{\partial}{\partial q} \frac{p}{p} \right) f(p,q,t)$$

$$+ c \frac{\partial}{\partial p} \left(\frac{p}{q} + k_B T \frac{\partial}{\partial p} \right) f(p,q,t) .$$
(7.3.25)

As noted above, the potential U(q) is not necessarily harmonic, so that the Fokker-Planck equation (7.3.25) may contain nonlinearities.

7.4 Renormalization of Transport Equations

In this section we study a system described by the Fokker-Planck equation (7.3.25). The potential U(q) is symmetric in q and arbitrary otherwise, but later, the form

$$U(q) = \frac{r}{2} q^2 + \frac{u}{4} q^4 \qquad (7.4.1)$$

will be used for explicit calculations. Introducing a state vector $\hat{a} = (p,q)$, the Fokker-Planck equation (7.3.25) may be written in the standard form (4.4.17); that is,

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} f(\dot{\alpha}, t) = \frac{\partial}{\partial \dot{\alpha}} \cdot \dot{t} \cdot \left[\frac{\partial F^{\dagger}(\dot{\alpha})}{\partial \dot{\alpha}} + k_{B}T \frac{\partial}{\partial \dot{\alpha}} \right] f(\dot{\alpha}, t) , \qquad (7.4.2)$$

where

$$F^{*}(\vec{a}) = \frac{p^{2}}{2M} + U(q)$$
 (7.4.3)

is the bare free energy, while

is the matrix of bare transport coefficients.

The bare thermodynamic forces (4.5.6) read

$$\overset{**}{\overrightarrow{a_{\alpha}}} = \frac{\partial F}{\partial a_{\alpha}} = \left(\frac{p}{|\mathbf{y}|}, \frac{\partial U}{\partial q} \right) ,$$
 (7.4.5)

118

and the bare transport laws (4.5.5) are

$$\dot{\vec{a}} = -\vec{1}^* \cdot \vec{\mu}^*(\vec{a})$$
(7.4.6)

or more explicitly

$$\dot{\vec{p}} = -\frac{\partial U}{\partial q} - \frac{c}{M} p \quad ,$$

$$\dot{\vec{q}} = \frac{1}{M} p \quad . \qquad (7.4.7)$$

These are the familiar phenomenological equations of motion for a damped nonlinear ascillator. To obtain the renormalized transport equations we have to carry out the renormalization procedure discussed in Sects.4.5 and 4.6. Here, we shall restrict ourselves to the linear regime near equilibrium.

For the present problem the partition function (4.5.19) reads

$$Z(\dot{\mu}) = \int da e^{-\beta (F^*(\dot{a}) - \dot{\mu} \cdot \dot{a})}$$
 (7.4.8)

where $\vec{\mu}$ is the vector of renormalized thermodynamic forces which is determined as a function of the mean values $\vec{a} > by [cf. (4.5.15)]$

$$s_{\alpha}^{*} = k_{\text{B}}^{T} \frac{a \ln Z(\hat{\mu})}{a_{\mu}^{*}}$$
 (7.4.9)

At equilibrium the mean values vanish, and we obtain from (7.4.8) and (7.4.9) by disregarding terms of the second order in <q>

$$\overrightarrow{\mu} = \left(\frac{\langle p \rangle}{M}, \frac{\langle q \rangle}{\beta \sigma}\right)$$
, (7.4.10)

where

$$\sigma = \frac{\int dq \ q^2 \ e^{-\beta U(q)}}{\int dq \ e^{-\beta U(q)}} \approx \langle q^2 \rangle_{\beta}$$
(7.4.11)

is the equilibrium variance of q. Clearly, there is no renormalization of the thermodynamic force conjugate to the momentum since the stationary momentum probability density is Gaussian.

The bare transport matrix \tilde{L}^{\bullet} does not depend on the state \tilde{e} . Hence, it follows from (4.6.12) that the instantaneous part of the renormalized transport matrix coincides with the bare transport matrix

$$\overset{\diamond}{\mathsf{L}} \stackrel{\diamond}{\mathsf{L}} \overset{\diamond}{\mathsf{L}} \stackrel{\ast}{\mathsf{L}} = \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\zeta} & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} , \qquad (7.4.12)$$

The retarded part, $\vec{\lambda}(t - s)$, of the renormalized transport matrix is a functional of the mean values $\vec{s}(u)$ in the time interval $s \leq u \leq t$. However, as far as the linear transport laws are concerned, we can evaluate (4.6.15) for equilibrium mean values $\vec{s}(u) >_{\vec{s}} = 0$. To this end we first provide some useful relations.

For vanishing mean values the projection operator (4.6.3) reduces to $P_{g} = P[\langle \vec{a} \rangle = 0]$, which is of the form

$$P_{\beta}X(\vec{a}) = f_{\beta}(\vec{a}) \left(\int da X(\vec{a}) + \frac{p}{k_{\beta} \prod M} \int da pX(\vec{a}) + \frac{q}{\sigma} \int da qX(\vec{a}) \right) , \qquad (7.4.13)$$

where

$$f_{g}(\vec{a}) = \frac{e^{-\beta F^{*}(\vec{a})}}{Z(\vec{\mu} = 0)}$$
(7.4.14)

is the equilibrium probability density. In deriving (7,4,13) we have made use of

$$\frac{2\tilde{f}(\vec{a},\vec{az})}{3 } \begin{vmatrix} \frac{p}{c\vec{a} = 0} \\ c\vec{az} = 0 \end{vmatrix} = \frac{p}{k_B^T M^- f_B}(\vec{a}) , \frac{2\tilde{f}(a, \vec{az})}{3 < q>} \begin{vmatrix} \frac{q}{c\vec{a} = 0} \\ -c\vec{az} = 0 \end{vmatrix} = \frac{q}{\sigma} f_B(\vec{a}) , \quad (7.4.15)$$

where

$$\vec{f}(\vec{a},\vec{a}_{P}) = \frac{f_{\beta}(\vec{a}) e^{\beta \vec{u} \cdot \vec{a}}}{\int da f_{\beta}(\vec{a}) e^{\beta \vec{u} \cdot \vec{a}}}$$
(7.4.16)

is the relevant probability density introduced in (4.5.8). From (7.4.14) we obtain by virtue of (7.4.5)

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \vec{a}} f_{\beta}(\vec{a}) = -\beta f_{\beta}(\vec{a}) \mu^{*}(\vec{a}) , \qquad (7.4.17)$$

and further, by use of (7.4.13)

$$(1 - P_{\beta}) \frac{3}{3\rho} f_{\beta}(\vec{a}) = 0$$
 (7.4.18)

$$(1 - P_{\beta}) \frac{\partial}{\partial q} f_{\beta}(\vec{a}) = -\beta f_{\beta}(\vec{a}) \Delta \mu(q)$$

where

$$a_{\mu}(\mathbf{q}) = \frac{3U(\mathbf{q})}{3\mathbf{q}} - \frac{\mathbf{q}}{\beta\sigma} \quad . \tag{7.4.19}$$

The right-hand sides of (7.4.18) are proportional to the differences between the bare and the renormalized thermodynamic forces.

From (4.4.18) we see that for the present model the Fokker-Planck drift coincides with the deterministic drift:

$$\vec{k}_{(\alpha)}^{+} = (K_{p}(\vec{\alpha}), K_{q}(\vec{\alpha})) = -\vec{L}^{*}(\vec{\alpha}) \cdot \vec{\mu}^{*}(\vec{\alpha})$$
 (7.4.20)

Further we find by use of (7.4.6,7,13,19)

$$\int dx K_{p}(\vec{x})(1 - P_{p})X(\vec{x}) = - \int dx \Delta_{P}(q)X(\vec{x}) ,$$

$$\int dx K_{q}(\vec{x})(1 - P_{p})X(\vec{x}) = 0 .$$
(7.4.21)

120

Now, from (7.4.18,21) it is readily seen that for vanishing mean values, $<\vec{a}(u)>=0$, the retarded part (4.6.16) of the renormalized transport matrix takes the form /

$$\hat{\lambda}(t-s) = \begin{pmatrix} z_{\mu}(t-s) & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (7.4.22)$$

where

$$\xi_{r}(t) = \beta \int da \Delta \mu(q) e^{-i(1-P_{\beta})Lt} \Delta \mu(q) f_{\beta}(\vec{a})$$
 (7.4.23)

On combining (7.4.10,12,22) we obtain for the renormalized transport equation (4.6.16) in the linear approximation

$$\frac{3}{\delta t} < p(t) > = -\frac{1}{\delta \sigma} < q(t) > -\frac{c}{M} < p(t) > -\int_{0}^{t} ds \frac{c_{f}(t-s)}{M} < p(s) > , \qquad (7.4.24)$$

$$\frac{3}{\delta t} < q(t) > = \frac{1}{M} < p(t) > .$$

These equations govern the mean relaxation in the vicinity of the equilibrium state, and they are actually of the same form as (3.4.11) discussed earlier. However, while (3.4.11) are formally exact, (7.4.24) hold in the Fokker-Planck approximation only. The renormalized transport equations (7.4.24) also determine the dynamics of correlations of fluctuations about equilibrium. The corresponding evolution laws, which are immediately written down in analogy to (3.4.21), are an exact consequence of the Fokker-Planck equation (7.4.2).

Notice that by simply linearizing the Fokker-Planck equation (7.4.2) we obtain

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} < q(t) > = -r < q(t) > - \frac{\zeta}{M} < q(t) > ,$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} < q(t) > = \frac{1}{H} < p(t) > , \quad (7.4.25)$$

where we have assumed that the potential U(q) is of the form (7.4.1). On comparing (7.4.24,25) we see that the nonlinearity renormalizes r and leads to a retarded renormalized damping.⁶ It might be worth mentioning that this menory term does not describe non-Markovian effects. Rather it is entirely due to the nonlinearity of the Markovian Effects. To consideration.

⁴ When (7.4.24) is written in Fourier space, the memory term in (7.4.24) gives rise to a frequency-dependent damping.

7.5 Expansion in Terms of kp

To make use of the renormalized transport equations (7.4.24) we have to determine σ and $c_{\mu}(t)$ explicitly. The potential U(q) is taken to be of the form (7.4.1) with r and u positive. This system is also known as the Duffing oscillator [162]. Since the bare transport equations (7.4.7) and the renormalized transport equations (7.4.24) have both the stable stationary solution $\rho = q - 0$, we expect that the fertexs of fluctuations leading to the renormalization of the transport laws can be treated in a perturbative way. The effects of fluctuations vanish in the deterministic limit $k_{\phi} \rightarrow 0$. Hence the explicit k_{ϕ} dependence of the Fokker-Planck equation can be used to set up a perturbation scheme where k_{ϕ} is used as an expansion parameter 'In order to calculate fluctuation corrections to the deterministic theory.

With (7.4.1) we obtain from (7.4.11) after an obvious change of the integration variable

$$\sigma = \langle q_{B}^{2} \rangle_{B} = \frac{k_{B}^{T}}{r} \frac{\int dt \xi \ell^{2} e^{-\frac{2}{2} \xi^{2} - \frac{1}{4} u\xi^{4}}}{\int dt e^{-\frac{1}{2} \xi^{2} - \frac{1}{4} \tilde{u}\xi^{4}}}, \quad (7.5.1)$$

where

. .

$$\tilde{u} = \frac{k_B T u}{r^2}$$
. (7.5.2)

By expanding in terms of kp we find

$$\sigma = \frac{\kappa_{B^{1}}}{r} (1 - 3\tilde{u} + 24\tilde{u}^{2}) + O(\kappa_{B}^{4}) . \qquad (7.5.3)$$

Here a formal expansion in terms of $k_{\rm B}$ amounts to an expansion in terms of the dimensionless nonlinearity parameter \tilde{u} .

Next we observe that (7.4.23) may be transformed to read

$$c_{r}(t) = \beta \langle \Delta \mu | e^{-i \mathcal{L}^{\dagger} (1 - P_{\beta}^{\dagger}) t} \Delta \mu \rangle_{\beta} , \qquad (7.5.4)$$

where <...>_B denotes the average over the equilibrium probability density (7.4.14). P_{a}^{T} is transposed to the projection operator (7.4.13), that is,

$$P_{\beta}^{\mathsf{T}} X(\mathbf{a}) = \langle X \rangle_{\beta} + \frac{p}{k_{\beta}^{\mathsf{T}} \mathsf{M}} \langle p X \rangle_{\beta} + \frac{q}{\sigma} \langle q X \rangle_{\beta} , \qquad (7.5.5)$$

while $\neg i L^T$ is transposed to the Fokker-Planck operator (4.6.2). Using (7.4.1,3,4) we find

$$-iL^{T}X(\vec{a}) = \left[\left(-rq - uq^{3} - \frac{\zeta}{M}p\right) \frac{\partial}{\partial p} + \frac{p}{M} \frac{\partial}{\partial q} + k_{B}T\zeta \frac{\partial}{\partial p^{2}} \right] X(\vec{a}) \quad . \quad (7.5.6)$$

⁵ This is not so in the bistable case r < 0 where naive perturbation methods fail [127-134].

This operator is also called the backward Fokker-Planck operator.

For further evaluation it is convenient to write $\zeta_{n}(t)$ in the form

$$\zeta_{\mu}(t) = \beta \langle \Delta \mu \lambda(t) \rangle_{\mu}$$
, (7.5.7)

where

$$\lambda(\vec{a},t) = e^{-iL^{\dagger}(1-P_{\beta}^{-})t}\Delta \mu(q) . \qquad (7.5.8)$$

Using (7.4.1), we obtain from (7.4.19)

$$\Delta \mu(q) = (r - \frac{1}{\beta\sigma})q + uq^3$$
, (7.5.9)

and (7.4.17) gives

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial q} f_{\beta}(\vec{a}) = -\beta f_{\beta}(\vec{a}) (rq + uq^3) . \qquad (7.5.10)$$

Thus we find by inserting (7.5.9) into (7.5.7)

$$\zeta_{\mu}(t) = \left\langle \frac{\partial \lambda(t)}{\partial q} \right\rangle_{\beta} - \frac{1}{\sigma} \langle q \lambda(t) \rangle_{\beta}$$
 (7.5.11)

The equilibrium averages on the right-hand side of (7.5.11) can now be expanded in terms of $k_{\rm B}.$ With (7.5.3) we get

$$c_{p}(t) = \frac{k_{0}^{2}\tau'_{0}}{r^{3}} \left[\frac{a^{3}}{aq^{3}} \lambda(\mathbf{x}, t) \right]_{\mathbf{x}=0}^{2} + O(k_{0}^{3}) \quad . \tag{7.5.12}$$

Furthermore, in this approximation the time evolution of $\lambda(a, t)$ can be determined from the bare linearized transport laws:

$$\dot{p}(t) = -rq(t) - \vec{R} p(t)$$
, $\dot{q}(t) = \frac{1}{R} p(t)$, (7.5.13)

which have for p(0) = 0 the solution

$$q(t) = q(0) e^{-(ct/2M)} \left(ch \frac{nt}{2M} + \frac{c}{n} sh \frac{nt}{2M} \right)$$
, (7.5.14)

where

$$\eta = (z^2 - 4m)^{1/2}$$
 (7.5.15)

Equation (7.5.14) holds for real and imaginary η and also in the aperiodic case for $\eta \rightarrow 0.$

Using (7.5.8,9,14), we obtain

$$\left[\frac{a^3}{bq}\lambda(\vec{a},t)\right]_{\vec{a}=0} = u e^{-(3\zeta t/2H)} \left(ch \frac{nt}{2H} + \frac{\zeta}{n} sh \frac{nt}{2H}\right)^3 + \theta(k_B) , \qquad (7.5.16)$$

which combines with (7.5.12) to give

$$\tau_{\mu}(t) \approx \tilde{u}^{2}r e^{-(3ct/2M)} \left(ch \frac{nt}{2M} + \frac{\zeta}{2} sh \frac{nt}{2M} \right)^{3} + O(k_{B}^{3})$$
. (7.5.17)

Again the expansion is actually in terms of the nonlinearity parameter \tilde{u} introduced in (7.5.2). Equations (7.5.3,17) give the first nontrivial terms of a perturbative calculation of the renormalized thermodynamic forces and transport coefficients.

•

8. Simple Fluids

Our objective in this chapter is to derive by statistical-mechanical methods a generalization of the phenomenological equations of motion for simple one-component fluids and to show how the phenomenological equations; themselves can be recovered as an approximation. Our treatment is presented as an application of statistical thermodynamics, which has been discussed from a general point of view in Chap.3. Also, since the macroscopic variables of a fluid are local densities of conserved quantifies, it is shown how the general theory applies to systems described by local variables.

In Sect.8.1 we summarize some general results for systems with local conservation laws and bring the equations of motion put forward in Chap.3 into a form which is appropriate for systems with a fluctuating local energy density. In Sect.8.2 we derive the conservation laws in simple fluids and obtain molecular expressions for the local fluxes of the conserved quartities. The properties of the generalized canonical probability density for fluids are discussed in Sect.8.3. We then evaluate the molecular expressions for the organized fluxes explicitly in Sect.8.4. This yields Euler's equations of motion for ideal addibatic fluids.

In Sect.8.5 the disorganized motion is evaluated in an approximation where terms of the third order in the wavenumber k are disregarded. We show that in this approximation the fluid is described by the nonlinear phenomenological equations of hydromechanics [87]. Finally, in Sect.8.6, we obtain Langevin equations for the fluctuations about the mean. The theory is illustrated by applying it to a steadystate nonequilibrium fluid. In particular, the structure factor for light scattering in the presence of a temperature gradjent is determined.

Our approach [165] has features in common with several other works. Exact evolution equations for the mean values of the hydrodynamic variables have been put forward by PICIRELII [166] and studied in greater detail by KMMSAKI and GNIND [107] and ERNST et al. [167]. While these papers do not obtain Langevin equations for the fluctuations, the transport gennels are evaluated in [107,167] in approxmations going beyond the one discussed in Sect.8.5. Our investigation is also prolated to the recent work by DPPENHE[M and LEVINE [168]. We avoid the introduction of a reference equilibrium temperature, however, and relate some more details to the dynamics of fluctuations. 8y disregarding memory effects on the level of statistical thermodynamics one ignores the complicated nonanalytic structure of the renormalized transport coefficients, which is particularly important near the gas-liquid critical point, but which also leads to nontrivial but small corrections outside of the critical regime [78,163]. Rather than evaluating the retarded transport kernels more precisely [107,167], one may start out from a more complete Fokker-Planck description of fluids which is implicit in the work of GREEN [170]. Fokker-Planck models ignoring the sound modes have been used in the study of the gas-liquid critical point [4,49], and noncritical fluids have been treated by Fokker-Planck methods in the incompressible [169,171] and isothermal [172] approximations. More recently, Fokker-Planck equations or equivalent nonlinear Langevin equations have also been employed to treat nonequijSpring Huids [18,173].

We shall not discuss the Fokker-Planck description of fluids explicitly here. A Fokker-Planck equation can, however, be derived in a rather straightforward manner by applying the theory in Chapa.4. The resulting equation of motion in the Markovian approximation is given in the appendix of [138]. It should be noted that in a Fokker-Planck description the spatial variation of the hydrodynamic variables has to be restricted by introducing a cutoff wavenumber [170] because otherwise singular behavior in the averaged quantities is found [174]. This is not necessary on the level of statistical thermodynamics, since the spatial variations of the conjugate thermodynamic fields.

8.1 Systems with Local Conversation Laws

In this section we consider some general properties of classical systems where the macroscopic variables $A_{i}(\tilde{x},t)$ are local densities of conserved quantities and where the energy density is among the macroscopic variables.¹ The conservation laws read

$$A_{i}(\vec{x},t) = iLA_{i}(\vec{x},t) = -\sum_{v \to v} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{v}} J_{i}^{v}(\vec{x},t)$$
, (8.1.1)

where v labels the space components, while the $\vec{J}_{i}(\vec{x},t)$ are the local fluxes of the conserved quantities. The exact equations of motion derived in Chap.3 are easily transcribed for systems with macroscopic variables labeled by the continuous index (i, \vec{x}), and some minor modifications are appropriate. We only give the basic definitions and results for later use.

¹ Often the energy density is not included into the set of macroscopic variables and the system is treated in an isothermal approximation. For isothermal models some modifications of the general approach explained below (like the replacement of the free energy functional by an entropy functional) are not necessary and the previous results can be used directly.

Since the energy density is one of the conserved densities, the Hamiltonian H is among the macroscopic variables, and the generalized canonical probability density (31.3) may now be written

$$\tilde{\rho}(t) = Z^{-1}(t) \exp \left\{ -\frac{1}{k_B} \int dx \sum_{i} \lambda_{i}(\vec{x}, t) A_{i}(\vec{x}) \right\}$$
, (8.1.2)

where $\lambda_i(\vec{x}, t)$ and Z(t) are determined by

 $tr{\rho(t)} = 1$

$$tr\{\bar{\rho}(t)A_{i}(\vec{x},t)\} = tr\{\rho(t)A_{i}(\vec{x},t)\} = a_{i}(\vec{x},t)$$
 (8.1.3)

Further, the proper thermodynamic potential is now the entropy functional

$$S(t) = -k_p tr[\bar{p}(t)] ,$$
 (8.1.4)

and we have

$$\lambda_{1}(\vec{x},t) = \frac{\delta S(t)}{\delta a_{1}(\vec{x},t)} \quad i \quad a_{1}(\vec{x},t) = -k_{0} \frac{\delta \ln Z(t)}{\delta \lambda_{1}(\vec{x},t)} \quad (8.1.5)$$

With (8.1.1) the organized drift (2.5.6) takes the form

$$v_{i}(\vec{x},t) = -\sum_{\nu} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\nu}} \langle J_{i}^{\nu}(\vec{x},t) \rangle_{OF}$$
, (8.1.6)

where

$$\langle \hat{J}_{i}(\hat{x},t) \rangle_{or} = tr\{\hat{\rho}(t)\hat{J}_{i}(\hat{x})\}$$
 (8.1.7)

is the mean organized flux? Using (8.1.2), we get

$$iL\bar{\rho}(t) = -\frac{1}{k_B}\bar{\rho}(t) \int dx \int_{1}^{t} \lambda_{1}(\bar{x}, t) iLA_{1}(\bar{x}) ,$$
 (8.1.8)

and by virtue of the conservation laws (8.1.1)

$$L\tilde{\rho}(t) = -\frac{1}{k_B}\tilde{\rho}(t) \int dx \sum_{i,v} J_i^v(\vec{x}) \frac{a}{ax^v} \lambda_i(\vec{x},t)$$
 (8.1.9)

Secause of (8.1.1,9), the disorganized drift (2.5.16) may be written

$$\gamma_{i}(\vec{x},t) = -\sum_{\nu} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\nu}} c J_{i}^{\nu}(\vec{x},t) c_{i} \qquad (8.1,10)$$

where the mean disorganized flux is given by

$$_{d_{1}} = \int_{0}^{T} ds \int dy \int_{J,\mu} R_{ij}^{\nu\mu}(\vec{x}t,\vec{y}s) \frac{\partial}{\partial y^{\mu}} \lambda_{j}(\vec{y},s)$$
 (8.1.11)

with

$$\sum_{ij}^{n\mu} (\hat{x}t, \hat{y}s) = \frac{1}{k_8} tr\{\hat{\delta}(s)J_j^{\mu}(\hat{y}) \{1 - P(s)\}G(s, t)J_j^{\nu}(\hat{x})\}$$
(8.1.12)

² Since the energy density is among the macroscopic variables, the representation (3.2.3,4) of the organized drift is not appropriate here. For fluids a corresponding representation will be given later.

The generalized transport equations (3.2.1) for the mean values $a_i(x,t)$ of the macroscopic variables are

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \xi} \bar{a}_{1}(\vec{x}, t) = - \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\nu}} \left[e^{i \vec{y}}_{1}(\vec{x}, t) \right]_{0T} \\ + \frac{b}{b} ds \int dy \int_{3-\mu}^{\infty} R^{ij}_{1j}(\vec{x}, t, \vec{y}_{S}) \frac{\partial}{\partial y^{\mu}} \lambda_{j}(\vec{y}, s) \right] . \quad (8.1.13)$$

These exact equations of motion are nonlocal in time and space. In general, even the organized fluxes $x_{ij}^{\dagger}(\tilde{x},t)_{S_{O}}$ depend on the $a_{ij}(\tilde{y},t)$ at different positions \tilde{y} . The disorganized fluxes $z_{ij}^{\dagger}(\tilde{x},t)_{Z_{ij}}$ are caused by the gradients of the $a_{ij}(\tilde{y},s)$ at different positions \tilde{y} and earlier times s. The effect of these gradients on the time rates of change at position \tilde{x} and time t is determined by the $R_{ij}^{ij}(\tilde{x},\tilde{y}_s)$ which are functionals of the $a_{ij}(\tilde{x},t)$.

Finally, the Langevin equations (3.3.1) are obtained by linearizing the generalized transport equations about the mean path and adding the random forces. Hence

$$\frac{2}{\delta t} \delta A_{i}(\vec{x}, t) = - \sum_{v} \frac{2}{2x^{v}} \left[\int dy \int_{1}^{t} \frac{4cJ_{i}^{v}(\vec{x}, t) >_{OF}}{\delta a_{j}(\vec{y}, t)} \delta A_{j}(\vec{y}, t) + \frac{t}{\delta} ds \int dy \int_{1}^{t} \frac{4cJ_{i}^{v}(\vec{x}, t) >_{OI}}{\delta a_{i}(\vec{y}, s)} \delta A_{j}(\vec{y}, s) + \varepsilon_{j}^{v}(\vec{x}, t) \right] , \quad (8.1.14)$$

where we have taken into account the fact that the random forces are of the form

$$F_{i}(\vec{x},t) = -\sum_{\nu} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\nu}} \epsilon_{i}^{\nu}(\vec{x},t)$$
, (8.1.15)

where the

$$\vec{\xi}_{i}(\vec{x},t) = [1 - P(0)]G(0,t)\vec{J}_{i}(\vec{x})$$
 (8.1,16)

are the random fluxes with the properties

$$< \vec{\xi}_{+}(\vec{x}, t) > = 0$$

 $(\vec{\xi}_{+}(\vec{x}, t), sA_{+}(\vec{y}, 0)) = 0$. (8.1.17)

8.2 Conservation Laws in Simple Fluids

We consider a simple one-component classical fluid described by the Hamiltonian

$$H = \sum_{a} \frac{\tilde{p}_{a}^{2}}{2n} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{a,b}^{*} \varphi(r_{ab}) , \qquad (8.2.1)$$

where \vec{p}_a, \vec{x}_a are the phase space variables of the a^{th} particle. The sums run

over all particles, and a prime indicates that terms with a = b are omitted. o(r) is a spherically symmetric potential depending on the distance

$$r_{ab} = |\vec{x}_a - \vec{x}_b|$$
 (8.2.2)

only. The macrovariables $A_{i}(\vec{x})$, $(1 - 0, 1, \dots, 4 = 0, \nu, 4)$ and the conjugate thermodynamic fields $\lambda_1(\mathbf{x})$ are given by

| i | A _i (₹) | $\lambda_i(\vec{x})$ | |
|---|---------------------|---|-------|
| 0 | n(\$) | $-\frac{v(\vec{x})}{T(\vec{x})}$ | |
| ν | g ^ν (xੈ) | $-\frac{v(\vec{x})}{\tau(\vec{x})} - \frac{v^{\mathbf{v}}(\vec{x})}{\tau(\vec{x})} - \frac{1}{\tau(\vec{x})}$ | (8.2. |
| 4 | e(\$) | $\frac{1}{T(\vec{x})}$ | |

where

 $n(\vec{x}) = \sum_{\alpha} \delta(\vec{x} - \vec{x}_{\alpha})$ (8.2.4)

defines the particle density.

$$g^{\nu}(\vec{x}) \approx \sum_{a} p_{a}^{\nu} \delta(\vec{x} - \vec{x}_{a})$$
 (8.2.5)

defines the momentum density, and

$$e(\vec{x}) = \sum_{a} \left[\frac{\vec{p}_{a}^{2}}{2m} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{b}^{n} e(r_{ab}) \right] \delta(\vec{x} - \vec{x}_{a})$$
(8.2.6)

defines the energy density. The meaning of the conjugate fields $\lambda_{i}(\vec{x})$ will be clear from below.

The time rates of change of the macroscopic variables are given by

$$\dot{A}_{i}(\vec{x}) = i \Box A_{i}(\vec{x}) = \{A_{i}(\vec{x}), H\}$$
 (8.2.7)

These Poisson brackets can be evaluated with the use of

$$\{\delta(\vec{x} - \vec{x}_a), H\} = -\sum_{v} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^v} \frac{P_a^v}{m} \epsilon(\vec{x} - \vec{x}_a)$$

and
 $\delta(\vec{x} - \vec{x}_c) = \epsilon(\vec{x} - \vec{x}_c)$
(8.2.8)

a

$$(\vec{x} - \vec{x}_{a}) - e(\vec{x} - \vec{x}_{b})$$

- $-\frac{1}{v} \frac{a}{ax^{2}} \frac{x_{b}^{2} - x_{b}^{2}}{r_{ab}} \frac{r_{ab}}{b} dr e(\vec{x} - \vec{x}_{a} - r \frac{\vec{x}_{b} - \vec{x}_{a}}{r_{ab}})$. (8.2.9)

In this way we find the conservation laws:

$$\hat{n}(\vec{x}) = -\sum_{\nu} \frac{2}{2x^{\nu}} \frac{1}{m} g^{\nu}(\vec{x}) ,$$

 $\hat{g}^{\nu}(\vec{x}) = -\sum_{\nu} \frac{2}{3x^{\nu}} \sigma^{\nu \mu}(\vec{x}) ,$
 $\hat{e}(\vec{x}) = -\sum_{\nu} \frac{2}{3x^{\nu}} \tau^{\nu}(\vec{x}) ,$ (8.2.10)

where

$$\begin{split} \sigma^{\nu\mu}(\vec{x}) &= \sum_{a} \frac{p_{a}^{\nu} p_{a}^{\nu}}{m} \delta(\vec{x} - \vec{x}_{a}) \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \sum_{a,b} \frac{r_{a}^{\nu} p_{a}^{\nu}}{r_{ab}^{2}} \frac{d\sigma(r_{ab})}{dr_{ab}} - \frac{d\sigma(r_{ab})}{dr_{ab}} \\ &\times \frac{r_{ab}}{b} dr \delta(\vec{x} - \vec{x}_{a} - r \frac{\vec{x}_{b} - \vec{x}_{a}}{r_{ab}}) \end{split}$$
(8.2.11)

defines the stress tensor and

$$\tau^{V}(\vec{x}) = \frac{r}{a} \frac{p_{a}^{V}}{n} \left[\frac{p_{a}^{2}}{2n} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{b}^{r} \varphi(r_{ab}) \right] \delta(\vec{x} - \vec{x}_{a})$$

$$- \frac{1}{4} \sum_{a,b}^{r} \sum_{\mu} \frac{(x_{a}^{V} - x_{b}^{V})(x_{a}^{V} - x_{b}^{V})}{r_{ab}^{2}} \frac{p_{a}^{V} + p_{b}^{V}}{m} \frac{d\varphi(r_{ab})}{dr_{ab}} . \qquad (8.2.12)$$

$$\times \frac{r}{b}^{ab} dr \delta(\vec{x} - \vec{x}_{a} - r \frac{\vec{x}_{b} - \vec{x}_{a}}{r_{ab}})$$

defines the energy flux.

8.3 Generalized Canonical Probability Density

Introducing the inverse tamperature field

$$\beta(\vec{x}, t) = \frac{1}{k_B T(\vec{x}, t)}$$
, (8.3.1)

we obtain from (8.1.2) and (8.2.3) for the generalized canonical probability density the form

$$\tilde{\rho}(t) = \chi^{-1}(t) \exp\left\{-\int dx \, \beta(\vec{x}, t) \left\{ e(\vec{x}) - \vec{v}(\vec{x}, t) \cdot \vec{g}(\vec{x}) - v(\vec{x}, t) n(\vec{x}) \right\}$$
(8.3.2)

On defining a transformation S(t) of phase functions $X(\vec{p}_a, \vec{x}_a)$ by

$$S(t)X(\vec{p}_a, \vec{x}_a) = X(\vec{p}_a - m\vec{v}(\vec{x}_a, t), \vec{x}_a)$$
, (8.3.3)

$$tr{S(t)X} = tr{X}$$
, (8.3.4)

$$S(t)\dot{g}(\vec{x}) = \ddot{g}(\vec{x}) - m\ddot{v}(\vec{x}, t)n(\vec{x})$$
, (8.3.6)

$$S(t)e(\vec{x}) = e(\vec{x}) - \vec{v}(\vec{x},t) - \vec{g}(\vec{x}) + \frac{n}{2}v^2(\vec{x},t)n(\vec{x})$$
. (8.3.7)

Now, the generalized canonical probability density matrix may be written

$$\bar{\rho}(t) = S(t)\hat{\rho}(t)$$
, (8.3.8)

where

$$\hat{\rho}(t) = Z^{-1}(t) \exp \left\{ -\int dx \, \beta(\vec{x}, t) \left[e(\vec{x}) - \mu(\vec{x}, t) n(\vec{x}) \right] \right\}$$
(8.3.9)

with

$$u(\vec{x},t) = v(\vec{x},t) + \frac{\pi}{2} v^2(\vec{x},t)$$
 (8.3.10)

Since $e(\vec{x})$ is quadratic in the momenta, the probability density $\hat{\rho}(t)$ is Gaussian with respect to the momenta and we have

$$tr(\hat{\rho}(t)\tilde{g}(\tilde{x})) = tr(\hat{\rho}(t)s(t)\tilde{g}(\tilde{x}))$$

= $\langle \tilde{g}(\tilde{x},t) > - \tilde{v}(\tilde{x},t) = 0$, (8.3.11)

where we have made use of (8.3,4,6,8) and the fact that $\tilde{\rho}(t)$ yields correct mean values of the macroscopic variables. From (8.3,11) we see that

$$\vec{v}(\vec{x},t) \approx \frac{\langle \vec{q}(\vec{x},t) \rangle}{m < (\vec{x},t) >}$$
(8.3.12)

is the flow velocity. Using (8.3,5,7,11), we also find

$$tr{\hat{\rho}(t)n(\vec{x})} = \langle n(\vec{x},t) \rangle$$
 (8.3.13)

and

$$r{\hat{\rho}(t)e(\vec{x})} = \langle c(\vec{x},t) \rangle$$
, (8.3.14)

tr where

$$\langle \epsilon(\vec{x}, t) \rangle = \langle e(\vec{x}, t) \rangle - \frac{1}{2m} \frac{c \vec{g}(\vec{x}, t) \rangle^2}{cn(\vec{x}, t) \rangle}$$

= $\langle e(\vec{x}, t) \rangle - \frac{\pi}{2} \sqrt{\epsilon} \langle \vec{x}, t | cn(\vec{x}, t) \rangle$ (8.3.15)

is the mean density of intrinsic energy.

Equation (8.3.8.9) show that the generalized canonical probability density $\hat{\rho}(t)$ describes a state of local equilibrium (114) of small cells with temperature $T(\vec{x}, t)$ and chemical potential $\mu(\vec{x}, t)$ moving with the flow velocity $\vec{v}(\vec{x}, t)$. Because of (8.3.13.14), the temperature field $T(\vec{x}, t)$ and the nonuniform chemical potential $\mu(\vec{x}, t)$ are functionals of the mean particle density $v_n(\vec{x}, t)$ are functionals of intrinsic energy <c($\hat{\vec{x}}, t$)>, while (8.3.12) gives the flow velocity $\vec{v}(\vec{x}, t)$ as a function of the local mean densities. Finally, the quantities $T(\vec{x}, t), \mu(\vec{x}, t)$ and $\vec{v}(\vec{x}, t)$ are related to the conjugate thermodynamic fields $\lambda_i(\vec{x}, t)$ by (8.2.3) and (8.3.10).

It should be noted that our generalized canonical probability density $\delta(t)$ is of the grand canonical type. The total particle number is not fixed but rather a fluctuating quantity. Only the man particle number coincides with the actual particle number of the fluid system.³ Correspondingly, in expressions where averages over β or β are taken, the trace is a "grand trace" involving a summation over all particle number.

8.4 Ideal Fluids

The organized (ideal) motion of fluids is determined by the mean organized fluxes introduced in (8.1.7). They read

$$\langle g^{v}(\vec{x},t) \rangle_{n} = tr\{\rho(t)g^{v}(\vec{x})\} = \langle g^{v}(\vec{x},t) \rangle$$
, (8.4.1)

$$\langle \sigma^{\nu\mu}(\vec{x},t) \rangle_{\sigma\mu} = tr\{\bar{\rho}(t)\sigma^{\nu\mu}(\vec{x})\}$$
, (8.4.2)

$$\langle \tau^{\nu}(\vec{x},t) \rangle_{\alpha} = tr\{ \bar{\rho}(t) \tau^{\nu}(\vec{x}) \}$$
 (8.4.3)

The first relation expresses the fact that the particle flux $\hat{g}(\tilde{x}, t)/m$ has no disorganized motion part since $\tilde{g}(\tilde{x}, t)$ is itself a macroscopic variable. To evaluate (8.4.2) we make use of the transformation S(t) defined in (8.3.3). With (8.3.4.8) we have

$$\langle \sigma^{\nu\mu}(\dot{x},t) \rangle_{0r} = tr\{\hat{\rho}(t)S^{-1}(t)\sigma^{\mu\nu}(\dot{x})\}$$
 (8.4.4)

On applying S⁻¹(t) to (8.2.11) we find

$$\mathbf{s}^{-1}(t)\sigma^{\mathbf{v}\mu}(\mathbf{\hat{x}})$$

$$= \sigma^{\nu \mu}(\vec{x}) + \gamma^{\nu}(\vec{x},t)g^{\mu}(\vec{x}) + \gamma^{\mu}(\vec{x},t)g^{\nu}(\vec{x}) + m\gamma^{\nu}(\vec{x},t)\gamma^{\mu}(\vec{x},t)n(\vec{x}) . \quad (8.4.5)$$

Using (8.3.11), the right-hand side of (8.4.4) can be evaluated further to yield

$$\langle \sigma^{\nu\mu}(\vec{x},t) \rangle_{or} = mv^{\nu}(\vec{x},t)v^{\mu}(\vec{x},t) \langle n(\vec{x},t) \rangle + p^{\nu\mu}(\vec{x},t) ,$$
 (8.4.6)

where p^{vµ}(x,t) is the pressure tensor defined by

$$p^{\nu\mu}(\hat{x},t) = tr\{\hat{\rho}(t)\sigma^{\nu\mu}(\hat{x})\}$$
 (8.4.7)

³ In this respect our approach differs from PICCIRELLI's work [166]. That is why we have a normalization factor Z(t) in (8.3.2). In Z(t) is related to the space inteqral over the pressure [cf. (8.1.5) and (8.4.18)].

We now insert (8.2.11) into (8.4.7) to give

$$p^{\nu \nu}(\hat{\mathbf{x}}, t) = \frac{cn(\hat{\mathbf{x}}, t)}{g(\hat{\mathbf{x}}, t)} \leq e^{\nu \mu} \qquad (8.4.8)$$

$$- \frac{1}{2} \int d\mathbf{y} \frac{y^{\nu} y^{\mu}}{|\mathbf{y}|^2} \frac{dq(|\mathbf{y}|)}{d|\mathbf{y}|} \int_{0}^{|\mathbf{y}|} d\mathbf{r} \int d\mathbf{y}' \epsilon(\hat{\mathbf{x}} - \hat{\mathbf{y}}' - \frac{\mathbf{r}}{|\mathbf{y}|} \hat{\mathbf{y}}) g_{\mathbf{t}}^{(2)}(\hat{\mathbf{y}}', \hat{\mathbf{y}}' + \hat{\mathbf{y}})$$

with

$$g_{t}^{(2)}(\vec{x}, \vec{y}) = \sum_{a,b} t_{r(\rho(t)\delta(\vec{x} - \vec{x}_{a})\delta(\vec{y} - \vec{x}_{b}))}$$
 (8.4.9)

This relation determines the pressure tensor as a generally nonlocal function of $T(\vec{x},t)$ and $_u(\vec{x},t)$. However, the second term in (8.4.8) gives a contribution only for distances |y| within the range r_0 of the interparticle potential o(|y|). The functions $T(\vec{x},t)$ and $_u(\vec{x},t)$ are substantially constant on this scale, and we can replace $g^{(2)}_{1}(\vec{y}',\vec{y}'+\vec{y})$ by the corresponding quantity $g^{(2)}_{2}(|y|)(T,u)$ of an equilibrium fluid characterized by the intersystemester and y matched with the local values $T(\vec{x},t)$ and $_u(\vec{x},t)$. We then find

$$p^{\nu\mu}(\vec{x},t) = p(\vec{x},t)\delta^{\nu\mu} = P_{eq}(T(\vec{x},t),\mu(\vec{x},t))\delta^{\nu\mu}$$
, (8.4.10)

where

$$P_{eq}(T,\nu) = k_B T < n > - \frac{2\pi}{3} \int_{0}^{\infty} dr r^3 \frac{dq(r)}{dr} g_{eq}^{(2)}(r;T,\nu)$$
 (8.4.11)

is a familiar expression for the equilibrium pressure. Equations (8.4.6,10) combine to give

$$\langle \sigma^{\nu\mu}(\vec{x},t) \rangle_{\text{or}} = mv^{\nu}(\vec{x},t)v^{\mu}(\vec{x},t) \langle n(\vec{x},t) \rangle + p(\vec{x},t)\delta^{\nu\mu}$$
. (B.4.12)

The right-hand side of (8.4.3) can be transformed in the same way to read

$$\langle \mathbf{r}^{\mathbf{v}}(\mathbf{\ddot{x}}, \mathbf{t}) \rangle_{\mathbf{OT}} = \mathbf{v}^{\mathbf{v}}(\mathbf{\ddot{x}}, \mathbf{t}) \Big[\langle \mathbf{e}(\mathbf{\ddot{x}}, \mathbf{t}) \rangle + \frac{\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{T}}(\mathbf{\ddot{x}}, \mathbf{t})^2}{\mathbf{b}(\mathbf{\ddot{x}}, \mathbf{t})} \Big]$$

$$- \frac{1}{2} \int d\mathbf{y} \sum_{\mu} \frac{\mathbf{y}^{\nu} \mathbf{y}^{\mu}}{|\mathbf{y}|^2} \frac{\mathbf{d}_{\mathbf{e}}(|\mathbf{y}|)}{\mathbf{d}|\mathbf{y}|} \int_{\mathbf{O}}^{|\mathbf{y}|} d\mathbf{r} \int d\mathbf{y}^{\nu} \mathbf{v}^{\mu}(\mathbf{\ddot{y}}^{\nu}, \mathbf{t}) \mathbf{a} \Big(\mathbf{\ddot{x}} - \mathbf{\ddot{y}}^{\nu} - \frac{\mathbf{r}}{|\mathbf{y}|} \mathbf{\ddot{y}} \Big)$$

$$= g^{(2)}(\mathbf{\ddot{y}}^{\nu}, \mathbf{\ddot{y}}^{\nu} + \mathbf{\ddot{y}}) .$$

Assuming that $v^{\mu}(\vec{x},t)$ is substantially constant within the range r_0 of the interparticle potential and replacing

$$g_t^{(2)}(\vec{y}',\vec{y}'+\vec{y}) = by = g_{eq}^{(2)}(|y|;T(\vec{x},t),\mu(\vec{x},t))$$

we find by virtue of (8.4.11)

$$\langle \tau^{\nu}(\vec{x},t) \rangle_{\text{or}} = v^{\nu}(\vec{x},t) [\langle e(\vec{x},t) \rangle + p(\vec{x},t)]$$
 (8.4.14)

With (8.4.1,12,14) the equations of organized motion take the form

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left\langle c n \right\rangle = - \frac{1}{m} \int_{\nabla} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\vee}} \left\langle q^{\vee} \right\rangle ,$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left\langle q^{\vee} \right\rangle = - \int_{\mu} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\mu}} m^{\vee} \psi^{\mu} \left\langle c n \right\rangle - \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\vee}} p , \qquad (8.4.15)$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left\langle c e \right\rangle = - \int_{\nabla} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\vee}} \left\langle c e \right\rangle + p \left\langle \psi^{\vee} \right\rangle ,$$

where we have omitted the (\bar{x}, t) dependence of all quantities. Under the assumption that the local temperature and the local chemical potential can approximately be expressed as functions of the local mena particle and intrinsic energy densities,⁴ the right-hand sides of (8.4.15) are local functions of the mean densities. Then (8.4.15) is a closed set of reversible, local equations of motion for the conserved densities. These are just Euler's equations of motion or an ideal addiabit of fluid.

Equations (8.4.15) can be cast into a form which makes it apparent that the fluxes are caused by the conjugate thermodynamic forces λ_{ij} . From (8.2.3) and (8.3.10) we get

$$T = \frac{1}{\lambda_4} , \quad \mu = -\frac{\lambda_0}{\lambda_4} + \frac{m}{2} \sum_{\nu} \frac{\lambda_{\nu}^2}{\lambda_4^2} , \quad \nu^{\nu} = -\frac{\lambda_{\nu}}{\lambda_4} \quad (8.4.16)$$

This, in connection with the well-known relations

$$\left(\frac{\partial p}{\partial T}\right)_{\mu} = s = \frac{s(z + p - \mu c T z)}{T}$$

$$\left(\frac{\partial p}{\partial p}\right)_{\mu} = s(z - z)$$

$$\left(\frac{\partial p}{\partial p}\right)_{\mu} = s(z - z)$$

$$\left(\frac{\partial p}{\partial p}\right)_{\mu} = s(z - z)$$

where s is the entropy density, gives

$$\frac{\partial p}{\partial \lambda_{\mu}} = -T \epsilon r c p ,$$

$$\frac{\partial p}{\partial \lambda_{\mu}} = -T r r v^{\nu} \epsilon r p ,$$

$$\frac{\partial p}{\partial \lambda_{\mu}} = -T (\epsilon p + p) , \qquad (8.4.18)$$

Here p is considered to be a function of the λ_i .

The mean values a $_{\xi}(\hat{x},t) = <A_{\xi}(\hat{x},t) > of the macroscopic variables (8.2.3) form a five-component field of mean densities. The reversible equations of motion (8.4.15) for this field can be written$

⁴ Near the gas-liquid critical point the mean values <n> and <ε> become nonlocal functionals of T and μ, and gradient terms are of importance [4,49].

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \mathbf{a}_{j}(\mathbf{\hat{x}}, t) = \int d\mathbf{y} \int_{\mathbf{\hat{y}}} \mathbf{\hat{y}}_{ij}(\mathbf{\hat{x}}, \mathbf{\hat{y}}) \lambda_{j}(\mathbf{\hat{y}}, t) , \qquad (8.4.19)$$

where V_{ii}(X,y) is an antisymmetric matrix

$$V_{ij}(\vec{x}, \vec{y}) = -V_{ji}(\vec{y}, \vec{x})$$
 (8.4.20)

which can be expressed in terms of derivatives of the pressure with respect to the λ_s [138]:

$$V_{\frac{1}{1}}(\vec{x},\vec{y}) = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{2} & -\frac{3}{2x^{2}} & \frac{3p}{2\lambda_{0}} & 0 \\ \frac{3}{2x^{2}} & \frac{3p}{2\lambda_{0}} & -\frac{3}{2x^{2}} & \frac{3p}{2\lambda_{0}} & \frac{1}{2y^{2}} & \frac{3p}{2\lambda_{0}} \\ 0 & -\frac{3}{2x^{2}} & \frac{3p}{2\lambda_{0}} & -\frac{3}{2y^{2}} & \frac{3p}{2\lambda_{0}} & \frac{1}{2y^{2}} & \frac{3p}{2\lambda_{0}} \\ 0 & -\frac{3}{2x^{2}} & \frac{3p}{2\lambda_{0}} & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(8.4.21)

Here the index i runs through 0_{ν} and 4, while j runs through 0_{μ} and 4 with $v_{\mu} = 1, 2, 3$. The equivalence of (8.4.19) and (8.4.15) follows from (8.2.3) and (8.4.18, 21) after some familiar thermodynamic manipulations.

It is worth mentioning that except for a factor T, the components with i and j+4 of the matrix (8,4,21) are just the local equilibrium averages of the Poisson brackets between the macroscopic variables $A_{ij}(\bar{x})$ and $A_{ij}(\bar{y})$. However, the components with i or j = 4 are not related to Poisson brackets with the energy density $A_{ij}(\bar{x})$. This is at it should be since the local equilibrium averages of the Poisson brackets between the macroscopic variables and the energy density already detarmine the organized fluxes completely so that a representation of the organized fluxes in the vold be reduced.

The representation (8.4.19) of the reversible fluxes can be viewed as a modification of (3.2.3) which makes allowance for the fact that the energy density is among the macroscopic variables. Further results obtain in Chap.3 are easily transcribed for the present case. For instance, instead of (3.2.6) we now find that the organized motion does not contribute to the time rate of change of the entropy. This may also be shown directly using (8.1.5) and (8.4.19.20).

8.5 Viscous Fluids

The inveversibility of the fluid motion is due to the disorganized fluxes (8.1.11) which are given in terms of the transport kernels (8.1.12). To evaluate the latter we start by noting that they may be written

$$R_{ij}^{\nu\nu}(\vec{x}t, \vec{y}s) = \frac{1}{k_B} tr\{\bar{\rho}(s)\hat{J}_i^{\nu}(\vec{x}, t, s)\hat{J}_j^{\nu}(\vec{y}, s, s)\}$$
, (8.5.1)

where

$$J_{i}^{v}(x,t,s) = [1 - P(s)]G(s,t)[1 - P(t)]J_{i}^{v}(\vec{x})$$
. (8.5.2)

In obtaining (8.5.1) from (8.1.12) we have inserted operators [1 - P(t)], this being permitted because of (2.3.9), and we have made use of

$$tr[\rho(t)XP(t)Y] = tr[\rho(t)YP(t)X],$$
 (8.5.3)

which can easily be shown to hold for classical systems. Equation (8.5.1) is a modification of the generalized fluctuation-dissipation theorem (3.3.14), and it avoids the introduction of a global temperature, desirable trait considering the fact that the energy density is among the macroscopic variables.

The quantities (8.5.2) will be referred to as subtracted fluxes, henceforth. Because $\hat{g}(\vec{X}) = P(t)\hat{g}(\vec{X})$, there is no subtracted particle flux. The subtracted stress tensor and the subtracted energy flux read

$$\hat{\sigma}^{\nu\mu}(\vec{x},t,s) = [1 - P(s)]G(s,t)[1 - P(t)]\sigma^{\nu\mu}(\vec{x})$$
 (8.5.4)
and

$$\hat{\tau}^{\nu}(\vec{x},t,s) = [1 - P(s))G(s,t)[1 - P(t)]\tau^{\nu}(\vec{x})$$
 (8.5.5)

To get rid of a purely kinematical correlation between the momentum flux and the energy flux, we put

$$\hat{\tau}^{\nu}(\vec{x},t,s) = \sum_{\mu} \hat{\sigma}^{\nu\mu}(\vec{x},t,s) v^{\mu}(\vec{x},s) + \hat{q}^{\nu}(\vec{x},t,s) , \qquad (8.5.6)$$

which defines the subtracted heat flux $\hat{Q}^{\nu}(\vec{x},t,s)$. Then, using (8.4.1) and the form (8.2.3) of the conjugate thermodynamic fields, the mean disorganized fluxes (8.1.11) read

$$\begin{aligned} < g^{0}(\vec{x}, t) >_{di} &= 0 \quad , \qquad (8.5.7) \\ < \sigma^{\nu\mu}(\vec{x}, t) >_{di} &= -\int_{0}^{t} ds \int dy \left[\sum_{\lambda, \pi} \frac{tr(\hat{\rho}(s)\hat{z}^{\nu\mu}(\vec{x}, t, s)\hat{\sigma}^{\lambda, \pi}(\vec{y}, s, s))}{k_{g}T(\vec{y}, s)} \frac{\partial}{\partial y^{\lambda}} \mathbf{v}^{\pi}(\vec{y}, s) \right. \\ &+ \sum_{\lambda} \frac{tr(\hat{\rho}(s)\hat{z}^{\nu\mu}(\vec{x}, t, s)\hat{\sigma}^{\lambda}(\vec{y}, s, s))}{k_{g}T^{2}(\vec{y}, s)} \frac{\partial}{\partial y^{\lambda}} \mathbf{T}(\vec{y}, s) \right] \quad , \qquad (8.5.8) \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{x}^{\nu}(\vec{\mathbf{x}},\mathbf{t})_{\mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{f}}} &= -\frac{5}{6} ds \int dy \left[\sum_{\lambda,v} \frac{\operatorname{tr}(\hat{\mathbf{z}}(s)\hat{\mathbf{x}})^{2\lambda} \vec{\mathbf{x}}(\vec{\mathbf{y}},s,s,s)}{k_{\mathsf{B}}^{2}(\vec{\mathbf{y}},s)} \frac{3}{sy^{\lambda}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathsf{H}}(\vec{\mathbf{y}},s) \right. \\ &+ \frac{5}{\lambda} \frac{\operatorname{tr}(\hat{\mathbf{z}}(s)\hat{\mathbf{x}})^{2\lambda} (\vec{\mathbf{x}},s,s)\hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\lambda}}{k_{\mathsf{B}}^{2}(\vec{\mathbf{y}},s)} \frac{3}{sy^{\lambda}} \mathsf{T}(\vec{\mathbf{y}},s) \\ &+ \frac{5}{\mu} \mathbf{v}^{\mathsf{U}}(\vec{\mathbf{x}},s) \cdot \operatorname{integrand} \text{of } (8.5.8) \right] . \end{aligned}$$

$$(8.5.9)$$

We shall not write down the formally exact equitions of motion that follow from these expressions. Instead, we turn directly to the approximate transport equations discussed in Sec1.3.5. Since for the present system the time rates of change of the macroscopic variables are proportional to the wavenumber k in a Fourier space representation, an approximation along the lines of Sec1.3.5 amounts to neglecting terms of the third order in k in the retarded parts of the exact transport laws. In real space this means that the right-hand sides of (8.5.8.9), which are functionals of the conjugate thermodynamic fields, have to be eaviusted up to terms of the first order in the spatial derivatives of the thermodynamic fields. Since all terms are explicitly of the first order in these derivatives, the traces can be evaluated for a homogeneous system characterized by constant thermodynamic fields matched with their local values.

By way of example we consider the first term on the right-hand side of (8.5.8). Using the transformation (8.3.3) and (8.5.4), we find

$$tr{\hat{\rho}(s)\hat{\sigma}^{\nu\mu}(\vec{x},t,s)\hat{\sigma}^{\lambda\pi}(\vec{y},s,s)}$$
 (8.5.10)

$$= \operatorname{tr}(\hat{\rho}(s)[s^{-1}(s)(1-P(s))G(s,t)(1-P(t))\sigma^{v\mu}(\vec{x})][s^{-1}(s)(1-P(s))\sigma^{\lambda \dagger}(\vec{y})]) \quad .$$

The projected part of the stress tensor reads

 $\Delta \sigma^{\nu\mu} = S^{-1}(t) \{1 - P(t)\} \sigma^{\nu\mu}$

$$P(t)\sigma^{\nu\mu}(\vec{x}) = \left\{1 + \int dy \sum_{i} [A_{i}(\vec{y}) - a_{i}(\vec{y}, t)] \frac{\delta}{\delta a_{i}(\vec{y}, t)} tr(\vec{\rho}(t)\sigma^{\nu\mu}(\vec{x})) \right\}, (8.5.11)$$

where we have specified the projection operator (2.3,8) for the set (8.2.3) of macroscopic variables. The local equilibrium average (8.4.2) of the stress tensor has been evaluated previously. With the result (8.4.12) we obtain from (8.5.11)

$$\begin{split} P(t)_{\sigma}^{\nu\mu} &= m v^{\nu} v^{\mu} c_{\sigma \sigma} + \rho e^{\nu\mu} + v^{\nu} (g^{\mu} - cg^{\mu} s) \eqno(8.5.12) \\ &+ v^{\mu} (g^{\nu} - cg^{\nu} s) - m v^{\nu} v^{\mu} (n - c_{\sigma s}) + \frac{3p}{3c r_{\sigma}} (n - c_{\sigma s}) e^{\nu\mu} \\ &+ \frac{3p}{3c c_{\sigma}} \left[e - c_{\sigma \sigma} - c_{\chi}^{-1} v^{\lambda} (g^{\lambda} - cg^{\lambda} s) + \frac{p}{2} v^{2} (n - c_{\sigma \sigma}) \right] e^{\nu\mu} \quad . \end{split}$$

Here phase functions are to be taken in the Schrödinger representation, and we have omitted the space and time arguments. Using (8.4.5) and (8.5.12) one finds that

$$\approx \sigma^{\nu\mu} = \left[p + \frac{\partial p}{\partial c_{r}}(e - c_{r}) + \frac{\partial p}{\partial c_{r}}(n - c_{r})\right]\delta^{\nu\mu}$$
. (8.5.13)

 $\Delta \sigma^{\nu\mu}$ is the intrinsic subtracted part of the stress tensor which is expressed completely in terms of quantities defined in the local rest frame.

Since iLP(t) is of order Å, that is, of order k in a Fourier space representation, we obtain from (8.5.10) by use of (2.4.2) and (8.5.13)

$$= tr\left\{\hat{\rho}(s)exp(s^{-1}(s,s))^{\lambda \pi}(\hat{\vec{x}},s,s)\right\} \\ = tr\left\{\hat{\rho}(s)exp(s^{-1}(s)iLs(s)(t-s))_{\lambda\sigma}^{\nu_{\mu}}(\hat{\vec{x}})]_{\lambda\sigma}^{\lambda\pi}(\hat{\vec{y}})\right\} + O(\hat{\lambda}) \quad . \qquad (8.5.14)$$

Next we notice that

$$\begin{split} &\exp(\mathbf{s}^{-1}\mathbf{i}_{\mathbf{L}}\mathbf{Su})\,\chi(\vec{p}_{a},\vec{x}_{a}^{-}-\vec{x}) \\ &= e^{\mathbf{i}\mathbf{L}u}\,\,\chi(\vec{p}_{a},\vec{x}_{a}^{-}-\vec{x}+u\vec{v}) + O\left(\frac{av}{3\chi}\right) , \end{split} \tag{8.5.15}$$

where X is any phase function describing local properties at position \tilde{X} . Equation (8.5.15) is proven easily with the definition of S and the Poisson bracket structure of iL. The additional terms in (8.5.15) are of order k and can be omitted. We then obtain from (8.5.14)

$$\begin{split} & \text{tr}(\hat{s}(s)\partial^{\nu\mu}(\vec{X},t,s)c^{\lambda\pi}(\vec{y},s,s)) \\ & = \text{tr}(\hat{s}(s)d\sigma^{\nu\mu}(\vec{X}-(t-s)\vec{v},s)d\sigma^{\lambda\pi}(\vec{y},0)) \quad . \end{split} \tag{8.5.16}$$

Here, the right-hand side is expressed in terms of quantities defined in the local rest frame. As mentioned earlier, for the present approximation it is sufficient to evaluate this expression for a homogeneous system characterized by a particle density <n> and a density of intrinsic energy <=> matched with their local values. We then find after an obvious change of the integration variables

$$\begin{split} & \int_{0}^{t} ds \int dy \ tr\{\hat{s}(s)\hat{\sigma}^{VB}(\tilde{x},t,s)\hat{\sigma}^{A\pi}(\tilde{y},s,s)\} \right) \frac{1}{T(\tilde{y},s)} \frac{\hat{s}}{\hat{s}\hat{\rho}^{A}} \frac{v^{\pi}(\tilde{y},s)}{v^{\pi}(\tilde{y},s)} \\ & = \int_{0}^{t} ds \int dy \ c_{\Delta \sigma}^{VB}(\tilde{x}-\tilde{y},s) \Delta \sigma^{A\pi}(\tilde{0},0) |\tilde{x},t\rangle \frac{1}{T(\tilde{y}-s\tilde{y},t-s)} \frac{\hat{s}}{\hat{s}\hat{\rho}^{A}} v^{\pi}(\tilde{y}-s\tilde{y},t-s) \quad , \end{split}$$
(8.5.17)

where the average < ... |x,t> is over the grand canonical distribution

$$\rho_{gc}(\vec{x},t) = Z^{-1}(\vec{x},t) \exp\left[-\frac{1}{k_{B}T(\vec{x},t)}[H - \mu(\vec{x},t)N]\right]$$
 (8.5.18)

Here $T(\tilde{x},t)$ and $\mu(\tilde{x},t)$ are determined by $<c(\tilde{x},t)>$ and $<n(\tilde{x},t)>$. Note that in (8.5.18 \tilde{x} and t are fixed parameters, and the distribution describes a homogeneous equilibrium fluid.

The retardation in time and the nonlocality in space of (8.5.17) can be disregarded if the equilibrium correlations of the so^{VD} decay on a time and length scale well separated from the characteristic time and length scale of the macroscopic motion (in the local rest frame where possibly large convective parts of the time rates of change of the conserved densities are absent).⁵ We then obtain (footnote 5 see next page)
$$\frac{1}{2} ds \int dy \operatorname{tr}(\tilde{s}(s) \hat{s}^{\forall y}(\hat{x}, t, s) \hat{s}^{\lambda \pi}(\hat{y}, s, s)) \frac{1}{k_{g}^{\intercal}(\hat{y}, s)} \frac{\partial}{\partial y^{\lambda}} v^{\pi}(\hat{y}, s)$$

$$\hat{s} = s^{\forall \mu, \lambda \pi}(\hat{x}, t) \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\lambda}} v^{\pi}(\hat{x}, t) , \qquad (8.5.19)$$

where

$$\equiv^{\nu_{\mu},\lambda^{\pi}}(\vec{x},t) = \frac{1}{k_{B}T(\vec{x},t)} \int_{0}^{\infty} ds \int dy < \Delta\sigma^{\nu_{\mu}}(\vec{y},s) \Delta\sigma^{\lambda\pi}(\vec{0},0) |\vec{x},t\rangle . \quad (8.5.20)$$

The tensor $\pm^{\nabla\mu_{\lambda}\lambda_{T}}$ fulfills quite a few symmetry relations that follow from the symmetry of the stress tensor, from the reciprocal relations, and from the isotropy of the state (8.5.18) over which the integrand of (8.5.20) is averaged. These symmetrie lead to the following form of $\pm^{\nabla\mu_{\lambda}\lambda_{T}}$:

$$\Xi^{\nu\mu,\lambda\pi} = \eta(\delta^{\nu\lambda}\delta^{\mu\pi} + \delta^{\nu\pi}\delta^{\mu\lambda}) + (\zeta - \frac{2}{3}\eta)\delta^{\nu\mu}\delta^{\lambda\pi} . \qquad (8.5.21)$$

where n and ζ are the shear and bulk viscosities, respectively, and are scalar functions of the local values of $<\infty$ and $<\infty$. Green-Kubo formulae for n and ζ are easily obtained from (8.5.20) by appropriate contractions of indices.

By the same method the other terms on the right-hand sides of (8.5.8,9) can be evaluated approximately. The second term on the right-hand side of (8.5.8) is approximated by

$$\begin{split} & \frac{t}{6} ds \int dy \ tr(\tilde{s}(s) \dot{s}^{y_{W}}(\vec{x}, t, s) \dot{q}^{\lambda}(\vec{y}, s, s)) \ \frac{1}{k_{B}^{-2}(\vec{y}, s)} \ \frac{\partial}{\partial y^{\lambda}} T(\vec{y}, s) \\ & \phi \ v^{y_{W+\lambda}}(\vec{x}, t) \ \frac{1}{T(\vec{x}, t)} \ \frac{\partial}{\partial y^{\lambda}} T(\vec{x}, t) \ , \end{split}$$

$$\end{split}$$

$$(8.5.22)$$

where

$$\Psi^{\nu\mu+\lambda}(\vec{x},t) = \frac{1}{k_{R}^{T}(\vec{x},t)} \int_{0}^{\mu} ds \int dy \langle \Delta \sigma^{\nu\mu}(\vec{y},s) \Delta q^{\lambda}(\vec{0},0) | \vec{x},t \rangle$$
, (8.5.23)

and

$$\Delta q^{\nu} \approx \mathbf{s}^{-1} (\mathbf{1} - \mathbf{P}) \left(\tau^{\nu} - \sum_{\mu} \sigma^{\nu\mu} \psi^{\mu} \right)$$

= $\tau^{\nu} - \frac{\epsilon \epsilon + p}{\epsilon r_{D}} g^{\nu}$. (8,5.24)

Symmetry arguments show that $v^{\nu\mu,\lambda} = 0$.

^(8.5.25)

⁵ We remark that such a separation of time and length scales does not really occur even in the hydrodynamic. Think, We are disregarding here some small effects associated with the long-time tail phenomeng [78]. To include these effects one has to evaluate the renormalized transport kernels more precisely. They can also be obtained, however, from the Fokker-Planck description of fluids in a more straightforward manner [169,171].

which means that there is no correlation between the random stress tensor and the random heat flux in the approximation under consideration.

The second term on the right-hand side of (8.5.9) is approximated as follows:

$$\begin{split} & \frac{t}{6} ds \int dy \ tr(\hat{o}(s)\hat{q}^{\nu}(\vec{x},t,s)\hat{q}^{\mu}(\vec{y},s,s)) \ \frac{1}{k_{g}t^{2}(\vec{y},s)} \ \frac{1}{ay^{\mu}} T(\vec{y},s) \\ & \neq K^{\nu\mu}(\vec{x},t) \ \frac{1}{T(\vec{x},t)} \ \frac{a}{ay^{\nu}} T(\vec{x},t) \ , \end{split}$$

$$\end{split}$$

$$(8.5.26)$$

where

$$\mathbf{K}^{\vee\mu}(\mathbf{\ddot{x}}, \mathbf{t}) = \frac{1}{k_{B}T(\mathbf{\ddot{x}}, \mathbf{t})} \int_{0}^{\infty} ds \int dy \langle \Delta q^{\vee}(\mathbf{\ddot{y}}, s) \Delta q^{\mu}(\mathbf{\ddot{0}}, 0) | \mathbf{\ddot{x}}, \succ$$
 (8.5.27)

Symmetry arguments show that

$$K^{\nu\mu} = *T \delta^{\nu\mu}$$
, (8.5.28)

where x is the heat conductivity which is a scalar function of the local values of $<_n>$ and $<_e>$, (8.5.27) immediately gives a Green-Kubo formula for x.

The remaining terms in (8.5.8,9) do not lead to new coefficients. Finally, (8.5.8,9) reduce in the present approximation to

$$\begin{aligned} & \langle \sigma^{\mu\nu} \rangle_{d_1} = -\sum_{\lambda,\mu} z^{\mu\mu,\lambda\pi} \frac{\partial v^{\mu}}{\partial \lambda} \\ & = -\pi \left(\frac{\partial v^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\mu}} + \frac{\partial v^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\mu}} - \frac{2}{3} e^{\nu\mu} \sum_{\lambda} \frac{\partial v^{\lambda}}{\partial x^{\lambda}} \right) - \zeta e^{\nu\mu} \sum_{\lambda} \frac{\partial v^{\lambda}}{\partial x^{\lambda}} , \qquad (8, 5.29) \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\langle \tau^{\nu} \rangle_{di} = \sum_{\mu} \langle \sigma^{\nu \mu} \rangle_{di} \psi^{\mu} - x \frac{\partial T}{\partial x^{\nu}}$$
 (8.5.30)

On adding the mean disorganized fluxes (8.5.29,30) to the mean organized fluxes on the right-hand sides of (8.4.15), we obtain the transport laws for the mean densities of the conserved quantities:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} < n > = -\frac{1}{m} \int_{\nabla} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\nu}} < g^{\nu} > , \qquad (8.5.31)$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} < g^{\nu} > = -\int_{\mu} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\mu}} n_{\mu} \nabla_{\mu}^{\nu} c_{\mu} \sim -\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\nu}} p + \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\nu}} (\zeta - \frac{2}{3} n) \int_{\mu} \frac{\partial v^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\mu}}$$

$$+ \int_{\mu} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\mu}} n \left(\frac{\partial v^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\mu}} + \frac{\partial v^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\nu}} \right) ,$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} < e_{\nu} = -\int_{\nabla} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\nu}} (

$$+ \int_{\nabla v_{\mu}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\nu}} \left[(\zeta - \frac{2}{3} n) \frac{\partial v^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\mu}} v^{\nu} + n \left(\frac{\partial v^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\mu}} + \frac{\partial v^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\nu}} \right) v^{\mu} \right] .$$$$

These are the usual nonlinear equations of motion for isotropic fluids which are well-known from phenomenological theory [87].

We want to east the transport equations into the standard form (3-2.16). For the reversible motion this has been done in (8.4.19). The dissipative motion can be expressed in terms of the conjugate thermodynamic fields λ_4 and a symmetric matrix

$$0_{ij}(\vec{x}, \vec{y}) = 0_{ij}(\vec{y}, \vec{x})$$
 (8.5.32)

of the form

- -

$$0_{ij}(\vec{x},\vec{y}) = -\sum_{\lambda \pi} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\lambda}} \Delta^{i\lambda,j\pi}(\vec{x}) \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\pi}} \delta(\vec{x} - \vec{y}) , \qquad (8.5.33)$$

where

$$\begin{array}{c|c} & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ \hline 0 & & & \\ \hline 0 & & & \\ \hline 0 & & & \\ \hline 1 & & & \\ \hline 0 & & & \\ \hline 0 & & & \\ \hline 1 & & \\ \hline 0 & & & \\ \hline 0 & & & \\ \hline 1 & & \\ \hline 0 & & & \\ \hline 1 & & \\ \hline 0 & & & \\ \hline 1 & & \\ \hline 0 & & & \\ \hline 1 & & \\ 1 & & \\ \hline 1 & & \\ 1 & & \\ \hline 1 & & \\$$

Again the index i runs through 0,v, and 4, while j runs through 0, μ , and 4 with v, μ = 1,2,3. Then, in terms of the transport matrix 4

$$L_{ij}(\vec{x}, \vec{y}) = V_{ij}(\vec{x}, \vec{y}) + O_{ij}(\vec{x}, \vec{y})$$
, (8.5.35)

the transport equations (8.5.31) take the form

$$\dot{a}_{i}(\vec{x},t) = \int dy \int_{1} L_{ij}(\vec{x},\vec{y})_{\lambda_{j}}(\vec{y},t)$$
 (8.5.36)

These are transport equations for the mean motion.6

⁶ We remark that the transport matrix is local in time and space as a consequence of the approximation made. Nonlocal corrections can be obtained by looking upon (8.5.36) as the deterministic equations of motion associated with a Fokker-Planck equation of the form (4.7.16). Inten the coefficients to be found in (8.5.36) have to be looked upon as bare coefficients and the renormalized coefficients are obtained by carrying out a renormalization along the lines of Sect.4.5. and 4.6. This swoids a complicated molecular calculation beyond the approximations made in this section.

8.6 Fluctuations in Nonequilibrium Fluids

On the level of statistical thermodynamics the fluctuations obey linear Langevin equations of the form (3.6.1), (3.1.14), with random forces, the strength of which is determined by the symmetric part of the transport matrix. For fluids the Langevin equations resulting from (3.5.31) take the form

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \xi} \left(\delta n = -\frac{1}{h} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\nu}} \left(\delta y^{\mu} + v^{\mu} \delta y^{\nu} - mv^{\nu}v^{\mu}\delta n \right) - \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\nu}} \delta p$$

$$+ \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\nu}} \left[\int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\partial v^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\mu}} \left(\delta \zeta - \frac{2}{3} \delta n \right) + \left(\zeta - \frac{2}{3} \eta \right) \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\mu}} \delta v^{\mu} \right]$$

$$+ \int_{\mu}^{\infty} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\mu}} \left[\left(\frac{\partial v^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\mu}} + \frac{\partial v^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\mu}} \delta n + n \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\mu}} \delta v^{\nu} + \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\nu}} \delta v^{\mu} \right) \right]$$

$$- \int_{\mu}^{\infty} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\mu}} \left[\left(\frac{\partial v^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\mu}} + \frac{\partial v^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\mu}} \delta n + n \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\mu}} \delta v^{\nu} + \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\nu}} \delta v^{\mu} \right) \right]$$

$$- \int_{\mu}^{\infty} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\nu}} \left[v^{\mu} \delta e^{\phi} + \delta p \right] + \left(\epsilon e^{\phi} + p \right) \delta v^{\nu} \right]$$

$$+ \int_{\nu}^{\infty} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\nu}} \left[\frac{\partial T}{\partial x^{\nu}} \delta x + x - \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\nu}} \delta 1 \right]$$

$$+ \int_{\nu}^{\infty} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\mu}} \left[v^{\nu} \frac{\partial v^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\mu}} \left(\delta \zeta - \frac{2}{3} \delta n \right) + \left(\zeta - \frac{2}{3} \eta \right) v^{\nu} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\mu}} \delta v^{\mu}$$

$$+ \left(\zeta - \frac{2}{3} \eta \right) \frac{\partial v^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\mu}} \delta v^{\nu} \right]$$

$$+ \int_{\nu}^{\infty} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\nu}} \left[\left(\frac{\partial v^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\mu}} + \frac{\partial v^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\nu}} \right) \left(v^{\mu} \delta \eta + \eta \delta v^{\mu} \right) + \eta v^{\mu} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\mu}} \delta v^{\nu} + \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\nu}} \delta v^{\mu} \right) \right]$$

$$- \int_{\nu}^{\infty} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\nu}} \left[\left(\frac{\partial v^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\mu}} + \frac{\partial v^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\nu}} \right) \right] .$$

Here we have introduced the abbreviations

$$\begin{split} \delta V^{\nu} &= \frac{1}{RcD^{\nu}} \left(\delta g^{\nu} - m^{\nu} \delta n \right) \quad , \\ \delta f &= \left(\frac{2f}{\delta + c^{\nu}} \right)_{$$

where f is p, n, ζ, ×, or T.

The properties of the random fluxes follow from the (3.6.11,16) when the factor I is absorbed into the definition of the transport matrix as in (3.2.17). This modi-

fication comes from the fact that we use the entropy as thermodynamic potential. One finds

$$\langle \xi^{\nu\mu}(\vec{x},t) \rangle = \langle \xi^{\nu}(\vec{x},t) \rangle = 0$$
 (8.6.5)

and

$$<\xi^{\nu\mu}(\vec{x},t)\delta A_{i}(\vec{y},s)> = <\xi^{\nu}(\vec{x},t)\delta A_{i}(\vec{y},s)> = 0$$
 (8.6.6)

for t>s. Furthermore, since the random energy flux has been decomposed into a purely convective contribution from the random stress tensor $\epsilon^{\nu\mu}$ and the random hast flux ϵ^{ν} , we have

$$< \varepsilon^{\nu\mu}(\vec{x},t) \varepsilon^{\lambda\pi}(\vec{x},s) > = 2k_{B}T(\vec{x},t) \varepsilon^{\nu\mu,s\lambda\pi}(\vec{x},t) \delta(\vec{x}-\vec{y}) \delta(t-s)$$
, (8.6.7)

$$\langle \xi^{\nu}(\vec{x},t)\xi^{\mu}(\vec{y},s) \rangle = 2k_{B}T^{2}(\vec{x},t)x(\vec{x},t)\delta(\vec{x}-\vec{y})\delta(t-s)$$
, (8.6.8)

$$\langle \xi^{\nu \mu}(\vec{x},t)\xi^{\lambda}(\vec{y},s) \rangle = 0$$
. (8.6.9)

These correlations of the random fluxes were first derived by LANDAU and LIFSHITZ [87] in a phenomenological way.

In order to illustrate the theory we consider a particular monequilibrium steady state: buo heat baths at different temperatures maintain a constant temperature gradient Š in a fluid layer of thickness L. This monequilibrium state is a stationary solution of the transport equation (8.5.31) characterized by

$$v^{\mathbf{v}}(\vec{x}) = 0$$
,
 $p(\vec{x}) = P_0$,
 $T(\vec{x}) = T_0 + \sum_{\nu} 6^{\nu} x^{\nu}$. (8.6.10)

The origin of the coordinate system lies at the center of the fluid system. To keep things as simple as possible we disregard the temperature and pressure dependence of x, c, and n.

The Langevin equations (8.6.1-3) for the fluctuations about the nonequilibrium steady state (8.6.10) take the form

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \delta n = -\frac{1}{n} \sum_{\nu} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\nu}} \delta g^{\nu} , \qquad (8.6.11)$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \delta g^{\nu} = -\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\nu}} \left(\frac{\partial p}{\partial cc^{\nu}} \delta e + \frac{\partial p}{\partial cc^{\nu}} \delta n \right)$$

$$+ \sum_{\mu} \left(c + \frac{1}{3} n \right) \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial x^{\nu} \partial x^{\mu}} \frac{1}{\ln cc^{\nu}} \delta g^{\mu} \qquad (8.6.12)$$

$$+ \sum_{\mu} n \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial x^{\mu} \partial x^{\mu}} \frac{1}{\ln cc^{\nu}} \delta g^{\nu} - \sum_{\mu} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\mu}} \frac{e^{\nu \mu}}{e^{\nu \mu}} ,$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \hat{e} \hat{e} = - \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\partial}{\partial X^{\nu}} \frac{\partial e^{-X}}{\partial x \nu} dg^{\nu}$$

$$+ x \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial X^{\nu}} \left(\frac{\partial T}{\partial x c} \hat{e} + \frac{\partial T}{\partial c m} \delta n \right) - \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\partial}{\partial X^{\nu}} \xi^{\nu} . \qquad (8.6.13)$$

Notice that the strength of the random fluxes $\xi^{\nu\mu}$ and ξ^{ν} , which is determined by (8.6.7-9), is nonumiform because of the monuniform temperature field.

Fluctuations about the nonequilibrium state under consideration have been studied experimentally by means of Brillouin scattering of light [175] (Fig.8.1). Since the coupling of the themal mode to the sound modes has only a small influence upon the structure factor for Brillouin scattering [176], we shall neglect this coupling by making the assumption that the pressure is a function of the density $\langle n_{2} \rangle$ only, i.e., b/2cz = 0. We also introduce a Fourier space representation of the fluctuitions

$$a_{i}(\vec{k}) = \frac{1}{v^{1/2}} \int dx \, e^{i \vec{k} \cdot \vec{x}} \hat{a}_{i}(\vec{x})$$
, (8.6.14)

where V is the volume. The requirement that the fluctuating variables not be influenced by the boundary of the system restricts the k vector to values with |k| > 1/L.



Fig.8.1. Light scattering from a fluid with a temperature gradient. For small scattering angles 0 the two detectors show unequal intensities

We then obtain from (8.6.11,12)

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} n(\vec{k},t) = -\frac{1}{m} |k| g_{\mu}(\vec{k},t)$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} |k| g_n(\vec{k}, t) = -ic^2 k^2 mn(\vec{k}, t) - v_n k^2 |k| g_n(k, t) - i\xi(\vec{k}, t) , \qquad (8.6.15)$$

where $g_{\mu}(\vec{k},t) = |k|^{-1} \sum_{\nu} k^{\nu} g^{\nu}(\vec{k},t)$ is the longitudinal momentum,

⁷ Clearly the Langevin equations (8.5.1-3) can only be used to describe fluctuations in the interior of the system while they have to be moified mar the boundaries. In nonequilibrium systems, boundary effects can often not be eliminated by means of a formal thermodynamic limit. In the presence of a system temperature gradient we can not let the size of the system tend to infinity since this would lead to unphysical temperature differences.

$$c = \left(\frac{3p}{m^{2} KTP}\right)^{1/2}$$
(8.6.16)

is the sound velocity, and

$$y_{\mu} = \frac{\zeta + \frac{4}{3}n}{m(3)}$$
(8.6.17)

is the longitudinal diffusion constant. The random force $\varepsilon(\vec{k},t)$ is defined by

$$\xi(\vec{k},t) = \sum_{\nu,\mu} k^{\nu} k^{\mu} \xi^{\nu\mu}(\vec{k},t)$$
, (8.6.18)

and it follows from (8.5.21) and (8.6.7,10) that

$$\langle \epsilon(\vec{k}, t) \epsilon(\vec{1}, s) \rangle$$

= $2k_{B}(2n(\vec{k} \cdot \vec{1})^{2} + (\epsilon - \frac{2}{3}n)k^{2}l^{2}l(T_{0} - i\xi 6^{\nu} \frac{3}{3k^{\nu}})\epsilon(\vec{k} + \vec{1})$. (8.6.19)

The determination of the particle density autocorrelation function from (8.6.15, 19) is standard, and one finds that

$$C_{nn}(\vec{k},\vec{1},\omega) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} dt e^{-i\omega t} \langle n(\vec{k},t)n(\vec{1},0) \rangle$$
 (8.6.20)

is given by

$$C_{nn}(\vec{k},\vec{1},\omega) = \frac{k_B}{\pi\pi^2} \frac{2n(\vec{k}+\vec{1})^2 + (z - \frac{2}{3}n)k^2 r^2}{(\omega^2 - c^2k^2 - (v_{wk}k^2)(\omega^2 - c^2r^2 + iv_{wk}r^2))}$$

$$\times \left(T_0 - i \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{6v}{2k^2} \right) \delta(\vec{k} + \vec{1}) .$$
(8.6.21)

The particle density autocorrelation function is related to the structure factor $S(k,\omega)$ for light scattering by

$$S(\vec{k},\omega) = \frac{1}{B^2} \int d1 \ d1' \ B(\vec{k} - \vec{1})B(\vec{k} + \vec{1}')C_{nn}(\vec{1},\vec{1}',\omega)$$
, (8.6.22)

where $8(\vec{k}) = 8(-\vec{k})$ is a weighting function which depends on the bandwidth of the light source focused on a spot around $\vec{x} = 0$, and where $8^2 = \int dk B(\vec{k}) B(-\vec{k})$. Using (6.5.21), we find

$$S(\vec{k},\omega) = \frac{1}{8^2} \int d1 \ 8(\vec{k} - \vec{1})^2 I(\vec{1},\omega)$$
 (8.6.23)

with

$$I(\vec{k},\omega) = \frac{k_8^{<7D}}{\pi m} \frac{k_1^4}{(\omega^2 - c^2 k^2)^2 + v_{\omega}^2 \omega^2 k^4} \left(I_0 - \frac{2v_{\omega} \omega^2 \int_{v_0}^{v_0} \delta^2 k^4}{(\omega^2 - c^2 k^2)^2 + v_{\omega}^2 \omega^2 k^4} \right) .$$
(8.6.24)

Since the light source should only illuminate a small portion of the fluid in the interior, the bandwidth Δk has to be large compared to L^1 but it may still be small compared to |k|. In this case the average over $B(\vec{k} - \vec{1})^2$ can be neglected in

(8.6.23) and we have [176-178]

$$S(\vec{k},\omega) = 1(\vec{k},\omega)$$
. (8.6.25)

The structure factor (8.6.25) has two peaks at $\omega = ac[k]$. At equilibrium, where $\vec{6}$ vanishes, the peaks have equal intensity.⁶ while the temperature gradient leads to an asymmetry of the nonequilibrium spectrum. From (8.6.24) we obtain for the relative height difference of the two peaks

$$c = \frac{2c}{T_{Vuk}^2} \sum_{v} G^{v} \frac{k^{v}}{|k|} , \qquad (8.6.26)$$

which has a pronounced $1/k^2$ dependence [179].⁹ This nonequilibrium phenomenon can be traced back to the fact that the symmetrical part of the transport matrix of fluids is not constant but temperature dependent [138]. Since $1/k^2$ in Fourier space means 1/r in real space, there are long-range density correlations in the nonequilibrium fluid. This has first been predicted by RONIS et al. [179] and was further studied by various authors [138,176-181]. The asymmetry in the spectrum has experimentally been confirmed by 8075SN et al. [175].

⁸ We have treated the fluid by classical statistical mechanics and miss a small asymmetry of the equilibrium spectrum which is a quantum effect. Quantum effects are very small, however, for $N = K_0 I$.

⁹ The wavenumber |k| is related to the scattering angle θ by $|k| = 2|k_1|\sin(\theta/2)$ wher $|k_1|$ is the wavenumber of the incident light beam.

9. Spin Relaxation

There are two important relaxation theories for spin systems. The Bloch-Wangsness-Redfield theory [145,182,183] constructs a master equation for the reduced spin probability density, and the Kubo-Tonita theory [141] focuses on the linear response of the system. We first reformulate the master equation approach by applying the results obtained in Chap.5 to a coupled spin-reservoir system. The scope of the general theory in Chap.5 is extended, however, because we eliminate not only the reservoir variables but also the molecular spins, keeping only the bulk spin variables. While this modification, simed immediately at a genuine macroscopic description, is not required in order to develop the master equation approach to magnetic relaxation problems, we also intend to show how the previous sproach can be extended in a straightforward manner to situations where the macroscopic variables do not form a complete set of variables of a subsystem. The macessary changes are discussed in Sect.9.1.

In Sect.9.2 we derive the generalized master equation for the coarse-grained spin probability density and evaluate it further for a simple model where the spin-reservoir coupling is bilinear. For the treatment of more complicated coupling kamiltonians we must refer to the books by ABRAGAM [185] and SLICHTER [186] and recent review articles [187-190]. Proceeding from the master equation, we derive the Bloch equations [191] for the mean relaxation in Sect. 9.3. Secause of the particular simple model studied, these renormalized transport laws do not contain memory effects which will occur, however, if monlinear spin interactions are taken into account. Finally, in Sect.9.4, we determine the dynamic susceptibility describing the linear response to an applied alternating magnetic field.

9.1 Macroscopic Variables and Relevant Probability Density

We consider a macroscopic system which may be composed of various constituents but does contain N identical molecules carrying a spin 1/2 angular momentum. Upon denoting the spin angular momentum of the 1th molecule by $K_{1,1}^2$, the components s_1^{\vee} satisfy

$$[s_1^{\nu}, s_1^{\nu},] = \{\sum_{\lambda} \epsilon^{\nu\mu\lambda} \delta_{\uparrow\uparrow}, s_1^{\lambda}\}$$

and
$$(9.1.1)$$

(9.1.2)

 $\vec{s}_1^2 = \frac{3}{4}$.

The Hilbert space H of the system may be written as a tensor product of a spin Hilbert space H_c and a Hilbert space H_1 associated with the other degrees of freedom

For instance, if the spin carrying molecules are in a crystal, $\mathbf{H}_{\underline{L}}$ is the lattice Hilbert space.

The spin Hilbert space H_c is a tensor product of single spin Hilbert spaces:

$$H_{S} = \prod_{i} \otimes H_{i}$$
, (9.1.4)

where H_1 is a two-dimensional Hilbert space spanned by eigenstates of \hat{s}_1^2 and s_1^2 :

$$\hat{s}_{1}^{2}|\sigma_{1}\rangle = \frac{3}{4}|\sigma_{1}\rangle$$
, $s_{1}^{2}|\sigma_{1}\rangle = \sigma_{1}|\sigma_{1}\rangle$ (9.1.5)

with $\sigma_1 = \pm 1/2$. Later, the coordinates will be chosen such that the z axis is paralle to an applied magnetic field \vec{h}_n . We also introduce the spin flip operators

$$s_1^* = s_1^X \pm 1 s_1^Y$$
. (9,1.6)

The macroscopic variables of the system are the components of the bulk spin

$$\vec{R} = \sum_{i} \vec{s}_{i}$$
 (9.1.7)

and are related to the bulk magnetization \vec{M} by

where γ is the gyromagnetic ratio. The components R^{ν} of the bulk spin satisfy $[R^{\nu},R^{\mu}] = i \sum_{k} e^{\gamma \mu \lambda} R^{\lambda} \quad . \tag{9.1.9}$

It is convenient to introduce the bulk spin raising and lowering operators

and the square of the bulk spin

$$R^2 = R^+R^- + R^2(R^2 - 1) = R^-R^+ + R^2(R^2 + 1)$$
 (9.1.11)

These operators satisfy the commutation relations

$$[R^{\dagger}, R^{\dagger}] = 2R^{2}$$
, (9.1.12)

$$[R^{Z}, R^{\pm}] = \pm R^{\pm}$$
, (9.1.13)

$$[\vec{R}^2, R^4] = [\vec{R}^2, R^Z] = 0$$
 . (9.1.14)

The spin operators \hat{s}_1^2 and s_1^χ of the N molecular spins commute mutually and their simultaneous eigenstates form a complete basis in the spin Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_5 . On the other hand, there is a basis [r, w, a> of simultaneous eigenstates of the bulk spin operators \mathcal{R}^2 and \mathcal{R}^2 .

$$\vec{R}^2$$
 |r,m,a> = r(r + 1) |r,m,a> , (9.1.15)
 R^2 |r,m,a> = m|r,m,a> ,

where r = N/2, N/2 - 1, ..., 1/2 or D, m = -r, -r+1, ..., +r, and where the degeneracy index a runs through d(r) values with

$$d(r) = \frac{N!(2r+1)}{(\frac{N}{2}+r+1)!(\frac{N}{2}-r)!} . \qquad (9.1.16)$$

The α can be chosen in such a way that for m < r

$$|r_{y}m+1_{y}\alpha\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{r(r+1) - m(m+1)}} R^{+} |r_{y}m_{y}\alpha\rangle$$
 (9.1.17)

with the same value of u. The normalization factor follows from (9.1.11).

The microscopic spin degrees of freedom can be eliminated by means of the coarsegraining operator

$$CX = \sum_{\mathbf{r},\mathbf{m},\mathbf{m}',\alpha} |\mathbf{r},\mathbf{m},\alpha\rangle \left(\frac{1}{d(\mathbf{r})} \sum_{\alpha'} <\mathbf{r},\mathbf{m},\alpha' |X| \mathbf{r},\mathbf{m}',\alpha'\rangle \right) <\mathbf{r},\mathbf{m}',\alpha| \qquad (9.1.18)$$

which has the property

The usefulness of the coarse-graining operator lies in the fact that the macroscopic state of the system is described by the coarse-grained reduced probability density

$$\rho_{C}(t) = C tr_{1}(\rho(t))$$
, (9.1.20)

where tr_ is the trace over a complete set of orthonormal functions in H_L . For a variable F which is not necessarily a linear function of the bulk spin operators, we have

$$tr{F_{p}(t)} = tr_{S}{F_{p}(t)}$$
, (9.1.21)

where trc is the trace over a complete basis in Hc.

To define a relevant probability density associated with $\rho_{c}(t)$, we cannot follow the line of reasoning of Chap.5 literally, since $\rho_{c}(t)$ is not just the reduced probability density $\rho_{c}(t) = tr_{c}(c(t))$ for all spin degrees of freedom; rather, the microscopic spin degrees of freedom have been eliminated, too. However, the theory of Chap.5 is easily generalized to allow for the present more complex situation. We introduce a transformation

$$\mathbf{Z}_{C} \mathbf{X}_{C} = \mathbf{C} \mathbf{tr}_{L} (\mathbf{\Sigma} \mathbf{C} \mathbf{X}_{C})$$
(9.1.22)

150

where Σ is the transformation of operators acting in H introduced previously in (S.1.13). The transformation Z_c acts within the subspace of spin operators X_c of the coarse-grained form (9.1.18).

Now the relevant probability density is taken to be

$$\bar{\rho}(t) = P^{T}\rho(t)$$
, (9.1.23)

where

$$P^{T}X = \Sigma Z_{C}^{-1} C tr_{L}(X)$$
 (9.1.24)

is a projection operator satisfying

$$(P^{T})^{2} = P^{T}$$
 (9.1.25)

and

$$Ctr_{L}(P^{T}X) = Ctr_{L}(X)$$
 (9.1.26)

so that

$$Ctr_{1}(\rho(t)) = Ctr_{1}(\rho(t)) = \rho_{1}(t)$$
 (9.1.27)

The relevant probability density is defined in such a way that the equilibrium probability density and those states obtained by applying Weak uniform magnetic fields are of the relevant form.

9.2 Master Equation

A master equation for the coarse-grained reduced probability density $\rho_{\rm C}(t)$ is obtained by following our procedure in Sect.5.2 with the projection operator P^T replaced by (3.1.24). Instead of (5.2.6), we now obtain

$$\hat{\rho}_{C}(t) = \Omega_{C}\rho_{C}(t) + \int_{0}^{t} ds \, \mathbf{s}_{C}(t - s)\rho_{C}(s) , \qquad (9.2.1)$$

where

$$\Omega_{C} \chi_{C} = -iCtr_{L} \{LZZ_{C}^{-1} \chi_{C}\}$$
(9.2.2)

and

$$\Phi_{C} X_{C} = -Ctr_{L} \{ L e^{-i(1-P^{T})} L t (1-P^{T}) L \Sigma Z_{C}^{-1} X_{C} \}$$
(9.2.3)

The master equation (9.2.1) has the stationary solution

$$\rho_{CB} = C tr_1 \{\rho_B\}$$
, (9.2.4)

where p₀ is the canonical probability density (5.1.6) of the system.

In analogy to (5.2.12) we define a thermodynamic force operator $\mu_{C}(t)$ conjugate to $\rho_{C}(t)$ by

$$\mu_{C}(t) = \frac{1}{\beta} \mathbf{z}_{C}^{-1}(\rho_{C}(t) - \rho_{C\beta})$$
.

Then the master equation (9.2.1) may be transformed to read

$$\dot{\rho}_{C}(t) = -V_{C}u_{C}(t) - \int_{0}^{t} ds R_{C}(t-s)u_{C}(s) , \qquad (9.2.6)$$

where the transport operators are defined by

$$V_{C}X_{C} = i\beta C tr_{L} \{L\Sigma X_{C}\} \qquad (9.2.7)$$

and

$$R_{c}(t)X_{c} = BCtr_{L}(Le^{-i(1-P^{T})Lt}(1-P^{T})L\Sigma X_{c})$$
. (9.2.8)

The form (9.2.6) of the evolution law is particularly useful if we want to study the linear response of the system to an applied magnetic field $\tilde{h}_1(t)$. Such a per-turbation is described by an additional term in the Hamiltonian of the form

$$H'(t) = -\gamma M \vec{k} \cdot \vec{h}_1(t) = - \vec{M} \cdot \vec{h}_1(t)$$
 (9.2.9)

As shown in Sect.6.5 the perturbation H'(t) can just be added to $\mu_{r}(t)$ in (9.2.6).

The general properties of the master equation discussed in Chap.5 and Sect.6.5 apply to the present case accordingly. It must be noted, however, that the timereversal transformation reverses the direction of an external magnetic field. For explicit evaluations we now provide some useful relations.

By virtue of (5.3.1,2) and (9.2.4) the transport operator (9.2.7) may be transformed to read

$$v_{C} x_{C} = -\frac{1}{M} \left[\rho_{C\beta} x_{C} \right]$$
 (9.2.10)

On defining a coarse-grained Hamiltonian H_C by

(9.2.10) takes the form

$$V_{C}X_{C} = i\beta L_{C}\Sigma_{C}X_{C} , \qquad (9.2.12)$$

where

$$L_{C}X_{C} = \frac{1}{N} [H_{C}, X_{C}]$$
 (9.2.13)

and

$$\Sigma_{C} \chi_{C} = \frac{1}{\beta} \int_{0}^{\beta} d\alpha \ e^{-\alpha H_{C}} \chi_{C} \ e^{\alpha H_{C}} \rho_{CS} \quad . \tag{9.2.14}$$

The stochastic operator $\Omega_{C} = (-1/\beta)V_{C}Z_{C}^{-1}$ now becomes

$$Ω_{C} = -iL_{C} Σ_{C} Z_{C}^{-1}$$
(9.2.15)

The transport operator (9.2.8) can be written in a form corresponding to (5.4.7). From (9.1.24) and (9.2.7) we find

$$P^{T}_{L}\Sigma X_{C} = \frac{1}{18} \Sigma Z_{C}^{-1} V_{C} X_{C}$$
, (9.2.16)

which gives by virtue of (9.2.12,15)

$$P^{T}L\Sigma X_{C} = -i\Sigma \Omega_{C}^{T} X_{C} \qquad (9.2.17)$$

Equation (9.2.8) can then be shown to take the form

$$\mathbf{R}_{C}(t)X_{C} = BC \operatorname{tr}_{L}\left\{\left(-i\mathbf{L}\cdot\mathbf{\Omega}_{C}\right) e^{-i\left(1-\mathbf{P}^{T}\right)\mathbf{L}t} \Sigma\left(i\mathbf{L} - \mathbf{\Omega}_{C}^{T}\right)X_{C}\right\}, \qquad (9, 2, 18)$$

which is a suitable starting point for explicit calculations.

For the further evaluation we split the Hamiltonian H into

$$H = H_{S} + H_{L} + gH_{SL}$$
 (9.2.19)

The pure spin Hamiltonian H_c is taken to be the Zeeman interaction

where

is the Lammor frequency in a magnetic field $\vec{h}_D = (D, 0, +h_D)$ of strength h_D applied along the -z axis. H_L governs the molecular motions independent of the spins, and gH_{KL} is the interaction with the spins. For most interactions of interest we have

$$H_{SL} = \frac{tr_{L}(e^{-BH_{L}}H_{SL})}{tr_{L}(e^{-BH_{L}})} = 0$$
. (9.2.22)

We now expand in terms of the coupling constant g. Most transformations are parallel to those carried out in Sect.5.4. Because of (9.2.22), we obtain from (9.2.4,11)

$$H_{c} = H_{s} + O(g^{2})$$
, (9.2.23)

which gives in connection with (9.1.22) and (9.2.14)

$$Z_{C} = \Sigma_{C} + O(g^{2})$$
 . (9.2.24)

Thus, using (9.2.15) we find

$$\Omega_{C} = -iL_{C} + O(g^{2}) = -iL_{S} + O(g^{2}) . \qquad (9.2.25)$$

Further, (9.2.18) gives

$$R_{c}(t)X_{c} = g^{2} g C tr_{L} (L_{SL} e^{-i(L_{S} + L_{L})t} \hat{\Sigma} L_{SL} X_{c}) + O(g^{3}) , \qquad (9.2.26)$$

where $\hat{\Sigma}$ is Σ for vanishing g.

One simple example for H_{SI} is the interaction

$$H_{SL} = g \sum_{i} \dot{t}_{i} \cdot \dot{s}_{i}$$
, (9.2.27)

where the operators \vec{r}_1 depend on molecular degrees of freedom independent of the spins. We assume that the variables r_1^{ν} behave quasi classically with mean values

$$(r_1^{\nu}(t)) = 0$$
 (9.2.28)

and correlations

$$\langle r_1^{\nu}(t)r_1^{\mu}(s)\rangle_L = \delta_{11}, \delta^{\nu\mu}\phi_L(|t-s|)$$
 (9.2.29)

The interaction Hamiltonian (9.2.27) may be written

$$H_{SL} = g \int_{1}^{\infty} (r_1^2 s_1^2 + r_1^+ s_1^- + r_1^- s_1^+)$$
(9.2.30)

where

$$r_1^{\pm} = \frac{1}{2} (r_1^{\chi} \pm i r_1^{\chi})$$
 (9.2.31)

Then, the correlations (9.2.29) become

$$\langle r_{1}^{2}(t)r_{1}^{*}(s) \rangle = \langle r_{1}^{+}(t)r_{1}^{+}(s) \rangle = \langle r_{1}^{-}(t)r_{1}^{-}(s) \rangle = 0$$
, (9.2.32)

$$= 2 = \delta_{11},\varphi_L(|t - s|)$$
.

By utilizing (9.2.30,32) and

$$L_{s}s_{1}^{2} = 0$$
, $L_{s}s_{1}^{\pm} = aw_{0}s_{1}^{\pm}$, (9.2.33)

we obtain from (9.2.26)

$$\begin{split} R_{C}(t) \ e^{1L_{S}t} \ \chi_{C} &= \frac{9^{2}}{\hbar^{2}} \ e_{L}(t)C \ \tilde{f} \ \left\{ \ (s_{1}^{2}, \Sigma_{S}(s_{1}^{2}, X_{C})] \right. \\ & \left. + \frac{1}{2} \ e^{1\omega_{D}C}(s_{1}^{+}, \Sigma_{S}(s_{1}^{-}, X_{C})] + \frac{1}{2} \ e^{-i\omega_{D}C}(s_{1}^{-}, \Sigma_{S}(s_{1}^{+}, X_{C})] \right\} + O(g^{3}) \quad , \end{split}$$

where $\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_{\varsigma}$ coincides with $\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_{r}$ for the present approximation.

In a coordinate frame rotating about the z axis with the Larmor frequency ω_D , a change of the coarse-grained probability density arises only through the interaction g H₅₁. Hence, for weak interactions the characteristic time for a change of the macroscopic state will be large compared with the decay time of $\upsilon_L(1)$. We then can disregard the memory effect in the master equation (9.2.1). Using $\Phi_D(1) = -(1/6) R_D(1) z_L^{-1}$ and (9.2.24,25,34), we may proceed as in Sect.5.4. We then arrive at an approximate master ends

$$\rho_{C}(t) = -iL_{S}\rho_{C}(t) + \Lambda_{C}\rho_{C}(t)$$
 (9.2.35)

where

$$\begin{split} & \wedge_{C} \chi_{C}^{*} = -C \, \, \frac{1}{7} \left\{ w_{0}(s_{1}^{*}, \, \Sigma_{S}(s_{1}^{*}, \, \Sigma_{S}^{-1} \chi_{C}^{*})] \\ & + \frac{1}{2} \, (x^{*} + ix^{*})(s_{1}^{*}, \, \Sigma_{S}(s_{1}^{*}, \, \Sigma_{S}^{-1} \chi_{C}^{*})] + \frac{1}{2} \, (x^{*} - ix^{*})(s_{1}^{*}, \, \Sigma_{S}(s_{1}^{*}, \, \Sigma_{S}^{-1} \chi_{C}^{*})] \right\}^{(9.2.36)} \end{split}$$

The real parameters *_,*', and *" are defined by

$$\kappa_{D} = \frac{g^{2}}{\mu^{2}} \int_{D}^{\infty} ds \, q_{L}(s) \tag{9.2.37}$$

and

$$\kappa^{*} + i \kappa^{*} = \frac{g^{2}}{K} \int_{0}^{\infty} ds \, e^{i\omega Q S} \varphi_{L}(s) \quad . \tag{9.2.38}$$

9.3 The Bloch Equations

The master equation (9.2.35) can be used to derive relaxation equations for the mean values $\mathcal{K}(t)$ - of the macroscopic variables. Since we have taken particularly simple examples for the spin Hamiltonian H_S and the interaction g H_{SL}, the master equation (9.2.35) is uncomplicated enough to allow for a determination of the relaxation laws without utilizing the renormalization techniques presented in Sect.5.6. With

$$L_{S}R^{Z} = 0$$
 , $L_{S}R^{\pm} = \pm \omega_{0}R^{\pm}$ (9.3.1)

and

$$tr_{S}(\vec{k}CX_{S}) = tr_{S}(\vec{k}X_{S}) , \qquad (9.3.2)$$

we obtain from (9.2.35,36)

$$\begin{split} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} c_{R}^{Z}(t) &= -\int_{0}^{t} tr_{S} \left\{ \frac{1}{2} \left(x^{*} + ix^{*} \right) (R^{Z}, s_{1}^{+}) \Sigma_{S}(s_{1}^{-}, \Sigma_{s}^{-1}\rho_{C}(t) \right] \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \left(x^{*} - ix^{*} \right) (R^{2}, s_{1}^{-}) \Sigma_{S}(s_{1}^{+}, \Sigma_{S}^{-1}\rho_{C}(t) \right] \end{split} \tag{9.3.3}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} < R^{+}(t) > &= i \omega_{0} < R^{+}(t) > - \frac{1}{7} tr_{S} \Big\{ x_{0} (R^{+} s_{1}^{-2}) \Sigma_{S} (s_{1}^{-2}, \Sigma_{S}^{-1} \rho_{C}(t)) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} (x' - i x'') (R^{+} s_{1}^{-2}) \Sigma_{S} (s_{1}^{+}, \Sigma_{S}^{-1} \rho_{C}(t)) \Big\} , \end{split}$$
(9.3.4)

The equation for <R (t)> is the complex conjugate of (9.3.4).

The spin operators obey the relations

$$\begin{bmatrix} s_{1}^{2}, s_{1}^{4}, 1 \end{bmatrix} = \pm s_{11}^{4}, s_{1}^{4}, s_{1}^{4}, s_{1}^{2}, 2s_{11}^{2}, s_{1}^{2}, s_{1}^{2}, s_{1}^{2} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$s_{1}^{4}s_{1}^{4} = s_{1}^{4}s_{1}^{2} = 0, s_{1}^{2}s_{1}^{2} = \frac{1}{4}, s_{1}^{4}s_{1}^{2}s_{1}^{2} + s_{1}^{2}s_{1}^{4} = 0,$$

$$(9.3.5)$$

which may be used to show that

$$E_{S}^{-1}(s_{1}^{*}, \Sigma_{S} s_{1}^{*}) = s_{1}^{*} ,$$
 (9.3.6)
 $E_{S}^{-1}(s_{1}^{*}, \Sigma_{S} s_{1}^{*}) = + \frac{M_{W_{0}}}{2E_{W}^{*}} \operatorname{coth}\left(\frac{M_{W_{0}}}{2E_{W}^{*}}\right) s_{1}^{*} ,$

$$\begin{split} \Sigma_{S}^{-1} \{s_{1}^{+}, \Sigma_{S}, s_{1}^{-}\} &= -\Sigma_{S}^{-1} [s_{1}^{-}, \Sigma_{S}, s_{1}^{+}] \\ &= 2 \left[\frac{k_{B}T}{M\omega_{D}} \operatorname{sh} \left(\frac{M\omega_{D}}{k_{B}T} \right) \left[s_{1}^{Z} + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{th} \left(\frac{M\omega_{D}}{2k_{B}T} \right) \right] \end{split}$$

By utilizing (9.1.7), (9.3.5), and $\Sigma_{S}^{T} = \Sigma_{S}$, the right-hand sides of (9.3.3,4) can be transformed into expressions which are readily evaluated by virtue of (9.3.6). We then arrive at

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \langle R^{Z}(t) \rangle = -\frac{1}{T_{1}} \langle \langle R^{Z}(t) \rangle - \langle R^{Z} \rangle_{\beta} \rangle \qquad (9.3.7)$$

and

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} < R^{\pm}(t) > = \pm i(\omega_0 + \Delta \omega) < R(t) > - \frac{1}{T_2} < R^{\pm}(t) > , \qquad (9.3.8)$$

where

$$\langle R^{Z} \rangle_{\beta} = -\frac{N}{2} \operatorname{trl}\left(\frac{\hbar \omega_{D}}{2k_{\beta}T}\right)$$
(9.3.9)

is the equilibrium value of R^Z,

$$\frac{1}{T_1} = 2\pi \cdot \frac{k_B^T}{k_{w_0}} sh\left(\frac{k_{w_0}}{k_B^T}\right) \qquad (9.3.10)$$

and

$$\frac{1}{T_2} = \kappa_0 + \kappa' \frac{\hbar_0}{2k_BT} \operatorname{coth}\left(\frac{\hbar\omega_0}{2k_BT}\right) \qquad (9.3.11)$$

are relaxation times, and

$$\Delta \omega = \pi'' \frac{\hbar_{0}}{2k_{B}T} \operatorname{coth} \left(\frac{\hbar_{0}}{2k_{B}T} \right) \qquad (9.3.12)$$

is a frequency shift. Equations (9.3.7,8) are commonly referred to as the 8loch equations [191].

In most relaxation problems, it is possible to make the high-temperature approximation, which is valid when $\hbar_{eq_{i}} \propto k_{g} T$. To proceed further we shall also assume a simple exponential correlation function for the $\tilde{r}_{1}(t)$ with correlation time τ_{i} :

$$\frac{g^2}{\mu^2} q_{L}(t) = A e^{-|t|/\tau_c}.$$
(9.3.13)

We then obtain from (9.2.37,38)

$$\kappa_{D} = A_{\tau_{C}}$$
, $\kappa' = \frac{A_{\tau_{C}}}{1 + \epsilon_{D}^{-2} \epsilon_{C}^{-2}}$, $\kappa'' = \frac{A_{\nu_{D}} \epsilon_{C}^{-2}}{1 + \epsilon_{D}^{-2} \epsilon_{C}^{-2}}$, (9.3.14)

and thus from (9.3.10-12) in the high-temperature approximation

$$\frac{1}{r_1} = \frac{2Ar_c}{1+c_0^2r_c^2} , \qquad (9.3.15)$$

$$\frac{1}{r_2} = Ar_c \left(1 + \frac{1}{1+c_0^2r_c^2}\right) ,$$

and

$$\Delta \omega = \frac{\Lambda \omega_0^{-1} \zeta_{-}^2}{1 + \omega_0^{-1} \zeta_{-}^2}.$$
 (9.3.16)

Of course, the master equation (9.2.35) and the 81och equations derived from it are only valid if $r_c \ll T_1$, T_2 . We remark that in the limit of very rapid molecular motion ($r_c \ll 1/\omega_0$) the relaxation times T_1 and T_2 are equal, as is often observed in low viscosity fluids.

9.4 Oynamic Susceptibility

In Sect.5.6 we have shown that the equations (5.6.22) for the mean relaxation lead to the evolution laws (5.6.26) for the canonical correlations of the macroscopic variables. Hence, the Bloch equations (9.3.7.8) can be used to determine the time evolution of canonical correlations

$$C^{0\mu}(t) = (\delta R^{0}(t), \delta R^{\mu})$$
 (9.4.1)

of the bulk spin. By disregarding the frequency shift, we find

$$\begin{aligned} c^{TZ}(t) &= \sigma_{u} e^{-|t|/T_{1}} , \qquad (9.4.2) \\ c^{YX}(t) &= c^{YY}(t) - \sigma_{u} e^{-|t|/T_{2}} \cos(\omega_{0}t) , \\ c^{YX}(t) &= -c^{XY}(t) - \sigma_{u} e^{-|t|/T_{2}} \sin(\omega_{0}t) . \end{aligned}$$

In the high-temperature approximation the equilibrium variances σ_{μ} and σ_{\perp} are given by

$$\sigma_{1} = \sigma_{\perp} = \frac{N}{4}$$
. (9.4.3)

Let us now assume that an applied alternating field $\tilde{h}_1(t)$ is present, giving an extra term (9.2.9) in the Hamiltonian. We study the linear response of the bulk magnetization to this perturbation. By utilizing (9.1.8), (9.2.9), and the fluctuation-dissipation theorem (6.1.20), we find

$$s < h^{\nu}(t) > = \int_{0}^{t} ds \sum_{\mu} x^{\nu \mu}(t-s) h_{I}^{\mu}(s)$$
, (9.4.4)

where the response functions are given by

$$\chi^{\nu_{\mu}}(t) = -e(t) \frac{\gamma^{2} n^{2}}{k_{B}^{T}} \hat{c}^{\nu_{\mu}}(t)$$
 (9.4.5)

In particular, the response to a field

$$\dot{h}_{1}(t) = (h_{1}, 0, 0) e^{1\omega t}$$
(9.4.6)

applied along the x axis is found to be

$$4 < M^{+}(t) > = 4 < M^{X}(t) > + i \le (M^{Y}(t) > = \chi_{\perp}(\omega)h_{1}e^{i\omega t}$$
, (9.4.7)

where we have neglected the transient term. The complex susceptibility $\chi_{\perp}(\omega)$ is given by $I_{\mu_{\mu}}$

$$\chi_{\perp}(\omega) = \chi_{\perp} \frac{1 - i\omega_0 T_2}{1 - i(\omega_0 - \omega) T_2}$$
, (9.4.8)

where

$$x_{+} = \frac{\gamma^{2} \mu^{2}}{k_{B} T} \sigma_{+}$$
(9.4.9)

is the static transverse susceptibility.

It should be noted that the 1 in the numerator of (9.4.8) is generally omitted (185,186) since it can be neglected for $\omega = \omega_{1}$ if $\omega_{0}T_{2} \gg 1$. From (9.4.8) we obtain, however, the correct static susceptibility in the limit $\omega \to 0$.

References

```
    M.S. Green; J. Chem. Phys. 20, 1281 (1952)

    R. Kuba: J. Phys. Soc. Jpn 22, 570 (1957)
    K. Kawasaki: In Proc. Varenna Summer School on Critical Phenomena, ed. by

        M.S. Green (Academic, New York 1971
      P.C. Hohenberg, B.I. Halperin: Rev. Mod. Phys. 49, 435 (1977)
       A. Einstein: Ann. Phys. (Leipzig) 17, 549 (1905); 19, 371 (1906)
    6 M.v. Smoluchowski: Ann, Phys. (Leipzig) 22, 75b (1906); Phys. Z. 17, 557
        (1916); 17, 585 (1916)
       P. Langevin: C.R. Acad. Sci. (Paris) 146, 530 (1908)

    B A.D. Fokker: Ann. Phys. (Leipžig) 33, B12 (1914)
    9 M. Planck: Sitzungsber. Preuß. Akad. Wiss., p.324 (1917)
    10 N. Nyquist. Phys. Rev. 32, 110 (1928)

    L. Onsager: Phys. Rev. 37, 405 (1931); 38, 2265 (1931)
    H.B.G. Casimir: Rev. Mod. Phys. 17, 343 (1945)
    J.G. Kirkwood: J. Chem. Phys. 14, 180 (1946)

   14 H.8. Callen. T.A. Welton: Phys. Rev. 83, 34 (1951)
   15 N. Hashitzume: Prog. Theor. Phys. 8, 461 (1952)
   16 L. Onsager, S. Machlup: Phys. Rev. 91, 1505 (1953); 91, 1512 (1953)
   17
       L.O. Landau, E.M. Lifshitz: Statistical Physics (Pergamon, Dxford 1958)
   18
      J. Meixner, H. Reitz: In Prinzipien der Thermodynamik und Statietik, Håndbuch
der Physik, Vol.II1/2 (Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York 1958) pp.413-523
   19 S.R. de Groot, P. Mazur: Non-equilibrium Thermodynamics (North-Holland,
        Amsterdam 1962)

    H. Mori: Prog. Theor. Phys. 33, 423 (1965)
    L.P. Kadanoff, P.C. Martin: Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 24, 419 (1963)
    D. Forster: Bydrodynamic Fisuetuctions, Broken Symmetry, and Correlation

       Functions (Benjamin, Reading, Mass. 1975)
 '23 B. Robertson: Phys. Rev. 144, 151 (1966)
  24 J.A. McLennan: Phys. Rev. 115, 1405 (1959
  25 O.N. Zubarev: Fortschr. Phys. 18, 125 (1970)
26 H. Grabert: Z. Phys. B27, 95 (1977)
      H. Grabert: J. Stat. Phys. 19, 479 (1978)
  27
  28 M. Lax: Rev. Mod. Phys. 32, 25 (1960)
      N.G. van Kampen: Can. J. Phys. 39, 551 (1961)
  29
  30
      N.G. van Kampen: In Fluctuations in Solids, ed. by R.E. Burgess (Academic,
       New York, 1965)
  31
      R. Kubo, K. Matsuo, K. Kitahara: J. Stat. Phys. 9, 51 (1973)
J. Keizer: J. Chem. Phys. 84, 1679 (1976); 85, 4431 (1976)
  32

    C. A. Akcasu: J. Stat. Phys. 26, 31 (197)
    H. Furukawa: Prog. Theor. Phys. 50, 1128
    H. Grabert: Z. Phys. Bsg, 107 (1979)
    S. Chardensch Leiner, 2010 (1979)

                                                       1128 (1977)
  36
      S. Chandrasekhar: Hudrodunamic and Hudromagnetic Stability (Clarendon,
       Oxford, 1961)
  37
      J.B. Gunn: Solid State Commun. 1, 88 (1963)
  38 M. Fixman: J. Chem. Phys. 36, 310 (1962)
  39 L.P. Kadanoff, J. Swift: Phys. Rev. 166, 89 (1968)
  40 K. Kawasaki: Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 61, 1 (1970)
```

- 41 R. Zwanzig: In Proc. of the 6th UIUPAP Conf. on Statistical Mechanics (Universi of Chicago Press, Chicago 1972)
- 42 H. Mari: In Proc. of the Int. Symp. on Synargetics, ed. by H. Haken (Teubner, Stuttgart 1973)
- 43 R. Zwanz1g: Phys. Rev. 124, 983 (1961)
 - 44 R.L. Stratonovich: Topics in the Theory of Random Hoise, Vol.1 (Gordon and Breach, New York 1963)
 - 45 R.L. Stratonovich: Conditional Markov Processes and Their Application to Optimal Control (Elsevier, New York 1968)
 - 46 R. Graham: In Springer Tracte in Modern Physics, Vol.66 (Springer, Berlin, Heldelberg, New York 1973)
 - R. Zwanzjg, K.S.J. Nordholm, W.C. Mitchell: Phys. Rev. As, 2680 (1972) H. Mori, H. Fujisaka: Prog. Theor. Phys. 49, 764 (1972) 47
 - 48
 - 49 K. Kawasaki: In Phase Transitions and Critical Phenomena, Vol.5A, ed. by C. Domb, M.S. Green (Academic, New York 1976)
 - 50
 - R. Bausch, H.K. Janssen, H. Wagner: Z. Phys. B24, 113 (1976) C.P. Enz: Physica 89A, 1 (1977)
 - 51
 - Amit: Field Theory, the Renormalization Group, and Critical Phenomena (McGraw Hill, New York 1978) 52
 - 53 K.S.J. Nordholm, R. Zwanzig: J. Stat. Phys. 12, 143 (1974)
 - 54 H. Grabert, W. Weidlich: Phys. Rev. A21, 2147 (1980)
 - A.-M.S. Tremblay, M. Nelkin: Phys. Rev. 824, 2551 (1981) 55
 - D.A. McQuarrie: J. Appl, Prob. 4, 413 (1967) 56
 - 1. Oppenheim, K.E. Shuler, G.H. Weiss: Stochastic Processes in Chemical 57 Physics (MIT, Cambridge 1977)
 - 58 C.W. Gardiner: In Dynamics of Synargetic Systems, Springer Series in Synerge-
 - tics, Vol.6, ed. by H. Haken (Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York 1980)
 - 59 W. Pauli: In Feetechrift num 60. Geburtetag A. Sommerfeld (Hirzel, Leipzig 1928 60 L. van Hove: Physica 23, 441 (1957)
 - 61 Prigogine, F. Henin: Physica 24, 214 (1958)
 - 62 1. Prigogine, P. Resibois: Physica 27, 629 (1961)
 - S. Nakajima: Prog. Theor. Phys. 20, 948 (1958) R. Zwanzig: J. Chem. Phys. 33, 1338 (1960) 63
 - 64
 - 65 R. Zwanzig: In Lectures in Theoretical Physics (Boulder), Vol.3
 - (Interscience, New York 1961)
 - 66 R. Zwanzig: Physica 30, 1109 (1964)
 - 67 E.N. Montroll: In Pundamental Problems in Statistical Mechanics, ed. by E.G.D. Cohen (North Holland, Amsterdam 1962) 68 G. Ludwig: Z. Phys. 271, 476 (1963); 273, 232 (1963)

 - 69 P.N. Argyres, P.L. Kelley: Phys. Rev. 134, A98 (1964)
 - H. Haken: Light and Matter Ic, in Handbuch der Physik, Vol.XXV/2c (Springer, 70 Berlin, Heidelberg, New York 1969)
 - 71 G.S. Agarwal: In Progress in Optice, Vol.X1, ed. by E. Wolf (North Holland, Amsterdam 1973)
 - E.B. Davies: Quantum Theory of Open Systems (Academic, London 1976)
- 73 F. Haake: Statistical Treatment of Open Systems by Generalized Muster Equations, in Springer Tracts in Modern Physics, Vol.66 (Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York 1973) pp.98-168 V74 H. Spohn: Rev. Mod. Phys. 53, 569 (1980)
- 75 P. Talkner: Dissertation, Univ. Stuttgart (1979)
- R. Senguria, M. Kac: Phys. Rev. Lett. 46, 1 (1981)
 J. Bosse, W. Götze, A. Zippelius: Phys. Rev. A18, 1214 (1978)
- 78 Y. Pomeau, P. Résibois: Phys. Rep. 19C, 63 (1975)
- 79 M.S. Jhon, D. Forster: Phys. Rev. Azz, 254 (1975)
- 80 H. Gould, G.F. Mazenko: Phys. Rev. A15, 1274 (1977)
- 81 C.R. Willis, R.H. Picard: Phys. Rev. Ag, 1343 (1974)
- 82 P. Glansdorff, I. Prigogine: Thermodynamic Theory of Structure, Stability, and Fluctuations (Wiley, New York 1971)
- 83 H. Haken: Rev. Mod. Phys. 47, 67 (1975)
- R. Thom: Structural Stability and Morphogenesis (Benjamin, Reading, Mass. 1975)
 H. Haken: Springerice, in Introduction, Springer Series in Synergetics, Vol.1 (Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York 1977)

- 86 H. Haken: Z. Phys. B20, 413 (1975); 822, 105 (1975)
- 87 L.D. Landau, E.M. Lifshitz: Fluid Mechanics (Pergamon, Oxford 1959)
- 88 P. Hanggi: Phys. Rev. A25, 1130 (1982)
- 89 H. Grabert, M.S. Green: Phys. Rev. A19, 1747 (1979)
- 90 H. Grabert, R. Graham, M.S. Green: Phys. Rev. Azz, 2136 (1980) 91 P. Hanggi, H. Thomas: Phys. Rep. C (to be published)
- 92 R. Zwanzig: Annu. Rev. Phys. Chem. 16, 67 (1965)
- 93 J.T. Hynes, J.M. Deutsch: In Physical Chemistry, An Advanced Treatise, Vol.XI8, ed. by O. Henderson (Academic, New York 1975)
- 94 H. Grabert, W. Weidlich: Z. Phys. 268, 139 (1974)
- 95 J. Seke: Phys. Rev. A21, 2156 (1980)
- 96 R.J. Glauber: In Quantum Optics and Electronics, Les Houches 1964, ed. by C. de Witt (Gordon-Breach, New York 1965) 97 G.S. Agarwald: Quantum Statistical Theories of Spontaneous Emission and their
- Relation to Other Approaches, in Springer Tracts in Modern Physics, Vol. 70 (Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York 1970) 98 G. Birkhoff, J. von Neumann: Ann. Math. 37, 823 (1936)
- 99 J. von Neumann: Mathematical Foundation of Quantum Mechanics (Princeton University Princeton 1955)
- 100 H. Haken, W. Weidlich: Z. Phys. 205, 96 (1967)
- 101 R. Kubo: Lectures in Theoretical Physics (Boulder), Vol.1 (Interscience, New York 1959)
- 102 R. Kubo: Rep. Prog. Phys. (London) 29, 255 (1966)
- 103 P.C. Martin, O. Parodi, P.S. Pershan: Phys. Rev. A6, 2401 (1972)
- 104 S. Grossmann: J. Chem. Phys. 64, 2007 (1976)
- 105 C.W. Gardiner, K.J. McNeil, O.F. Walls, L.S. Matheson: J. Stat. Phys. 14, 307 (1976)
- 106 Ò. Gutkowicz-Krusin, J. Ross: J. Chem. Phys. 72, 3588 (1980) 107 K. Kawasaki, J.O. Gunton: Phys. Rev. As, 2048 (1973)
- 108 C.R. Willis: Gen. Relativ Gravit. 7, 69 (1976)
- 109 J.J. Brey: In Systems Far from Equilibrium, ed. by L. Garridd, Lecture Notes Physics, Vol.132 (Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York 1980) 10 A. Schenzle: Oissertation, Univ. Stuttgart (1974) 111 H. Furukawa: Prog. Theor. Phys. 62, 70 (1979)

- 112 H. Grabert: Z. Phys. B26, 79 (1977)
- 113 E.T. Jaynes: Phys. Rev. 108, 620 (1957); 108, 171 (1957)
- 114 H. Mori, 1. Oppenheim, J. Ross: In Studies in Statistical Mechanics, Vol.1, ed. by J. de Soer, G. Uhlenbeck (North Holland, Amsterdam 1962)
- 115 H. Schwegler: Z. Naturforsch. 20a, 1543 (1965)
- 116 B. Robertson: In The Maximum Entropy Formaliem, ed. by R.O. Levine, M. Tribus (MIT, Cambridge, Mass. 1979)
- 117 A. Messiah: Quantum Mechanice, Vol.11 (North Holland, Amsterdam 1968)
- 118 K. Kawasaki: J. Phys. A6, 1289 (1973) 119 H. Mori, H. Fujisaka, H. Shigematsu: Prog. Theor. Phys. 51, 109 (1974)
- 120 K.S.J. Nordholm, R. Zwanzig: J. Stat. Phys. 13, 347 (1975) 121 L.S. Garcia-Colin, R.L. del Rio: J. Stat. Phys. 16, 235 (1977)
- Li Schoort, P. Talkner, P. Hänggi: Z. Phys. Bz8, 389 (1977); J. Stat. Phys. 28, 537 (1980)
 P.C. Martin, E.D. Siggia, H.A. Rose: Phys. Rev. A8, 423 (1973)
- 124 U. Oeker, H. Haake: Phys. Rev. A22, 2043 (1975); A22, 1629 (1975)
- 125 C.P. Enz: In Critical Phenamena, ed. by J. Brey, R.B. Jones, Lectures Notes C.P. EDZ: In CHICKGAL PHONOMENA, ed. by C. Diey, N.S. Bonds, Const, P. Bo-111 Physics. Vol.54 (Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York 1976) pp.80-111
- 126 L. Garrido, M. San Miguel: Prog. Theor. Phys. 59, 40, 55 (1978) 127 R. Landauer, J.A. Swanson: Phys. Rev. 122, 1668 (1961)
- 128 J.S. Langer: Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 65, 53 (1971) 129 M. Suzuki: Prog. Theor. Phys. 56, 77 (1976)
- 130 K. Kawasaki, M.C. Yalabik, J.O. Gunton: Phys. Rev. B17, 455 (1978)
- 131 N.G. Van Kampen: J. Stat. Phys. 17, 71 (1977) 132 M. Morsch, H. Risken, H.D. Vollmer: Z. Phys. B32, 245 (1979)
- 133 K. Binder: In Systems Far from Equilibrium, ed. by L. Garrido, Lecture Notes Physics, Vol.132 (Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York 1980), pp.76-83

- 134 U. Weiss; Phys. Rev. A25, 2444 (1982)
- 135 H. Haken: In "Proceedings of the Ojj Seminar on Nonlinear Nonequilibrium Statistical Mechanics", Progr. Theor. Phys. Suppl. 64 (1978)
- 136 H. Thomas: In Noise in Engeloal Systems, ed. by D. Wolf, Springer Series in Electrophysics, Vol.2 (Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York 1978) 137 R. Graham: In Order and Fluctuations in Zquilibrium and Nonequilibrium Statisti-
- cal Mechanics: XVIIth International Solvay Conference on Physics, ed. by G. Nicolis, G. Dewel, J.W. Turner (Wiley, New York 1981)
- 138 H. Grabert: J. Stat. Phys. 26, 113 (1981)
- 139 R. Graham, H. Haken: Z. Phys. 243, 289 (1971) 140 K.G. Wilson, K. Kogut: Phys. Rep. C22, 75 (1974)
- 141 S. Ma: Modern Theory of Critical Phenomena (Benjamin, Reading, Mass. 1976)
- 142 I.I. Gihman, A.V. Skorohod: Stochastic Differential Equations, Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete, Vol.72 (Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York 1972)
- 143 O. Ryter, U. Oeker: J. Math. Phys. 21, 2262, 2266 (1980)
- 144 P. Hangoi: Helv. Phys. Acta 53, 491 (1980)
- 145 R.K. Wangshess, F. 8loch: Phys. Rev. 89, 728 (1953)
- 146 W. Weidlich, F. Haake: Z. Phys. 185, 30 (1965)
- 147 G.S. Agarwal: Phys. Rev. A4, 739 (1971)
- 148 H. Grabert: Dissertation, Univ. Stuttgart (1976)
- 149 H. Grabert: Z. Phys. 8 (to be published)
- 150 P. Hanggi: Helv. Phys. Acta 51, 202 (1978)
- 151 H. Grabert, P. Hanggi, P. Talkner: Phys. Lett. 66A, 255 (1978)
- 152 Selected Papers on Noise and Statistical Processes, N. Wax (ed.) (Oover, New York 1954)
- 153 J.L. Lebowitz, P. Résibois: Phys. Rev. 239A, 1101 (1965)
- 154 P. Mazu, I. Oppenheim: Physica 50, 241 (1970)
- 155 R.M. Mazo: In Stochastic Processes in Nonequilibrium Systems, ed. by L. Garrido, P. Seglar, J.P. Shepherd, Lecture Notes in Physics, Vol.84 (Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York 1978)
- 156 P.C. Hemmer: Oynamic and Stochastic Types of Motion in the Linear Chain, Det. Fys. Sem. No.2, Trondheim (1959) 157 R.J. Rubin: J. Math. Phys. 1, 309 (1960)
- 158 P. Mazur, E. Montroll: J. Math. Phys. 1, 70 (1960)
- 159 H. Nakazawa: Prog. Theor. Phys. Suppl. 36, 172 (1966
- 160 T. Morita, H. Mori: Prog. Theor. Phys. 56, 498 (1976) 161 J.M. Deutsch, R. Silbey: Phys. Rev. A3, 2049 (1971)
- 162 M. Bixon, R. Zwanzig: J. Stat, Phys. 3, 245 (1971)
- 163 R. Zwanzig: In Systems Par from Equilibrium, ed. by L. Garrido, Lecture Notes in Physics, Vol.132 (Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York 1980)
- 164 S. Chandrasekhar: Rev. Mod. Phys. 15, 1 (1943)
- 165 H. Grabert: Unpublished manuscript (1977
- 166 R.A. Piccirelli: Phys. Rev. 275, 77 (1968) 167 M.H. Ernst, E.H. Hauge, J.M.J. van Leeuwen: J. Stat. Phys. 25, 23 (1976)
- 168 I. Oppenheim, R.O. Levine: Physica 99A, 383 (1979)
- 169 0. Forster, O.R. Nelson, M.J. Stephen: Phys. Rev. A18, 732 (1977)
- 170 M.S. Green: J. Chem. Phys. 22, 398 (1954)
- 171 C.P. Enz: Physica 94A, 20 (1978)

- 172 C.P. E.Z. LA. Turzki Physica 36A, 369 (1979) 173 A. Onuki, K. Kawasaki; Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 227, 456 (1979) 174 R.F. Fox: Phys. Rep. C49, 179 (1978) 175 O. Beysens, Y.Karrabos, G. Zalczer: Phys. Rev. Lett. 45, 403 (1980)
- 176 A. M.S. Tremblay, M. Arai, E.O. Sigga: Phys. Rev. A23, 1451 (1981)
- 177 J.L. Machta: Ph. 0. Thesis, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge (1980)
- 178 T. Kirkpatrick, E.G.O. Cohen, J.R. Dorfman: Phys. Rev. Lett. 44, 472 (1980)
- 179 O. Ronis, 1. Procaccia, I. Oppenheim: Phys. Rev. Azg, 1324 (1979)
- 180 J.W. Oufty: Preprint
- 181 G. van der Zwan, P. Mazur: Phys. Lett. 75A, 370 (1980)
- 182 F. Bloch; Phys. Rev. 102, 104 (1956)

- A.G. Redrield: 10M J. Res. Dev. 1, 19 (1957)
 R. Kubo, K. Tomita: J. Phys. Soc. Jpn 9, 888 (1954)
 A. Abragami: The Privilla of Multimer Hagnetica (Oxford Univ., London 1961)
 C.P. Slichter: Prinziples of Magnetic Besonance (Harper, New York 1963)
- J.M. Oeutsch, I. Oppenheim: Adv. Magn. Reson. 3, 43 (1968)
 J. Kivelson, K. Ogan: Adv. Magn. Reson. 7, 72 (1974)
- 189 C.P. Poole, H.A. Farach: Relaxation in Magnetic Resonance (Academic, New York 1971)
- 190 M.M. Pintar (ed.): Introductory Essays, NMR Basic Principles and Progress,
- Vol.13 (Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York 1976) 191 F. Bloch: Phys. Rev. 10, 460 (1946)